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INTRODUCTION

My name is Paul Derek Monin. My academic qualifications are: M.A. in history,
University of Canterbury (1968); and M.A. in politics, McMaster University, Canada
(1971). I was a junior lecturer in politics at the University of Waikato in 1972. From
1976 to 1989 I taught history and English in secondary schools in Auckland and
Melbourne. I am the author of ‘Waiheke Island: A History (Dunmore, 1992) and “The
Maori Economy of Hauraki 1840-1880”, New Zealand Journal of History, 29, 2,
October 1995. In 1995 I received a $10,000 ‘Award in History’ from The New

-Zealand History Research Fund toward the writing of a nineteenth century history of
Hauraki, the completion of which has been delayed by my undertaking of Waitangi
Tribunal related work in 1996, also dealing with Hauraki. Hence over the past six
years I have been engaged full-time in researching and writing Hauraki history.

This 16-week commission was undertaken over the period 12 August to 30 November

1996. It involved numerous research -trips: one to the National Archives in
Wellington, three to the Maori Land Court in Hamilton and many others to the
National - Archives, University, Public Library and Land Registry in Auckland. The
writing was done on Waiheke Island.

This report Will examine:

" (a) the customafy use of the islands, as describeclmih written sources;
(b) the alienation history of the islands; and

(c) the current ownersh.i.p status of the islands.

It is important to note that the geographical scope of the report - “the offshore islands
lying between Slipper Island in the south, Great Barrier Island in the north-and Tiritiri
- Matangi in the north-west” =‘involves the mana -whenua of not just the four Marutuahu
iwi: Ngati Maru, Ngati Whanaunga, Ngati Tamatera and Ngati Paoa. It also involves
the mana whenua of the earlier peoples of Hauraki: Ngai Tai, Ngati Hei, Patukirikiri,
Ngati Hako -and Ngati Huarere; plus the outside peoples: Ngati Wai, Kawerau and
Ngati Whatua. Even this list is probably not exhaustive. In this report “Hauraki’ will

be taken to mean the Marutuahu iwi plus those earlier peoples of Hauraki named
above.

I hasten to add that the above delineation of islands falls slightly short of the south-
eastern and north-western limits of the rohe of Hauraki. The people of Hauraki
define their rohe as extending ‘from Matakana to Matakana’, that is, from Matakana
Island, at the mouth of Tauranga Harbour, to the Matakana River, on the mainland
opposite Kawau Island. The omission of islands to the south is not significant but that



to the north-west is. The only islands south of Slipper Island are those at the mouth of
Whangamata Harbour which are still in Maori ownership. Between Tiritiri Matangi
and the Matakana River lie a substantial number of islands, including Kawau.

With the above considerations in mind, the islands will be referred to coliectively
simply as the Guif Islands, and not as the Hauraki Gulf Islands or the Hauraki
Islands, to avoid suggesting that non-Hauraki iwi cannot claim mana whenua over at
least some of them. '

The land area involved is about 122,000 acres. (Areas will be given in acres rather
than in hectares because this is the measurement used in most of the documents.)
Little Barrier (Hauturu) has been included in the report, though not specifically
required to be by the directions of the commission, because its integral place in the
overall history of the islands in the nineteenth century.

Only written sources have been used. Chapter 1, which surveys the traditional history
of the islands, is only as reliable as the enthnographic narratives and the Maori Land
Court minutes upon which it is based. Subsequent chapters can make a greater claim
to being ‘factual’, insofar as they comprise either information on what actually
happened, or on what was perceived to have happened by participants in those events.
Information is drawn from the most reliable written sources available, principally the
records of the Maori Land Court, the Old Land Claims archives, Turton’s Deeds and
relevant fragments from the AJHR’s, all of which are carefully referenced. Yet
without accompanying analysis and interpretation such information may leave us little
the wiser as to why or how events occurred. To advance this understanding it will be
necessary to explain the historical context of thege events and, from time to time, to
make inferences from the facts. It should be clear when this is being done, but
whenever a particularly debatable position is assumed, the indicators “I” or “the
author” will be used. All views are those of the author, not the Waitangi Tribunal.

This commission proved to be more difficult than might have been initially expected.
To begin with, the explicaton of customary rights in the islands as at 1840 necessarily
entailed coverage of thé entire scope of pre-1840 Hauraki history, a history
particularly eventful in its final decade. Then it was soon realised that the majority of
pre-Treaty purchases and pre-emption waiver purchases in Hauraki, plus a sizeable
proportion of pre-1865 Crown purchases there, involved Gulf islands.-Consequently,
it was necessary in effect to undertake ‘sub-reports’ on these three modes of
alienation in Hauraki. Moreover, each island has-its own distinct alienation history,
requiring separate construction and distillation. Those of Waiheke, Great Barrier,
Little Barrier and Motutapu are especially complex: Every effort has been made to
achieve a balance between local detail and overall analysis.

TN




CHAPTER 1: PRE-EUROPEAN MAORI HISTORY AND
CUSTOMARY RIGHTSHOLDING AS AT 1840

1.1 Introduction

Utilising written sources, this chapter has two overall objectives:

1. To outline the pre-European Maori history of the islands, which obviously is
closely related to that of the greater geographical region of Tamaki-makau-rau,
Mahurangi and Hauraki - and thereby

2. To account for customary rightsholding in the islands as at 1840.

However, three background issues will first be examined:

1. The limited extent of written sources on Maori rightsholding in the islands, a
situation exacerbated by the fact that most of the islands, or the greater parts of the
“Targer ones, were alienated before the advent of the Native Land Court;

2. The special circumstances of rightsholding on islands; and

3: The strategic location of the Gulf Islands.

© ol 1.2 Written sources

. The fact that many of the islands, or the greater parts of the larger ones, were alienated
., before the commencement of the Native Land Court era, in 1865 in Hauraki, poses

. serious difficulties as regards ‘written sources oh customary use and rights. It is

generally - appreciated that pre~1865 land transactions - namely pre-Treaty, pre-
emption waiver and early Cfown purchases - did not generate substantial written
records thereon, in contrast to the Land Court tltle investigations later. Indeed some
historians have suggested that rigorous investigation of these Jwas not undertaken in
the first place, leaving little to be recorded- subsequently This matter will be
examined thoroughly in Chapter 2. However; some - of this-deficit:can be made up for
by extrapolation from Land Court evidence generated:by-the:title investigations of
. ‘adjacent islands-or parts.of islands. For example, the title:investigation-of the Otata

- . group.:(Noises) reveals much about' Rakino, Motutapu and Motuihe; that of the

--smaller central Waiheke blocks much about Waiheke as a whole; that of Rakitu (and
- more-recently, Rangihua and Motukaiko) much about Great Barner and that of the
Red Mercury group much about Great Mercury.

Records of the Church Missionary Society have been consulted but at best these offer
information only on occupation, generally saying nothing about the identity of the
people involved. Yet such occasional references at least help to establish when and to
what extent the larger islands, like Waiheke, were occupied in the 1830s.

! Ward and Fenton. Full references will be given in Chapter 2.



Secondary written sources are also few and far between. Passing references to the
islands, usually the larger ones, in the works of Fenton, Percy Smith and Phillips,” are
gratefully utilitised, but amount to relatively little in sum total.

Then there are the ever-present problems of identifying the hapu and descent lines of
the individuals laying claim to the islands in the Land Court. In the case of some of
the islands I have been unable to do so with any precision, for want of sufficient
knowledge of Hauraki whakapapa. In such cases the names of the successful
claimants are given with any identifying information supplied by the Court record

1.2 The special circumstances of righthelding in Islands

Customary rights in islands were less secure and more complex than on lands on the
mainland, due to the nature of the land/resources involved. Only larger islands, like
Waiheke and Great Barrier, were suitable places for permanent occupation, through
which pre-eminent or something approaching exclusive rights might be established.
While Maori rightsholding derived from three fake - whakapapa (ancestry), raupatu
(conquest) and fuku (gift) - all needed to be reinforced with aki ka, occupation, to be
made secure. In the case of islands this was not generally practicable, since many
were far too small and austere, being rocky and waterless, to be habitable. Rather,
they were places to visit seasonally - for mutton birding, shell fish gathering, or for
the setting up of temporary fishing stations.

Moreover, because of the multiple resources associated with islands, they were likely
to involve multiple differential rights. One kin group might have the right to land en
route to fishing grounds, another to gather mutton birds and yet another to gather shell
fish off its rocky shoreline. Sadly, there is no way that we can ever know the rights
that prevailed at this specific level, yet it is important to appreciate that rights might
have assumed such specificity. Hence rightsholding in islands was multiple and
probably less secure than in mainland blocks.

The fact of seasonal and temporary usage posed claimants to islands with some
dlfﬁculty in the Native Land Court, a tribunal which gave priority to unequivocal acts
of ownership such as occupation’ As a result some claimants were inclined to
emphasise, perhaps exaggerate, the extent to which they or their forbears’ had
occupied the islands in question. A good example comes from the title investigation
of the Otata group (Noises), islands most unsuitable for cultivation and occupation.
Te Tahemate of Ngai Tai made a point of ‘correcting” what he had said earlier
regarding his people’s occupation of the islands.

When I said yesterday that the islands had never been occupied - I meant the island of
Rangitopto - These islands were occupied formerly by Ngatitai. I never lived on Otata but my
_ancestors did.*

These will be referenced subsequently.

* See J L Hutton, ‘The interpretation of customary Maori land tenure by the Native (Maori) Land
Court’ 27 August 1996, Report For: Rangahaua Whanui National theme ‘C’, pp 18-20 28.

Auckland Minute Book 1: 15.




However, Horetana Te Irirangi, also of Ngai Tai, testified probably with greater
credibility:

The islands were not occupied by any one - when the first Governor came. We cultivated on
Motutapu in Fitzroy’s time and shortly after left it and sold it.”

Indeed, it is unlikely that the Otata islands were ever occupied or cultivated,
considering their smallness and the much more attractive prospects for such utilisation
offered by neighbouring Rakino and Motutapu.

- It cannot be assumed that the rights prevailing on mainland areas opposite to islands
necessarily prevailed upon them also; nor that those prevailing upon one island

necessarily prevailed upon the island next door. The scattered nature of customary
. -land rights in Hauraki, each kin group owning strips scattered over much of the
greater rohe, meant that different groups could have rights-in-adjacent mainland areas
and islands and in adjacent islands. The islands east of ‘Waiheke are a.case in point.
. While Pakatoa was sold by Ngati Paoa, adjacent Rotoroa wassold conjointly by Ngati
Paoa and Ngai Tai. To complicate the picture further, Ngati Maru who insisted on
- their rights to eastern Waiheke  disclaimed having any rights on Ponui Island next
door, and apparently did not object to the above sales of Pakatoa and Rotoroa.®

The end result is a picture of particularly complex rightsholding, even in the context
of Hauraki lands which were among the most fragmented and contested in New
Zealand on the eve of British colonisation, due to their strategic location and
turbulent past.

1.3 The strategic location of the Gulf/Coromandel Islands

The Guif islands lay alongside surely the busiest waterways of pre-European
Aotearoa, those connecting Northland with the Waitemata, the Waikato and the Bay
of Plenty (and beyond to the East Cape). All canoe traffic between the Bay of Islands
and the Bay of Plenty passed close by Great Barrier, Little Barrier and.the Mercury
and Aldermen Islands. Meanwhile, all canoe traffic. utilising. the portages of the
Tamaki River, which granted straightforward passage. across.the..Tamaki isthmus
“between the Waitemata and Manukau Harbours and between northern Aotearoa and
.the Waikato River system, passed close by the inner Gulf islands: Waiheke, Ponui
etc. Of this canoe traffic, inevitably all was not friendly. Hence these islands were not
‘places. where inhabitants could -expect to be:left undisturbed to enjoy long and
unchallenged tenure. At times, they would have felt as vulnerable as the occupants of
a motor vehicle, caught stalled on the shoulder of -a modern motorway. It was a
location that was in no way conducive to a sense of security. Testament to this fact are
the 50 or so pa sites located on the headlands and off-shore islands of Waiheke.”

* Ibid, p 17.

S Turton, Deeds of Private Purchases, Deeds 84, p 492.

" See W J England, ‘The Settlement Pattern and Pa of Waiheke’, unpublished M.A. thesis in
Anthropology, University of Auckland, 1993.



The exposure of these islands to sea traffic was a factor which influenced Native Land
Court determinations on title after 1865. For example, in awarding Hauturu (Little
Barrier) to Ngati Wai in 1881, Judge Monro had considered the fact

that the island lay in the channel of the route of all Hongi Hika’s expeditions and his canoes
constantly called there. If any of the Kawerau (petitioners’ trnbe) had been there, they would
have been instantly killed. But Ngatiwai are related to Ngapuhi.®

It is possible, over certain periods, that some islands may even have served as ‘Grand
Central Stations’, in the sense that they functioned as concourses for inter-tribal water
traffic, claimed resolutely by no particular kin-group.” Travellers could break journey
there for rest and re-supply without necessarily receiving the usual challenge from the
tangata whenua. Certainly the Mercury and Aldermen Islands, well distant from the
eastern coast of the Coromandel Peninsula, would have seen frequent landings from
tribes‘in transit between the Bay of Islands and the Bay of Plenty. In any case, there
was;l'i'ttle' Hauraki or other iwi/hapu could have done to prevent such usage. There is
some“evidence that Ngai Te Rangi from Tauranga v151ted the Aldermen islands
regularly to mutton bird until as recently as the 1930s.'® Elsewhere, however, local
rightsholders took umbrage at such unauthorised visits, going to some length to make
their point. In early colonial times Ngati Wai owners of Rakitu (Arid) Island north-
east of Great Barrier, angered by the “nuisance of people coming for the birds”, went
as far as to take “Pakeha rats on to the island”, to reduce the fledgling bird populatlon
that was so attracting visitors, according to Hone Pama. 1

1.4 The pre - ‘waka’ Peoples

The recently published general history of Professor James Belich, Making Peoples,
supports the hypothesis that the Coromandel Peninsula, the Far North and Tuhua
(Mayor Island) were the first places in Aotearoa settled by Polynesian migrants
perhaps a thousand years ago. He writes:

The Far North and Coromandel were the only‘ regions in the northern macro-region with seal-
breeding rookerles the best resource of all.... Coromandel had stone, seal, moa and garden
islands-of its own.! :

Arché{eology is a source of -information on these first migrants. The pearl shell lure
found at Tairua, which is identical to examples.from the Marquesas, is-impressive
evidence of migration from Eastern Polynesian. Site excavations show that seals were
abundant on the eastern side of the Coromandel Peninsula, although these animals
did not often venture into the more sheltered waters of the Hauraki Gulf, according to
archaeologist Janet Davidson." However, the Gulf certainly offered the first migrants

% Memo 18 July 1881, MA 13/45.
’ This idea was presented to me in a telephone conversation with Dame Anne Salmond on 13
September 1996.
'° 1994/H, MLC, Hamilton.
1 Auckland Minute Book 2: 37.

2 J Belich, Matking Peoples, A History of New Zealanders From Polynesian Settlement to the end of
the Nineteenth Century, Auckland, 1996, p 46.

 J Davidson, The Prehistory of New Zealand, Auckland, 1984, p 131.

10




potential ‘garden islands’, which boasted average temperatures perhaps a few degrees
higher than those of the mainland, due to the moderating influence of the sea.
Growing conditions on them were close to those of the Far North. A ‘garden soil’ (one
improved by the addition of humus, sand etc.) at Rocky Bay, Waiheke Island, dates
from at least the sixteenth century, as determined by carbon dating." Then there were
the rich fisheries, of which the richest was surely the shark fishery of the Mahurangi
coast. It must be concluded that the Gulf islands were so well endowed with the
natural resources vital for the support of human life that they were surely among the
first places to be inhabited or utilised by humankind in Aotearoa.

Another source of information on these first migrants  are the very -early traditional
... stories associated with the Hauraki Gulf, comprehensively complled recently by
~ Graeme Murdoch, the current Auckland Regional Council historian,.””> Perhaps the
- first people to inhabit the inner Gulf islands were the Tutumaio, so named by Wiripo
Potene of the Kawerau hapu of Ngati Kahu. They were displaced by:later arrivals, the
Turehu, who occupied Motutapu, Motuihe -and the adjourning mainland where they
‘were known .as Maewao. “The Maewao people travelled around the islands of the
inner Hauraki Gulf between sunset and sunrise in their canoe ‘Te Rehu o te tai’,
gathering kaimoana and such foods as seaweed of which they were particularly fond”
- Murdoch elaborates. ' (Perhaps these peoples were the Maruiwi, much referred to.in
local traditions.) At about this time the Polynesian explorer Toi Te Huatahi visited
the islands of the Hauraki Gulf naming them collectively, “Nga poito o te Kupenga o
Toi Te Huatahi,” or ‘the floats of the fishing net of Toi Te Huatahi’. He named: Little
Barrier, ‘Hauturu o Toi’; and the entrance to the Waitemata Harbour, ‘Te Whanganui
o Toi’, or ‘the Great Harbour of Toi’.

1.5 Te Arawa

In the fourteenth century the two great waka, Te Arawa and Te Tainui, arrived in the
Hauraki Gulf at about the same time. Tamatekapua, commander of the Arawa waka,
placed a mauri on the large rocky islet at the north-eastern entrance to the Gulf
(Channel Island), naming it ‘Tikapa,” from which derives the Maori name for the
Hauraki Gulf, Tikapa Moana. The islet was also: given the fuller. name, ‘Te Poito o te
Kupenga o Taramainuku’ or ‘the float of the-fishing net-of Taramaimiku®in-honour of
Taramainuku, the grandson of Tamatekapua.'” After proceeding into the Gulf, the
Arawa landed at Putiki inlet, Waiheke Island, by the account of George Graham.'®
“There she was relashed, hence the naming of the area, Te Rangihoua, which literally
- means ‘The Day of Renewal.” Then the Arawa explored the inner Gulf and the
Waitemata Harbour. Kahumatamamoe, Tamatekapua’s son, placed a mauri on ‘Te
© Mata’ or Boat Rock, hence the name Waitemata. He placed, as guardians, ngarara or
reptiles on Rangitoto and Motutapu which later turned to stone.

G Law, ‘A Garden Soil at Rocky Bay, Waiheke, NZA4 News Letter, 18(4), pp 183-190.
bG Murdoch, ‘He Korero Tawhito Mo Rangitoto: A brief outline of the Maori Historical Associations
with Rangitoto Island’, Auckland Regional Council, 1991
16
Ibld ps.
Ibld p 7. All information in this paragraph is from this source.
'* G Graham, ‘Ancient History of Waiheke’, NZ Herald, 28 & 31 October 1927,
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Finally the great waka proceeded around Cape Colville, to make final landfall at
Maketu in the Bay of Plenty. But as Waiheke and neighbouring islands had been so
attractive a haven for Te Arawa, some of her crew subsequently returned to live there.
A son of Tamatekapua, Kahumatamamoe, returned to Waiheke, giving his name to
the island, Te Motunui o Kahu (The Great Island of Kahu), and building at Rangihoua
the pa, Putiki o Kahu. His sister, Kura, also settled at Putiki, giving her name to a
small bay, Oakura. Kahumatamomoe later settled at Orakei, giving his name to
Okahu Bay. He also lived for a time at the Kaipara. In consequence, both Ngati
Whatua and Waiohua claim descent from this Arawa chief, according to George
Graham." Meanwhile, a grandson of Tamatekapua, Te Thenga, conquered Motuihe
and named it after himself, Motu-a-Ihenga, then went back to Maketu.

A grandson (or son, according to Kelly, see citation below) of Tamatekapua, Huarere,
settled at Cape Colville, his descendants in time spreading throughout the Coromandel
Peninsula to be known as Ngati Huarere. Similarly, the Kahumatamamoe-branch of
Arawa, who also came to be known as Ngati Huarere, gained dominion over Waiheke

and the other islands of the inner Hauraki Gulf, as Leslie Kelly writes: .

Prior to the coming of Maru-tuahu, the Coromandel peninsula and a great part of the Hauraki
Gulf had been, to a large extent, the undisputed territory of a group of tribes known as Ngati -
Huarere, Ngati Hako, Nga Marama, Kahui-ariki and Uri o Pou. These people were tangata
whenua, but also claimed descent from ancestors who arrived in the Arawa and Tainui canoes.
Ngati Huarere occupying the land from Moehau to Hauraki, were mainly of Arawa origin,
Huarere himself a son of Tama-te-kapua who ended his days on Moehau %

Ngati Hei took their iwi name from Hei, another migrant of the Arawa waka who
settled at Oahei and gave his name to Mercury Bay, Whanganui-o-Hei. He was buried
in a cave on Tokatea (Castle Rock) above Coromandel township. Professor Ranginui
Walker writes that the traditional territory of Ngati Hei

extended from Opoutere Peninsula to Kennedy’s Bay, including the offshore islands of

Ruamahu (Aldermans), Ahuahu (Great Mercury), and the nearby islands of Koruenga, Koranga
~ and Ohinau !

The son of Hei, Waitahanui-o-Hei marrried a high-ranking woman of Hauturu (Little
Barner), to become “the ancestor of Ngati Wai”, Graham recorded. He adds, “Ngati
Wai - were the owners of both Barriers and places on the mainland as far as
Takapuna. % Hence Ngati Wai descended from Ngati Hei, while in due course they
became connected with hapu of Nga Puhi.

Urio Pou Kelly recorded, were the descendants of Poutukeka, a chief also of Arawa
ongm They occupied lands on the western side of the Firth of Thames
(Whakatiwai).

D R Simmons, (ed), Graham, G., Maori Place Names of Auckland, Auckland, 1980, p 20.

20 L G Kelly, Tainui, The Story of Hoturoa and His Descendants, Wellington, 1949, p 175.
2! Ranginui Walker, Listener, 19 September 1987, pp 74-75.

;i G Graham, ‘Hauturu - The Wind’s Resting Post’, MS 120, Auckland Institute and Museum.
Kelly, p 175.
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Nga Marama, on the other hand, were descendants of Marama kikohura, the second
wife of Hoturoa, of the Tainui canoe.”* They occupied lands at Tamaki and on the
west coast of Tikapa Moana.

Hence for some centuries the Coromandel Peninsula and the surrounding islands were
under the dominion of peoples principally of Arawa descent. Standing apart from
them were a Tainui people, Ngai Tai, who were resident at Tamaki and on the inner
Gulf islands. To explain their presence we need to retrace our steps to the almost
simultaneous arrival of the Arawa and Tainui waka in Tikapa Moana.

1.6 Te Tainui

The T ainui':‘.waka, under the command of Hoturoa, arrived in. Tikapa Moana shortly
after the Arawa. In the words of Maihi Te Kapua.Te Hinaki who was born on
Motuihe Island in 1820:

So Tainui sailed off, and entered Maraetai passage, passing Waiheke. She entered at last the
Waitemata, and moored in the shelter of Te'Haukapua (Torpedo Bay, Devonport). There the
~-crew land ... Passing hence from Waitemata, they came to Orawaho. There they found the
Arawa moored, and there a quarrel arose. This .was due to the unwelcome attentions of
Tamatekapua to Hoturoa’s senior wife Whakaotirangi. The two men came to blows, and
“Tamatekapua was worsted in the contest. Tamatekapua shed plenteous blood: Then the people

, mtervened and stopped the duel, for they were all chose relatives.?”

" From this incident Tainui iwi trace the name Rangitoto, the full traditional name of
which is ‘Te Rangi i totongla a Tamatekapu’, or ‘the day that the blood of
Tamaekapua was shed.””® However, there is an ‘alternative explanatlon for the name
‘Rangitoto’. It may also refer to the volcanic eru ?’aons and ensuing lava flows that.
created the island, meaning ‘blood from the sky’. 2

Although the majority of the crew members of the Tainui continued to Kawhia, where
- the waka made final landfall, a few remained at Tamaki and up the Piako river.

1.6.1 Ngai Tai

“Those who remained at Tamaki became the ancestors of Ngai Tai, Waiohua and other
ancient iwi of Tamaki. Taikehu, junior tohunga, settled for a time on the island
immediately behind Rangitoto which he named ‘Motutapu’, the island in Hawaiiki
- from which the Tainui had begun its voyage to Aotearoa. To Taikehu’s descendants
the island became known as ‘Te motu tapu a Taikehu’ or ‘the sacred island of
Taikehu.’ 2% Te Keteanataua and his son Taihaua, other members of the Tainui’s crew,
settled at Taurere, near present-day Karaka Bay, at the mouth of the Tamaki River.
Also present at Tamaki for a time was Rakataura, a matakite or seer, who named

2 Kelly, ibid.
Murdoch pp 8-9.
% Ibid. p 9.

7 Slmmons (ed) Graham, 1983, p 28.
¥ Murdoch, p8.
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many sacred places throughout Tamaki.”® Among the descendants of these Tainui
ancestors - Taikehu, Keteanataua, Taihaua and Rakataura - were Ngati Tai. The iwi
name, however, was changed to Ngai Tai, after these people were joined by another
group of Tainui descent from the Bay of Plenty in about 1700, an event known as ‘Te
Hekenga o nga Tuatoru’ or ‘the migration of the three’.*

Ngai Tai still claim mana whenua over Maraetai/Howick and the 1slandé Motukorea,

Rangitoto, Tiritiri Matangl Motuihe, Motutapu, Motu Hurakia (Rakino), Motu
Horopapa and Otata.”!

1.6.2 Ngati Hako

In the course of travelling around the Gulf, the Tainui waka went up the Piako river as
far as Hoe o Tainui and then returned down the river to Ngatea, where Hako the son
of Taha was induced to land to snare some birds by others on the waka who wanted to
get rid of him because of his laziness - accordmg to Mamaru Taupaki who testified at
the Aldermen Islands investigation in 1958. % There he was stranded, as the canoe
sailed away. On the voyage up the coast from Maketu, he had noticed nice bays and
he decided to go back there where he built a pa at Whiritoa called Otonga. The
descendants of Hako settled the area between Whangamata and Waihi and utilised the
offshore islands to the north.

1.7 The Marutuahu Migrations

To recapitulate - For over two centuries, iwi of Arawa descent, generally known as
Ngati Huarere, held dominion over the eastern and southern Hauraki Gulf. On the
western side, however, Ngai Tai of Tainui descent maintained their mana whenua at
Tamaki and on the inner Gulf islands, as we have seen, and a people of both Arawa
and Tainui descent emerged along the: Whakatiwai coast, known as ‘Uri o Pou.”®
These peoples collectively were the earliest tangata whenua. Then there were three
successive migrations to the area from the Waikato, momentous events which are well
recorded in the traditions of the Marutuahu Confederation and well recorded.

1. Hotunm a direct descendant of Hoturoa of the Tainui waka, lived at Kawhia with
his Wer Mihirawhiti. In adulthood Hotunui was wrongly accused of theft by his
father—m-law Mahanga. To escape the shame he decided to depart from Kawhia and
leave behind Mihirawhiti despite the fact that she was then with child. Hotunui’s
parting instructions to Mihirawhiti were that she must name the child Marutuahu, if a
boy, and Paretuahu, if a girl. He crossed the ranges, making his way to the shores of
Hauraki** Thus probably in the late sixteenth century Hotunui and over 100 of his
people joined their distant relatives Uri o Pou at Whakatiwai. The two peoples lived
harmoniously together and prospered. Meanwhile, Mihirawhiti had given birth to a
boy whom she named Marutuahu as per the instructions of Hotunui.

; * Te Warena Taua, in La Roche, The History of Howick & Pakuranga, Auckland, 1991, p 30.
]
Ibid, p 32.

! Ibid, p 27.
2 Hauraki Minute Book 76: 40.
¥ Kelly, p 174.
** Ibid, Tukumana Te Taniwha, p. 100.
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2. When grown to a young man Marutuahu learned of the circumstances of his birth
and that his father Hotunui was living “at the rising place of the sun, at Hauraki,”*
He and a friend set out for Hauraki, travelling via the Waikato River, the Hunua
ranges and the Wairoa River. While spearing tui at the coast, they met two chiefly
young women of Uri o Pou, Paremoehau and Hineurunga, who invited them to their
village of Waitoetoe just north of Waharau. There Marutuahu settled down
eventually marrying both women. Some time later he was invited to the Uri o Pou pa
of ‘Karamu Katihi’ at Whakatiwai, where he discovered his father now lived. Much
to his outrage, Marutuahu learned from Hotunui that he and his people were being

“badly treated by Uri o Pou who now resented their presence. They devised and
executed a stratagem through which many of the local Uri o Pou were trapped and
killed on the beach at Whakatiwai. Believing that the Marutuahu had gained sufficient
utu for the insults inflicted upon Hotunui, some Uri o Pou remained in their homes,
although many others moved to Northland: With Hineurunga,: Marutuahu had three
sons: Tamatera, Tamatepo and Whanaunga; and with Paremoehau, he had two further
sons: Te Ngako and Taurukapakapa.

- 3. The third important migration from the Waikato to Hauraki occurred in the mid
1600s, involving Paoa a young chief from Kaitotohe, a village opposite Taupiri on the
Waikato River. Embarrassed by his inability to welcome his brother Mahuta with
food, Paoa and many followers left for Hauraki. On arrival, he met and married
Tukutuku, the grand-daughter of Tamatera.

1.8 ‘'The Marutuahu Conquest

1.8.1 The conquest of the Firth/Coromandel

The people of Paoa were soon drawn into the conflict between the descendants of
Marutuahu and the other earlier peoples of Hauraki. Ousting the remnants of Uri o
Pou, Ngati Paoa and Ngati Whanaunga came to occupy the western coast of Tikapa
 Moana. As the branches of Marutuahu grew in strength, they -also- challenged and
inflicted defeats upon Ngati Huarere and Ngati Hako on-the eastern-side of Tikapa
Moana, the Coromandel Peninsula. The mana @ of ‘the emerging Marutuahu
- confederation of iwi was indisputably in the ascendant in Hauraki. As a result, the
- Hauraki Gulf changed from being essentially an Arawa to a Tainui domain.

3 Ibid.
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Hence the Marutuahu iwi, to which Ngati Paoa was a later addition, were kept busy
for many generations consolidating their power bases at Hauraki (Thames) and on
both sides of the Firth of Thames. Only once these were secured could they consider
projecting their power into the wider Hauraki Gulf: to the inner Gulf islands, to
Tamaki and eventually to the Mahurangi coast. These places were then the domains of
Ngatihuarere (and Ngai Tai), Waiohua and Kawerau, respectively.

1.8.2 Kapetaua (Kapetawa)

The final chapter in the history of the Marutuahu conquest was the expansion of
Marutuahu/Ngati Paoa into the wider Hauraki Gulf, right across to the Mahurangi
coast, in the eighteenth and early nineteenth centuries.

Kapetaua is a great figure in the pre-European history of the Gulf and the Waitemata
from“whom descent is claimed by both Ngati Paoa and Patukirikiri. His origins are
obsciire, the most precise information we have being the testimony of Pita Taurua, of
Patukirikiri, in respect of Rangihoua, Waiheke Island, in 1865.

I claim the land from my ancestors. Tawake was the first he came from Ngapuhi, he lived at
Oue [Wairoa], he had a daughter named Tairuhi and a son Kapetaua.*®

The name Patukirikiri, meaning ‘slain on the shingle, was assumed by his
descendants many generations later, after they suffered a defeat at the hands of Ngatl
Huarere on Motutapere Island at the mouth of Coromandel Harbour in about 1805.%7

It seems that Patukirikiri should be considered as one of the earlier peoples whose
mana whenua predates the Marutuahu conquests."However, it was on the grounds of
Kapetaua’s deeds on the Tamaki isthmus in about 1700 that Ngati Paoa claimed the
Orakei lands in the Native Land Court, in 186938 Moreover, Patukirikiri sometimes
considered themselves to be a hapu of Ngati Paoa. For example Pita Taurua said in
1865, “I belong to Patukirikiri of the Ngati Paoa tribe.””® Hence it appropriate to
present below the deeds of Kapetaua as the prelude to, rather than the first chapter of,
Ngatij,_Paoa conquests in the greater Hauraki Gulf in the eighteenth century.

These .deeds resulted from a insult suffered by Kapetaua when a boy. His 31ster
married Tarakumikumi (alternatively, Tarakumekume and Tarakumukumu) of
Waiohua who lived at Orakei. One day, Kapetaua went fishing with his uncle only to
be left by him on Bean Rock in the Waitemata Harbour. As the tide rose, he cried for
help. Hearing his cries, his sister paddled out to rescue him. Kapetaua hungered for
revenge. When grown to manhood he attacked and destroyed the Waihoua pa at
Orakei, Kohimarama and Takapuna and then went in pursuit of Tarakumikumi and
other refugees who had fled to Waiheke Island. He found them sheltering at Putiki o
Kahu, the ancient Arawa pa at Rangihoua, killing all of them. Kapetaua then settled

.38 Waiheke Minute Book 1: 8.

37 F Phillips, Nga Tohu a Tainui Landmarks of Tainui, Otorohanga, 1989, p 114.

® F D Fenton, Important Judgements Delivered in the Compensation Court and the Native Land
Court, Auckland, 1879, Orakei, pp 53-96.
* Waiheke Minute Book 1: 8.
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at Waiheke. As a result, the Native Land Court recognised “the title of his descendants

.. to a portion of land at Putiki founded ... on this conquest”. 40

But in his Orakei judgement Fenton concluded, regardmg Kapetaua’s victories on the
Tamaki isthmus, that |

it is abundantly clear this alleged conquest is nothing but a raid made for revenge. If Kapetaua

had ... followed up his successes at Orakei, by taking possession of the land, and with his
: descendants permanently settlmg there, they would doubtless have acquired a title, but nothing
" was further from his thoughts.*'

1.8.3 The Wars between Ngati Paoa/Marutuahu and Waihoua/Huarere

. Note: It is important to point out that early amateur ‘ethnologists’ like Fenton, Smith
~and Graham often used “Ngati Paoa” very loosely, to mean. the Hauraki tribes
collectively. Early officials involved in Crown land purchasing. in the Gulf, like
- George Clarke, had tended to do likewise in the 1840s. Hence it would be mistaken to
always ascribe exclusive meaning to references to “Ngati Paoa” in this written
material. Hence in the following narrative an attempt will be made, wherever possible,
to.use discretely “Ngati Paca” and “Ngati Paoa/Marutuahu”

It seems that Ngati Paoa/Marutuahu made their first incursion into the. Tamaki .
isthi;ms in the time of Kiwi Tamaki, sometime before the fall of this great Waihoua
chief at the hands of Ngati Whatua in about 1740. Smith is unclear on the details.

* We hear of Kiwi killing a man named Kahuraotao, at Otahuhu, a man who was said to belong to
" Ngati Maru of the Thames and also to the Waiohua. This led to much fighting, the particulars
" of ‘which I do not know.*

Graham’s account of what happened is more expansive.43 Kahurautao was a grandson
of .Marutuahu, who had been on a visit to the Waikato. On his return journey he
accepted the invitation of .the people of Maungawhau (Mt Eden) to visit them. After
the festivities, however, Kahu and his party were waylaid and ‘murdered-on their way
to the Otahuhu portage. Among the slain was Kahu’s son, Kiwi.(not to be confused
with Kiwi Tamaki, the perpetrator of the misdeed). The widow-of -Kiwi‘beseeched the
people of Hauraki to avenge these murders. A large taua was assembled which

«- besieged and destroyed many of the volcanic cone pa of Waiohua, including

- Maungawhau. Indeed, Whangawhau was completely destroyed and was never again
occupied, according to Graham.

While the victors conquered then departed from the mainland, having sought only
revenge, they conquered but then occupied Waiheke Island, by Graham’s account.

Fenton 1877, p 62. Waiheke Minute Book 1, p 27.

Ibld p 62.

2'S Percy Smith, The Peopling of the North: Notes on the Ancient Maori History of the Northern
Peninsula and Sketches of the History of Ngati-Whatua Tribe of the Kaipara, New Zealand, New
Plymouth Polynesian Society, 1897, p 82.

* G Graham, ‘Mount Eden’s Hxstory No II’, NZ Herald, 9 April 1927.
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Ngati Huarere, now closely connected by intermarriages with Waiohoua, were therefore
attacked by the Ngati Paoa section of the Hauraki people. The result was the complete conquest
by them 2f Waiheke and the annihilation of Ngati Huarere. Waiheke then became Ngati Paoa
territory.

However, in this instance, it would incorrect to read “Ngati Paoa” literally; rather, the
category should be read as, Ngati Paoa/Marutuahu. The Waiheke investigations of
Native Land Court in the late 1860s make it abundantly clear that other iwi of Hauraki
also took up occupation of Waiheke from about this time, 1700. Ngati Maru ancestral
links are particularly prominent in these minute records. Take the case of the
Maunganui blocks (inland from Awaawaroa), which Mata Paraone Paea of Ngati
Maru claimed in 1866 through her ancestor Te Puranginui who had occupied the land
perhaps eight generations earlier.*’ (Her claim was successful.) Indeed, in the Court
Ngati Paoa prosecuted their claims to Waiheke on the grounds of occupation and very
recent conquest from Ngati Maru, while Ngati Maru prosecuted theirs on the grounds
of ancestry, citing lengthy whakapapa associated with occupation, as above.

3 YL

1.8.4 The Wars between Ngati Whatua and Ngati Paoa

How Ngati Paoa came to first occupy land on the western side of the Tamaki River is
a subject of some dispute. Fenton accepted that it was the result of a wedding gift.

“About 17807, Fenton wrote, “an event fruitful in disturbance took place. "8 Kehu, a
chiefly woman of both Ngacho (Ngati Whatua) and Waikato descent, married Te
Putu, a Ngati Paoa man who wished to live away from his own people at Whakatiwai.
Kehu’s influential relation, Te Tahuri, gifted the couple a tract of land called
Tauoma, “commencing near the place now called Panmure, and extendmg round the
shores to Whakamuhu, and thence inland to Waiafarua (College) Lake,” *7 which they
promptly occupied. The author of a history of the surrounding district, K. M.
Holloway, sees strategic design in the gift on the part of Ngati Whatua who

unable to occupy all the pa that had been held by Waiohua [devised] this shrewd move to win
the friendship of an ambitious neighbour and at the same time to place the new ally in a
‘position to bear the bmnt of any attempt by the Waiohua and their relatives in the south to
’:regam what they had lost.*®

However Haora Tipa and other Ngati Paoa witnesses at the Orakei hearing in 1869
insisted that Kehu was a Waikato woman and that Tauoma was originally Ngati Paoa
- land, thereby denying the gift. Fenton gave no credence to their claims as they failed
to give any explanation for how they had come to possess this small area of land. 49

“aG Graham, ‘Waiheke Island: Ancient Maori History’, NZ Herald, 28 & 31 October 1927.
4> Waiheke Minute Book 1: 39. This evidence is also cited in P Monin, Waikeke Island: A History,
Dunmore, 1992, p 22.

“S Fenton, Important Judgements, p 66; Smith, 1897, pp 91-92.
“7 Ibid, Fenton.

BKM Holloway, Maungarei, An outline history of the Mt Wellington, Panmure and Tamaki Districts,
Auckland, 1962, p 39.

® Fenton, Important Judgements, p 66.
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Trouble soon resulted from this uncomfortably close physical relat10nsh1p between
these two powerful, ambition tribes. In about 1790, by Fenton’s reckoning,” a party
of Ngaoho, which included Tarahawaiki (the father of Apihai Te Kawau) and a party
of Ngati Paoa were fishing for sharks at Mahurangi. Tarahawaiki was heard to call a
shark he had caught, Te Haupa, after the great Ngati Paoa chief. Ngati Paoa attacked
.the camp of Tarahawaiki on one of the Mahurangi islands, killing him together with
many other Ngaoho.

Ngati Whatua and Ngati Paoa were now sworn enemies. A year or two afterwards, a
party of Ngati Paoa advanced deep into Ngoho territory, reaching as far as
‘Rangiatarau (called by Fenton Rangimataariki) near Puponga on the Manukau.’! In
the. ensuing battle Ngati Paoa were badly beaten, losing Te Waero, his two brothers
-and about 50 men. At about this time Ngati Paoa suffered another blow at the hands of
-« Ngati Whatua, when a party of theirs was surprised- by Ngati Whatua at Kauri Point.

Most of the crew were killed and the canoe was taken »

In 1793, according to Fenton, scores were balanced between Ngati Paoa and Ngati
Whatua in an engagement between the two at Orohe, on the west side of the Tamaki
River,-in which this time Ngati Paoa were victorious.” Te Tahuri, “the giver of the
fatal present of land,”** and Tomoaure, her husband and the paternal uncle of Apihai
Te Kawau, were slain. Ngati Paoa abandoned Tauoma (Panmure) and for the
~following 20 years or so the‘two tribes chose to live some distance apart, apparently
-neither troubling the other.

By 1815 Ngati Paoa were once again living at Panmure, while Ngati Whatua under Te
Kawau were probably living principally at Ihumatao and Mangere and also cultivating

- at Okahu.>® At the Orakei hearing in 1869, Ngatl Paoa claimed that they too were

living and cultivating at Okahu at this time, ‘but Fenton chose not to believe them,

credltmg them with having at most been using lands belonging to others, viz. Ngati
Whatua.>®

At - Panmure ‘Ngati- Paoa occupied two.pa, Makoia and-Mauinaina, in-considerable

strength. When the European visitors,“Major.Richard -Cruise ---and-the Reverend

Samuel Marsden landed at Panmure in 1820, they found' a population numbering
~perhaps - 4,000, boasting -superior  houses and canoes andcultivating ‘ vast . gardens
+extending around the base of Maungarei (Mt Welling’ton.)57

Smlth The Peopling of the North, p 92.
Fenton Important Judgements, p 67; Smith ibid, p 93.
Smxth ibid.
Fenton Important Judgements, p 67.
> Ibid.
> Ibid.
56 - Ibid, p 68.
%7 Richard Cruise, Journal of Ten Month's Residence in New Zealand, 1824, p 145.
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1.8.5 The Wars between Ngati Paoa and Ngati Rongo/Kawerau

The country between Auckland and Whangarei was inhabited by an iwi called Ngati
Rongo, a branch of Kawerau, in the early eighteenth century.’ | The Mahurangi coast
of the Hauraki Gulf was renowned, and hence coveted, among the iwi for its shark
fisheries. Probably in about 1775, Smith recorded, a taua of Ngati Paoa descended
upon Kawerau lands at Waiwera and Mahurangi, killing many people of Kawerau.
Kawerau and their Ngati Rongo relations now had a score to settle with the
intruders.” A party of Kawerau came from Whangarei and a party of Ngati Rongo
came from the eastern Kaipara, joining forces at Mahurangi. There they cut kauri
spars, to serve as scaling ladders, for the expedition against Ngati Paoa ahead. The
combined taua of Ngati Rongo and Kawerau set out across the Gulf, breaking journey
overnight at Motutapu, before proceeding to Motukaraka, a small island across from
present-day Howick a great stronghold of Ngati Paoa. It landed on the island at
Rongo and Kawerau scaled the cliffs and fell upon the unsuspecting mhabltants of the
pa:“®A dreadful slaughter took place, in which nearly all the garrison perished
including the Ngati Paoa chief Taeiwi.” wrote Smith.%’ They then sailed on to the
Ngati Paoa settlement at Taupo (Kawakawa Bay), promptly attacking it. Among the
Ngati Paoa dead was Totokarewa, the father of Te Haupa.

The expedition returned to Mahurangi and in consideration of the assistance given to

Kawerau by Ngati Rongo, the former gifted the latter the lands around Puhoi.® As the

ultimate insult to Ngati Paoa, the bones of Totokarewa were made into fish hooks.

- Ngati Paoa now had additional reason for seekmg utu against the Kawerau. They sent
- successive expeditions against them, until peace was finally made between the two
warring .sides, now. exhausted by the struggle. But the terms of that peace are unclear.
It seems unlikely that the Kawerau capitulated completely to Ngati Paoa.
Nevertheless, Ngati Paoa subsequently laid claim to the coast from Takapuna to
Mahurangi by right of conquest, when they sold this land to the Crown in 1841. The
licensed interpreter, John Johnson, reporting to the Native Secretary in 1852 on “the
‘Native claims to the Mahurangi and Matakana District”, suggested that the cession of
, rights by Ngati Rongo had been much more limited, i.e., that “the right of fishing in

the rivers of the district .. was at last finally given up to the Ngatipaoas by the
Ngatirongo.” 62 :

1.9 How complete was the Marutuahu conquest?

We have traced the course of the Marutuahu conquest over the period about 1650 to
1800. Bearing the brunt of Marutuahu expansion were not only the early peoples of
Hauraki, but also the peoples of the western margin, Ngati Whatua, Ngati Rongo and
Te Kawerau. However, throughout these vicissitudes some of the earlier peoples

% H H Turton, Epitome, p 139.
% Smith, The Peopling of the North, p 97.
60
Ibid.
% Ibid, p 98.
2y Turton, Epitome, p 139,
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appear to have maintained their mana whenua at least in part: notably, Ngai Tai,
Patukirikiri, Ngati Hako and Ngati Hei and Ngati Wai.

For example, today Ngai Tai (see 1.6.1) assert that their mana whenua is still
fundamentally intact. Yet Fenton wrote in 1869:

I think there is evidence to show that Ngatitai were a broken people before the time of Kiwi
* [Tamaki] ... Hapimana Taiawhio told us of the destruction of Ngatitai in old days by the
Ngatipaoa, Ngatimaru, and other Thames tribes, and we have evidence that Ngatipaoa have
‘exercised dominion over their lands.%

Mohi Te Harare of Ngati Paoa emphatically termed Ngai Tai “Tutua’s” at-the title
investigation of the Otata group of islands (east of Rakino) in 1866.%* Under cross-
examination, he explained his usage further saying, “I called the Ngai Tai Tutua’s
because the Ngati Paoa used to muru [plunder] them.... The Ngati Paoa conquered the
Ngai Tai.”®® The word “tutua” used by Te Harare appears to.be.an abbreviation of
“tautauwhea” or “tautauhea”, defined by the Williams dictionary as, “plebeian, of low
origin”. It is significant that Te Harare did not.use the word “taurekareka”, which
means a slave taken in war, suggesting that Ngai Tai were not a people conquered in

" war, but rather a people otherwise subject to substantial Ngati Paoa influence by 1840.
In any case, the two peoples were by now extensively inter-connected through
‘marriage. . With the advent of landselling to Europeans, Ngati Paoa were to claim at . .
least some of the inner Gulf islands, like Motutapu and the Otata group, through their
connections with Ngai Tai.

A similé_r,examination of the claims to mana whenua of Ngati Hako, and others,
-‘would be profitable, if time permitted. e

The ‘survival of these earlier rights meant that the colonial- officials and tribunals,
assigned in the nineteenth century with the task of determining customary rights in
Hauraki, were confronted with rights deriving from two periods: the pre-Marutuahu
and the post-Marutuahu. This fact made their task all the more difficult.

1.10 The Nga Puhi raids upon Hauraki

We need not examine here the origins and early course of the wars between Nga Puhi
and Marutuahu, dating from the 1790s. Suffice to say that by 1820 the great Nga Puhi
chief Hongi Hika, now well armed with the muskets he had purchased in Sydney on
his journey back from England to the Bay of Islands, had plenty of scores to settle
with these long-standing adversaries to the south. In 1819/20 Ngati Whatua were
absent from the Tamaki isthmus, their wars with Ngati Paoa having caused them to
shun this part of the country.®® The isthmus was without inhabitants except for Ngati
Paoa in their fortresses, Mauinaina and Mokoia, at Panmure.

% Fenton, 1877, p 65.

 Auckland Minute Book 1: 27.

“ Ibid, 27.

% S Percy Smith, Maori Wars of the Nineteenth Century, 1910. p 96.
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In 1821 Hongi launched a huge expedition against Marutuahu, comprising perhaps
2,000 warriors armed with 1,000 muskets. His first target were the two Ngati Paoa pa
on the Tamakl River. After a lengthy siege both fell, with the loss of 1,000 Ngati
Paoa lives.*” The survivors fled to the Waikato (Horotiu, the district surrounding
present-day Cambridge.) Hongi then directed his might against Te Totara, the Ngati
Maru stronghold at the mouth of the Waihou River (Thames), which he took by
treachery at the cost of 1,000 Ngati Maru lives. The survivors fled to the Waikato to
join the refugees from Tamaki. All the peoples of Hauraki suffered similarly at the
hands of Nga Pubhi at this tlme Ngatl Hei, for example, were decimated by Nga Puhi
muskets at Wharekaho Beach.®® The flight of Hauraki iwi to the Waikato was almost
total. As a result, Hauraki, the Tamaki isthmus and the islands of the Gulf, were all
but deserted from 1821 to 1831. Meanwhile, at Horotiu they became embroiled in
warfare with the local tangata whenua, Ngati Haua.

After'the battle of Taumatawiwi in December 1830, at the behest of the great Ngati
Haua chief Te Waharoa, the peoples of Hauraki returned to their ancestral lands along
the shores of Tikapa Moana. The return to Waiheke was aided by the marriage of the
Nga Puhi chief, Patuone and the Ngati Paoa chieftainess, Riria, in 1833 and their
residence at Putiki.®

1.11 Tribal politics and ensuing changes to rights in the 1830s

During the ten-year absence at Horotiu, the fires in Hauraki had gone out, aki ka had
been broken. Consequently, it was vitally important for the returning iwi/hapu to
reactivate their land rights through occupation and use as soon as possible. It behoved
all of them to remain mobile for a number of years, to rotate concertedly around their
lands re-lighting the fires. However, rights in pre-European Maori society were never
static, but always subject to change, depending on the course of political events. On
the return to Hauraki, old jealousies and antagonisms were rekindled, the dynamics of
Hauraki politics resumed, and now there was a new factor at work: the presence of
permanent Pakeha settlements.

Missionaries of the CMS estabhshed a mission at Puriri in 1833 and on- its
abandonment others at Kauaeranga and Maraetai in 1837. Flax traders ‘were
established at various places along the Waihou and Piako rivers by 1832. Gordon
Browne established a timber station at Mercury Bay in 1833; William Webster a
trading/timber station on Whanganui Island at the entrance to Coromandel Harbour in
1835, and Thomas Maxwell a trading/boat building operation at Man o War Bay at
the eastern end of Waiheke Island in 1836. The Gulf islands were assuming a new
importance at this time of accelerating, unregulated European contacts. Attracting the
newcomers in particular was the accessibility of the islands by water, for in the
absence of roads they could go only where their ships could go - and this would
continue to be the case in the region until at least the 1920s. Then there were the kauri
forests nearby, offering spars and superior timber for boatbuilding; and good

¢ . Ibid, 190.
Rangmm Walker, Listener, 19 September 1987, p 74.
% Waitangi Tribunal, * Waiheke Island’, June 1987, p 6.
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prospects for trade with the Maori and their provision of labour. In addition, many of
the Gulf islands were rumoured to contain minerals. The Gulf, consequently, was an
important focus of European interest and economic activity in the decade before the
Treaty of Waitangi.

Drawn by the prospects for trade and paid labour, the Maori population of Hauraki
concentrated ‘around these places of European activity in the late 1830s. The
missionary Thomas Fairburn wrote from Maraetai in 1838:

Those [Maori] on the S.W. side [of the Gulf] are drawing out to Waiheke and the lands
adjoining; while those .on. the.opposite snde are drawing towards Coromandel Harbour, both
places bemg excellent ports for shlppmg

Besides having this obvious demographic effect, the European presence surely
affected Maori customary rights in the islands, which in the. new circumstances
assumed increased value. These now had to be protected with extra vigilance from
encroachment, as they accorded the holders. significant advantages: notably, the
prospect of acquiring “Their Pakeha’ and of making a ready land sale, should they
decide so to act - considerations which might induce interested groups to claim
exclusive rights rather than acknowledge shared rights.

- Therefore it is not coincidental that customary rights in two Gulf islands, Waiheke
-and Great Barrier, - underwent extensive changes in the late 1830s. However, the
actual71 extent of these historical changes remains a subject of intense debate today.
One need look no further than the ‘Aotea, Motairehe’ hearing of the Maori Land
Court into customary rights in the smaller islands surrounding Great Barrier, claimed
in varying degrees by both Ngati Wai and Hatiraki, in December 1995, on which
- Judge A D. Spencer has yet to bring down his Judgement 2 Also, I believe that a
similar dispute might easily have developed over the Waiheke Island Claim of Ngati
Paoa (Wai 10), heard by the Waitangi Tribunal in 1985, had the Marutuahu tribes
demurred. In its judgement on the claim, the Waitangi Tribunal acknowledged that the
rights of Ngati Maru on Waiheke might deserve further investigation:

- -We have accepted that Waiheke is the ancestral: home. of Ngati Paoa:because ‘that is what the

Maori Land Court came later to determine and because subsequently;-and: at: our-hearings, no

-demurrer -was made to that claim. It is.not that we consider that'Ngati- Maru had no right but

;. rather that we were not called upon to determine the point. The position of Ngati Maru may
deserve further study however. ™

Let us now examine these two historical situations, which produced turbulent legacies
that still resonate today.

1.11.1 The expulsion of Ngati Maru from Waiheke Island by Ngati Paoa

W T Fairburn letter, April 1838, CN/0 39.

That is, the changes that were acknowledged by the rival interest holders at that time.
MLC minutes, ‘Aotea, Motairehe’, December 1995, Mangere.

Waltangx Tribunal, “Waiheke Island’ p8.
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As we have seen (see 1.8.2 & 1.8.3), in the eighteenth century probably all of the iwi
of Marutuahu established rights on Waiheke, as part of their general conquest of
Ngati Huarere on the Coromandel Peninsula and the inner islands of the Gulf. Some
time previous to 1820 trouble broke out between Ngati Paoa and Ngati Maru over the
drowning of a Ngati Paoa chief, Rongomaurikura, in the Firth of Thames. According
to the account of Smith, the canoe of Rongomaurikura and his party of Ngati Paoa
capsized opposite Manaia, near Coromandel.”* Their bodies drifted ashore and were
supposed by Te Hinaki of Ngati Paoa to have been eaten by Te Puhi and the Ngati
Maru. A series of engagements between the two iwi resulted that criss-crossed the
Firth from Coromandel to Waiheke to Colville. In one of these engagements, a party
of Ngati Maru crossed to Waiheke, killing a Ngati Paoa man at Hangaura (Church
Bay) and another at Te Matuku, as testified by Mata Te Kaha in the Native Land
Court in 1865 (Maunganui hearing).” Peace returned only thanks to missionary
intervention, Smith recorded. The Reverend Samuel Marsden on board the store ship
HMS*Coromandel, then loading kauri spars off the harbour which now carries its
name, made peace between Te Hinaki and Te Puhi on 1 August 1820.7° A year later
all the inhabitants of Waiheke fled to the Waikato, before the then invincible might of
Nga Puhi. '

On the return of the Marutuahu iwi to Hauraki in 1831, Ngati Maru chose not to
return to Waiheke wishing not to rekindle the earlier troubles associated with the
drowning of Rongomaurikura. Yet they considered themselves to have in no way
ceded rights derived from take tupuna, which in the meantime they chose not to
reinforce through ahi ka, or occupation. Consequently, Ngti Paoa were left with a free
hand to reoccupy Waiheke in the 1830s, although Ngati Maru continued to move
much as they pleased thereabouts. .y
Then in about 1840 an incident rekindled the old animosities. A Ngati Maru canoe
was travelling in the Waiheke Channel when it encountered a canoe carrying
Kahukoti of Ngati Paoa.”’ Mauhukuku of Ngati Mari sang a song insulting to
Kahukoti that amounted to a kanga (curse). The name of Kahukoti was similarly
insulted a second time. Only substantial reparation by Ngati Maru could expiate the
wrong done, and to restore the mana of Kahukoti. However, with the advent of
.British- sovereignty and pax Britannica, #fu could no longer be secured in -the
traditional manner, through warfare. Instead, Ngati Paoa had to consider reparation
through the cession of land rights. A hui with. Ngati. Maru.was arranged at
Tapapakanga (Orere),78 over which Donald McLean presided - it is presumed in his
capacity as a Sub-Protector of Aborigines, to which post he was appointed in 1844,
although he may have been present as a private individual (remembering that he had
been employed in Hauraki by William Webster prior 1844), in which case the event
occurred earlier.” There are alternative versions of the outcome of the hui: Ngati

™ Smith, Maori Wars of the Nineteenth Century, p 131.

™ Waiheke Minute Book 1: 35.

" Smith, Maori Wars of the Nineteenth Century, p 131.

77 Waiheke Minute Book 1: 49. There are numerous references to these kanga not only in the Waiheke
Minute Books but also some in the Waiheke Old Land Claims, e.g. OLC 1/1214 (De Witte, Putiki).

® Waiheke Minute Book 1: 55.

” National Dictionary of Biography, Vol 1.
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Maru claimed that they ceded to Ngati Paoa only Omaru (Woodside Bay) in payment
for the kanga; while Ngati Paoa claimed that they ceded to them the whole of
Waiheke. Mohi Te Harare of Ngati Paoa went as far as to claim Waiheke under take

raupatu (conquest), saying in 1865 “The land was taken [by us] as Waikato has now
~ been taken by the Government.”*® Summarising the longer-term actions of Ngati
* Paoa, I write in Waiheke Island: A History:

- In the coming quarter of a century Ngati Paoa were to claim nothing short of all Ngati Maru
" interests in Waiheke as payment for the curses and even to threaten defence of their new gains
by force of arms if need be."

As already indicated, in 1987 the Waitangi Tribunal made a qualified judgement on
customary land rights in Waiheke in 1840. While acknowledging that Ngati Paoa
. “maintained that before 1840 [Ngati Maru] were expelled to join.their kin on the
Coromandel Peninsula,” it also acknowledged that Ngati Maru ‘had-a. different
opinion and clearly the position in 1840 was not certain.”%%

1.11.2 Righfs in Aotea (Great Barrier) in 1838

Aotea experienced two momentous events. in.1838: an inter-tribal battle, the last in
Hauraki; and a pre-Treaty purchase by William Webster which probably involved its
entire area. Hence, the status of customary rights in early 1838, on the eve of this
considerable upheaval, is critically important. But just how difficult it is to ascertain
this in 1996, some 158 years later, was made abundantly clear at the recent Aotea,
Motairehe hearing of the Maori Land Court into the papatupu (not under European
title) islands surrounding Aotea, on which A D Judge Spencer has yet to make a
judgement. Ngati Rehua, a hapu of Ngati Wai, and Hauraki contested each others’

“historical rights in a lengthy, spirited hearing that has produced a transcript of 164
pages.83 Both sides were seriously hampered by limited written sources - a
consequence primarily of the early alienation of the island, before the advent of the
Native Land Court and the reasonably thorough investigations of customary. rights it
made, and of the loss of the Webster Old Land Claims files.®*

Faced with these uncertainties; I can do no-more than summarise current disputes in

- .. the reconstruction of this history. It is generally agreed that Ngati. Tai (to:become Ngai

..'Tai) had mana whenua over Aotea for a period of about 200 years, perhaps beginning

-in the fifteenth century. At the end of the seventeenth century they were divided into
. three main groups: Ngati Te Ko Whenua in the north, Ngati Tai Manawa in the east
and Ngati Te Wharau in the west and south-south - according to the testimony of Witi

% Waiheke Minute Book 1: 48.

! Monin, Waiheke Island: A History, p 51. For an example of the threatened use of violence see
Hauraki Minute Book 44: 29.

82 Waitangi Tribunal, ‘Waiheke Island’, p 8.

¥ MLC minutes, ‘Aotea, Motairehe’, December 1995, Mangere.

* A note on OLC 1/ 726 (Webster Claims) reads: “Is missing - It and other papers were apparently
with Solicitor General John Salmond when he appeared on behalf of the New Zealand Government at
an International Arbitration Court in American in 1912.” However, Salmond’s careful analysis of the
facts of Webster’s claims is printed in the document, CO 209.275, Paper 29936 [1912]. A microfilm
of the document is available in the Turnbull Library, Wellington, (Micro 499).
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McMath.® ‘They were then conquered by the Ngati Rehua hapu of -Ngati Wai,
although many of them were assimilated by the conquerors. Ngati Rehua thereby
gained dominion over the whole of Aotea, Ngati Rehua contend today. However,
present-day Hauraki contend that their tupuna also established rights on Aotea at this
time, particularly in the south at Rangitawhiri. Theirs is a claim of take tupuna,
Taimoana Turoa insists today Ngau Rehua argue otherwise: that while Hauraki,
before 1838, cultivated at places in the south, they did so as manuhiri, as people
permitted to do so only because of their marriage connections with Ngati Rehua, not
by independent right. Furthermore, as the Hauraki who were in the south were of the
Patutatahi, descendants of Waihou/Ngati Tai, any nghts they might have had derived
from the earlier people, not Hauraki, Murdoch argues. 87 The conquest of any part of
Aotea by Hauraki tupuna at this time, perhaps around 1700, is not in the extant
memory of Hauraki. Yet this is not to say that such an event definitely did not take
place; but rather that, if it did, knowledge of such has been lost owing to the long
absence of Hauraki from Aotea since the mid-1850s.

This brings us to the question: How many people, belonging to what kin-groups were
living on Aotea in the early 1830s? “Rangitawhiri was occupied by Paora Te Putu
and Matu Waru and other Ngati Maru tribes” at some time in the 1830s, Taimoana
Turoa testified.®® In the north, however, Ngati Rehua were present in greater strength,
probably on a more permanent basis. Aotea had a population of about 170 persons in
1838, the missionary Fairburn: estimated,” “probably all Ngati Rehua because this
figure is provided in the context of the battle of that year.

There are several accounts of this battle, of which the best known is that of Tukumana
‘Te Taniwha, the grandson of Horeta Te Taniwha a leading figure in it Another
comes from W T Fairburn, the CMS missionary then located at Maraetai, which has
. the merit of being recorded only days after news of the event was received. Hence it
is worth citing in full: '

In December [1838] a party of Ngapuhi and Ngatiporou on their way to the East Cape with
.eight canoes landed at Aotea, the Large Barrier Island, containing about one hundred and
f"seventy persons, men and women. After stripping a small plantation of kumara etc a messenger
nging to the place was despatched to Hauraki in the night who the Ngati wanaunga [snc]
“and- Ngati maru joined [and also] the school boys of Hauraki (the latter party promising to

endeavour to make peace between the parties) who however on seeing their own party likely to
be worsted commenced firing upon the enemy in their rear which turned the scale and the
enemy were forced to fly for their lives to the woods More than one hundred fell in this very
sad affair including [members of] both partles

% < Aotea, Motairehe’ transcript, p 96.
% Ibid, p 117.
%7 Ibid, Murdoch, p 44.
® Ibid, p 101.
8 ‘General report of Hauraki Station for the year ending March 31 1839’ Fairburn, CN/0 39.
* G Graham, ‘Te Aotea (Great Barrier Island): The Happenings There, Leading to the Last Intertribal
;)lVars of Hauraki, Journal of the Polynesian Society, vol 54, pp 192-98.
Ibid.
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In this report Fairburn %wes the time of the battle as December 1838, a time also
confirmed in his journal.”™ Moreover, the Reverend Dr Lang who visited New Zealand
in 1839 gives the time as “Toward the close of the year 1838.” Yet both Ngati
Rehua and Hauraki witnesses in the Aotea hearing of December 1995 contended that
the battle took place in about February 1838.°* I know of no basis in written evidence
for this contention. Conversely, there is no reference in the transcript of that hearing to
the accounts of Fairburn and Lang - making one conclude that neither side was aware
of them. The result was the committing of a serious error in fact, for the timing of the
event was crucial to the argument of Ngati Rehua. Assuming that the battle had
occurred in about February, Murdoch argued that Ngati Rehua tuku’d Aotea to
- “Hauraki as recompense for the loss of life they had suffered as a result of coming to-
their aid. Te Horeta Te Taniwha, the Hauraki chief foremost in these events, then sold
these newly acquired rights to Webster on 20 March 1838.” On this basis, then,
‘Murdoch argued that the predominant rights of Hauraki in Aotea were newly
acquired and that the purchase of Webster was opportumtlstlc 6 insofar as he
quickly capitalised upon this sudden change in rightsholding in Aotea.

The fact that the battle took place some months after the ‘sale’ to Webster means that
the interests ‘ceded’ to Webster by Te Horeta and other rangatira of Hauraki (and by
only two rangatira of Ngati Rehua) in 1838 were of more longstanding origin. They
‘were not ‘selling’ rights acquired from Ngati Rehua only weeks before through tuku
whenua; but,'I believe; rights founded on some other fake, probably tupuna or even
raupatu, dating from very much earlier.

In conclusion, it is possible to say little more than that both Ngati Rehua and Hauraki
had rights in Aotea in 1838. It is not possible tg. say, with any precision, how these
-~ were distributed geographically. I believe, like Murdoch, that the boundaries of the
- Crown grant to Webster et al should not be equated with tribal boundaries, °7 nor
should any others deriving from European land transactions on Aotea. As we shall see
in the next chapter, these were largely arbitrary constructs determined by Land Claims
* Ordinances and the like, not boundaries ‘walked over’ by the Maori vendors and the
- European purchasers. I -believe that the present-day-claim of ‘Hauraki to-mana whenua
over the southern one third of Aotea, involves the construction of tribal;boundaries of
dubious validity. Rather, their pre-1838 rights- were -probably. spread ‘much more
- widely and less exclusively over the island.

- 1.12. Customary. rights in other Gulf islands at 1840

- ~Customary rights in other Gulf islands were probably not much altered in the 1830s,
unlike those in Waiheke and perhaps also in Great Barrier, remaining much as they
had been in 1821 prior to the flight of the tribes to the middle Waikato in the wake of
the Nga Puhi raids. However, one can never afford to lose sight of the fact that the

2 .- Fairburn letter, April 30 1838, CN/0 39.
Lang s account is recorded in Smith, Maori Wars of the Nineteenth Century, pp 459-60.
Ibld p 49. There are numerous other examples in the transcrlpt
Ibld
bed pp 37-40.
" Ibid, p 41.
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predominant political factor at work in the inner Gulf in the 1830s was Ngati Paoa
expansionism, characterised by their seeking to replace rights formerly shared with
other Hauraki iwi with more exclusive rights rather than the conquest of new
territory. Ngati Paoa dominance on Waiheke in the 1830s probably led to their
dominance likewise on the Mahurangi coast. I believe that after the return of the tribes
from the middle Waikato in 1831, Ngati Paoa sought to capitalise upon the failure of
any group, with rights in inner Gulf islands pre-dating 1821, to promptly to reassert
these by taking up occupation, i.e., by asserting ahi ka. This happened demonstrably
on Waiheke, as we have seen.

In setting out to summarise customary rights in the other islands as at 1840, I must
reiterate the paucity of primary sources mainly attributable to the early alienation of
these islands. What little can be said must be along the lines of the following:

1. Mahurangi islands (principally Tiritiri Matangi) -
Ngatx Paoa (the Marutuahu confederation) asserted their rights in these islands, by

‘selling’ them as part of the Crown’s Mahurangi purchase in 1841. They claimed them
by right of conquest from Ngati Rongo, an iwi of Te Kawerau, although the reality is
- .-probably that around 1800 Ngati Rongo had ceded only partial rights to Ngati Paoa
(see 1.9.5).That this was so is suggested by the fact that in 1867 persons of Ngati
Poataniwha and Ngati Taihawa, people who had occupied the island before the
incursions of Nga Puhi, saw fit to claim Tiritiri Matangi in the NLC.*® But Fenton
dismissed their claim, because they were unable to prove occupation after 1840. The
vendors in the above transaction of 1841 were “the people of Ngatipaoa, Ngatimaru,
Ngatitamatera and Ngatiwhanaunga™ Yet- Ngati Paoa asserted pre-eminent rights
among those iwi of Hauraki by claiming the bulk-ef the consideration. A small reserve
was cut out for Ngati Whanaunga on the Mahurangi mamland in acknowledgement of
their rights. 100

2. Motutapu, Motuihe, etc.

Ngai Tai continued to assert their mana whenua over the islands at the mouth of the
Tamaki river, to the west of ‘Waiheke, into the colonial era. Their presence at Tamaki
dated:iback to the arrival of the Tainui waka in Aotearoa, i.e., since long before-the

Marutuahu conquest (see 1.6.1). Horetana te Irirangi of Ngai Tai testified at the Otata
hearmg in 1866:

The boundary between Ngaitai and Ngati Kahu commenced at the mouth of the Tamaki went
over the summit of Rangitoto thence to Tiritirimatangi. This was a boundary laid down in
former times and was known by all.'"™

-Yet over these islands Ngai Tai had faced increasing challenges from Ngati Paoa, as
the local people in the ascendant, in the course of the previous half century. Ngati
Paoa were to play the dominant part in the ensuing land sales to Europeans, largely at
the expense of the rights of Ngati Tai. ,

Fenton, Important Judgements, Tiritirimatangi, pp 21-26; Auckland Minute Book 1:53-107.
* Turtons’ Deeds, Crown purchases, Deeds 192, p 252.

1% 1bid, Deeds 194, p 253.

1% Auckland Minute Book 1: 17.
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3. Motukorea

Ngati Tamatera presented themselves as the rightsholders in Motukorea, when John
Logan Campbell and William Brown negotiated the purchase of the island in 1840.
However it is unlikely that they were the exclusive rightsholders, but no investigation

was ever carried out by the colonial authorities granting others the opportunity to
assert their rights.

4. Pakatoa, Rotoroa and Ponui
Ngati Paoa, in landsales in 1845 and 1854, successfully asserted their rights in these

- islands to the east of Waiheke, with Ngai Tai being acknowledged as having shared
- rights only in Rotoroa.

5. Whanganui etc.
Patukirikiri were the acknowledged customary owners of the islands.at the entrance to
-Coromandel Harbour: Whanganui, Motutapere, Waimate and Motukopake.:

6 Ngamutuaroha
. The'descendants of Rangikahemo (Ngati Tamatera?) were acknowledged by the NLC

in 1912 to be the customary owners of these islands stretching from the entrance of
‘Coromandel Harbour north to Coville.'”

7. Cuvier
Several hapu had rights in Cuvier (Repanga): Ngati Rongou the western portion;
Ngati Karaua and Ngati Ramuri the south-western portion; and Ngati Hihi the south-

easterﬁprortlon according to the testimony of. Rawiri Taiporutu in the NLC in
1888.

8. The Mercury Islands

Ngati Whanaunga and Ngati Karaua (a hapu of Ngati Whanaunga) were the principal

rightsholders in the Mercury Islands, chiefs of these peoples alienating Great

~Mercury (Ahuahu) to the Crown, 1858-1865." 104 -Ngati-Karaua and -Ngati Pupu were

--awarded Red Mercury (Whakau), conjointly, by the'Native: Land Court in1912. Ngati
Whanaunga, along with Ngati Hei and‘Ngati: Pupu;were:acknowledged to be the

~owners of the three smaller Mercury islands by the Court in°1965. 105

9. The Aldermen Islands

- -The -customary owners of the Tairua block, the mainland block closest to the
Aldermen Islands, were awarded title to the Aldermen Islands by the NLC in 1950. 106

- However, this award was later: cancelled, in 1959 the islands being vested in the
descendants of Ngati Marutuahu, Ngati Hako and Ngati Hei. 107

toz - Coromandel Minute Book 9: 101-116.
% Coromandel Minute Book 3:33.
104 , Turtons’ Deeds, Crown, Deeds 299, 300, 305, 306, 317, 320, 321 and 337.
% Hauraki Minute Book 79: 40.
Hauraki Minute Book 73.
Hauraki Minute Book 76:179-180.

106
107
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10. Shoe and Slipper Islands

Ngati Whakakahu and Ngati Whakahau were awarded these two islands, conjomtly,
by the NLC in 1866.'%*

el

1% Coromandel Minute Book 1 61.
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CHAPTER 2: ALIENATION HISTORY OF THE
ISLANDS: PRE-1865

2.1 Introduction

Most of the smaller Gulf islands and the greater parts of the larger ones were alienated
before 1865 through pre-Treaty purchases, pre-emption waiver purchases and Crown
- -pre-emption purchases. They were among the places most coveted by the first
generation of European land-buyers in Hauraki, both private and Crown, on account
-of their closeness to Auckland, commercial resources like timber and minerals, and
-easy access by water. The Gulf islands played a major part in the opening, extractive
phase of the economic development of the Auckland region.

A narrow majority of the land alienated through pre-Treaty (old land claim) purchases
in Hauraki involved islands, if one excludes the ‘Fairburn Purchase’ (Tamaki to
Wairoa) from the calculation. Similarly, pre-emption waiver purchases on Waiheke
and Great Barrier in 1844/45 account for close to the total area alienated through this
mode in Hauraki. Likewise, in the 1850s when the iwi of Hauraki were becoming
increasingly reluctant to sell land, the islands were among the few places where the
Crown could hope to. make purchases. Consequently, when the Native Land Court
arrived in Hauraki in 1865, it had only about 12% of the combined area of the islands
to investigate. The islands, still unalienated, were more distant from Auckland - those
off the western and eastern coasts of the Coromandel Peninsula, places yet to be seen
- by Europeans as having any economic. or other vaite.

- Therefore all three pre-1865 modes of  alienation applied to Gulf islands:
1. Private pre-Treaty purchases, or, old land claims;
2. Private pre-emption waiver purchases; and
3. Crown purchases under pre-emption.

In this chapter each mode will be allocated a section; comprising narrative summaries
of those individual transactions followed by. discussion of ‘them collectively in terms
of the central Treaty issues applying to pre-1865 purchases as identified by Dr Barry
Rigby in the ‘Rangahaua Whanui District 1, Auckland’ Report, July 1996:

“(a) In the circumstances prevailing, were the Crown policies used to identify the
owners or those holding rights in Maori land (and other resources) adequate? Did they
give adequate consent to the transfer of their land/resource rights to the Crown or to
Crown grantees?

(b) What was the extent of the land/resources transferred? Were the boundaries clear
and understood?

(c) Was an adequate equivalent exchanged? Did it include no more than immediate
payment in cash or goods, or did it entail ongoing obligations?
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(d) After the transactions, were Maori left with sufficient resources and authority to
provide for current and future generations.”1

2.2 PRE-TREATY PURCHASES (OLD LAND CLAIMS)

The Gulf islands were high on the shopping list of the land speculators who
descended upon New Zealand from Sydney on the eve the of the Treaty of Waitangi
and immediately after. Of the 15 old land claims involving Gulf islands, eight were
transacted before June 1839 and seven after, the latter definitely falling into the
category of land speculations, and many of the former also. Motutapu, Motuihe and
Motukorea were all allegedly purchased between December 1839 and June 1840. The
whole of Great Barrier and choice places at eastern Waiheke had been allegedly
purchased earlier.

z.z.fWhanganui Island - 1836 - Webster

William Webster, the towering figure in the frontier history of the Gulf, was 1nvolved
in virtually all the pre-Treaty purchases in Hauraki, either as purchaser or broker. This
brash, resourceful American, aged no more than 20 years, arrived at Mercury Bay in
1835 to Work in the timber station of Gordon Browne, financed by Ranulph Dacre of
Sydney A year later Webster struck out on his own, moving to the other side of the
Coromandel peninsula and setting up his own timber and trading post on Whanganui
Island at the mouth of Coromandel Harbour. He became ‘the Pakeha’ of Horeta Te
Taniwha, the elderly- paramount chief of Ngati Whanaunga who as a boy had met
Captain Cook in 1769, and married his daughter. William McLeod, in partnership
with Webster, allegedly bought the 1sland of about 500 acres, on 8 December 1836,
for consideration of £260 in goods (or, as calculated in 1843, £94 14s 6d, Sydney
- prices, x 3 = £284 3s 6d.) This was the first European land purchase in Hauraki. The
four Maori signatories to the deed of sale belonged to Patukirikiri, the people later
acknowledged to be the rightful owners of the islands at the mouth of this harbour.

Webster and McLeod divided the island between them when their partnership was
* dissolved in 1837, Webster taking the northern portion. Commissioners Godfrey: and
Richmond reported on 18 December 1843 that McLeod had made a bona:fide
purc,;ﬂase . in 1836." Further to their recommendations, grants on Whanganui Island
were issued: 250 acres to Richard Condon, after several transfers now the owner of
the interests originally belonging to Mcleod;® 125 acres to Webster; and 125 acres to
Peter Abercrombie.

! Rose Daamen, Paul Hamer and Barry Rigby, ‘Rangahaua Whanui District 1 Auckland,” July
1996 p 55.

% See the biographichal essay of Webster by Patricia Adams in The Dictionary of New Zealand
Btography vol I, pp 578-79.

* Turton, Private Deeds, Deeds 378, 341-42. Successive claim numbers of the LCC were 236
and 305A.

Ibld p 342.

bed ’

¢ AJHR 1893, A-4, p 6: ‘Schedule of Purchases of Land in New Zealand made to William
Webster.’ .
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2.2.2 Motutapere Island - 1838 - Webster

On 10 November 1838 Webster allegedly purchased for £41 in goods the island of
Motutapere, which is 113 acres in area and located to the immediate north-west of
Whanganui Is. This claim was examined by Godfrey on 17 June 1844, but was
disallowed as Webster had already received the maximum of 2,560 acres. Also, the
vendors asserted that although they intended to sell the island Webster failed to make
full payment.” While Motutapere remained with indefinite title until the late 1850s,
the surveyor Charles Heaphy.considered it to be very nearly ‘surplus land’, demesne
of the Crown. He wrote

[It is] nominally in the hands of the General Government, at least being entirely at the disposal
of the General Government, except that the Native title has not been quite extinguished.®

In 1857 Heaphy recommended that Motutapere be reserved for the use of Putukirikiri,
as they were rapidly alienating their land holdings on the mainland at Kapanga
(Coromandel township). Donald McLean, chief land purchase commissioner, acted on
‘this recommendation.” Hence, under these circumstances, Motutapere narrowly
.. escaped early alienation.

2.2.3 Aotea (Great Barrier Island) - 1838 - Webster

.Let us return to ‘the Great Barrier (Aotea) purchase of - 1838, introduced in the
previous chapter in connection with customary rights on the island. On 20 March
1838 Webster and his Sydney partners Jeremiah Nagle and William Abercrombie
allegedly bought “all of that island called Aotea’, then under-estimated to be 20,000
~ . acres in area, for merchandise to the value of £1140 in goods.'® The ‘signing’, which
- .probably took place at Coromandel Harbour, “was witnessed by 300 people of
Hauraki. -Seventeen of the 19 Maori signatories, foremost among whom was Te
Horeta Te Taniwha, were of Hauraki, while only two were of Ngati Wai. That
merchandise included much clothing and household/agricultural hardware, plus a
- veritable arsenal: 40 casks of gunpowder, 10 superior double”Guns, 80 muskets and
140 Cartouche boxes. Doubtless, it was largely thanks to that arsenal that Hauraki
achieved victory over the force of Ngati Kahugnunu/Porou on Aotea, later that year. It
~ is significant that Hauraki should have been prepared-to make such-a military effort, at

- considerable cost in lives to. themselves, over land “in"-which according to the .

transaction of 20 March their rights had been extinguished. Demonstrably, this group
-*showed ‘that in its view the transaction had not terminated fully and finally its
relationship with that land.

- Godfrey investigated the Aotea-claim of Webster and. associates at Coromandel
Harbour. On 10 June 1844 he reported that although Webster had intended to
purchase the whole island, Maori witnesses affirmed having sold only the northern
part of the island, “that lying southwards of the above boundaries does not appear to

7 ATHR 1861, C-1, p 125, Heaphy memo, no date, 1857.
® Ibid. ’

® Ibid, p 126.

' Turton Private Deeds, Deeds 349, pp 310-11.
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FIGURE 3 : ALIENATION OF GREAT BARRIER ISLAND
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have been purchased from the rightful owners.”'' The chief Tara, by his assertion the
rightful owner of the southern portion, complained of having received virtually none
of the merchandise exchanged for the island. Godfrey describes precisely the
“boundaries” between the land validly purchased and that not, surely on the
information of Maori witnesses, which suggests that these boundaries had traditional
status. (They later became the boundaries of the Webster et al Crown grant on Aotea.
This casts doubt on the argument of Murdoch that they were arbitrary constructs
-determined by land claims regulations, re the Aotea - Motairere hearing of the Maori
Land Court hearing, December 1995.)

Godfrey recommended that no grant be issued, Webster having already received the
maximum.'”? However, when the Legislative Council came to review Godfrey’s
recommendation, Governor FitzRoy

- remarked that this appeared to him a case of extreme hardship, and as he considered that great
benefit would accrue to the colony by awarding those parties a grant of part of the Barrier
Island, for the purpose of enabling them to proceed with their:mining: operations, on which
much capital had already been expended, he felt disposed, as this was a special case, to step out
of the usual course.”

It must be borne in mind that at this time there was much s 1ympathy in official circles

for the likes of Webster and L.A. McCaskill of Hikutaia,"* men who had ‘expended
- much capital on mining and timber operations within the vicinity of Auckland. In the
economic circumstances then afflicting the young colonial capital - stagnation, stalled
land sales, dependence on imports and an empty colonial exchequer - it seemed only
sensible that the colonial administration should reward and give encouragement to
such pioneer capitalists FitzZRoy was certainly of-this mind. The Council agreed with
him:that this'was a.“special case”, that a grant of a part of ‘the island should: be
awarded to the.claimants and an extension be made to the maximum of 2,560 acres."
Commissioner FitzGerald was authorised to do so, awarding Webster and his co-
claimants ‘a total of 24, 269 acres on Aotea: 8,080 to Webster; 8,119 to W.
Abercrombie; and 8,070 acres to J. Nagle. Thereby, the northern third of Aotea was
‘alienated, the portion containing the copper.resources.and the best kauri timber sought
by those old land claimants. They -had-faired:not-so-badly-at-the: hands of -the two
Commissions.

2.2.4 Ahuahu (Great Mercury Island) - 1839 - Webster

- On 20 May 1839, Webster allegedly purchased Great Mercury Island, estimated to

contain 6,000 acres, for consideration of £278. In June 1844, Godfrey established a

- bona fide purchase of two small pieces of land, one at the south end of the island, but .. .

recommended no grant, Webster having already received the maximum.'®

”Ibld p311.

> AJHR 1893, A-4, p 6: ‘Schedule of Purchases of Land in New Zealand made to Wllllam
Webster

GBPP 1845 (247), p 101.

I have researched the McCaskill old land claims as h!StOI‘lCal researcher of the Wai 355 claim.
bed

¢ AJHR 1893, A-4, p 6: ‘Schedule of Purchases of Land in New Zealand made to William
Webster’,
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Commissioners FitzGerald and Dillon Bell, subsequently, saw no reason to change
this recommendation; so Webster received no grant on Great Mercury. Nothing else is
known about this purchase

2.2.5 Waiheke Blocks - 1838 - Webster

In 1838 Webster allegedly purchased two blocks of land at the eastern end of
Waiheke Island, alongside good ‘harbours’ and containing accessible kauri timber.'®

The first was transacted on 8 May 1838 with the vendors Ngakete, Kupunga, Tuaruhi
and others of Ngati Paoa, estimated to contain 2,000 acres fronting onto Cowes Bay
The consideration to the value of £108 included a schooner which Webster ‘initially
supplied but then removed to Coromandel Harbour for repairs, failing to return it to
the vendors. This claim, 305M, was disallowed in July 1843 on account of Webster’s
failure to complete payment.

The:second was also transacted on 8 May 1838 with the vendor Ruinga of Ngati
Paoa, estimated to contain 3,000 acres in the area of the Stony Batter peninsula. The
consideration was to the value of £202 16s 0d. This claim, 3051, was investigated by
Godfrey and Richmond and found to be bona fide. In May 1843 Webster was awarded
1,187 acres. This grant was subsequently upheld by the Dillon Bell Commission.

2.2.6 Te Huruhe (Waiheke) - 1838 - Maxwell

Thomas Maxwell was another towering European figure on the Gulf frontier, second
only to William Webster. This trader/boat builder lived at Kororareka in the early
1830s, where he married Ngeungeu the daughter-of Tara Te Irirangi chief of Ngai
Tai, before shifting to the inner Gulf in about 1835. On 7 May 1838 he allegedly
purchased 3,000 acres at Te Huruhe (Man o War Bay) Waiheke Island from Ngati
Paoa chiefs. There are alternative accounts of what he provided in consideration.
Maxwell himself testified on 11 August 1841 that he “gave the natives ten pounds in
cash and goods to the amount of £58 (which included a whale boat).”™ Turton
recorded consideration in merchandise worth £108 1s 0d.*® These amounts would
appear to be at Sydney prices. “One of the chiefs who sold the land called Ruinga
walk .over the boundaries with me,” Maxwell’s above testimony continues, “I took
possession of the land a few months after the purchase was made and have resided
there ever since.” But Maxwell’s life was soon:to-be-cut short: In January-1842 he
sailed to Port Nicholson (Wellington) in the schooner he had built on Waiheke, the
Sarah Maxwell, arriving safely, but on the return journey the vessel was lost and the
crew including Maxwell drowned. His widow, Ngeungeu, and six sons were left to
fend for themselves on Waiheke. After waiting in vain for the return of Maxwell,
some years later Ngeugneu and her sons joined their Ngai Tai relations at Umupuia
(next to Maraetai).

" OLC 1/724-727, Great Mercury, contains only fragmentary information - involving other
Webster purchases as well.

'* AJTHR 1893, A-4, ‘Webster’s Land Claims.” Further details are available in.micro 499,
‘Webster’s Claims’, ATL, which I have not had time fo consult.

 OLC 1/331&332.

% Turton, Private Deeds, Deeds 350, pp 312-13.
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Meanwhile, Maxwell’s Waiheke land claim lapsed. Godfrey advertised the hearing of
this claim for 3 April 1843 in Auckland,”' but in the absence of the claimants no
investigation of it could be made.

Then in 1865 one of his sons, Anaru (Andrew) Maxwell, applied to James Mackay
jun., civil commissioner for Hauraki, for information on the claim. Anaru was no
stranger to the Pakeha courts, in which he worked as a licensed interpreter, nor to the
old land claims process, in which he had been involved in respect of the settlement of
his father’s Motutapu Island claim in the 1850s (narrated below). The Waiheke claim
of Maxwell now fell within the boundaries of the 10,800-acre block purchased by the
Crown on the island in 1858 from Ngati Paoa, in which the interests of Ngati Maru
remained to be extinguished. Only when this was completed in 1869 could the
Maxwell claim be addressed.

On. ) August 1870 the six Maxwell brothers were awarded in equal shares as tenants
in’ common 1288 acres at Te Huruhe (Man o War Bay), Waiheke. As two of them had
since died, the surviving brothers succeeded to their shares. They sold their shares to
T.J. Waters, two of them even in anticipation of receiving the award.

2.2.7 Motutapu (Hurakia etc) - 1840 - Maxwell

Thomas Maxwell allegedly purchased the four adjacent islands of Motutapu, Motu
Hurakia (Rakino), Otata and Motu Horopapa (Noises) on 11 January 18402 The
vendors were chiefs of Ngai Tai (including his father-in-law, Ngeungeu’s father, Tara
Te Irirangi) and Ngati Paoa. In consideration he supplied goods worth £40, the Ngat1
Paoa chiefs taking possession of all of it and Te Irirangi receiving nothmg
Whereupon Te Irirangi gave Maxwell notice that he would not rehnczlulsh Hurakia or
Otata, nor a part of Motutapu, until the rendering of accounts.” This unequal
distribution of consideration, compounded by Maxwell’s untimely death, was to
seriously complicate the settlement of the claim. Amongst other things, it contributed
to the breaking up of the four islands as an aggregate purchase. Let us first examine
whatzhappened to the three smaller islands in respect of their titles, a relatively
straightforward matter, before giving fuller attention to the Motutapu claims, which
Commissioner Dillon Bell described in 1857 as “among the most complicated that
have come under the notice of the court.” :

2! NZ Government Gazette, March 22 1843.
z Turton, Private Deeds, Deeds 357, p 319. There is also an alternative version of these deeds,
Deeds 210 (p 272), with the date changed from 11 January 1840 to 11 January 1844 and the
_ purchaser’s name changed from Thomas Maxwell to James Maxwell. Perhaps this was an

outcome of the Fitzgerald investigation in 1844 when the vendors re-affirmed the original deed
of sale. See OLC 1/332, ‘Motutapu Case’, Dillon Bell p3.

 Ibid, p 320.
# OLC 1/332, ‘Motutapu Case’, Dillon Beli, p 2.

» Ibid, p 1.
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Maxwell sold Hurakia (Rakino) to G.F. Robinson in late 1840 or early 1841.2% At the
investigation of Godfrey in June 1844, Te Irirangi said that he had not received the
payment for Hurakia and Otata promised him by Maxwell: a double-barrelled gun, 3
casks of gunpowder, 10 blankets and 3 coats. Godfrey found that a deed of sale had
been executed but refused to recommend an award as Té Irirangi did not acknowledge
receipt of the payment stipulated to him. Robinson subsequently made that payment
to Tara and a Crown grant was awarded to him on 5 February 1845. It was
subsequently called in and cancelled, under the 1856 land claims legislation. The
island-was surveyed in 1861 .and the total area found to be 360 acres: Meanwhile
Robinson had died and his Hurakia interests had passed through the hands of several

- trustees. ‘Commissioner ‘Dillon Bell ordered the issue of a grant for Hurakia to
- William Aitken who assigned his interest to R.G. Wood. A new grant was issued to
Wood on 25 June 1862. Soon after Governor George Grey bought the island.

Meanwhile, Maxwell’s claim to Otata and Motu Horopapa (Noises) had lapsed, for
* want of prosecution. Moreover, Te Irirangi’s refusal to.relinquish. Otata (and
presumably Motu Horopapa as well), because of non-payment, was well known to
* Dillon Bell?”  As a result these islands reverted to Maori ownership, to be
“ investigated by the Native Land Court in 1866-67. .

On-the disappearance of Maxwell in early 1842, his Motutapu claim also lapsed,

i Godfrey reporting on 1 July 1844 that no grant could be recommended, “no native

~evidence having been exhibited and no fees paid.”*® Meanwhile, settler society in

Auckland was becoming increasingly concerned about the allegedly abject
circumstances in which Maxwell’s ‘half-caste’ children were now living with their
Maori relations, and calls were made to the. highest levels of the colonial
-administration for representation on their behalf in respect of their deceased father’s
~estate. In a minute of 28 June 1844, Governor FitzRoy expressed to Fitzgerald the
wish that some “legitimate cause could be adopted in favour of the children of
Maxwell”? and authorised him to make an 1nvest1gat10n into that estate.

Fitzgerald, accordingly, held an investigation of the'Motutapu claim-on:21 August
1844. Te Irirangi , being “the principal proprietor”, ‘objected:to-not-having received
any goods from Maxwell, and as a result:requéﬂ:toarelinquish:az_portion:"of the island
(as well as Hurakia and Otata as we have seen), but was prepared to-do so if paid £20.
Fitzgerald recommended that 2,560 acres of ‘Motutapu be awarded to the children of
Maxwell, conditional on the payment of the £20 to Tara. It would seem that this
payment would have extinguished Maori interests on Motutapu in accordance with the

- terms of the original deed of sale. Yet Ngati Paoa insisted that they still owned a part
of the island, that Maxwell had not bought all of it.

The waiver of Crown pre-emption by FitzRoy in 1844, gave them the opportunity to
sell that which they still claimed, supposedly about 1500 acres. They commenced

% Ibid, Deed 358, pp 319-21. We cannot be precise about the date because the deed was lost in
a ship wreck at the mouth of Coromandel Harbour in 1844.
27 OLC 1/332, ‘Motutapu Case’, p 2.
% Ibid, pl.
 Ibid, p 2.
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negotiations with Messrs Williamson and Crummer, who were issued with pre-
emption waiver certificate 204 for the purchase of the same on 22 April 1845. The
deed of sale was executed on the following day.*® It would appear that Ngati Paoa
had in effect double-sold their interests in Motutapu. With respect to the claims of the
Maxwell children on Motutapu, our present subject, this was a hugely complicating
turn of events.

‘Williamson and Crummer also secured a lease for the remainder of the island, through

the offices of the Protectorate. They ran cattle and commenced improvements such as
pasture sowing and building construction. Governor Grey, concerned about their
claim to 2,731 acres of the island, ordered its survey, which established a smaller total
acreage than had been believed. He concluded. forthwith they had .been wrongly
granted access to Motutapu, and that in consequence the Maxwell children had
suffered a grave injustice. The case was referred to Matson who found that pre-
emption certificate 204 was wrongly issued to Williamson and Crummer because the
earlier transaction of Maxwell had been bona fide, Maxwell having fulﬁlled his: part
of the agreement, despite the unequal distribution of the consideration.>' Williamson
and Crummer were awarded 86 acres on 23 June 1849, but still to be settled was the
compensation they were due for their considerable investment made in good faith.

No advance was made on the case until 1853 when Williamson and Crummer applied
to purchase the 2,700 acres within their claim at 10 shillings per acre, under the new
land regulations. They now claimed to have -spent £3,500 on the land and
improvements, much of this with credit from the Auckland capitalist, Robert Graham.
On enquiry, Donald McLean learned that “Ngatitai who were the original owners”
were willing that the Maxwell children should be.put in possession of the land. 2 Te
Irirangi had since died, having never received the £20. -

On 2 March 1857 the case was investigated by Bell who recommended, as Fitzgerald
had done in 1844, that the Maxwell children be awarded 2,560, acres. ** Calculating
the land to be worth about £2 per acre and keeping in mind the £3,500 in expenditure,
he.recommended a award-to Graham, now the owner of the Williamson/Crummer
interests, of the balance of the island, 1409 acres.>* This would leave a public reserve
of . about 80 acres. Motutapu was now estimated to contain 4051 acres. Thus the
claims of the Maxwells on Motutapu were finally settled with a grant of 2,560 acres.
-In 1869 3SRobert Graham and his wife purchased these interests of the Maxwell
brothers.

2.2.8 Motuihe - 1839 - Fairburn

Although William T. Fairburn, CMS catechist based at Maraetai from 1837 to 1841,
is generally taken to be the European who ‘purchased’ Motuihe from the Maori, there

*® Ibid, p 4.
. > Tbid, p 8.

Ib1d p 10.

Ibld pp 11- 14.

Ibld p22.

% Mrs Graham may have purchased some the Maxwell interests at less than their market value,
through an element of deceit. OLC 1/331, James Maxwell, sworn statement 12 January 1870.
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is some evidence that a man named Butler may have done so a few years earlier.* In
any event, Butler did not make a claim to the Land Claims Commission for this land
nor did any Maori witnesses at the Commission’s hearings mto the Fairburn
‘purchase’ of Motuihe make reference to any such earlier event.” Whatever had
happened by way of an exchange, if anything, it fell far short of an alienation that
either party chose to affirm or to advance subsequently.

Fairburn allegedly purchased Motuihe from the chiefs Wiremu Hoete of Ngati Paoa,
Nuku of Ngai Tai and Te Manko of Ngatiwaki on 5 November 1839.% In

consideration he supphed merchandise worth £83 5s 0d and promised delivery of a
heifer or cow worth £20.>° The transaction took place at Maraetai. Soon after, on 21

- .- March 1840, Fairburn sold his interests in Motuihe to Henry Tayler for £200,

thereby very nearly doubling his money. Tayler’s Motuihe claim, 221D, was
- investigated by Godfrey and Richmond in ‘Auckland -on-31 July 1841, when Hemi
- Pepene affirmed the transfer as stated-in the deeds. John:du-Moulin-surveyed the
island in 1842 without obstructlon from the Maori, finding it to:contain'430 acres (the
actual areais 422 a. 2 p. 21p. ) Tayler was awarded a grant for the entire island on 6
- September :1843, selling the propert?l to William Brown and John Logan Campbell
-five days later for the sum of £220.*

‘Bell re-1nvest1gated Tayler’s Motuihe claim in Auckland on 28 January 1858. Tlns
- time there was vociferous Maori protest. Ngatai of Ngati Paoa complained that he
had received none of the payment despite having a claim in the island. Wiremu Hoete
sustained Ngatia’s claim but said it was the fault of the other Maori that he had
received nothing, affirming that the island was validly sold. However, he had a
~material grievance of hJS own, alleging that the cow (part of the payment) had never
been given by Fairburn.*? Hoete appealed to the Commissioner to require Fairburn to
-deliver him the cow or its equivalent.. Bell replied that he could make no such
direction but that he had no objection to their appealing to Fairburn directly for
satisfaction. He said that was only fair as Hoete had sworn in 1842 that he had
- received the payment including the cow. “After some consideration, Hoete admltted
the’ correctness of this [course of action];” Bell wrote in his Court notes.™ 2

- A new grant for the whole of Motuihe was issued:to ,*John.l;pgan:Campbell':
On 24 December 1872 the island was sold to the Crown, to serve as a quarantine
- ~station for Auckland.*

3 L. Walsh, ‘Motuihi’ booklet, Auckland, 1937. His principal evidence is a lithographic chart
of the Waitemata and the Hauraki Gulf, issued in Sydney in 1837 (?) on which the island
appears as Butler’s Island.
%" This Maori silence is significant in view of the fact that in case of the Commission’s
investigations of the Pakihi/Karamuramu purchase Maori witnesses openly acknowledged the
. earher 1827 purchase by the New Zealand Company of the islands thereabouts.

3% Turton’s Private Deeds, Deeds 354, pp 316-317.
» - OLC 1/457, minutes of Godfrey and Richmond Court, 31 July 1841.

Ibld Commissioners’ Report, NZ Government Gazette, 24 August 1842.

Walsh po.

Ibld F.D. Bell notes, ‘Motuihe Island Court’, Auckland 28 January 1858.

* Ibid.
“D.L7A/119.
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2.2.9 Te Matuku (Waiheke) - 1839 - Fairburn

W.T. Fairburn allegedly purchased an estimated 300 acres at Te Matuku Bay,
Waiheke Island, from Wanui a chief of Ngatipuku and three chiefs of Ngati Paoa in
December 1839, completing the terms of the exchange on 18 January 1840.
Consideration in cash and goods totalled £63 2s 6d in value.* Fairburn was in
partnership with Henry Tayler, who hoped to work the manganese he had discovered
on the land. Soon after, Fairburn withdrew from the partnership, conveying his
interest to Tayler.

On 1 September 1841 Godfrey and Richmond investigated the claim in Auckland.
Hema Popena, Mata and Paora stated that the 2' had signed the deed, had the right to
sell the land and were satisfied with the sale.*® Tayler’s claim then stalled for several
years, On 15 April 1844 he requested the finalisation of the grant to him “In order to
enable me to make arrangements for carrying on certain mining operations with
€ i:” “7 On 23 April 1844 Tayler was awarded a grant for 300 acres at Te Ma’cuku

In 1855 a survey of the claim was made by Drummond Hay. In 1857 Tayler sold the
land to the firm of Brown and Campbell, which then agreed to sell it to Robert
McLeod, a long-time resident there. The grant to Tayler was called in by a notice
dated 20 June 1859. Bell investigated this old land claim in April 1861. % On 13
September 1861 he directed that a grant be issued to Robert McLeod for 578 acres in
respect of it. The original grant had grown by three increments: an additional sixth of
50 acres, a survey allowance of 210 acres and a fees allowance of 18 acres. It is not
clear from where this land was taken - probably Crown ‘surplus’ - but what is clear is
the original intention of the Maori vendors in 1839 'o sell only about half that area.

2.2.10 Waiheke blocks - 1839 & 1840- Graham

Thomas Graham, formerly assistant superintendent of the Sydney public gardens,
arrived on Waiheke in the mid 1830s. In 1839 he allegedly made two purchases of
land at Orapiu, the south-eastern tip of the island.

Thesfirst was transacted with Ruinga in February 1839, estimated to contain about
150 acres. The consideration was in goods worth £14. This claim was investigated by
Godfrey on 19 June 1843. Ruinga declared, “I signed the deed ... but I did not know
that it contained a transfer of any land. I thought the goods I received were for Mr.
Graham having a house there.” On this ground, Godfrey disallowed the claim.
Graham later expressed indignation that “the word of a single Native was taken

against the oath of myself and European evidence together with the agreement signed
by the Native. »3

* Turton’s Private Deeds, Deeds 359, p 322.
“ ™ OLC 1/455.

Ibld

“® Ibid, Dillon Bell Report, 13 September 1861.
“ OLC 1/864.
% Ibid.
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The second was transacted with Ruinga on 20 December 1839 and completed on 2
March 1840, estimated to contain 400 acres.”’ The consideration comprised £12 cash
and 2 blankets. This claim was investigated by Godfrey on 30 June 1843. Ruinga
affirmed signing the deed, receiving the payment and having the right to sell the land.
Hence Godfrey allowed the claim and Graham was awarded a grant for 365 acres. The
re-investigation of the claim by Dillon Bell in March 1860 produced a small
adjustment to the boundaries and the issue of a new grant for 363 acres 2r. Op. to
W.F. Porter, who had since purchased the land from Graham.

- 2.2.11 Poukaraka (Waiheke) - 1839 - Foster

On 14 December 1839 John Foster allegedly purchased 400 acres at Poukaraka
* ' (Whakanewha), Walheke Island, from Te Huhu.of Ngati Maru, for goods worth about

£60, at Sydney prices.”> Two weeks later, Foster transferred his interest ini the land to
F. Hodgkinson and M.E. Murnin. At the investigation of Godfrey, Te Huhu claimed
the right to sell the land and affirmed having signed the deed, consented to sell the
_ land to Foster and received the payment. Godfrey reported on this claim, 332B, on 1
+July 1843, finding in favour of the claimants for 400 acres. The grantees subsequently
sold Poukaraka to S.A. Wood.

Meanwhile, Mohi Te Harare of Ngati Paoa disputed the right of Te Huhu to sell the
" land. He insisted that Whakanewha was given to him by Ngati Maru in payment for
their 1nsu1t to Kahukoti. Te Harare burnt the house built by Foster and expelled Te
Huhu He then took possession of the land and appears to have occupied and
cultlvated it, seasonally, for much of the 1840s and 1850s. Wood, it seems, was in
effect frightened out of taking active possession of the land. ‘When Bell investigated
the claim in 1858, Mohi Te Harare handed in a protest but so too did the Ngati Maru
chiefs, Hotereni Taipari and Eruera Te Ngahue “But the protests were withdrawn
afterwards,” the Commissioner reported.’ * On 11 February 1858, he directed that a
grant be issued to S.A. Wood for 187 acres at Whakanewha.

 2.2.12 Waiheke - 1840 - Simpson

. Only the: general circumstances of this old‘land claim- are known.:On:a'brief visit to
New Zealand in 1840, Capt. T. B. Simpson of Sydney allegedly bought land at Te
- Huruhi, at the western end of Waiheke, before sailing to China to buy tea and
becoming involved in the first Opium War.”® Simpson died having neglected to
prosecute this land claim and it was left to his widow, then in straitened
-circumstances, to approach the New Zealand authorities about it in 1859. The deed
forwarded to Bell indicated the payment of considerable goods worth £363 9s 5d.
However, on making enquiries into the claim on Waiheke, the Commissioner found

Turton s Private Deeds, Deeds 360, p 322.
Ibld Deeds 356, p 318. OLC 1/801.

54 %> MA 4/3, Smith to Bell, 30 March 1857.

o OLC 1/801.
OLC 1/1305.
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that no more than about 50 acres had been given in exchange. He concluded that the
Maori vendors had “swindled him out of these goods.”®

On 20 April 1869 Commissioner Alfred Domett ordered the issue of a grant for 300
acres at Te Huruhi, Waiheke, to the representatives of the late Capt T.B. Simpson. On
discovering that the land in question had been investigated by the Native Land Court
which had placed an 21-year alienability restriction on its title, he converted the land
grant into an issue of indent for £300. A

2.2.13 Motukorea (Brown’s Island) - 1840 - Brown

The arrival of John Logan Campbell and William Brown in the Waitemata, in early
1840, months before its choice by Lt. Governor Hobson for the colony’s seat of
government, is a well known founding story of Auckland, engagingly recorded in
Logan Campbell’s classic memoirs, Poenamo.’” Keen to buy land thereabouts, they
only*had the option to buy the small island of Motukorea, located at the mouth of the
Waltemata given the Maori refusal to sell land on the isthmus itself. On 22" May
1840, ‘at Waiomu on the other side of Tikapa Moana (north of Thames) William
Brown ‘purchased’ Motukorea from Kanini, Kati Kati and Ngatal ! Brown belleved
all of these chiefs to be of Ngati Tamatera but the last was perhaps of Ngati Paoa.”
In consideration Brown provided goods estimated to be worth £120, at three times
Sydney prices.® The island was believed to contain about 350 acres, but its actual
area is 148 acres.

Did Brown deal with the rightful owners? The fact that the transaction was conducted

far away at Waiomu mainly by chiefs whose closest major land holdings were on the
" western side of the Coromandel peninsula may seem to suggest, no. Yet Ngati

Tamatera had in all probability penetrated the inner Gulf by the early nineteenth
century; indeed, their sale of Motukorea to Brown may be significant proof of the co-
penetration of the inner-Gulf islands by virtually all of the iwi and hapu of Hauraki
by this time.%! I am inclined to make this inference from the event. Brown soon found

- it necessary to re-examine whether he had bought from the rightful owners because

the Crown showed an early desire to claim the island and might capitalise on such a
take. He wrote in August 1841, “I am aware that His Excellency claims the Island
in virtue of a grant of it from a native of the name of Joet [Wiremu Hoete of Ngati
Paoa] but this native now acknowledges that he had no right to the Island in question
as do all the Native whom I have spoken on the subject, »62 implying -that he had
bought from the rightful owners. In 1844 Brown wrote, “I believe that the
Government were satisfied that I had purchased from the proper owners.”®

% Ibid.
_57 John Logan Campbell, Poenamo, first published 1881.

Turton s Private Deeds, Deeds 12, p 441.

% OLC 1/1122, Brown to Commissioners 4 August 1840. A Ngati Paoa named Ngatai was
g)romment in most of the Ngati Paoa land sales in the inner Gulf.

OLC 1/1122,

Today, however, Ngai Tai are likely to argue that they alone had mana whenua over
Motukorea at this time and were entitled to sell it, if they so chose.
%2 OLC 1/1122, Brown to Shortland 13 August 1841.
& Ibid, Brown to Colonial Secretary, 18 September 1844.
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In June 1840 Brown moved to the island, stocking it with pigs and havmg a raupo
house built for him, in preparation for the arrival of his wife from Sydney.** On 4
August 1840 he applied to have his claim to Motukorea investigated by the Land
Claims Commissioners, yet to depart for New Zealand - from Sydney, but Governor
Hobson refused him the right on the ground that the purchase had taken place after the
land claims proclamations promulgated on his arrival in New Zealand. Located at the
entrance to both the Waitemata Harbour and the Tamaki River, Motukorea was
strategic property that the Crown felt it ought to own itself. On the sale of the first
sections at Auckland in April 1841, Brown shifted there from the island. Now he was
reduced to seeking compensation for, rather than title to, Motukorea, his first
- investment in Auckland. The island was in effect simply taken by the. colonial
government.

The prospects of Brown’s Motukorea claim improved .dramatically. with the
commencement of the FitzRoy governorship in December.1843,.which. was to be
characterised by a far more liberal treatment of the old. land claimants. Brown once
again placed his claim before the colonial secretary. This time it prompted a
- favourable memo, perhaps written by that official, Andrew Sinclair: “In my opinion it
*[Motukorea] was unjustly taken by the Government [and] as it has not been since sold
or divided there can be no reason against now delivering it up to the proper owner
“[Brown].”®® Fitzgerald agreed that this should be done and then FitzRoy signed a deed
of grant for Motukorea, about 150 acres, to Brown, on 22 October 1844. All ’n all,
the claim had been handled in a highly irregular manner. Despite its having been
neither investigated nor reported on by the Land Claims Commission, a grant had
been made. In effect, the governor had by-passed the judicial process set up by
ordinance for that purpose and acted on his own executive authority.

In 1848 the case was referred by Governor Grey to Attorney General William
Swainson, further to the receipt by the former of a letter from Hohepa Aranui
claiming the island. On examining the accompanying papers, Swainson concluded,

The grant cannot be sustained under the provisions of. the Land Claims Ordinance. ..... [ am of
opinion that assuming the Island to be the property of. the Crown it has not been validly
- disposed of by the accompanying Deed of Grant. ®

Yet he chose not to disturb the original grant. In 1854 the Ngati Tamatera chief, Meha
Te Moananui, appealed to Governor Wynyard for the balance of purchase goods
~worth £26 allegedly still due him on the Motukorea purchase.®’ (This appeal by a
Ngati Tamatera chief, and not one of another iwi, seems to confirm that Ngati
Tamatera had been the rightful owners of the island.) Again the case Wwas referred to
Swainson, who declared that he had not changed his opinion as to the grant but
recommended that it should not, after such a lapse of time, be disturbed.®® Over ten
years later, in 1865, Te Moananui was still appealing for the balance. The original

&4 Ibld Brown to Commissioners 4 August 1840.
bed Brown to Colonial Secretary, 18 September 1844.
Ibld Swainton Report, 12 December 1848. ’
bed Te Moananui to Governor, 18 October 1854.
% Ibid, Notes on back of Moananui letter of 27 March 1865, probably by James Mackay.
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grant for Motukorea of 1844 remained undisturbed, and it appears that Te Moananui
was never to receive the balance that he sought.

2.2.14 GulfIsland Old Land Claims: Conclusions and Treaty Issues

Gulf island old land claimants faired quite well at the hands of the successive
Godfrey/Richmond, Fitzgerald and Bell Land Claims Commissions. Eleven of their
15 claims were allowed, amounting to 24,269 acres on Great Barrier; 3,605 acres on
Waiheke; 2,560 acres on Motutapu; the 500 acres of Whanganui Island; the 422 acres
of Motuihe; and the 148 acres of Motukorea: 31, 504 acres in total. By contrast, on
mainland Haurakl they were awarded ‘only’ 26,554 acres, Fairburn’s Tamak1 awards
excluded.®

It can be argued that economic considerations played an important part in the
determination of these awards. The claims over Great Barrier and Waiheke involved
minifrg of timber ventures, already underway or planned, ventures that were crucial to
theieconomic development of Auckland and of the colony as a whole. They were
tacitly acknowledged to be ‘special cases’ by Governor Hobson and by Governor
FitzRoy after him (who instructed Fitzgerald to treat them as such). By the time of
the Bell Commission investments in these ventures were well advanced, so unless the
Crown was prepared to make substantial compensation payments to claimants it could
not now consider disallowing them. Let us now examine how Maori interests faired at
hands of the Commissions.

(a) The Representation of Maori Interests
The adequacy of the Commissions’ procedure to establish verification of the
extinguishment of Maori rights is questionable. It'is evident from the record that the
Godfrey/ Richmond practice of requiring only two Maori part101pants m the original
transaction to give testimony applied in the case of Gulf island claims.”® Moreover, in
many instances these two affirmers are likely to have been hand-picked by the
claimant. That some claimants in Hauraki went even further to pre-empt protest is
- made clear in the letter of Sub-Protector Edward Shortland to George Clarke, 10 June
1844

In: ference to the claims to land in the Hauraki district, which were investigated-last year by
Commlssmner Richmond, I have the honour to bring under your notice the fact, that promises
of future payment have in many cases been .made to natives interested, to prevent.their
_opposition, or to induce them to give favourable evidence ... It has come within my knowledge,
.that the evidence ;)roduced before Commissioner Godfrey has, in many cases, been given under
similar influence.

Coming from an official of Shortland’s integrity and knowledge of the region, this
evidence that many claimants were attempting to pervert the course of justice casts a
pall over the work of these Commissions in Hauraki. Unfortunately, the pro forma

% I reached this calculation by adding 13,880 acres (OLC data base, OLC National Theme A,
Rangahaua Whanui, by Duncan Moore, Barry Rigby and Matthew Russell.) to 12,674 acres, the
Webster Piako award - ATHR 1893, A-4, p 6). ’

Rangahaua Whanui District 1, Auckland, p 87.

"' E Shortland, Traditions and Superstltlons of the New Zealanders, London , 1854,pp 293-94,
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manner in which much of the Maori evidence is recorded gives little indication of
what witnesses actually said about the circumstances and the terms of transactions.

Nevertheless, in the case of about one third of the claims there was Maori protest.
How did the Commissioners respond to it? They showed themselves to be prepared
to disallow a claim, if the Maori evidence of an invalid transaction was clear-cut. Of
the four claims that were disallowed, two were for non-completion of the payment
(Motutapere and Cowes, Waiheke - Webster); one because the ‘vendor’ declined to
affirm the sale (Orapiu, Waiheke - Graham) and one because the maximum of 2,560
-acres had been granted (Great Mercury - Webster). Maori evidence had determined
~all of these outcomes, except the last one. Moreover, the Great Barrier claim was
- reduced by two-thirds because one of the vendors affirmed having sold only a part of
~the island. Thereby, the majority of Great Barrier and some of eastern Waiheke -
. reverted to Maori ownership. So too did Motu Horopapa and Otata (The-Noises), but

. because the Maxwells failed to prosecute this part of their Motutapu:claim-rather than

~-because of Tara Te Irirangi’s protest over-having received none:of the-payment (see
below).

- Yet there -are many instances of Maori protest that was discounted - by the

» Commissioner-because the issues were less clear-cut.: The protest of Wiremu Hoete
thatFairburn had not completed the payment for Motuihe was discounted by Bell
because Hoete had affirmed before Godfrey in 1842 that Fairburn had done so. Yet in
view of Hoete’s close relationship with the missionaries and colonial officials at that
time and his goodwill toward them as partners in an exchange relationship, perhaps he
would have been reluctant to make such protest then, whether or not the payment had
been completed. Likewise, the protest of Tara Terirangi that he had received none of
.~ the -payment from the sale of Motutapu and other islands from Maxwell was

“discounted by Godfrey who maintained that Maxwell had fulfilled his obligations
- under the agreement and that the fault lay with the other vendors. (It is a sad irony that
Te Irirangi and Ngai Tai, “the principal proprietors”, thereby received nothing for the
sale of these islands.) The demands for payments over Motukorea of ‘Hohepa Aranui
and Te Moananui seem to have gone :unsatisfied. Attorney General ‘Swainson, in
questioning the validity of the Motukorea grant in 1849, conternplated its reversion to
the Crown, not to the Maori. - Therefore; on the basis -of the:limited ‘extant written
record of Maori testimony and the response of Commissioners to it, it seems that
‘Maori protest was likely to be effective only if the protester had been a participant in
. the transaction and if his complaint was without complication.

(b) The Boundary Question T

The old land claimants were not required to survey their claims before submitting
them. All claim boundaries were descriptive, for example: commencing at a clump of
pohutukawa - thence along a ridge (named) - thence to a point (named) and so on.
Many of the local Maori names are no longer in use, so even if resources and time
were no object it would be extremely difficult to compare the deseribed boundaries
‘with the surveyed boundaries of subsequent awards. In the case of the purchase of
whole islands (Whanganui, Motukorea, Motutapu, Hurakia and Motuihe) this of
course is not a problem. Only a few of the OLC files contain references to the
walking of the boundaries by both purchaser and vendor. This seems to have become
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standard practice only at a later stage in pre-Treaty land purchasing. Consequently, the
area of land under transaction might not have been absolutely clear to the two parties,
the Great Barrier purchase of Webster in 1838 a notorious case in point. While
Webster almost certainly believed he had bought the whole island, the vendors
affirmed to Godfrey having sold only the northern part. The Maxwell purchase of
Motutapu and other islands generated very different boundary problems. While
Maxwell believed he had bought the whole island, the vendors later claimed otherwise
for their own reasons: Tara Te Irirangi because he had received none of the payment
and Ngati Paoa because they were desirous of additional payments.

(c) The Adequacy of Equivalent

Payment was principally in goods with a top-up.in cash. Trade goods had became the
prevailing currency between the races in Hauraki the late 1830s, as payment for the
Maori labour and produce so important to Webster’s expanding economie activities in
the Gulf So when Maori began to transact in land also, goods were the ebvious form
of payment An immediate difficulty in trying to establish the adequacy of payments
for 1and is the failure of the record, in many cases, to make clear whether the valuation
of the consideration is in Sydney prices or in New Zealand prices, viz. the former x
three. Whichever, payments were paltry. However, the rate paid in goods per acre was
generally higher for small islands than for larger islands or mainland blocks. For
example, £284 was paid for the 500 acres of Whanganui island, and £120 for the
148 acres of Motukorea (both in N.Z. prices); as opposed to £1200 for 24, 269 acres

on Great Barrier. Yet the value of islands to the Maori was disproportionate to their
size.

It appears that the Commissioners paid little heed o the instructions issued to them by
Gipps on 2 October 1840 that they limit awards in cases where “articles given in
barter to the natives were likely to be hurtful to them instead of useful - such as
gunpowder, firearms ...”"> The Great Barrier claim is a glaring case in point, where a
large award was made despite the considerable quantity of firearms and gunpowder
supplied in payment. These goods also feature in many of the smaller transactions.

¢%is'no doubt that the Maori who were ‘selling’ land and placmg Pakeha like
- Webster.or Maxwell in their midst in the late 1830s were doing so in the expectatlon
of “teceiving ongoing, co-lateral benefits through trade and wage labour. What is
debatable, however, is the view that the Maori vendors considered these Pakeha to be
obligated under the terms of the transactions to provxde them with such ongoing
benefits. In the cases of Gulf island old land claims where Maori demanded payment
later on, one of several situations applied: either the payment originally agreed upon
had not been completed (Motuihe); or the payment had not been distributed equally
(Motutapu - Tara Te Irirangi); or a rightsholder had been overlooked in the
transaction (Motukorea). The only recorded instance of vendors seeking payments
over and above that originally agreed upon is that of Ngati Paoa over Motutapu.

This is not to suggest, however, that the vendors accepted the total termination of their
connections with the land. By no means did they assume that the Pakeha purchaser

2 GBPP 1840 (569), pp. 428-30.
{
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would be granted exclusive possession; seeming instead to assume that they
themselves would have residual rights of occupation and use. As we have already
seen, Hauraki fought a bloody battle on Great Barrier in 1838, some months after the
sale to Webster. There can be few equally dramatic examples in the history of early
land sales in New Zealand of a vendor group doifg so much to maintain its
connection with land it had purportedly sold. On Great Barrier, Ngati Wai then
remained at Motairehe, next to the copper mine, and they are still there today. On
Waiheke, Urikaraka of Ngati Paoa remained at the eastern end until the Waikato war,
- despite-the fact that this land was included in the Maxwell purchase of 1838 and the
Crown purchase of 1858. On Waiheke, land at Te Matuku and Whakanewha was
likewise occupied long after it had been alienated.

~ The Simpson claim is an anomaly. It was a rare Maori victory in the settlement of
'~ Hauraki old land claims, for no Maori land was alienated as a result of the £363 worth
- of goods Simpson had paid the Maori of Te Huruhi, Waiheke, in 1840, Instead the
" Crown awarded his heir compensation of £300, because the‘title-6f this'land carried
~ an alienation restriction by the time the claim was settled in 1869. '

" (d) Outcomes - The sufficiency of remaining Maori resources

Although at ‘this early stage no Maori vendor group was left with insufficient
resources as a result of land sales, a few had already lost important parts of their rohe:
- Ngai Tai the inner Gulf islands (Motuihe, Motutapu and Hurakia) and the Hauraki iwi
plus Ngati Wai extensive rights on Great Barrier. Old land claim purchases seriously
de-stabilised the tenure of Ngati Paoa over eastern Waiheke and paved the way for
the Crown purchases there in the 1850s.

2.3 PRE-EMPTION WAIVER PURCHASES

The Gulf islands experienced the outer edge of the frenzy of private land purchasing
in the central Auckland area triggered by Governor FitzRoy’s waiver of pre-emption,
under the so-called 10-shillings-an-acre proclamation of 26 March 1844 and the one-
penny- an- acre proclamation of 10 October:1844. George Clarke reported-on 31 July
1844, “it [the waiver] gives Europeans:-an.opportunity..of selecting-land-in the most
" " favourable situations, and will tend-to. concentrate.them:around:-the- capital.”73 His
projection was correct. Professor Alan Ward has calculated that there were at least 90
such purchases in the central Auckland area - presumably exclusive of Gulf islands.”™
~ There were 14 waiver purchases in the Gulf islands: one in Great Barrier, eight in
Waiheke and five in the smaller islands surrounding Waiheke. Therefore all but one of
-these ' purchases were close to - Auckland, between about 10 miles (to Motutapu) and
20 (to Pakatoa) from the town - distances then accomplished far more easily on water
than on land. Waiheke was the principal focus of purchases.

2.3.1 Great Barrier - Whitaker and du Moulin

Two pre-emption certificates were issued on 3 November 1844 over land on Great
Barrier: one to Frederick Whitaker over not more than 1500 acres and another to John

 Ibid, 1843-45(7), Clarke Report, p 78.
 Alan Ward, ‘Supplementary Historical Report on central Auckland lands.’
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Peter du Moulin over not more than 2,000 acres. On 12 December 1844 Tamati Te
Waka and other chiefs sold Whitaker and du Moulin a block in the centre of the
island, estimated to be about 3,500 acres in area.”” The consideration comprised
goods, which included one cutter complete with dinghy, and cash to the total value of
£170.7 The purchase had only boundary descriptions, in the absence of survey.
Whitaker and du Moulin partitioned their interests by a deed of 12 August 1846.”

On Governor Grey’s re-instatement of Crown pre-emption, these waiver claims of
Whitaker-and du Moulin were referred to Commissioner Matson for report. The
ensuing sequence of events was short and sharp. The claimants failed to produce a
survey, as required by the regulations, Matson reported the same and the Governor
directed the disallowance of the claims by notice of 12 June 1848. Nothing further
happened until the Crown’s purchase of land on Great Barrier to the.south of the
Whitaker/ du Moulin waiver claims in 1854 and to the north of them in:1856. As yet
no purchases on Great Barrier had been surveyed, including the old land.claim award
of 1844 to Webster, Abercrombie and Nagle. There could be no further delay now
that three parties, including the Crown, claimed interests. Bell, now responsible for
the final settlement of both the old land claim and the waiver claim, directed the
survey of much of the island.

On 6 and 21 August 1861, Bell made consecutive orders for the ;issuk,e to Frederick
Whitaker of a total of 5,463 acres at Great Barrier upon payment of £125. He also
ordered the issue to du Moulin of 1,000 acres.78

2.3.2 Rotoroa - McIntosh

Under a pre-emption certificate, Charles Hunter Mclntosh purchased Tarataroa’
estimated to be 400 acres in area (actually 204 acres), and the small adjacent island of
Kahakaha from Ngatai and Ruinga, chiefs of Ngat1 Paoa, and Te Whetuki and
Honatana, chiefs of Nga Tai, on 12 January 1845.%° The consideration comprised £32
cash and various goods. McIntosh installed a labourer on the island and, erected a
wooden hut and had the land stocked with sheep, goats and pigs. 81 Matson reported on

" theiclaim:on 5 August 1847. Three of the vendors affirmed that they had recexved the

fullizpayment and had no further claim over the islands whatsoever He
recommended a confirmatory Crown grant be issued to McIntosh. ‘

2.3.3 Pakatoa - MclIntosh

Under a pre-emption certificate, C. H. McIntosh purchased Pakatoa estimated to be 70
acres in area (actually 59 acres 2r.) from Ngatai, Ruinga, Ngakete and Taiko, chiefs of

” Turton’s Private Deeds, Pre-emptive Claims, Deeds 53, pp 469-70.
7 1*OLC 1/ 1130 & 1131, Bell memo, 12 August 1861.
" Ibid, pp 470-71.
™ OLC 1/ 1130 & 1131, Bell Report, 12 August 1861 & ‘Appendix to the Report of the Land
Clauns Commissioner’, AYHR 1863, D-14, p 83.
Rotoroa which should be ‘Rataroa’.
% Turton’s Private Deeds, Pre-emptive Claims, Deeds 67, p 492.
S'OLC 1/1116-1117.
* Ibid.
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Ngati Paoa on 29 August 1844. The consideration comprised £20 cash and various
goods.®® Matson recommended a confirmatory Crown Grant be issued to McIntosh.

2.3.4 Pakihi and Karamuramu - Tayler, Brown and Campbell

These islands straddling the narrow passage between Ponui and Kawakawa Bay on
the mainland were included in the very first European land purchase in the Auckland
region. In 1826 James Herd, as agent and commodore of the New Zealand Company
(not the later one), led a party of 25 Scots emigrants to the Hauraki Gulf, aboard two
vessels.Herd :purchased;, by a deed of  sale dated 23 September 1826, Pakatoa,
Rotoroa, Ponui and Pakihi (and Karamuramu it was later assumed) for one double-
barrelled gun, eight muskets and on barrel of gunpowder ‘The incentive to purchase
was the mineral deposits on Pakihi believed to be iron ore - which later proved to be
~ red brown jasperoid slates.®® Frightened by the-appearance of a passing Maori taua
" (war party), Herd’s party fled northwards, staying for a time at the ‘Hokianga before
returning to Sydney Nothing more was heard from the Company in. respect of this
remarkable purchase.

" However, as the event was acknowledged by the Maori and known to the colonial
officials, the title of Pakihi and Karamuramu was in a strange limbo in. the 1840s. The
‘Crown believed that 1t might own the islands as the Maori title had been at least -

a '-f'pamally extinguished.®® Acting on this assumptior, the government leased Pakihi to

“Henry Tayler in 1843 for mining purposes. Yet on 14 June 1844 FitzRoy consented to
~ waive Crown pre-emption over the islands.¥” On 1 August 1844 the islands were sold
to Tayler, Campbell and Brown by chlefs of Ngati Paoa for £100 m Sovereigns and
goods worth £25%

"In 1846 Brown and Campbell had the islands surveyed Pakihi proved to contain 278
acres and Karamuramu 12 acres.”” The claim was referred to Maj. Matson who
concluded that he could make no report as Pakihi was the property of the
government.”® With the reduction in the upset price of Crown land to 10 shillings per
- -acre in.1853, Brown and Campbell undertook to purchase the islands a second time,
paying £145 on 1 October 1853. By the:standards ‘of the:day; theyzhad paid dearly for
the islands, and their situation . -evoked. some. :sympathy. -in .official ;circles. The
Executive Council determined that “as the sum:paid by-Messrs: Brown:and Campbell
to the natives exceeded 10 shillings per acre, they should retain the islands in
- consideration of the amount paid by them to the natives.” ' On 18 March 1854 a
Crown grant was issued to Campbell.”?

% Turton’s Private Deeds, Pre-emptive Claims, Deeds 30, p 453-54.
# - NZ MS 774, APL.

% Morgan, New Zealand Journal of Science and Technology, 1919 2.2, p 117.
% OLC 1/1126, Brown and Campbell to Col. Secr, 30 May 1844, margin note.
* Ibid.

5 . Ibid.
bed Brown & Campbell to Col. Sec., 8 August 1846.
Ibld Matson 27 November 1847.

*! Ibid, Executive Council, 11 October 1854.

2 D.I. 7A/118, Auckland Land Registry.
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2.3.5 Motutapu - Williamson and Crummer

This waiver purchase, made on 22 April 1845, has been examined in the context of
the Motutapu old land claim (2.2.7).

2.3.6 Ponui - Regan and Duane

Under a pre-emption certificate, in 1845 John Regan and Timothy Duane purchased
300 acres on Ponui from Ngatai of Ngati Paoa for a whale boat with oars and £11 in
cash.”® On 30 December 1847 Matson recommended that no grant be made in respect
of this claim, for reasons that are unclear. In January 1854 authorisation was given for
Regan and Duane to be paid £52 17s 0d in compensation.

2.3.7 Waiheke - Eight purchases

Under pre-emption certificates nine blocks were purchased on Waiheke between 17

November 1844 and 18 February 1846, eight of which were to result in Crown
grants. :

1. On 17 November 1844 Frederick Whitaker purchased 700 acres at the north-
eastern tip of Waiheke, called Te Patu, from Te Ruinga of Ngati Paoa for £50 cash
and goods The claim was disallowed by Matson in 1848, presumably for want of
survey.’ Wh1taker transferred his interests to Alexander Shepherd. On survey, the
block was shown to contain 610 acres. At the investigation of Bell on 2 May 1858 Te
Ruinga affirmed the sale and the boundaries stated in the deeds. On 27 March 1860
Bell directed the issue to Jane Shepherd, wife of Shepherd now deceased, a grant for
610 acres at Te Patu, Waiheke. -
2. On 18 February 1846 Frederick Whitaker and John Halls purchased 700 acres at
the eastem end of Waiheke, Pikau, from Te Ruinga of Ngati Paoa for £20 cash and
goods The claim was disallowed by Matson in 1848, presumably for want of
survey. At the investigation of Bell on 2 May 1858 Te Ruinga affirmed the sale
and the boundaries, except for a coastal strip to which he claimed to have granted only
a nght of road.” This difficulty, however, was resolved by the Crown’s purchase:from
Te Ruinga on 12 June 1858 of 10,800 acres on Waiheke, which included Pikau: On
27 March 1860 Bell directed the issue to Whitaker and Halls compensation of £350.

3. On 20 November 1844 John Logan Campbell and William Brown purchased a
block of indeterminate size at eastern Waiheke, Opako (sic), from Te Ruinga for
goods worth £43, which included a boat. %8 The claim was disallowed in 1848 by
Matson, presumably for want of survey. * In 1858 Te Ruinga reserved from the above
- block he sold to the Crown the area of this claim for Campbell and Brown. On 14
September 1861 Bell directed the issue to Campbell of 67 acres at Opako.

OLC 1/1295 and Turton’s Private Deeds, Pre-emptive Claims, Deeds 84, p 492.
** Turton’s Private Deeds, Pre-emptive Claims, Deeds 42, p 463.
% > OLC 1/1132.
% Turton’s Private Deeds, Pre- -emptive Claims, Deeds 86, p 494.
> . OLC 1/1178.
Turton s Private Deeds, Pre-emptive Claims, Deeds 47, p 466.
¥ oLc 1/ 1140.
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4. On 23 November 1844 Charles de Witte, the Belgian consul to New Zealand,
purchased 500 acres at Putiki from Wiremu Hoete of Ngati Paoa on the down
payment of £4 to be followed by £40 plus £6 for a house.!® A second deed of sale
was signed by other chiefs of Ngati Paoa on 3 December 1844. But in doing so,
Hoete and the other Ngati Paoa had ignored the claim to Putiki of Patukirikiri,
through the conquest of the area by their ancestor Kapetaua (see 1.9.2). Faced with
their protest, Hoete gave them the £4, which they promptly returned it to de Witte in
an effort to undo the transaction.'®’ The claim was disallowed in 1848 by Matson,
- presumably for want of survey. There was a long delay in the payment of the balance
of £46, Hoete receiving it only  on 8 July 1858. Hoete later acknowledged that he
should have shared this money equally with Patukirikiri but had not done so because
of his own considerable debts.

Bell heard the claim on 15 April 1859. Despite-this:fundamental :dispute over
customary rights and despite the unequal: distribution:of the:consideration, Bell “was
‘not disposed to consider disallowance:[and]- accordingly-t~au’chorisc—:d:atf-survcsy.”“.xZ On .
survey the claim was shown to contain 280 acres. On 2 July 1860 Bell directed the

+. +issue of a grant to Charles de Witte for 280 acres at Putiki.

5. On 14 January 1845 Charles de Witte was issued a pre-emption certificate for the
right - to purchase 200 acres at -Matiatia, western Waiheke. On 14 January 1845 he
-bought 200 acres there for £30, by his own account, although no deed of sale of this
transaction has survived. Matson disallowed the claim in 1848. Bell saw no reason to
proceed further with the claim in 1859. De Witte continued to fight the disallowance
but with the placement an alienability restriction.upon the title of Te Huruhi (which
included Matiatia) by the Native Land Court in 1869, his cause was lost.

6. On 31 December 1844 Thomas Crummer, George Owen, Thomas Stewart and
Isaac Merrick purchased 900 acres at Awaawaroa from four chiefs of Ngati Paoa for
one whale boat, other goods and £24 cash.'® On 4 July 1845 Merrick purchased the
“interests of the other partners.'® Matson disallowed the: claim in 1848, for want of
“survey, but the Attorney General awarded him"70 acres; in‘return-for ‘the:£69 18s 6d
" in payments he had made. On 6 September 1854 Merrick purchased 80-acres within

the boundaries of his claim for £36."" Bell investigatéd the claim on 23 December
1858. On 16 January 1861 he directed the issue of a grant to Merrick for 368 acres at
Awaawaroa.

7. On 21 January 1845 John Brigham purchased 999 acres at Okahuiti from chiefs of
- Ngati Maru and Ngati Paoa for a two-masted schooner, a boat and other goods.wcvi The

19 Turton’s Private Deeds, Pre-emptive Claims, Deeds 44, p 464.

I OLC 1/1140, testimony of Rarapia at Court of Bell, 15 April 1859.
12 Ibid, Bell report, 2 July 1860.

1% Turton’s Private Deeds, Pre-emptive Claims, Deeds 62, pp 476-77.
" OLC 1/1235. a

'% Ibid, Bell report, 16 January 1861.

1% Turton’s Private Deeds, Pre-emptive Claims, Deeds 71, pp 482.
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transaction was confirmed by a second deed, of 3 November 1845, to 950 acres.'”’
Tamati Te Waka of Ngati Maru received the schooner and Te Ruinga of Ngati Paoa
the boat, six firearms and £6 cash. On survey the claim was found to contain 841
acres. At the investigation of Matson on 17 June 1848, Te Waka, Te Ruinga and
Wiremu Hoete affirmed that the sale was made with the full consent of all the parties.
Brigham announced his wish to relinquish his claim to the Crown in return for
compensation, Matson ascertained the compensation to which Brigham was entitled to
be £290 Ss. 0d, viz the extent of his expenses.

8. On 1 February 1845 Adam Chisholm purchased 850 acres at Putiki from chlefs of
Patukirikiri for two horses, other goods, and £2 cash.'” Ngati Paoa immediately
protested that their rights in this land had been ignored. In the absence of survey,
Matson referred the claim to the Attorney General but no determination was made. 109
Nevertheless, the government proceeded in 1854 to lay out the claim as Crown land -
along. with the adjacent Brigham claim for which it had paid compensation to
Bngham Meanwhile, Wiremu Hoete believed, wrongly, that Governor Grey had
decided to return to them the Brigham and Chisholm claims. He obstructed the

survey, which in consequence was not completed and Chisholm was left to complete
it at his own expense.

‘Bell investigated the claim on 5 October and 20 December 1859, concluding that the

government had practically disallowed - Chisholm’s claim without having really
decided it. On 21 March 1860 he directed the issue of a grant.to Chisholm for 390
acres at Putiki and a further 58 acres alongside his Lucas Creek grant (on the
mainland) for survey allowance. Bell appears to have done nothing about the protest
of Ngati Paoa over the right of Patukirikiri to makg the original sale.

9. Theophilus Heale was issued a pre-emption certificate to buy 50 acres on Waiheke
but did not act upon it

2.3.8 Gulf Island Pre-emption Waiver Claims: Conclusions and Treaty Issues

a5

In the Gulf islands far less land was alienated as a result of pre-emption waiver
purch es than as a result of old land claims: about 10,000 acres compared with about
31,000 acres. Both types of purchases involved the most favourable land - that wh1ch
was accessible to the water, close to Auckland, timbered and arable - blocks
disproportionately valuable to their size.

(a) The Representation of Maori Interests

The waiver of Crown pre-emption in 1844 required the Crown to investigate

rightsholding in advance of sales to ensure that land was sold by its rightful owners,
whereas such investigation was taking place after the event in the case of the old land
claims. This responsibility and that of overseeing sales lay with George Clarke and
the Protectorate - a prospect that he found troubling both for himself and the colony.

107

08 Turton’s Private Deeds, Pre-emptive Claims, Deeds 82, pp 490.

Turton’s Private Deeds, Pre-emptive Claims, Deeds 76, pp 486-87.
' OLC 1/1164.
" oLC 1/1267.
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I look upon the measure [the waiver] with extreme anxiety... Natives and Europeans have both

been clamorous; the one being desirous to have the privilege of disposing of their lands to

whom they pleased, and the others the right of purchasing from the original owners. [He

anticipated] collision growing out of sales of disputed lands, as in all probability they will be the

first offered. the regulations of the Government will, however, prevent the negociation of any
* very extensive sale, and thereby offer a check to an evil which might otherwise lead to serious
- consequences.'!!

It appears from his minutes in the waiver purchase files, as Professor Ward has noted,
that Clarke “proceeded in an ad hoc way, making new discoveries about Maori
rightsholding day by day.”''? Land on Waiheke was in particular demand by
applicants for pre-emption certificates, but the island was then a hotbed of disputed
Maori land rights, as Clarke was well aware. On 9 November 1844 he wrote the
memo:

v'I;here are so many disputes about the Island of Waiheke that it would not be safe to buy from
the Chief Ruinga only. It would in my oplmon ‘be necessary to.get the'consent of - the: Ngatlmaru
Tnbe and the Patukirikiri."

‘ Nevertheless it seems that after making only the most cursory of investigations Clarke
assented to sales going ahead there. Only one day after the above call for caution, he
wrote “I have seen the Chief Ruinga and his party and from him I learned that the

‘land:applied for belongs solely to him therefore I see no objection. !4 In this case he
probably acted correctly enough because the land in question was Te Patu, a part of
the island where Ruinga’s rights were strongest, but his apparent failure to act in the
case of the de Witte purchase at Putiki a week later was quite another matter. Putiki
was probably the place on Waiheke where Maorj rights were the most complex. As
we have seen, de Witte purchased land there from Ngati Paoa ignoring the rights of
- Patukirikiri, thus causing a protracted dispute. The purchase file suggests that the only

- assistance or advice he received was from the French Marist priests then on the island.
Likewise, Chisholm purchased land at Putiki in February 1845 from Patukirikiri
ignoring the rights of Ngati Paoa, causing another protracted dispute. In this case it
“seems that the sale ‘went ahead despite Clarke’s having full knowledge of Ngati
Paoa’s opposition to-it. In-Auckland town, ‘Chisholm had tried unsuccessﬁﬂly to bully
both Te Ruinga and eremu Hoete into.consenting to the:sale, eveh physically

_threatening the latter.!’® Regardless, Patukirikiri -went. -ahead. anid sold the land to
Chisholm.

There is some evidence that Clarke later displayed greater cognisance of multiple
Maori rights in the land under transaction. In the Brigham purchase on Waiheke both
Ngati Maru and Ngati Paoa were involved in the negotiations and received a share of
the payment. Likewise, in the McIntosh purchase of Pakatoa both Ngai Tai and Ngati
Paoa were involved. Furthermore, Clarke became aware that certain chiefs offering

' GBPP 1843-45 (?), p 78.

'2 Ward, Supplementary Report, p 41.

'S OLC 1/1116-1117.

" Ward, Supplementary Report, p 41.

''> GBPP NZ 6: 1847-48 (1002) p 30. In 1847 Governor Grey cited this incident in despatches
to Earl Grey, the Secretary of State for the Colonies, to illustrate how some holders of pre-
emption certificates had tried to intimidate Maori land owners into compliance.
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land for sale needed to be treated with caution, for example, Ngatai who “acted in
such an objectionable way in the selling of Pakihi.”''® It must be emphasised that
these purchase negotiations were conducted with the chiefs who seemed able to
control the deals - like Wiremu Hoete, Te Ruinga and Ngatai of Ngati Paoa and
Tamati Te Waka of Ngati Maru - not with kin-groups as a whole. In some cases the
chiefs, as individuals, were invited to Auckland for negotiations at the Protector’s
office, at the expense of the hopeful European land purchaser. Arguably, this
procedure was in itself at variance with the communal Maori ownership of land.

How did the Matson and the Bell Commissions adjudicate upon waiver purchases
where the interests of some rightsholders had been ignored? The de Witte and
Chisholm claims are cases in point. In 1848 Matson disallowed both claims because
the claimants had failed to comply with all the regulations, particularly those
regarding survey, but not because they had failed to purchase from all the
rightsholders. In 1860 Bell directed the issue of Crown grants to both claimants,
effectively ignoring the protests of Patukirikiri in respect of the first claim and Ngati
Paoaithe second. It seems that these Commissions were far more concerned about
securing equity for the claimants, one to the other, than about safeguarding Maori
interests.

(b) The Boundary Question

Survey was not a precondition of the waiver purchases. Claim boundaries remained
descriptive as with the old land claims. As all of these purchases (except the one on
Great Barrier) involved relatively small blocks of land, their descriptions were
precise, probably leaving little room for misunderstanding between the vendors and
purchaser. In the case of the purchase of whole,islands boundaries were of course
not a problem. Matson disallowed all of these waiver purchases, excluding Pakatoa
and Rotoroa, for want of survey. The first surveys were conducted as a precondition
of the investigations of the Bell Commission.

(c) The Adequacy of Equivalent

As noted by Professor Ward, “The price paid to Maori under the waiver purchases
weresgenerally much better than the early Crown purchases [or the pre-Treaty
purchases], but not uniformly s0.”"” The Maori received from Campbell and Brown
£43%for - 67 acres on Waiheke and £125 for the 290 acres of Pakihi “‘and
Karamuramu; and yet they received from Whitaker and Du Moulin only £170 for
5,463 acres on Great Barrier, in cash or goods. Receipts of vendors for land on
Waiheke averaged about three to five shillings per acre.

Since the pre-Treaty land transactions a distinct change had taken place in Maori
demand, as I write in the NZJH:

Throughout Hauraki in the 1840s there was a great appetite for all manner of European vessels,
from whaleboats up to schooners around 20 tons burden, and on Waiheke it verged on a mania.
Here was a strong reason for support within Hauraki for Governor FitzZRoy’s waiver of Crown
pre-emption in 1844/45, judging from the prominence of sailing vessels as payments in
subsequent transactions.""

"SOLC 1/1116-1117.
"7 Ward, ‘Supplementry Report’, p 53.
' Monin, NZJH, 29:2, October 1995, p 199.
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Seven vessels feature among the payments of the 15 waiver transactions (one of
which was not completed), whereas only one (which was never delivered) feature
among those of 15 pre-Treaty transactions. These vessels included a cutter and a
schooner and several whaleboats. This tally is all the more significant, considering the
small size of most blocks, which did not qualify them for the larger payments needed
to cover the cost of a vessel of any size.

(d) Outcomes - The sufficiency of remaining Maori resources
The total area of land alienated through waiver purchases.was insufficiently large to
have much effect upon the overall resource situation of - the vendor Maori groups.
Locally, however, some effects were significant. The sale by Patukirikiri to Chisholm
of Putiki forced Wiremu Hoete, who had been resident there since the late 1830s, to
- move westwards to Te Huruhi Bay (Blackpool). This was a significant setback for this
Ngati Paoa chief who had done so much to -facilitate: the -survival:- of early
Auckland."”® Indeed, through waiver purchases. NgatiPaoa lost-the:central-southern
- area of Walheke, Surfdale to Hekerua to.Ostend, their first agricultural -base for trade
with Auckland.

2.4 EARLY CROWN PURCHASES

- Crown purchases account for the majority of the land alienated in Gulf islands before
1865: about 60,000 acres as opposed to about 31,000 acres for old land claims and
about10,000 acres for waiver purchases. Indeed, this 60,000 acres equals close to half
the total area of the islands. The Crown purchase of the Mahurangi block in 1841
included the islands off the coast: most importantly, Tiritiri Matangi and- it would
- seem Rangitoto as well. After a hiatus of 13 years, Crown purchasihg resumed under
.- Donald McLean, who in 1854 purchased .Ponui, two blocks on:-Waiheke and the
‘Rangitawhiri block on Great Barrier and in 1856 all remaining Maori land on Great
Barrier under customary title. As opposition to land sales mounted in Hauraki in the
late 1850s, Gulf islands became among the few areas where the Crown stood any
chance of success. McLean wrote to Governor Gore Browne in 1857:

There is at present, a general-indisposition ‘on ‘the part-of the"Natives to-alienate:théir lands at

. “Coromandel-Harbour; -and- with the exception:of: the unsold:portions:at:Mercury:Island and a
few- small blocks on the main, there is nothing else open:for -immediate: purchase in that
district.'*

Most of Great Mercury was bought by the Crown in 1858. On Waiheke the

‘continuing willingness of Ngati Paoa to sell land, compelled by their mounting
debts, further helped the Crown cause. In 1858 McLean purchased the eastern half of .
the island, some 10,900 acres. The Crown achieved only one other large purchase in
Hauraki before the Waikato war: that of Mahakirau, Coromandel, in 1862."%

" Monin, Island Time 1994-95, ‘The Rewards of Friendship for Rangatira Wiremu Hoete, pp

7-9.
29 ATHR 1861, C-1, p 137, McLean to Governor, 5 June 1857.
! AJHR 1865, C-2, p 13.
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2.4.1 Mahurangi - 1841- “all the islands on the Coast” - including Rangitoto and

Tiritiri Matangi?

The Crown’s Mahurangi purchase of 13 April 1841 included the whole coastline
between Takapuna and Te Arai Point and “all the islands on the Coast. »122 The
vendors were the “united tribes of the Thames™'> - - Ngati Paoa, Ngati Maru, Ngati
Tamatera and Ngati Whanaunga - although chiefs of Ngati Paca were the prime
movers, Wiremu Hoete in particular. They claimed the land through their control of
the area established in the late eighteenth century (see 1.9.5). But the Crown was not
presented with vacant possession. A party of Kawerau (antecedents to Hauraki in the
area) remained in occupation and the Hauraki peoples likewise asserted continuing
claims to Mahurangi. The Crown finalised the extmgulshment of Ngau Paoa interests
in Mahurangi on 5 January 1854 in consideration of £120."

thally important to this report is the inclusion of “all the islands on the €oast” in the
boundaries of the Mahurangi purchase: a not inconsiderable number. While there are
none between Takapuna and Tiritiri Matangi, there is that large island of about 500
acres and a scattering of smaller ones between it and Kawau, besides Rangitoto
immediately off Takapuna, all of which had escaped the attention of pre-Treaty
purchasers. For some years the Crown itself was uncertain as to its ownership rights
over these islands. With the waiver of pre-emption, John Heyden applied on 26 April
1845 for a pre-emption certificate to purchase three islands south of Kawau:
Motuora, Motuketekete and Moturihe. A margin note on his application by George
Clarke reads: “As these islands were not named in the Mahurangi Purchase and the
natives declare they were not included in that purchase I see no objection thereto.”'**
‘The certificate was granted and the sale made. It was not until the early 1850s that the
Crown determined that it had already been in legal possession of these islands.

Likewise the title status of Rangitoto was unclear. On 17 January 1854 the Crown
paid Ngatai of Ngati Paoa £15 for his interests in Rangltoto 26 but it appears that the
transaction was satisfaction for a clamorous claimant more than acknowledgement of
his continuing rights. Ngatai had gained some notoriety for his sometimes less than
well: “founded claims in Waiheke, the surrounding islands and up the Waihou River. 127
In T869 Chief Judge Fenton concluded regarding these early Crown purchases. that

“when a chief came to demand payment for an estate, backed by a sufficient
- following, it was found more expedient to satisfy his claim than to contest it. »128
Fenton, in his Tiritiri Matangi judgement i 1n 1867, refers to three distinct conveyances
by which the Crown acquired Rangitoto.'” 1 have found the deeds for only one of
them, those above involving Ngatai.

122 Turton s, Crown Deeds, Deeds 192, p 252.
% Turton’s Epitome, Shortland to Clarke, 14 April 1841.
2% Purton’s, Crown Deeds, Deeds 199, p 258.
> OLC 1/1258.
126 Turton’s, Crown Deeds, Deeds 232, p 289.
127 See AJHR 1861, C-1, p 142.
128 penton, Important Judgements, p 88.
' Ibid, p 22.
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The Crown’s ownership of these islands was tested and upheld by that investigation of
Tiritiri Matangi by the Native Land Court in 1867 - to be examined later in this report
(see 3.3.1).

2.4.2 Ponui - 1853/54

The Crown purchased Ponui in a two stages: the first on 16 June 1853 when Te.
Karamu and Kupenga were paid £100 cash,'* and the second on 4 January 1854
when Ngatai and Hon were paid £25 cash. BL A plan of the island was completed
. dated 4 January 1854.2 - -t -

2.4.3 Two Waiheke Purchases - 1854 & 1858; and Sequels - 1867 & 1869 -

On 18 May 1854 the Crown purchased the Omaru and Opopo blocks on Waiheke for
£200 and £300 respectivel?l Payments were made in instalments between 18 May
1854 and 12 March 1857." Each being: only -about 200+ acres 1n 31ze they had
fetched top prices for rural land, £1 or £1°10- sh11hngs ‘per-acre. ‘

»'While surveying the Omaru and Opopo blocks, G. Drummond Hay offered to

+purchase the eastern end of the island from Ngati Paoa."** In June 1858 Charles
Heaphy, Hay’s superior in the Survey Department, informed McLean that “the natives
are prepared to cede 10,000 .. at 1/6 or 2/- per acre.”’>® McLean saw in these

:circumstances an opportunity not only to secure a reserve for Ngati Paoa on Waiheke,
but-also to release other lands for European settlement. A memo of his dated 3 May
1858 reads:

- ’iIt is recommended that the Native title to Waiheke Island should be extinguished with a view to
“retaining the land as a-permanent location for the natives as it is particularly well adapted for
“such a purpose; having numerous bays for- fishing, plenty of firewood and convenient to

Auckland market.
It would also be desirable as a place for locating natives of other tribes, in cases where the
Government might find it necessary to provide them with land - the Native title being
. extinguished the Government might afterwards apportion the land to individual natives under
-Crown Grants subject to such an entail as would prevent alienation to Europeans.. . - ..
The continued occupation of the Waiheke-Island by the:Natives.under.a: holdmg from the
- Crown would prevent many.of them. ﬁ'om occupying valuable tracts of the mamland whxch are
- much required for European settlement.”®

.- In due course Ngati Maru learned of the possible sale of Waiheke and were reassured

- by the government that “Waiheke will not be purchased secretly, but sufficient notice
'will be given to the different claimants to ‘accompany the surveyor over the
boundaries of the land.”"” Nevertheless, on 12 June 1858 the Crown purchased
solely from Ngati Paoa chiefs 10,900 acres at Waiheke for £800, thereby ignoring

%% Turton’s, Crown Deeds, Deeds 229, p 286.

! Turton’s, Crown Deeds, Deeds 231, p 288.
2 Turton’s Plans, p 178.
'3 Turton’s, Crown Deeds, Deeds 237, p 7, and Deeds 242, p 299.
1% ATHR 1861, C-1, p 136, Hay to McLean 28 February 1857.
"% OLC 1/332, McLean 3 June 1858.
136
Ibid.
"7 Ibid, p 140, Rogan to Hay, 22 January 1858.
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Ngati Maru interests.”® A plan of the block accompanied the transaction. 139 On 28

June the Crown then purchased an adjoining area also from Ngati Paoa chiefs for
£10."

Over the following decade, Ngati Maru continued to assert their claims to Waiheke
posing the general government with a problem, for until these were satisfied it could
not hand over this land to the Auckland provincial authorities for sale to settlers. “This
very troublesome case” was one of “the native legacies” that James Mackay junior
inherited from Dr Edward Shortland when he became Civil Commissioner for
Hauraki in 1864."! He resolved the case with money. In return for two successive
payments - £300 on 18 October 1867'** and £150 on 7 December 1869'* - the hapu
of Ngati Maru collectively agreed to cede all their claims to Waiheke Island.

2.4.4. Two Great Barrier (Aotea) Purchases - 1854 & 1856

In the mid 1850s McLean set out to extinguish completely the original Maori title to
Great Barrier, once provision had been made for Ngati Wai from out of the Crown’s
demesne. On 17 September 1853 Ngati Wai were granted a reserve of 3,510 acres at
Katherine Bay from out of the claim of W.S. Grahame - formerly that of
Abercrombie, Nagle and Webster. 144 McLean then accomplished his objective in two
stages: On 26 August 1854 he purchased for the Crown the Rangitawhiri block at the
southern end of the island from the Matiwaru tribe living at Coromandel. for £220,'**
Payments were made in two instalments: £120 on 26 August 1854 and £100 on 21

August 1855. On 27 December 1856 he. purchased the central part of the island,

minus the Du Moulin and Whitaker grants, an estlmated area of 15,000 acres, from
chiefs of Ngati Maru and Ngati Wai for £300. Payments were made in two
instalments: £200 on 27 December 1856 and £100 on June 1857. A plan accompamed
the transaction.'

2.4.5 Great Mercury (Ahuahu) Purchases - 1858-65

In 1857, on behalf of the Crown, Land Purchase Commissioner James Preece of
Coromandel Harbour commenced negotiations for the purchase of Great Mercury
Islarf 1.(3, 965 acres). Given the complexity of rightsholding there, he soon discovered
thatsit-would not be possible to purchase the whole island in a single transaction.
Howevet, he achieved substantial early success, purchasing on 15 July 1858 the Waihi
block, containing 1,786 acres, 148 5 1n his words, “full half of the Island,” for £224. 149

%% Turton’s Crown Deeds, Deeds 244, pp 302-303.
139 » Turton’s Plans, p 184.
“° Turton’s Crown Deeds, Deeds 245, pp 304-305.
tat + ATHR 1891, G-1, p 41.
“2 Turton’s Crown Deeds, Deeds 247, pp 306-307.
'3 Ibid, Deeds 248, p 307.
4 ATHR 1862, E-10, p 5, ‘Return of Native Reserves.’
5 Tbid, Deeds 239, pp 296-97.
146 " Ibid, Deeds 240, pp 297-98.
*” Turton’s Plans, p 182,
18 ATHR 1860, C-1,p 3.
> ATHR 1862, C- 1, p 129, Preece to McLean, 16 July 1858. Turton’s Plans,Waihi, p 214.
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The sale of the balance could not be agreed upon because of dlfﬁcultles posed by
multiple interests and Maori demands for better prices.

Preece persevered at purchasing the balance of Great Mercury, one block at a time.'>°
The extinguishment of the Native title over all blocks excepting Whakakapua, 73
acres, and Ohaka (Kowhaka), 21 acres, was gazetted on 7 January 1862."%! These two
remaining blocks were purchased in 1865.

2.4.6 Aitu, Moturehu, Mahurangi Island, Purangi Islands, Tuhuanui - 1858-
1861

Over the same period, Preece purchased a number of smaller Coromandel islands:

« Motu Rehu (256 acres) and Aitu (325 acres), situated on the south eastern side of
Great Mercury, in 1858;

¢ Mahurangi Island (84 acres), situated south of Mercury Bay, for £12 on 9
November 1859.'%

"« The Purangi Islands: Motueka, Poekeeke, Moturoa and Te’ Hoho, totallmg 20 acres,
also lying south of Mercury Bay, for £6 on 9 November 1859."

« Tahuanui Island (15 acres) situated near the entrance to Coromandel Harbour.

The extmgmshment of the Native t1tle over all of these 1slands was gazetted on 7
January 1862."

2.4.6 Gulf Islands Early Crown Purchases: Conclusions and Treaty Issues

(a) The Representation of Maori Interests

There is much evidence to support the contentidh of Chief Judge Fenton (Orakei
“judgement 1869) that the Crown, when purchasing land before 1865, exercised little
rigour in investigating rightsholding because of its overriding aim to secure as quickly -
as possible land for European settlement. His assessment of what had been done to
ensure that land was purchased from its rightful owners is positively damning:

I stated, during the progress of the trial, that the Court had made a practice not to’attach much

" importance to the pirchases made by the Government-as-evidencing any-title.in-the:sellers. It

+-was the duty of the Land Purchase Commissioner to-obtain:land.that could:be :immediately and

- peaceably. occupied by settlers; and when a-chief:came to demand payment-for-an-estate, backed

- by a sufficient following, it was found more expedient to satisfy his claim than to contest it. The.

rule which has governed the Court on this point is that, if oni land being sold to the government

a tribe made no claim, it might be received as a very strong evidence that it had none, but if it

--made a claim, and it-was recognised, that fact afforded very slight evidence that the claim was a
good one.'”

1% Turton’s Crown Deeds and/or Plans: Paeroa, Deeds 299, Plan p 217; Raparoa, Deeds 300,
Plan p218; Waitapu, Deeds 305, Plan p 223; Paoneone, Plan p 226; Hangarua, Deeds 317, Plan
p 233; Te Huruhi, Deeds 320, Plan 236, Kowhaka, Deeds 337, Plan p 252; Whakakapua, Plan p
251.

! NZ Government Gazette 7 January 1862, p 14.

152 Turton’s Crown Deeds, Deeds 314, p 386.

'3 Ibid, Deeds 315, pp 387-88.

' NZ Government Gazette 7 January 1862, p 14.

'35 Fenton, Important Judgements, Orakei, p 88.
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In other words, it is not necessarily correct to equate those from whom the land was
purchased with the rightful owners, or certainly with all of them. Those who shouted
out were those most likely to be heard and to be included in subsequent land deals.
We have already noted the claim of the Ngati Paoa chief Ngatai to Rangitoto in 1854,
settled by a payment of £15, but if any iwi was due payment it was probably Ngai
Tai, the people with the strongest claims to the adjacent islands Motutapu and
Motuihe. Ngatai was paid simply because he shouted out. Similarly, the Ngati Paoa
chief Te Ruinga took the lead in the sale of eastern Waiheke in 1858, to the detriment
of Ngati Maru who, operating from a greater distance, failed to make their claims
heard. Similarly, Ngati Maru chiefs like Paora Te Putu and Tamati Te Waka assumed
leading roles in the land sales on Great Barrier of 1854 and 1856, to the detriment of
Ngati Wai who were involved in only the latter. The record suggests that the Crown
gave its ear to assertive claimants also as a means of simplifying situations of
multiple rightsholding. It appears to have done little to seek out all of the groups with
cla_lm in the land under negotiation for purchase; those who failed to assert their
claims simply became the dispossessed or at best the recipients of compensatlon after
the sale , provided they remained sufficiently insistent about their claims, as in the case
of Ngati Maru over the above Waiheke purchase.

(b) The Boundary Question and Surplus Land
The boundaries of the 1841 Mahurangi purchase were by no means absolutely clear to
the vendors. First, they were pointed out by Wiremu Hoete after, not before, the
transaction.'>® Second, the transaction was followed by a train of claims that were not
settled until 1854. Third, regarding “the islands on the coast,” the eastern boundary,
for many years to come neither the Crown nor the Maori vendors were clear as to who
owned what.

.
™.

Crown purchases of the 1850s involved survey relatively close to the time of
purchase: in some cases in advance, for example, on Great Mercury in 1858, 157 in
‘others soon afterwards, for example, on Waiheke in respect of the Opopo and Omaru
blocks when Te Ruinga pointed out the boundaries to the surveyor Drummond Hay. 138
Hence there was little room for misunderstanding over what or how much land was
being sold. However the same cannot be said about the purchase situation on Great
Barrier, which was very complex particularly in the central area where the Du Moulm
* and Whitaker waiver claims were located.

An additional objective of Crown purchasing on Waiheke and Great Barrier in the
1850s was to tidy up the situation regarding old land and waiver claims. Once the
greater area containing these claims was under Crown title, the Crown could settle
them without the complication of continuing Maori interests in the area. The 1858
Waiheke purchase, by encompassing the Maxwell old land claim and several waiver
claims, involved the re-purchase of quite a considerable area. As a result, the amount
of ‘surplus land’ - that determined by the commissioners to have been validly
purchased from the Maori but beyond the entitlement of the settler claimant -

%8 Turton’s Epitome, p 138.

17 ATHR 1861, C-1, p 125.
158 Ibid, p 136.
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reverting to the Crown was reduced. The 1946/47 Surplus Lands Commission made
the following estimate of surplus lands in respect of Gulf islands: 159

District Area (acres)
Great Barrier Island 6,765
Waiheke Island 763

(c) The Adequacy of Equivalent

-All Crown purchases were in cash rather than in goods except for the Mahurangi
purchase in 1841. Generally the prices paid to Maori under Crown purchases were
- lower than for waiver purchases: for large blocks no more than 6d per acre on Great
Barrier and 1s and 6d per acre on Waiheke, but for smaller blocks as much as £1 per
acre for the Opopo block, Waiheke, and 5s 6d per acre for the Te Huruhi block, Great

* "~ Mercury. Land Purchase. Commissioners aimed to buy. blocks that were as large as

possible to bring down the price per acre and to s1mphfy survey, tngonometnc survey
being possible only for larger blocks. An indicator of - the growing opposition to land
sales in Hauraki in the late 1850s was the diminishing size of ‘the blocks Maori were
willing to sell to the Crown.

(d) Outcomes - The sufficiency of remaining Maori resources
"~ Crown .purchases of the 1850s greatly affected Maori landed resources on Waiheke
and Great Barner

The 10 800-acre Waiheke purchase in 1858 left Maori with land only at the western
end of the island. McLean had originally intended to convert some if not all of the
purchase into a Maori reserve, as evidenced his.memo of 3 May 1858 written just
prior to the purchase (2.4.3), but this never came about, it would seem, because of
ensuing events leading up to and including the Waikato war. Many Urikaraka of Ngati
Paoa became supporters of the King movement and then took part in the Waikato war
in 1863/64.'°° After the war McLean would not have thought as kindly of them as he
had before. So the Maori reserve was not granted; nor was the modest claim of the
heirs of Hori Pokai Te Ruinga to about-80 acres at Man O War, within the 1858
purchase. Left without resources at eastern Waiheke, ‘the ‘bulk ‘of Ngat1 Poa were
forced to leave the island in the 1860s except for those. Who removed to. Te Huruhi at
the western end.

* 'On Great Barrier Ngati Wai were likewise left with no more than the rump of their
patrimony: the Katherine Bay reserve of 3,510 acres.

'*> ATHR 1948, G-8, p 36.
10 OLC 1/331, Civil Commissioner 9 July 1870.
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CHAPTER 3: ALIENATION (& NON-ALIENATION)
HISTORY OF THE ISLANDS: POST-1865

3.1 Introduction

By 1865 only about 12% of the Gulf islands remained under customary title to be
investigated by the Native Land Court (NLC). In addition there was the Katherine
Bay Maori reserve of 3,510 acres on Great Barrier already under Crown grant. In
total, Maori holdings in Gulf islands amounted to about 18,000 out-of the total of
about 122,000 acres, v1z 15%. The most significant of these were about 25% of
Waiheke (6,720 acres’), the 3,510 acres at Katherine Bay and the 6,960 acres of
Hauturu (Little Barrier). The only islands of the inner Gulf that had escaped
alienation, the Otata group (Noises) and Little Barrier, had done so as a result of
special circumstances, not lack of European interest. The Otata group, as we have
seen, although included in the pre-Treaty purchase of Thomas Maxwell, had reverted
to Maori ownership under special circumstances. As for Little Barrier, until the 1870s
settlers had assumed that it was owned by the Crown, presumably as one of ‘all the
islands on the Coast’ included in the Mahurangi purchase of 1841, but on closer legal
examination would be considered not to be and investigated by the NLC. All the
other islands still unalienated were more distant from Auckland - off the western and
eastern coasts of the Coromandel Peninsula - having been overlooked by Europeans
who were yet to see economic or other value in“them. The most important of these
were Waimate at the mouth of Coromandel Harbour; the Ngamotuaroha group off
Papa Aroha; Repanga (Cuvier); Whakahau and Motuhoa (Slipper and Shoe Islands);
Whakau (Red Mercury) and the Aldermen Islands.

On the eve of the Waikato war Crown land purchasing in Hauraki had virtually
stalled ‘with Maori showing a willingness to sell only small blocks, if any at all. In
consequence, Auckland had become a pressure-cooker of frustrated European
investment ambitions. Against this background, the NLC began its work.in Hauraki in
late’ 1865 with considerable European support. It commenced hearings in areas ‘close
to Auckland, at Waiheke Island, Taupo and Orere (on the western coast of the Firth of
Thames) and Coromandel Harbour. Once again the inner Gulf islands were the focus
of prime interest, of which now no more than a rump remained unalientated. James
Mackay junior was the Court’s first judge in Hauraki but after adjudicating only a few
cases he was forced to stand down owing to the pressure of his other appointments as
Civil Commissioner and Goldfield Warden. He was replaced by Henry A.H. Monro,
formerly an interpreter in the Native Office.

This chapter will centre on the NLC (MLC), through which all of the islands, or parts
of them, to feature in it ‘passed’, with the exception of Motutapere which received a
pre-1865 Crown grant; Ohinau which was acquired by the Crown under Public Works

! The Waiheke Island Report’ estimate of 5,700 acres, p 12, is incorrect.
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legislation for a lighthouse; and Tiritiri Matangi, a part of the 1841 Mahurangj

purchase which also became the site for a lighthouse. Soon after being investigated by

the Court, the Waiheke blocks and the islands Waimate, Whakahau (Slipper) and
Rakitu (Arid) were alienated to private individuals, for sheep or cattle runs.

As just indicated apropos lighthouses, in the latter half of the nineteenth century the
Gulf islands began to acquire new value to Europeans, value beyond the directly
economic.  The islands’ - capacity to sustain extractive industries like mining and
logging was relatively short-lived. The last mining venture on a Gulf island ended on
Waiheke (manganese) in the late 1890s and only on Great Barrier did kauri logging
see.a resurgence, at Whangaparapara, in the 1920s and 30s. Soon appreciated was the
importance of certain islands to maritime navigation. A lighthouse was built at
- Tiritiri Matangi in-1864 to assist shipping using the Waitemata Harbour and others
~were built at Cuvier in 1888 and at Ohinau in 1923 to assist shipping travellmg via
“the Mercury Channel.

Soon apprec1ated likewise was the potential  value of - isolated- Gulf islands as
- sanctuaries for endangered New Zealand wildlife, particularly native bird species.
" Visionary natural scientists of the Auckland Institute and Museum, notably Thomas
Cheesman and Thomas Kirk, were the architects of nature conservation in the region,
their efforts leading to the establishment of Little Barrier (Hauturu) as a conservation
- reserve under Crown ownership, in 1894. In 1969. the Red Mercury Islands and the
Aldermen Islands were gifted to the Crown by their Maori owners for conservation
management. In 1977 Motutapere was sold to the Crown for inclusion in the Hauraki
Maritime Park.

-Since the Aldermen Islands 1nvest1gat10n from 1948 1950 the MLC has investigated,
on apphcatlon the customary titles of progressively smaller islands. This process
‘may be far from complete, as many small islands, islets and rocks in the Gulf remain
with uninvestigated title. How long it still has to run will depend on to what degree of
smallness investigations are deemed worthwhile. This .of course is a matter of the
‘applicants seeking to assert mana whenua rather than the.recovery of useful economic
resources, since these places have only b1ologlcal unportance ‘

~ This chapter isstructured  to ‘highlight these vatious'circumstances *féffecting Gulf
islands, most of which have contributed to their alienation. There will be four
sections:

1. Investigation generally followed by Alienation to Private Individuals;
2. Crown Acquisition for Lighthouses;

3. Gift/Sale for Conservation Management; and

4. Recent Title Investigation of Smaller Islands.
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3.2 INVESTIGATION | GENERALLY FOLLOWED BY
ALIENATION TO PRIVATE INDIVIDUALS

3.2.1 Waiheke Island 1865-1877

In the Auckland/Hauraki region, the NLC began its work on Waiheke. It convened at
Te Huruhi, Waiheke, on 1 August 1865 but had to adjourn owing to the non-
appearance of the claimants, to re-convene there on 6 November 1865. Between that
time and April 1869, some 6,500 acres on Waiheke were investigated by the Court,
followed by a further 220 acres (Whakarite) somewhat later in April 1877: 15 blocks
in total. Fourteen of these blocks were alienated by grantees soon after the awarding
of Crown grants, having had no alienability restrictions placed upon their titles.
Alienability restrictions were placed on the title of the 15th and largest block, Te
Huruhi containing 2,100 acres, to ensure that Ngat1 Paoa had resources close .to
Auckland for their future ‘maintenance and support.” Essential information on these
mv;astlgatlons and subsequent alienations is presented in the table below.

Waiheke Blocks investigated by the NL.C, 1865-1877, & alienated soon after

Block Area Grantees Date/Grant Date/Sale  Purchaser
(acres)
_ Rangihoua 1 43 Taurua & Emate Aouru 8.12.65 19.3.68 O’Brien’
Rangihoua2 206 Taurua & Tangiteruru  8.12.65 8.5.66 O’Brien’
Okoka 182  Tangiteruru 8.12.65  6.2.66 De Witte*
Kauakarau 212  Haora Tipa & others _8.12.65 152.66 O’Brien’
Maunganui 1 203  Matate Kaha & others  8.12.65  15.7.72 Castle®
Maunganui2 83  Matate Kaha & others 14.7.68  15.7.72 Castle’
Whakanewha 1510  Taipari & Te Harare 13.12.66  29.6.78 Kissling®

Hoporata - 440  Harata Patene 69.67  4.12.67 Graham’
Mawhitipana 82  Te Hinaki & others 9.10.68  7.11.68 Graham'®
Opopoto 200  Pokai & others 43.68  9.12.68 Graham'
Omaru. *~ 140  Rauroha & others 7.1.68"2 : e
Awaawaroa 950  Te Kupenga & Hatara  9.10.68  9.10.68 Graham'>
Waiheke 150  Te Hinaki & others 9.10.68 7.11.68 Graham'*
Whakarite 220 TePaura& others  124.77 7.3.79 Graham'’

? Waiheke Minute Book 1:1-27: D.I. 12A/746.
? Ibid; 12A/743.
4 Ibid: 28-29; D.L 12A/745.
5 Ibid: 30-33; D.I. 12A/745.
6 Ibid: 34-56; D.1. 12A/746.
7 Ibid; D.1. 14A/16.
Haurakl Mmute Book 1:37-40.
? Ibid: 72-73.
1% Auckland Minute Book 1: 138-139; D.I. 14A/63.
" 1bid: 140; D.1. 4A/61.
2 Hauraki Minute Book 2:41-42.
B Ibid: 141-142; D.I. 14A/62.
“ Ibid: 139; D.I. 14A/61.
'* Hauraki Minute Book 9: 375-388; CT 9/190.

s

o

64




TeHuruvhi 2100  Ngati Paoa 27.4.69'° ¢.1910-14 Alison

These Waiheke investigations and alienations will now be discussed in terms of
Treaty issues.

(a) The identification of customary title

How thorough were these investigations of customary title? Reasonably, it would
- seem from the minute record, although the process was simplified by the fact that the

- -claims of Ngati Paoa to 11 of the 15 blocks were not contested. In respect of the other
four: they faced. counter-claims from Ngati Maru over Whakarite (dismissed) and
Whakanewha and from Patukirikiri over the two Rangihoua blocks. The last three

" 'investigations warrant closer examination.

- The Whakanewha investigation was in fact precipitated by -the- appllcatxon of a chief

‘of Ngati Maru, Hoterene Taipari, who arranged “the reqmred "survey without

-obstruction from Ngati Paoa, a sure sign that they were ‘not-then-in-occupation.'’

However, once Mohi Te Harare became aware of Taipari’s actions, he lodged a
~“counter-claim on behalf of Ngati Paoa. Taipari’s claim was based on ancestry dating
back six generations,.as well as on occupation, while Mohi’s was based on reparation
for kanga (curses) and occupation dating from the 1830s. Judge Mackay persuaded the
opposing clalmants to agree out of Court to share the Crown grant for the 1510 acres
of ‘Whakanewha.-

Ranglhoua was likewise contested in this case by three claimants respectively of
Patukirikiri and Ngati Paoa.'® Pita Taurua of Patykirikiri claimed Rangihoua through
- the conquest of - Putiki by his ancestor Kapetaua in about 1700 (see 1.8.2), but faced
challenges from Ngati Paoa. As with Whakanewha, solution ' was found in sharing the
“Crown grant: Rangihoua 1 awarded to Pita Taurua and Tamati Tangiteruru of Ngati
Paoa and Rangihoua 2 to Pita Taurua and Ema Te Aouru of Ngati Paoa. In his
judgement on the Orakei case in 1869, Judge Fenton alluded to this earlier recognition
by the Court of Patukirikiri rights at Putiki: “He [Kapetaua] settled at Waiheke, and
the title of his descendants has been recognised to a portion of land at Put1k1 founded
it is suggested on this conquest. »19 : ,

Therefore the NLC had recognised the multiple land rights prevailing on Waiheke in -
1840. It can be said with some confidence that its investigations of customary rights

* there from 1865 to 1877 -‘were-much more penetrating and reliable than those of the
Land Claims Commissions, Protectorate and Land Purchase Department, undertaken
before 1865.

(b) Survey and Sale
Fourteen of the 15 Waiheke blocks investigated by the NLC were sold soon
afterwards, most within months or even weeks of the issue of the Crown grant. In the

'* Hauraki Minute Book 4: 51-55.

'” Waiheke Minute Book 2: 37-40.

'* Waiheke Minute Book 1: 1- 27.

19 Fenton, Important Judgements, Orakei, p 62.
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late 1860s, there was no shortage of demand for land on Waiheke, as resident Pakeha
landowners sought to aggregate titles to create properties large enough for sheep
farming, much clearance of the original forest having already been achieved by this
time. For example, Waiheke residents Laughlin O’Brien, Charles de Witte and
William Castle purchased the two Rangihoua blocks, Okoka and Maunganui 1,
respectively. In the wings of course there were the many European land speculators,
so prominent in the founding and early life of Auckland, ever alert to new
opportunities. Most active on Waiheke was the Auckland capitalist George Graham
who purchased Opopoto, Mawhitipana, Waiheke, Hoporata and Awaawaroa (plus the
Onetangi portion of the Crown’s 1858 Waiheke purchase). Soon afterwards he sold
this property to P.L. Francis who, on making further purchases, created the first large
sheep run on Waiheke, later to be sold to John B. Kennedy.

This .rapid sale of Waiheke blocks by grantees in the late 1860s was largely an
outtome of the dislocation of Waiheke’s Maori population by the Waikato war of
. 1863764. After the war many of the Ngati Paoa (Urikaraka) who had been involved in
it migrated to Hikutaia and Ohinemuri on the Waihou River, seeking sanctuaries
beyond the Pakeha frontier. In any case, with the extinguishment of all remaining
Maori rights to eastern Waiheke in 1867 and 1869, they could not re-occupy their
kainga at Man o War Bay, which they had continued to occupy from 1858 to 1863
despite the Crown purchase of 1858 (see 2.4.3). Likewise, the Ngati Paoa of Taupo
(Kawakawa Bay) and Orere, despite having generally refrained from active
involvement in the war, had grown more suspicious of their Pakeha neighbours and
were happy to live at a more comfortable distance from them than was possible on
Waiheke. The deaths in 1865/66 of Wiremu Hoete and Patene Puhata, the prmmpal
Ngati Paoa. chiefs resident on Waiheke in the pre-war period, further contributed to
the post-war drift of Maori population from-the island. Hence all of the recipients of
Crown grants to those 14 blocks were absentee owners, living either at Taupo,
Mercury Bay, Whakatiwai or Thames. Therefore all of these factors contributed to
these rapid land sales far moreso than Maori 1mprov1dence or short-sighted
calculations of material benefit.

In addition, the Land Court process itself had generated costs that rendered newly
investigated blocks especially vulnerable to alienation. Whakanewha serves as good
case study in this regard. Issue of the Crown grant to Te Harare and Taipari was
ordered on 13 December 1866 but was not issued until after they had paid the survey
costs of £75 to the surveyor Edwin Davy on 30 April 18672 Then there had been
the £1 hearing fee plus the costs incurred by attendance of the hearing at Taupo.
~ These substantial expenses undoubtedly contributed to the sale within the following
12 months of choice portions of Whakanewha to neighbouring Pakeha farmers: 130
acres to Laughlin O’Brien and 125 acres to Joseph Hodgson.?! In 1877 Taipari and
Pita Te Hangi, who had succeeded to the interests of Te Harare, signed a 10-year
lease agreement with W.H. Kissling and P.L. Francis over the remaining 1255 acres

of Whakanewha at £4 rent per annum, but on 29 June 1878 they sold the land to
Kissling.

20 - Hauraki Minute Book 1: 37-40, and --- block order filé, MLC, Hamilton.
Momn ‘History of Human Occupation’ in ‘Whakanewha Regional Park’, Auckland Regional
Council Parks Service, November 1996, pp 38-39.
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(c¢) Outcomes - the sufficiency of remaining Maori resources on Waiheke

To make provision for the future material needs of Ngati Paoa on Waiheke a 21-year
alienability restriction was placed upon the title of the 2,100-acre Te Huruhi block.?
The Certificate of Title was issued on 27 April 1869 to“five persons with 65 persons
registered as tenants-in-common.” The Ngati Paoa/Hauraki estate on Waiheke had
been whittled away to this block at the far western end of the island, barring about a
quarter of the area of the above. 14 blocks, soon to. become. alienated along with the
rest. Yet only 11 years earlier McLean had envisaged making much more substantial
provision for - these tribes on Waiheke in the form of a substantial reserve at the
eastern end of the island-created from out of the 1858 Crown purchase, but this
intention had come to naught (see 2.4.3). Now the government saw fit only to place an
alienability restriction upon land that was still Maori-owned. Moreover, the Crown
--grants of those 14 blocks had not been.made subject “to such an entail as would
prevent alienation to Buropeans,” 2 as McL.ean had-advocated-in 1858;-soon being
-alienated, as we have just seen. The 29 years since the:founding:of -Auckland in 1840
had seen Ngati Paoa/Hauraki decline ‘rapidly .from-being ‘a large-to -a+very small
:landowner in the Auckland region and the inner Gulf.

In 1897 the Te Huruhi Block was. Isoartitioned into 13 blocks with no alienability

restrictions placed on the new titles.” Following further partitions, which eventually
- created more than 40 blocks, they:were-sold one by one to-Alexander-Alison, owner
of ~the Devonport Steam Ferry Company. It seems that there was nothing improper
about these alienations, which peaked from 1910 to 1914, as government valuation
was paid and the Waikato Maniapoto Maori Land Board went to great lengths to
identify and satisfy all shareholders. Nevertheless; the outcome was steeped in pathos,
as I write in Waiheke Island: A History:

Thus the last Ngati Paoa community departed from Waiheke, ending over 150 years of
occupation. There was no fanfare, small groups just made their way across to the tribal
-heartland, Miranda and Whakatiwai, without ceremony or tribute. The event deserved dramatic
highlight but that is the way of bcgmmngs rather than endings, triumphs rather than
tribulations.”®

Apart from a few sections held under European: freehold-title:at- Surfdale, Maori land
on Waiheke was reduced to:
- » Te Huruhi urupa, 1 acre 0 roods 32 perches;
« Te Huruhi 13 A, 2 roods, also a burial ground; and
- Te Huruhi 12B, 9 acres 3 roods 5 perches, owned by three persons.27
In the early 1980s Ngati Paoa lodged a claim with the Waitangi Tribunal to the ‘“Maori
Affairs Block’ comprising 2,050 acres at Onetangi to the north-east of Waiheke,

*2 Hauraki Minute Book 4: 51-55.
® This Certificate of Title is on the Simpson OLC file, OLC 1/1305 and is reproduced in Monin,
Wazheke Island, pp 146-47.
McLean memo 3 May 1858, OLC 1/332.
% Hauraki Minute Book 44.
%5 Monin, Waiheke Island: A History, p 205.
?7 “Waiheke Island Report’, p 12.
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which lies within the Crown purchase of 1858. The claim was heard by the Tribunal
from 2 - 6 September 1985. In the ‘Waiheke Island Report’, published in June 1987,
Chief Judge Durie concluded:

Referring now to the land policies described, at the time of the Treaty, it ought to have been a
reasonable expectation of the Treaty that Ngati Paoa would retain sufficient land for its own
needs. Our jurisdiction in this claim does not enable us to examine the detail of how Ngatl
Paoa lost its land, but we can consider the result. Ngati Paoa i lS v1rtually landless and it is the
current state of landlessness that is the basic cause of complaint.?*

Accordingly, the Waitangi Tribunal recommended that the Waiheke block be
conveyed by the Crown to Ngati Paoa. The Crown acted upon this recommendation in
1989, thereby to finally fulfil, 131 years later, the intention of Donald McLean in
1858 to create a reserve for Ngati Paoa (and other iwi) at eastern Waiheke - if

unwittingly, since the Tribunal had been unable to examine the details of the 1858
purehase

On“‘ll July 1989 the MLC sitting at Thames before Judge K.B. Cull vested all the
lands on Waiheke transferred by the Crown, as listed on an attached schedule
numbering 15 parcels and totalling 966.7241 hectares, in the name of Paoa.”’

3.2.2 Motuhoropapa, Otata (Noises) and Ruapuke (Maria Island) - 1866 -

Motuhoropapa (14 acres), Otata (35 acres) and Ruapuke (3 acres 3 roods) lie to the
south-east of Rakino (Motu Hurakia). There was some uncertainty as to who owned
these three islands (totalling 52 acres 3 roods) when the claim to them of Hetaraka
Takapuna of Ngati Paoa was investigated by the NLC in Auckland, before Judge
Henry Monro, from 26-28 November 1866.% It was widely rumoured that they had
been purchased by the government,’! presumably falling with the Mahurangi purchase
of 1841. Also, John White, licensed interpreter, brought to the notice of the Court that
the islands had been included in an old land purchase and that he had sent off for the
original document and was still awaiting.> He was probably referring to the purchase
of : «Motutapu and Motu Hurakia by Thomas Maxwell one surviving deed of which
mcludes_ in the purchase Otata and Motuhoropapa 3 Nevertheless the investigation
proceeded with claims being made by Nga Puhi (Ngati Wai), Ngai Tai as well as
Ngati Paoa. Inexplicably after three days of testimony and cross-examination the
application was dismissed probably because of those uncertainties over ownership.

A year later another claim was made to the islands, this time by Honetana Te Irirangi
of Ngai Tai, and was 1nvest1gated on 2 October 1867, despite the inconclusive nature
of the earlier hearmg In the interim the Court must have discovered that whatever
the purported extent of Maxwell’s purchase in 1840, he had not made payment

% Ibid, p 40.

» Hauraki Minute Book 91: 47. A209, MLC, Hamilton.
* Auckland Minute Book 1: 5-11, 15-35.

*! 1bid.

*2 Ibid, p 18.

% Turton’s Private Purchases, Deeds 210, p 272.

34 Auckland Minute Book 1: 115-121.
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expressly for these islands, nor had his heirs taken steps to prosecute a claim to them.
After vigorous testimony from both Ngai Tai and Ngati Paoa, the certificate of title
was ordered conjointly to the two iwi in the names of Aperahama Pokai, Hori
Rakewa, Ngatai, Hatara Te Ukeroa, Honetana Te Inrang1 and Neha Makiwhara. 3

On9 May 1874 Aperaham Pokai and the other five grantees sold the islands to one
Aitken. Tt is important to note that the certificate of title encompasses the three main

-islands. “together with the rocks.adjacent”, viz principally the David Rocks and
Orarapa to the west of Otata.’’

3.2.3 Waimate - 1869

Waimate Island (175 acres) at the entrance to Coromandel Harbour was allegedly
. -purchased by William Webster on behalf of Thomas Hunter in about 1844 as a
" waiver purchase - of which there appears to be no surviving documentatxon 3% T have
heard that Mr Webster purchased it - It was that kind of purchase that he used
generally to make, viz. merely paying a: depos1t on the land ... I heard of tobacco being
~ given,” Pita Taurua was to testify in 1869. * Hunter built a vessel at Coromandel,
y employing a man named Manson Morris to cut the required timber and otherwise to
assist, allowing him to take up residence on Waimate in about 1848, where over the
coming years he built a house, fenced cultivation areas and run cattle and goats. On
- departing for England in 1852, Hunter transferred to Morris his interests in Waimate
as payment for that earlier service.

On 18 July 1857 the Court of Bell, sitting at Coromandel, was informed of Morris’s

.. claim to Waimate but could not undertake a formal investigation of it, in the absence

- of Hunter, who was still in England, and atiy docmnentat1on signed by him
conﬁnmng either the alleged purchase or the transfer of interests.*® Morris continued
to-enjoy undisputed possession of the island, by his account, although on several
occasions was approached by Patukirikiri for permission to cultivate and run pigs,
* which he denied them.*! In the 1860s he felt sufficiently certain about his title to lease
- the island to Daniel Tookey of Coromandel. Hence the application of three chiefs of
Patukirikiri for the title investigation of -Waimate on 13-October 1868; came as a rude
shock to him. The investigation opened-on'29 March-1869 at:Kapanga’(€oromandel),
- ‘Morris represented by a Mr Ritchie who'asserted that“Webster had paid“£100 and a
cask of tobacco.”” The case was adjourned to grant Ritchie time to gather more
evidence to prove that the island had been purchased and been in the possession of
Europeans for over 20 years. But his case was no better founded when it was re-
opened at Auckland on 27 April 1869. The Court refused to grant him a further

Ibld and H178, MLC Hamilton.
13A/409 Land Registry Auckland.
D I. 13A/409, Land Registry Auckland.

*® Preece to Fenton, 4 May 1869, C 47, MLC Hamilton. There is no Turton’s deeds for this waiver
transactlon

% Coromandel Minute Book 1: 138.

“0 OLC 5/34 - Bell ‘Notes of Sittings of Land Claims Court at Coromandel .. 1857°.
Moms to Fenton, 23 October 1868, C 47, MLC Hamilton.
“? Coromandel Minute Book 1: 137-142.
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adjournment, informing him that “the purchase was illegal, »* and then ordered the
issue of a certificate of title to Pita Taurua, Makaore Tanui and Kapanga Te
Arakuri.** Letters of protest to Chief Judge Fenton from Morris and James Preece
were in vain.* Survey costs of £10 10s were paid to W1111am Graham, surveyor, in
September 1869. :

On 14 December 1869 the three grantees sold Waimate to Daniel Tookey.*
3.2.4 Whakahau (Slipper Island) and Motuhoa (Shoe Island) - 1866

Whakahau (462 acres) and Motuhoa (40.4686 ha) are located off the east coast of the
Coromandel Peninsula close to Tairua Harbour.

Whakahau was investigated by the NLC at Kapanga (Coromandel) ‘before Judge
Henry Monro on 18 October 1866.4 Ownership of the island was contested by two
hapii*of Ngati Tuhukea: Ngati Whakaruku and Ngati Whakakahu. Tikaokao and
others asserted their claim though their ancestor Whakaruku, while Hamiora Tu and
others asserted theirs through their ancestor Whakakahu, both kin groups sharing the
more distant ancestor, Tuhukea. Ngati Whakaruku had occupied Whakahau before
and after the Ngati Puhi invasion of 1822, Tikaokao testified.”® Certain Ngati
Whakakahu were killed on Whakahau by Nga Puhi but afterwards others returned to
the island Hamiora, Tu replied.49 A brief adjournment was granted to enable the
claimants, with the help of James Mackay junior, to come to an out-of-Court
arrangement.. When the Court resumed at 2 p.m. Mackay announced that the two sides
were prepared to share the grant. The grantees were Tikaokao, Miriama Pukukaun
Wikitoria Pututu, Peneamene Tanui, Kareao, Karauna, Whakairi and Hamiora Tu.>®

William Australia Graham purchased the Maori interests in Whakahau in two stages:
on 26 January 1869 those of Peneamene Tanui and Hori Kerei Tuokioki and on 3
April 1869 those of Miriama Pukukauri and three others. 1

Motuhoa was investigated by the NLC at Shortland before Judge F.M.L. Brookfield

“ Hauraki Minute Book 4: 16.

* C 47, MLC Hamilton.

* Ibid.

“ID, 226, Land Registry Auckland.

T Coromandel Minute Book 1: 57-61.
“® Ibid p 58.

* Ibid, p 59.

*® Ibid, p 61, and C155, MLC Hamilton.
SUID 189, Land Registry Auckland.

52 122, current file, MLC Hamilton.
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3.2.5 Rakitu (Arid Island) - off Aotea - 1871

Rakitu or Arid Island (625 acres), to the north-east of Aotea (Great Barrier Island),
was investigated at Auckland before Judge Henry Monro from 9 - 11 January 1871.
. The alienation of Aotea itself having taken place some time before - between 1838
and 1856 through a succession of pre-Treaty, pre-emption waiver and early Crown
purchases, as we have seen - only the surrounding islands now remained to be
investigated by the Court, with the exceptlon of Kaikoura Island, which was included
in the Webster pre-Treaty purchase Hohepa Kapene remmded the Court that “All
the little islands were excluded” from those purchases As explained earlier (see
2.2.3, 2.3.1 and 2.4.4), all of those earlier land transactions had involved less than
thorough investigation of customary rights. Here at last was an opportunity for all
Maori parties with historical and current interests in Aotea and its surrounding islands

- . to'recount their history and to assert their claims in an open tribunal. Not surprisingly,

then, the Rakitu hearing took three days,9-11"January-1871. The resultant minute
record is the most valuable extant documentary- source on'the v.Maori.-history. of Aotea.

~Hone Pama, Te Mariri and Raiha Miraka of Ngati Wai had apphed for the
., investigation. . As the claimants, Ngati Wai had had to arrange the survey, a large
party of them from Katherine Bay accompanying Percy Frazer, licensed surveyor, to
the island.>® Frazer had found no one living there, nor houses, nor signs of old
cultivations. Yet his Ngati Wai companions were able to supply him with place names
for the plan. However, they also told stories of disputes over mutton birding on the
island. On the first day of the hearing, 9 January 1871, Te Mariri recounted the history
of Ngati Rehua’s occupation of Aotea through to the battle of 1838 and up to the
present. He insisted that Ngati Maru’s only clam1 to Rakitu was through Korio, who
after marrying into Ngati Wai had shifted to Aofea. He asserted that a party of 60
Ngati Wai had cultivated and built houses on Rakitu in the time. of Governor
FitzRoy.”’

Tamati Te Waka Te Puhi of Ngati Maru disputed the Ngati Rehua/Ngati Wai claim.
- He claimed the island through his ancestor Tara and Tara’s mother.who was
connected to the Kawerau people, . asserting that.his:people:had.confirmed this take
tupuna by regularly going - there on mutton:birdingexpeditions: ~untilsthe time of
Governor Hobson. On one such occasion, encountering a party of Nga‘u Wai also
mutton birding there, they fired upon them and dispersed their canoes.”® Te Waka,
who by 1871 was highly experienced in land dealings with the Pakeha and in the
workings of the Court, cross-examined Te Mauri at length and with trenchant rigour.

- Wiremu Turipona, deacon of the Maori Anglican mission at Thames, claimed Rakitu
- through his Ngati Wai ancestry. He described Te Waka as

%3 Turton’s Private Deeds, Deeds 349, p 311.
4 ., Auckland Minute Book 2: 20.
C73 MLC Hamilton, the date of the application is unclear
56
Ibid, p 21.
”wmpn
® Ibid, pp 15-26.
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a person who is in the habit of laying claim to land of other people.... My tribe have alweys

exercised rights of ownership over Raketu [sic]. They have pigs there now. Our fishing grounds
are near there, all round the island.*

Hone Pama of Ngati Wai corroborated the evidence of Turipona, testifying “Waka
has tried before to claim land of ours. He tried to sell the island of Rangihua [Flat
.Island] He has no claim except through his wife, Te Arikirangi, who belonged to our
tribe.”®® Eruera Te Ngahue, as a disinterested party from Hauraki, supported the
claim of Ngati Wai to Rakitu saying that “the south [of Aotea] belonged to Te
Taniwha [i.e. to Hauraki] and the north to Ngati Wai. 6

On the morning of 11 January 1871 the Court ordered a Crown grant to the Ngati
Wai . claimants: Hone Pama, Wiremu Tunpona and Raiha Miraka. Survey costs of
£46 19 shillings were charged to them.®

Rakitu was alienated to W.R.N. Warren. On 7 May 1889 The estate and interest of
J ohn Buchanan, bankrupt, was transmitted to the Official Assignee.5*

3.2.6 Rangihua (Flat Island) - off Aotea - 1926

The NLC determination on Rakitu in 1871 meant that two islands off Aotea now
carried titles under Crown grant, the other one being Kaikoura included in the W.S.

- Graham (Webster et al) grant. But what of the title status of the many other islands

which had neither been included in the boundaries of any of those pre-1865 purchases
by Europeans, nor investigated by the NLC? In something of a limbo. While the
Crown showed a predisposition.to claiming them for itself, the Maori customary
owners asserted quite rightly that they had ceded-no rights in them.

The turn-of-the-century history of Rangihua or Flat Island (135 acres), off the west
coast of Aotea, clearly illustrates this tension over ownership. Te Mariri or Etara,
whom Judge McCormick described in 1926 as “undoubtedly the most prominent man
of N’wai in the Great Barrier in his own day,”® leased the island to Europeans over
the-final decades of the nineteenth century, in no doubt that it belonged to his people.
Then in 1899 a Philip Warren applied to the Commissioner of Crown Lands for a
leas&to ‘the island, which was duly granted him at a rental of £8 per annum, reduced
for'atime to £4 per annum. While living at Port FitzRoy, Warren ran pigs and sheep
on the island and authorlsed a fisherman to occupy the house already there in return
for minding his interests.® Subsequently in Court in 1925 Warren conceded that he
had “had some little friction with the natives. They did not know I was going to the
Crown ... the natives wanted the island back,”®’ but was also insistent that “The
natives never stopped in the house - have not lived on the island for the last 30 years -

» [bld p3l.
% Ibid, p 37.
% Ibid, p 42.
2 Ibid, p 45 and C73, MLC Hamilton.
8 C73, MLC Hamilton.
o * CT 33/113, Land Registry Auckland.
Kaxpara Minute Book 15: 318.
% Ibid, 240.
% Ibid, 241.
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they have been there for a night or so after birds.”®® Yet unwittingly he was thereby

acknowledging that into the twentieth century Ngati Wai had continued to exercise
their customary rights, as their ancestors had done before them.

It seems that it was the Crown’s intention in the early -1920s to declare Rangihua a
marine reserve that prompted Ngati Wai to apply to the NLC for a title investigation.
Two parties of Ngati Wai contested claim to the island: the claimants, Nupere
Ngawaka and party, and the counter-claimants, Eru Tenetahi and party. The Rangihua
investigation was protracted, running to successive hearings from 17-19 December
1923, 15-22 December 1924, 6 April 1925 and 12 February 1926. Counsel for both
-the Ngati Wai parties asserted that although land on Great Barrier was alienated to the
Crown in 1856 the deeds showed that the boundanes on both sides of the purchase

~ were the sea coasts, not the offshore islands.* They asserted that attempts were being

made “to build up a policy that Crown claims all outlying islands.”’

In declaring his judgement on 12 February 1926, Judge McCormick Wasm no doubt
on this fundamental point: viz. that the island belonged to the:Maori; not to the
Crown. “There is no dispute as to the right of the clalmants the issue rather being
~whether it was exclusive,” his judgement beglns ! McCormick’s summation is
immensely important to the current debate between Hauraki and Ngati Wai on
customary rights in Great Barrier:

I think the island Rangihua was owned under the same takes as the Great Barrier itself. Exactly

what those were is a matter of some doubt but in the face of Mariri’s evidence I think there is

every probability that the right was a N’ Wai right. At all events it is not an exclusive N’ Maru
':or N’ Naunau right.”

Moreover, his understanding of usage and occupaﬁon of this and other such islands
in pre-European times was probably correct.

I doubt very much whether there was any actual occupation of the island in ancestral times. It
would be too much exposed to attack. It may have been used-for fishing or other temporary
- purposes. But the permanent kaingas would:be on the.mainland of the Great Barrier. " 2, '

- McCormick determined that though. the:claimants.had. a. predomlnant mterest in
~Rangihua “and ought to get a substantial :allowance.for:their.efforts.in: combatmg the
_ Crown’s claim for a number of years,”* the counter-claimants should be awarded a
smaller one. Hence the Court awarded the Crown grant to both but in unequal shares:

.to Nupere Ngawaka and party, 115 shares; and to the counter-claimants, Eru Tenetahi
and party, 20 shares.”

8 Ibid, 242.
 1bid, 154.
™ Ibid, 158.
" Ibid, 313.
2 Ibid, 315.
” 1bid, 316.
" Ibid, 319.
5 bid.
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Then on 16 February 1926 the chief surveyor applied to the NLC for a survey
charging order of £58 16s 0d on the title of Rangihua.’® The Court viewed the
charges as being very high considering the value of the land and the area of only 135
acres whlch for investigation purposes had hardly. warranted the detailed plan
completed.”” More research is needed to establish how this issue was resolved

3.2.6 Motutaiko and Mahuki - off Aotea - 1934

Motutaiko (about 100 acres) and Mahuki (about 150 acres) islands lie immediately to
the west and to the south of Rangahua, respectively. Motutaiko was first the subject
of an application for 1nvest1gat10n m 1911 but this was dismissed on 6 September
1914 for non-production of a plan 8 When application was lodged to both islands in
1930 the Crown announced that it would make no claim; nor was claim advanced by
any European. The hearing was conducted on 12 June 1934. Nupene Ngawaka,
testifying for the claimants, said in respect of Motutaiko

Ihave  picked many mutton birds out of the holes on this island. It has always been regarded as
‘Nifive land.... There are two rocks at the southern end called Papakuri. They should go with

Motutaiko. Mahou Kino Reneti [spelling ?] has sheep on the island at present. No European
occupation.”

The Court determined Motutaiko and Papakuri rocks, and Mahuki to be Maori land
and ordered issue of a Crown grant, the ownership to be decided at a later sitting.

After Court closed, Consolidation Officer Mr Cooper held a meeting with the people
with interests in the island to determine the details of ownership. When Court
resumed on the following day, 13 June 1934, Cagper announced that the total shares
agreed upon were 150 for Mahuki and 100 for Motutaiko, each share to represent one
acre. It was also agreed that Nupene Ngawaka and Mahou Kino should get extra
shares in consideration of the work they had done and expenses they had borne in
prosecuting the claim.®

Today these two islands still have Maori freehold title.

_gamotuaroha and other islands including Motukopake - 1912

Of 'the numerous islands lying between the entrance to Coromandel Harbour and
Colville Bay, only the three large, southern-most ones had acquired new English titles
by 1869:

« Whanganui through the settlement of a pre-Treaty purchase;
» Motutapere under Crown grant as a Native reserve; and
» Waimate through investigation by the NLC.
Of these only Motutapere remained in Maori ownership.

" Ibid, 321.
n Ibld 342,
" Kaipara Minute Book 19: 49.
 Ibid, 49-50.
¥ Ibid, 56.
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But this left under customary title the many other islands that extend northwards to
Colville Bay. Apart from Motu Oruhi, these islands are small and rocky, being useful
only for mutton birding and fishing. Hence they were ‘overlooked’ for investigation
until the early twentieth century. Then on 14 and 15 May 1912 all of them were
1nvest1gated in quick succession by the Court sitting at Coromandel before Judge A.G.

Holland.®' Rihitoto Mataia claimed each of them on behalf of the descendants of
Rangikahemo. For the most part, the Court proceeded quickly from one island hearing
to the next without complication, in the absence of counter-claims. Kakarikitahi,

Takupu, Moturua, Karamuramu (3 in number), Okeno, Kaiwai (Kahawa), Motu
Oruhi and Karamea were awarded in separate orders to the descendants of
Rangikahemo. ‘Pohakua (Turkey Island) was awarded to William Grey Nicholls of
Paeroa to cover his expenses in representing the claimants.®

“Two islands posed some-difficulties, Motukopake and Wi.

» Motukopake (24 acres) was claimed by Donald McLean Jones who-as the recent
“owner of Waimate believed that the title included that'island as well. The previous
-lessee and then owner of Waimate, Edwin Joseph Swiflin, testified that between 1874

- -and 1911 he had had undisturbed occupation of Motukopake, driving sheep between
- the two islands at low tide, but acknowledged under cross-examination that he had not
seen the island mentioned in the title.*> The case was adjourned. When the hearing
resumed on*28 May 1912, the Court awarded a-Crown grant. for Motukopake to
Rihitoto Matai, a 2/3 share, and Wiremu Pita Taurua, a 1/3 share.** The two grantees

-sold Motukopake to Jones on 26 March 1913 for £40, which sum was later increased
to the government valuation of £50. The alienation was confirmed by the Waikato-
Maniapoto Maori Land Board on 11 March 1914,

-+ Wi Island ‘was claimed by Rihihoto Mataia through his ancestor Rangikahemo (as in

‘the cases of the other islands) and counter-claimed by Hohepa Kapene through his
ancestors Raparapa and Rakau The court found in favour of Rihihoto Mataia and the
descendants of Rangikahemo.®

Motu Oruhi was partitioned on 30 June 1921 into Oruhi 1-(82 acres 2 roods) and
Oruhi 2 (140 acres).®® All of these islands remained under separate titles-ustil those of
‘Wi, Kahawa, Rua, and Oruh1 1'and 2 (320 acres in-total) were amalgamated under an
order.dated 10 July 1970.% Collectively, they took the name Ngamotuaroha. As at 24

February 1992 the island group had 99 owners. 8

# Coromandel Minute Book 9: 101-116.

2 1bid, 115.

¥ Ibid, 11-112.

¥ BCAC A110 5392/56, National Archives Auckland.
% Coromandel Minute Book 9: 106-110.

8 541, MLC Hamilton.

¥ Hauraki Minute Book 81: 53.

¥ €541, MLC Hamilton.
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The titles of Takupu and Kakarikitahi (2.4281 ha) were consolidated under an order
dated 12 March 1992. as at 24 February 1992 the two islands had 10 owners.
Karamurumu, or Motu Tarawa had 30 owners as at 24 February 1992.%°

3.3 CROWN ACQUISITION FOR LIGHTHOUSES

3.3.1 Tiritiri Matangi - 1865 to 1867

In 1864 the Marine Board erected a lighthouse on Tiritiri Matangi at a cost of £5,600.
Placed on the highest knoll of the island, the iron tower was 48 feet high, equipped
with a light visible from a distance of 18 to 20 miles. It afforded excellent direction to
vessels approaching Auckland ﬁom the north or the east. The light became
operational on 1 January 1865.%° The Crown had proceeded with this construction
fully confident that it owned the island as part of the Mahurangi purchase of 1841 (see
2.4.1). Nevertheless, some two years later, Matini Murupaenga and others applied for

an investigation of Tiritiri Matangi, which commenced before Fenton on 8 December
1866.

Matini Murupaenga belonged to Ngati Poutaniwha and Ngati Karu (spellings?), a
people with rights in Mahurangi and Tiritiri Matangi dating from before the conquest
of this coast by Ngati Paoa (Hauraki) in the late eighteenth century. His people had
left the district at the tnne of the Nga Puhi raids (about 1820) and settled on their
other lands at the Kalpara Under cross-examination Murupaenga admitted that since
1840 his people had not returned to Tiritiri Matangi, nor had they made a claim to it
or protested against Pakeha activity there, from the brief occupation of Messrs
Tayler, Macmillan and Campbell until the recent erection of the lighthouse. His
explanation for this silence, seriously damaging to his case, was that they had seen no
point in appealing to the government for redress until the establishment of the Court
which now enabled a thorough investigation. Fenton pronounced the case
“undoubtedly weaker than most cases that come under our consideration.”*
Yetkthe case of the Crown was far from strong either, deriving from the deeds. of the
841 . Mahurangi purchase which included the phrases “all trees waters, water-course
dltches fences and islands” and “all islands of this shore.”” Fenton concluded that the
.“several large islands on the far side of the ship channel, of which Tiritirinatangi is
one, were never in contemplation of the drawers or of the signers of the deed. % The
Court demanded further documentation from the Crown, granting successive
adjournments to enable the procurement of such. In consequence, the investigation
extended to a second sitting from 14-18 March 1867°° and a third from 6-12 June
1867° But the Crown’s counsel was unable to produce that documentation, much to

* €543, MLC Hamilton.
* AJTHR 1865, D-1C, 2.
o - Ibid, p 53.
%2 Fenton, Important Judgements, p 23.
% > Ibid, p 22.
* Ibid.
% Auckland Minute Book 1: 53-81.
% Ibid, pp 82-101.
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his embarrassment. It would seem, however, that his difficulties stemmed as much in
his inability to produce the originals of the deeds, having to rely only upon copies, as
from his inability to show deeds that made more explicit reference to the large islands.

At the end of the hearing Fenton was of the opinion that “the ongm of the Crown’s
title has not been shown.”™’

Nevertheless, Fenton found in favour of the Crown:

- Although, therefore, the Court is unable to discover the origin of the Crown’s title, or by what

- means the native title has been extinguished, yet we are of opinion that the case made out by the

claimants is- altogether deficient of those elements of strength which would justify us in

.- - disturbing the Crown in its possession. To eject a person from his possession, it is not sufficient

+«+: t0 show the weaknesses of his title, but a better must be dlsplayed and we think that that has not
been done. Judgement must therefore go against the claimants.”®

3.3.2 Repanga (Cuvier) - 1877 & 1888

Repanga (422 acres) lies between Aotea and the Mercury Islands off the east coast of
. the Coromandel peninsula. Initial estimations of the island’s size varied from 200 to
- 1,000. acres. The island’s customary title came before the NLC on 5 July 1867, at
-+ Kapanga before Judge Rogan, but the investigation had to be adjourned until an
-unspecified future time for want of a completed survey ? It was resumed only 10
years later on 1 December 1877, this time the Court sitting at Whitianga before Judge
Symonds. 190 Rawiri ‘Taiporutu delineated for the Court hapu interests in the island:

Ngati Rongou the western portion; Ngati Karaua and Ngati Ramuri the south-west
portion; and Ngati Te Hihi the south-eastern portlon %" The Court ordered the issue of
- a Memorial of Ownership for Repanga to 44 perSons. 102

‘Shortly after the island had passed through the NLC, 43 of the 44 owners sold their
. interests to George Harper and Thomas James Brassey, both of Auckland. 19 Hiria

Kingi was the only non-seller. We cannot be precise about the time as there appears to
- be no contemporaneous record of this transaction, which indeed did not become

generally known until the 1888 hearing of - the Court --to ‘be examined-below. Harper
- and Brassey paid £4 for each of the 43:shares, according to testimony at:that hearing.

In:1884 the government decided to build a lighthouse on Repanga * and in August
1887 a lighthouse reserve of 49 acres was surveyed.’ 195 An Order in Council for land .
“to be taken for the Cuvier Island lighthouse, under the Public Works Act 1882, was

Fenton Important Judgements p 23.
Ibld p 24.
Coromandel Minute Book 1: 79-82.
% Coromandel Minute Book 3: 9-11, 33-35.
! 1bid, 33.
"2 1bid, 34-35.
'% I am indebted to Owen Wilkes, DoC Hamilton, for granting me access to a draft of his history in
progress with the working title, ‘Provisional History of Human Activity on Cuvier (Repanga) Island’.
AJHR 1885, H-13.

1% MD 1375 (reference from Wilkes typescript)
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gazetted in 1888. 106 Construction of the lighthouse began in August 1888 and was
completed in the following year for a total cost of £7,406 16s 11d.

Meanwhile, the Crown applied to the NLC for a sitting to determine what
compensation should be paid for the land taken and to whom. The Court sat on this
issue from 2-3 and 8-9 October 1888, at Kapanga before Judge J.A. Wilson.'® By
somewhat faulty survey the island was believed to contain 782 acres, almost twice its
actual area. Representing the Crown, Charles Biddle argued that the Court in
determining the compensation should take into consideration the benefits the
lighthouse would bring to the island by way improved landing facilities and
occasional visits by a steamer. Thomas Chessman, government assessor, valued the
49 acres at £25 15 shillings. Peneamene Tanui and Hohepa Maitatua spoke at length
on the great value of the island for mutton-birding and fishing, pointing out that the
area-of the lighthouse reserve was especially valuable because it contained the only
lancfmg place on the island. Only then did the Court learn of the sale to Harper and
Brassey of 43 of the 44 shares and that Hiria Kingi had since died and 15 persons had
suceeeded to her interest - facts which put an entirely new complexmn on the issue of
compensation. It is not clear what Tanui and Maitatua, '® who fully acknowledged
having signed the deeds of sale, hoped to gain from the hearing as only the successors

of Hiria Kingi would be due compensation, and they only 1/44 of the value of the
land taken. ’

On 9 October 1888 the Court delivered its judgement: compensation was to be paid
by the Crown only in respect of the share of Hiria Kingi: 15 shillings, or 1 shilling to
each of her 15 successors. The government was required to bear the expense of

fencing, but otherwise it appears that Harper and Brassey received no
compensation. 1o

On 7 February 1957 Thomas Tizard, who had inherited the privately owned part of

the lsllﬁnd four months earlier, sold to the Crown and the entire island became Crown
land.

3. 3 3 Ohmau 1923

Ohinau (70 acres) is the largest member of the island group which lies south of the
~ Mercury Islands and east of Opito Bay on the Coromandel peninsula. In about 1922
marine authorities decided that a light on the island would be of much benefit to
shipping proceeding to and from Auckland through the Mercury Bay Passage. Work
began on the erection of an automatic flashing light on a concrete base some time
before enquiries were made into the ownership of the island. "2 The Crown then took
the island by Order in Council dated 22 December 1923, under the provisions of the

19 NZ Gazette, No 29, 1888, p 569.
197 AJHR 1890, H-13.
1% Coromandel Minute Book 4: 139-140, 142-157, 165-166, 192-194 and 201-202.
109 .
Ibid, 152. }
% 1hid, 201-202.
"1 Transfer 583820.
1> AJHR 1923, H-15, p 5.
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Public Works Act 1908, for the purposes of a lighthouse.'"> Meanwhile, investigation
of the customary title by the NLC had been pendmg, application having been lodged
by Rangawhira Tanui on 14 May 1923."* The Crown had therefore proceeded
regardless of this application, which was advertised for hearing by the Court at
Thames on about three occasions and was ultimately dismissed on 13 March 1924, on
the ground that the land had been taken under the Public Works Act. Since no

- application for compensation was lodged, the Court made no such assessment at this
time.

The light became operational in early 1924.'"° Thereafter local Maori continued to
visit the island for mutton birds. In 1948, Mrs M.T. Winiata wrote to Peter Fraser,
.minister of Maori affairs, about Ohinau.

This island belongs to my Grandfather ‘who has died-about 40 years ago now, and this Island is
like their Winter Store house. They cropped it: then and most of all they.get Mutton Birds each
year. In about 1922 someone came here and asked if they-could put-a lighthouse on it and my
Mother gave them permission to, but since then they have'claimed: the Island. T-am:writing on
behalf of the others as well and we think that it’s-only right that we should get rent for all these
years they have used the Island.""®

The Public Works Department applied to the MLC to assess the compensation
payable and to ascertain the persons to whom it should be paid. Meanwhile, on 1
- August 1949 Ngawhira Reweti applied for investigation of title. Therefore the two

: . parties, the Crown and the customary owners, had lodged two very different

applications: the first merely for assessment of compensation and second for
investigation of the title itself, which it still claimed. The apphca’uon was heard at
Thames, before Judge E. M. Beechey, on 15 September 1949.'"7 The. government
valuation of the island was put at £70, the island being considered unlikely to attract
a purchaser for any purpose. The hearing was adjourned. The Maori application was
finally dismissed on 14 October 1953 for lack of prosecution - as Paraone Reweti was
informed on 31 January 1974, further to his telephone enquiry concerning Ohinau. 18
It appears that no compensation has ever been paid.

Note - Ohinau may warrant further research as this narrative would: seem to indicate a
prima facie breach of Treaty.

3.4 GIFT/SALE FOR CONSERVATION MANAGEMENT

3.4.1 Hauturu (Little Barrier Island)

Hauturu (6,960 acres) lies in the outer Gulf between Aotea and Cape Rodney. It was
spared the attention of private European landbuyers after 1841 mainly because of the

' NZ Gazette, No 1, 10 January 1924

' c428, MLC Hamilton.

'S AJHR 1924, H-15, p 9.

1e Ibld Winiata to Fraser, 17 January 1948.

'” Hauraki Minute Book 73: 175-176.

C428, MLC Hamilton, Tait to Rewiti, 31 January 1974,

{18
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widespread misunderstanding that it was Crown property, as Crown Land Purchase
Commissioner Thomas McDonnell wrote in 1873, “had it not been understood it was
Government property it would have been bought some time ago.”'" In 1873 the
Commissioner of Crown Land sought clarification from the Native Minister as to
whether the island was Crown property. Charles Heaphy, wrote a memo on Hauturu
for the information of the Minister, dated 31 May 1873," O After examining the deeds

of the Mahurangi purchase of 1841, which included the islands lying off the coast, he
concluded that

as Little Barrier lay far to the northward of Mahurangi it could scarcely be held that it was
included and the purchase was not ground to even the lsland of Tiritirimatangi, whlch lay
considerably to the southward and much nearer to the shore."

Furthermore, he recommended that the Crown purchase Hauturu, as it possessed
much valuable timber that was being illegally removed and might contain valuable
ine rals if possible without it having to pass through the NLC. But that investigation
could not be circumvented and it was to be a remarkable saga, involving between
1880 and 1887 an investigation and no fewer than three re-hearings that produced
ping-pong judgements, alternately in favour of Ngati Whatua and Ngati Wai.

1. Arama Karaka, resident at Kaipara, claimed Hauturu on behalf of Te Kawerau
(Ngati Whatua) and offered to sell it to the Crown. Meanwhile people of Ngati Wai
were actually occupying the island and had been for many decades. The investigation
of Hauturu was held at Helensville on 16 July 1880, before Rogan, who awarded a
memorial of ownership to the Ngati Whatua cleumants m the absence of any counter-
claim, Ngati Wai having failed to attend the hearing.'” "It soon transpired that this
was because they had not received notice of the Hearing, contact with Hauturu being
difficult, and because they believed that survey, a re-requisite of hearing, had not
been done. They appealed against the judgement and a re-hearing was ordered.

2. The first re-hearing was held in Auckland from 4 to 7 June 1881, before Judges
Monro and O’Brien."”? Monro regarded the case of Te Kawerau to be exceedingly
wedk, as “none of them had ever occupied the island or exerc1sed any rlght of
sh1p over it whatever.”* Moreover,

R

the island lay in the channel of the route of all Hongi Hika’s expeditions and his canoes
constantly called there. If any of the Kawerau had been there, they would have been instantly
killed. But Ngatiwai are related to Ngapuhi.'*

On the other hand he found the case of Ngati Wai to be very clear and convincing.
They were in actual occupation and had been for several decades, during which time

" MA 13/45.

20 For example, Kiri [probably Rahui Kiri of Ngati Wai] to Chief Commissioner 23 October 1862,
MA 13/45.

2! Ibid.

122 Kalpara Minute Book 3: 388-394.

Kalpara Minute Book 4: 57 pages.

Ibid, Monro Report on Hauturu, 14 July 1881.

125 Ibid, Monro memo, 18 July 1881.
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they had made cultivations and sold much firewood, no demands having ever been
made by Te Kawerau for a share of the proceeds. Moreover, elders recalled
occupation before the time of Hongi Hika and they were able to point out old pa sites,
wahi tapu and to name the ancestors buried there. Hence Monro awarded the Crown
grant to Ngati Wai. : ;

3. Hotly indignant, many Ngati Whatua held a great meeting at Orakei on Hauturu and
threatened to occupy the island. At this point Parliament intervened and under a clause
in.the Special Powers and Contracts Act 1883 declared the island to be again native
- land under customary title and directed another re-hearing. It was held between 1 and

-+ 15 February 1884 at Auckland, before Chief J.E. Macdonald and E.M. Williams, who
found in favour of Ngati Whatua.'?®

4. But the Parliament being no more satisfied with this judgement than with the others
directed a third re-hearing. It was held in: October 1887 ‘before . Judge Puckey, at which
~ Ngati Wai were forcefully represented by Fenton. ™ 121 -Puckey found.in favour of Ngati
Wai. The certificate of title was awarded to 13 persons. Ngati: Whatua appealed
| against the judgement and applied for yet another re-hearing, but Chief Judge
" Macdonald, seeing.insufficient grounds for such, declined it. This hearing finally
- brought to an end the investigation of Hauturu.

“Throughout this arduous judicial process the Crown had been waiting in the wings to
purchase the island - for a special purpose. In the 1880s Thomas Cheesman, curator of
the Auckland Museum from 1874 to 1923, and Thomas Kirk, Museum Botanist, were
becoming increasingly concerned about the native bird species then rapidly
approaching extinction in New Zealand. 128 \While-forest reserves had been created on
- the mainland, Cheesman was well aware that these could never serve as fully effective
sanctuaries because there was no means of controlling introduced predators within
them. The creation of island reserves seemed to be the only answer, of which both
men from this time onwards became staunch advocates. But on Hauturu time was at a
premium. For in 1891 Tenetahi, the Ngati Wai resident there, sold kauri timber
‘cutting rights on the island to a man named.Browne who. promptly began work. The
Crown had to move quickly, for if deforested : ‘Hauturu would be of httle use as a

sanctuary for native birds. Injunctions were served on Tenetahi ‘and Browne to halt
cutting.

Meanwhile Ngati Whatua had not yet abandoned their claim to Hauturu. Paora
‘Tuhaere, their leading Orakei chief, saw resolution at this stage only in the sharing of
the Crown’s purchase money between Ngati Wai and Ngati Whatua, a proposal which
- he put to Native Minister Cadman in a letter dated 11 August 1891." 129° But the Ngati

Wai grantees, then negotiating to sell to the Crown, were prepared to do no such
thing.

126 Kaipara Minute Book 4: 162-212.

17 Kaipara Minute Book 5: 1- 51.
'8 Ibid, Cheesman to Stout, 16 December 1886.
129 Ibid.
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Finally, Tenetahi, purporting to represent all the owners, agreed on 1 July 1891 to sell
to the Crown for £3,000, stipulating that he receive the whole sum for distribution.'*’
(One can only speculate on why Tenetahi considered this to be desirable. Perhaps he,
as the man actually living on Hauturu, felt entitled to determine how the purchase
money be utilised.) Cadman offered no objection provided all the owners first signed
the deed and a collective receipt for the money. Tenetahi, Kino Rewiti and Wi
Taiawa signed under this arrangement but did not receive their proportionate shares of
the consideration. Then subsequent signatories each demanded as they signed the deed
their shares of the consideration which were handed over to them as a matter of right.
Two owners, Rahui te Kiri and Ngapeka, neither signed nor received any money.
Tenetahi then endeavoured to withdraw from the agreement, as that stipulation had
not been met, rallying the support of the two who had not yet signed the deed.

Faced with this obstacle, the government passed the ‘Little Barrier Island Purchase
© Act:1894,” which empowered the Office of the Public Trustee to exécute a
coniveyance in fee simple to Her Majesty the Maori interests in Hauturu yet to be
exfinguished, once under section 2 of the Act it had received the proportionate shares
of the purchase money of Tenetahi, Kino Rewiti and Wi Taiawa and under section 3
of the Act the shares of the purchase money of Rahui te Kiri and Ngapeka.13 ! The
Office of the Public Trustee executed this deed on - (day?) May 1895.

Hauturu is now a part of the Hauraki Maritime Park.

3.4.2 Whakau (Red Mercury Island), Green, Middle and Korapuki Islands

The Mercury Group consists of seven islands contained in a rectangle eleven miles
- (17.6 km) by six miles (9.6 km) lying off the east coast of the Coromandel Peninsula.
The four larger islands, in declining order of size, are: Ahuahu (Great Mercury),
Whakau (Red Mercury), Atiu (Stanley Island) and Moturehu (Double Island). Then
there are three smaller islands: Middle, Green and Korapuki (57 acres in total). The
Crown purchased Ahuahu in stages from 1858 to 1865 (see 2.4.5) and Atiu and
Moturehu in-1858 (see 2.4.6). There is no obvious explanation for why James Preece,
when: negotiating the purchase for the Crown of neighbouring Ahuahu, Atiu and
Moturehu from 1858-1865, failed to include Whakau. It is assumed that the three
smaller islands were then considered too small to warrant purchase. )

In any évent, Whakau (502 acres) remained to be investigated by the NLC,
application - for which was .not lodged until the early twentieth century. The
investigation took place at Coromandel before Judge A.G. Holland from 5-10 June
1912." The claimants were Te Reiti Watana and others, whose claims were based on
ancestry from Te Hanunu as descendant of Pupu, conquest, mana and occupation. The
counter-claimants were Hohepa Mataitua and others of Ngati Karaua whose claims
were based on ancestry, conquest and occupation.

'*° The construction of events presented here is based on memo 94/226 in MA 13/45.

131 «rhe Little Barrier Purchase Act 1894”7, Statutes of New Zealand, 1894, No. 27.
132 Hauraki Minute Book 9: 237-239, 249-273, 275A-275B, 277-278.
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The conclusions drawn by Holland in his judgement were as follows:

That there has been no permanent occupation of Whakau is clear from the evidence of both
parties. ... The occupation of the island was that by bird-catching parties and the kaingas there
established were merely temporary ones. That both N’ Karaua and N’ Pupu occupied the
mainland and were owners of other islands of the group is an established fact. A search of
Turton’s Deeds shows that both hapu took part in the sales of the islands to the Crown.

Accordingly, he awarded the Crown grant to

-such of the N’ Karaua and N’ Pupu hapus who can show constant occupation of the adjacent
mainland. That N’ was the predominating hapu is clear and the Court, in assessing the shares,
will make a larger award to them.™ '

-+ In 1964 the Crown set. aside- Atiu and. Moturehu (297 .acres in-total) as wildlife

- reserves."* It was logical that conservationbodies:should:then look ito securing as
Crown managed reserves the other Mercury islands-as well;:except-of:course Ahuahu
. - which was privately owned. But. Whakau was under Maori freehold title:and the three
.+ -smaller islands were still under customary title.

In 1964 application was made for the investigation of Green (10 acres), Middle (25
acres) and Korapuki (22 acres) Islands. The investigation was made on 15 February
- 1965 at Hamilton before Judge M.A. Brook.'**- By Court order of that day the three
islands were vested in-71 pcarsons.136

On 16 December 1968 Whakau, Green, Middle and Korapuki Islands were gifted to
the Crown to be managed as a scenic reserves and wildlife sanctuaries on the
condition that if no.longer required for those purposes they would revert to their
owners.

These islands became a part of the Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park.
-3.4.3 Ruamahu - The Aldermen Islands

The Aldermen Islands are a cluster ofi«volcanic:islands, islets-and-rocks:lying about 11
miles (17.5 kilometres) from the east-coast of : the .Coromandel-Reninsula, opposite
Tairua." Approaching from the south, the group would have appeared to Captain
Cook as a series of sharply defined peaks towering out of the sea, jagged in outline
and devoid of vegetation. The group comprises three main islets Ruamahuanui (40
acres), Ruamahuiti (30 acres), their elevation roughly 600 feet, and Hongiora which is
smaller and barely. half that height. Within this triangle is a chain of extraordinarily
rugged volcanic peaks, of which Middle Island is the largest. These islands are
among the most dramatic, spectacular landforms in New Zealand. The birdlife on
them is abundant. In 1927, 24 native bird species were recorded: 9 land and 16 sea.

133
134

Ibid, 277-278.

NZ Herald, T February 1964.

%% Hauraki Minute Book 79: 40-41.

"¢ MLC, Hamilton: Middle - C648; Green - C649; Korapuki - C650. .

*7 N.Z Journal of Science and Technology, November 1927 and February 1928, Report on Aldermen
Islands by Sladden and Falla, on 1994/H, ML.C Hamilton.
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Tuataras have been located on all the islands except the Middle chain. Because of
their abundant fauna these islands would have had considerable economic value to
the Maori. “In later years the Ngaiterangi from Tauranga annually raided the nesting
grounds, but nowadays this method of augmenting their food supplies has been
discontinued,” asserts a scientific report written in 1928

In appears that the islands were first claimed in 1914 by Te Reneti t¢ Whauwhau of
Ngai Te Rangi who, however, proceeded no further once informed that the cost would
be more than they were worth.>® Only in the early 1930s did Hauraki iwi lay claim to
the islands but Judge MacCormick questioned the reference of Taite te Tomo to them
as “Islands in the Hauraki Gulf belonging to the Ngati Maru Tribe” in a letter of 1
July 1932,140 on the ground that in the first place they lay in the open ocean rather
than in the Hauraki Gulf. Then it was clear that in more recent times Ngai Te Rangi
: “had..regularly mutton-birded there, although less clear were the historical rights
- entitling. them to done so. It is important to note that although the distance from the
Aldermen Islands to Tuhua (Mayor Island), territory of Ngai Te Rangi, is about twice
. that:to .Tairua, territory of Hauraki, ocean going canoes travelling under sail could
have in effect contracted that differential.

Calls from conservation bodies for the Aldermen Islands to become a wildlife reserve

probably date from the above scientific expedition in 1927. These were heeded by the
I : Crown which in 1933 4procla:imed the islands a sanctuary under the Animal Protection
T and Game Act 1922."*! That the Crown and the Court in the 1930s, adopted a high-
handed stance toward the customary owners of the islands is clear from the
documentary record. First, that proclamation was made with no prior consultation
with them, nor was any effort made to consult them afterwards. The application for
investigation of Rawiri Faulkner of Ngai Te Rangi, lodged on 2 May 1935, was
dismissed by Judge MacCormick on 24 August 1936 on account of non-prosecution.
The second application of Faulkner on 10 July 1937 was dismissed by MacCormick
on 2 February 1938 for want of survey plans. The Judge informed the Native
Department “that the natives were advised that no good purpose could be served by
having the titles to these island investigated by the Court seeing that they had already
been proclaimed”'* a wildlife sanctuary.

Gt

After 1945, however, the Crown had a change of attitude, thereafter showing greater
consideration for the customary owners and recognising the necessity of a formal
investigation. The hearing opened on 7 December 1948 at Thames before Chief Judge
D.G.B. Morison.'"? Mr B Hutton, representing the government, indicated that the
Crown did not consider itself to have ‘acquired’ the islands, despite the proclamation
of 1933. He informed the Court that

138 Ibid.

:iz McCormick to Und. Secr. Native Department, 9 September 1932, 1994/H, MLC Hamilton.
Ibid.

! New Zealand Gazette 1933, p 1369. '
"2 McCormick to Und. Secr. Native Department, 9 September 1932, 1994/H, MLC Hamilton
'“* Hauraki Minute Book 73. The typed transcript of the hearing on 1994/H will be cited.
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In 1939 the American Museum of Natural History sent a party to investigate botany and fauna
and since then a certain amount of pressure has been brought on the Crown to acquire the
islands, from various natural history bodies. The suggestion was that Crown should take the
land under Public Works Act, and then ask the Court to assess compensation and decide to
whom it should be pald but it was felt that before any action was taken the Maoris should know
what was being done."*

The Lands and Survey Department had employed Paaka Turei to travel around

- Hauraki and to Tauranga to notify interested Maori of the hearing. Consequently, all
those with customary interests were well represented, including broadly speaking

. -Ngai Te Rangi, Ngati Koi, Ngati Hako and all the iwi of Ngati Marutuahu. After
- several days of testimony, further hearing was adjourned to 15 June 1949.

On. that day the hearing resumed at Thames. The Judge, E.M. Beechey, who was to.

- see the investigation through to-its conclusion: After-more testimony, the hearing was

-adjourned to enable the Court to examine the records-for-titlesto adjacent mainland

~ blocks and to Slipper and Shoe Islands. The hearing-resumed-on-21:September 1949

-+ at Thames and after a break again on5-December 1949 at Auckland;-when Beechey

. delivered his preliminary judgement. He found that “The Ngai Te Rangi claim lacks

- the essential necessary to support a fake by conquest and must therefore be
disallowed.”"*

s On 3 A?nl 1950 at Thames Beechey delivered his final judgement-on the Aldermen -
Islands:
* That the claim of Ngai Te Rangi had not been established.
 That it could be assumed that the islands were a part of the domain of Ngati
Marutuahu and for that reason any hapu of that tribal confederation owning adjacent
-coastal land was entitled to claim.
-+ That the descendants of original grantees of the Tairua block, who were also the
original grantees of Slipper Island, had the best title.

On 29 June 1950 the certificate of title for the Aldermen Islands was. awarded to 35
persons holding 335 shares in total.

On 21 September 1950 an appeal was made against the Court’s.decision:of 29 June
1950, contending that the award should have been made to the Marutuahu people as a
‘whole, not to a section of them. The appeal was heard on 12 June 1951 at Thames
before Morison."”” The Court order of 29 June 1.95()148 was annulled and no
replacement  order was issued -due to incomplete attendance and to insufficient
whakapapa evidence. Consequently, the Aldermen Islands returned to customary title.

" Ibid, 1.

" Ibid, 13.

146 - Thid, 13-14.

7 Auckland Appellate Minute Book 12, folio 283.

The date of the order given in the minutes, 21 September 1950, is in error, that rather being the date
of the appeal.

148
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Another application for investigation of title, dated 25 August 1958, was heard on 11
December 1958 at Thames before Judge M.A. Brook, but had to be adjourned due to
incomplete attendance and insufficient evidence.'*

A further such application, dated 18 August 1959, was heard on 16 October 1959 at
Auckland before Brook. The Court issued, under Section 438 of the Maori Affairs Act
1953, an “order vesting the Maori customary land known as the Aldermen Islands
(Ruamabhu) in the trustees listed at Folio 146 ante [12 in number] for the benefit of the
descendants of Marutuahu, Hako and Hei.”"” 0

Meanwhile despite their title being vested as above, the islands were declared a
wildlife sanctuary under the Department of Internal Affairs. In the late 1960s the
Chief Surveyor, Department of Land and Survey, argued the need for the Crown to
obtain title, in order to secure the reserve for all time."! However, he was informed by
Deputy.Registrar I. D. Bell of the MLC that the trustees had no power to alienate to
anyone including the Crown."*> A meeting of the trustees was held on 19 May 1968 to
discuss the sale of the islands to the Crown. The trustees recommended to the tribes
owning the Aldermen Islands that the islands be gifted to the Crown on the principal
conditions:

« That should the Islands be no longer required as a reserve they would automatically
revert to the previous ownership; and

* That the owners would. be permitted to land on the Islands to take mutton birds and
sea foods.

That tribal endorsement granted, the transfer to the Crown was made on 12 August
1969. The Queen accepted the gift for the Crown on her visit to New Zealand in 1969.

The Aldermen Islands became a part of the Hau;akl Gulf Maritime Park.
3.4.4 Motutapere

Motutapere (113 acres), located at the entrance to Coromandel Harbour, had escaped
early alienation on the recommendation of Charles Heaphy in 1857 that it be declared
a.reserve for Patukirikiri who were then rapidly selling their lands at Kapanga (see
2.2:2). Probably because of its steep topography, it seems to have attracted-little
interest from European buyers over the following 120 years. On 15 April 1971 a new

freehold order for the island was awarded to four persons.”” In the late 1960s the
board of the Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park became keen to establish a presence off
Coromandel because of the large numbers of yachtsmen visiting the area.”™ It is
likely that the mortgaging of the interests of two of the owners in 1975 contributed to
the sale of Motutapere to the Crown on 11 February 1977.1%

Motutapere became a part of the Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park.

149 Hauraki Minute Book 76: 22-24.

1% Ibid, 179-180.

' H1994, Chief Surveyor to Maori Affairs, 20 April 1966, 22 January 1968.
132 1bid, Bell 25 January 1968.

153 11 2189, MLC Hamilton.

"% duckland Star, 22 August 1979, p 2.

135 H 2189, MLC Hamilton.
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3.5 RECENT TITLE INVESTIGATION OF SMALLER ISLANDS

As we have seen, the Aldermen Islands were investigated from 1948-1950 (and
subsequently re-heard on appeal) and the three smaller Mercury islands in 1965. Both
island groups are far off-shore. Thereafter applications have been lodged for the
investigation of in-shore islands around the Coromandel peninsula in 1971 and 1988,
off eastern Waiheke in 1981, and around-Great Barrier in 1995, as iwi have looked to
- asserting their mana whenua over progressively smaller islands. A reason why so
many in-shore islands remained to be investigated in as late as the 1970s and even
later is-suggested by a Mr Phillips (counsel for the claimants?) who in 1971 said in
Court in respect of Matariki Island:

In my:submission I had suggested that the reason why.this land was-not investigated-at the same
time as the block of land on the mainland was that:a plan-was:required:and that in:those days the
value attaching to islands was so little that the expense-involved: in -obtaining .a-plan was not
warranted.'*® o

* This process may yet have some distance to run, as many islets and rocks in the Gulf
remain with: uninvestigated title. Their considerable number has been highlighted by

recent research of Mike Lee (former chairman of the- Auckland. Regional Council -
parks committee) on the ecology of Gulf islets."’” In a recent interview with the New

Zealand Herald, he estimated that “the area of the islets alone adds up to more than

100 ha of biologically valuable conservation land,” adding that it would be logical for

them to become part of the conservation estate but that they cannot because the

Crown does not own them.'>® The five islets close to Waiheke that he studied - Koi,

Papakohatu (Crusoe Island), Motukaha, Takupdu (Passage Rock. Island) and Nani

island - all sit in this legal limbo. It seems likely that the investigation into the 70-80

-small islands surrounding Great Barrier, in December 1995, will have sequels, as iwi

look to asserting their mana whenua over ever smaller land masses in the Gulf, till

now overlooked by the Land Court process. '

An attempt is made below to summarise all investigations-of-Gulf-islands:since 1971,
but a few may have been missed, asso may-islands-have been:involved. -

3.5.1 Motu Karaka, Motu Morirau, Motu Winukenuke, Motu Makareta & Motu
Whakakewa - 1971

On 29 April 1971 these five islands were investigated at Hamilton before Judge M. A.
Brook and freehold orders issued.'®

1% Ibid, 268.

57 M. Lee, “New Zealand - the 10,000 Island Archipelago’, M.Sc. thesis, University of Auckland,
1996. a :

158 NZ Herald, 30 October 1996.
1% Hauraki Minute Book 81: 177.
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(1) Nga Motu Karaka or Three Kings Islands (2.4281 hectares), which lie to the
south-east of Mercury Bay off Hahei Beach, were awarded to 68 persons.'® On 3

June 1992 the Court sitting at Hamilton before Judge G.D. Carter consolidated the
freehold title.'®’

(2) Motu Morirau or Paul’s Island (1.2141 hectares) was awarded to 66 persons.162

(3) Motu Winukenuke was awarded to 66 persons.163

(4) Motu Makareta was awarded to 123 persons.lﬁ"'

(5) Motu Whakakewa was awarded to 123 persons.165

3. 5 2 Motu Kopu, Motu Koranga & Motu Koruenga- 1971

On 12 August 1971 these three islands were investigated at Hamllton before Judge
W.C. Nicholson and freehold orders for their ownership issued.'®

(1) Motu Kopu or Turmp Island (3 acres Or 30 perches), whlch hes north of
Whangapoua, was awarded to the people of Ngati Patukirikiri.'®

(2) Motu Koranga, which lies south of Opito Bay, was awarded to 31 persons. 168

(3) Motu Koruenga, which lies south-east of Opito Bay, was awarded to 31
persons.

%

3.5.3 Pungapunga, Tataweka, Wekarua and Matariki Islands

On 2 December 1971 these islands were discussed in Court but no orders were
issued.'” Further research is needed to establish the final Court rulings on them.

3.5.4 Horuhoru & Tarahiki - 31 July 1981

Application for the investigation of these two islets arose as a result of an inquiry by
the Commissioner of Crown Lands in Auckland, who wished to acquire them on

1€ 142191, MLC, Hamilton.

18! Hauraki Minute Book 93: 262.

12 112190, MLC, Hamilton.

13 12192, MLC, Hamilton.

164 112193, MLC, Hamilton.

15 112188, MLC, Hamilton.

' Hauraki Minute Book 81: 201-202.
17 H2194, MLC, Hamilton.

1% H2195, MLC, Hamilton.

1% 112196, ML.C, Hamilton.

' Hauraki Minute Book 81; 265-270.
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behalf of the Crown for wildlife reserves. The investigation was made on 31 July
1981 at Thames before Judge K.B. Cull.'"

(1 ) Horuhoru or Gannet Rock, which lies off the north-eastern tip of Waiheke

Island, was vested in Paoa.!” :

(2) Tarahiki or Shag Rock, which lies to the east of Pakatoa Island, was vested in
Paoa.

3.5.5 Motu Karanui & Mota Waikaia - 1988

These two islands were investigated on 1 November 1988 at Thames before Judge
Cull.'™ A freehold order was issued for each island to the same seven persons.

(1) Motu Karanui or Penguin Island (10.1171 hectares), which lies immediately to the
south-west of Whakahau (Slipper Island), was awarded to seven persons.'”

E (2) Motu Waikaia or Rabbit Island, which lies to the south-west of Whakahau bejfohd
Motu Karanaui, was awarded to seven persons.176

3.5.6 Aotea Islands - 1995

Reference has already been made in this report to the investigation of 70-80 Aotea
islands on 18 December 1995 at Mangere before Judge A.D. Spencer (see 1.12.12), at
which customary rights over these islands were hotly contested by Ngati Rehua/Ngati
Wai and Hauraki. The Court has yet to make its judgement.

! Hauraki Minute Book 87: 330-332.

172 A208, MLC, Hamilton.
'3 A207, MLC, Hamilton
' Hauraki Minute Book 90: 271-272.
'3 K aranui - H2206, MLC, Hamilton.
16 Waikaia - H2205, MLC, Hamilton
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CHAPTER 4: CURRENT OWNERSHIP AND
CONCLUSIONS

4.1 CURRENT OWNERSHIP

4.4.1 The Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park

The vast majority of Crown land in the Gulf is now adm1mstered as reserves by the
Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park, established by legislation in 1967.! Notably excluded
from it is the large Crown forest park on Aotea administered by the Department of
Conservation. The islands of the Maritime Park fall into two categories: the
recneatlonal or inner islands; and the conservation or outer islands. The recreational
1slands -which are close to the mainland and in consequence already quite heavily
modified ecologically, are available for the public’s enjoyment. The conservation
islands, however, which are more remote and in consequence still substantially
unmodified ecologically, have been set aside as important sanctuaries for the
continued preservation of native species of plants and animals, many of which are

endangered or facing extinction. Access to these islands requires the permission of
the Board.

Reserves in the Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park’

"",_,

Land Classification Area (hectares)
Aldermen Islands Nature 133.5462
Brown’s Island (Motukorea) Recreation 59.8934
Cuvier (Repanga) part Nature 171.1820
Great Barrier Island (Aotea) part part scenic, part historic ~ 840.8949
o part recreational
Little‘ Barrier Island (Hauturu) ~ Nature 2816.6120
Mercury Islands, excluding .
Great Mercury Part nature, part scenic ~ 346.4107
Motuihe : Recreation 178.6433
Motutapere Scenic 45.8000
Motutapu Recreation 1508.6679
Rakino, part Recreation 9.6617
Rangitoto Scenic 2310.8434
Tiritiri-Matangi Island Scientific 206.5282

In recent years there has been a growing call for the acquisition of privately owned
Gulf islands into public ownership. The opportunity granted private interests to

! “The Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park Act 1967" - New Zealand Statutes 1967, Vol. 2, No 131, 968-975.
2 The Story of Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park, Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park Board, 1983.
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" acquire them in the nineteenth century is now widely viewed as a mistake which
needs to be reversed wherever possible. This has happened to a substantial extent
through sale or gift. Motuihe was sold to the Crown in 1872, Cuvier in 1957 and

Rakitu in 1995.> Motukorea was gifted to the people of Auckland by the brewery

baron Sir Ernest Davis in 1954, a deed described as “the- greatest benefaction since Sir

John Logan Campbell gave Cornwall Park to Auckland.’ Beehlve Island, off
Kawau, was similarly gifted to the public by Mrs. J. L. Wilson in 1969.° Sadly, these

successes have been offset by major failures in recent years, notably the bid to acquire

into public ownership Pakatoa in 1994° and Kaikoura Island in 1995,” both due to the

- inability of public funding bodies to match market prices.

Arguably, it is inappropriate that some islands in particular remain privately owned,
namely those that are too small to have much economic value while having great
- potential or actual biological importance. Such are the Noises (Motuhoropapa, Otata,
"Maria island and the David Rocks) which lie between ‘Rakino-and Wailieke. Perhaps
the same could be said of Pakihi and Karamuramu; which-lie: between Ponui and
‘Kawakawa Bay, although these islands-have been extensively modified-as a result of
. “shingle removal since the 1890s. Similarly, Waimate and Motukopake, outside the
~“entrance to Coromandel Harbour, would perhaps be better off ecologically if under
public ownership.

4.4.2 Maori owned Islands

There are only two substantial areas of Maori owned land on Gulf islands: the 3, 510
-acres of the Katherine Bay reserve on Aotea, created in the 1850s; and the 2,050 acres
(966.7241 hectaresg) on Waiheke transferred By the Crown to Ngati Paoa in
settlement of Wai 10 in 1989. Only two complete islands of any size are still under
- freehold Maori title: Oruhi (Goat Island), off Papa Aroha, at 160 acres; and Motuhoa
(Shoe Island) off Tairua, at 100 acres. All other islands are small, having little more
than biological importance in terms of usage.

4.2 CONCLUSIONS (EXECUTIVE SUMMARY)

Surely the overriding fact in the alienation history-ofthe Gulf- 1slands is that about
88% of - their area was alienated before 1865. In other words, the vast majority of
their area was alienated before the advent of the Native Land Court. Hence the
criticisms generally levelled at pre-1865 alienation processes are relevant to the
majonty of the land transactions involving Gulf islands.

Gulf islands were an obvious zone of early expansion for settler Auckland because of
. their extractable resources and ready access by water. For the same reasons, however,

New Zealand Herald, 1 April 1995.

J Eagles ‘Auckland’s forgotten island’, Island Time, 1994-5, p 24.

New Zealand Herald, 14 June 1969.

New Zealand Herald, 18 January 1994,

New Zealand Herald, 1 September 1995.

¥ A209, MLC Hamilton. I am unsure how this total area is arrived at since it seems to exceed the area
of the Waiheke Station conveyed in that settlement.
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these were the very resources that Maori needed to alienate with care if they hoped to
consolidate for themselves an early role in the settler economy. Arable areas of
Waiheke, suitable for commercial gardening, and inner Gulf islands close to Auckland
like Motukorea, Motuihe and Motutapu, suitable for the running pigs and cattle, were
especially important in this regard. Therefore the colonial authorities engaged in
Maori land purchasing had special responsibility in respect of these areas to ensure
that the vendors represented all the Maori rightsholders and that they fully understood
the extent and terms of the transactions into which they entered. At stake were the
longer-term as well as the immediate prospects of Gulf Maori engaging successfully
with the settler economy of Auckland. The key question that this report has needed to
address is therefore: Did colonial authorities from 1840-1865 discharge that
responsibility satisfactorily? The answer must be at best a very qualified ‘yes’ and at
worst a ‘no’ with extenuating circumstances.

The sevidence probably most damaging to the performance of those colomal
authontes are statements of Edward Shortland and Fenton. ‘

. On the modus operandi of the Godfrey/Richmond Land Claims Commissions, in
respect of Hauraki claims (most of which involved Gulif islands), Shortland stated
“promises of future payment have in many cases been made to natives interested, to
prevent their opposition, or to induce them to give favourable evidence.”

* On the issue of whether the vendors were the rightful owners, Fenton stated in his
Orakei judgement, “the Court [NLC] had made a practice not to attach much
.importance to the purchases made by the Government . [before 1865] as evidencing
any title in the sellers.”’® The investigations~of George Clarke into customary
rightsholding in Gulf islands were perfunctory and often granted insufficient
opportunity for all rightsholders to lay claim before purchases were granted his
official assent. The Aotea (Great Barrier) pre-emption waiver and Crown purchases
are particular cases in point. Also, in the case of the Crown’s 1858 Waiheke
purchase, McLean, despite being aware of Ngati Maru concerns, proceeded with a
deal 1nvolv1ng only Nga‘u Paoa.
,Q »,:the issue of whether the vendors understood the extent of boundanes apropos
the “1841 Mahurangi purchase, Fenton stated in his Tiritiri-Matangi judgement,
appears to the Court very doubtful whether the phrase ‘all trees, waters, 1s1ands
was ever intended by either vendors or purchaser to include the mass of 1slands out in
the Hauraki Gulf, lying at considerable distances from the mainland.”"' Yet on this
ground the Crown claimed Tiritiri-Matangi and perhaps Rangitoto as well. Boundaries
were descriptive and no surveys were required in the case of all these pre-1865
transactions, leaving room for discrepancies to arise between the boundaries intended
by vendors and those eventually consolidated in law. In this regard, what happened on
Aotea is again cause for concern. '

Shortland Traditions and Superstitions of the New Zealanders, London, 1854, pp 293-294.
' Fenton, Important Judgements, p 88.
" Ibid, p 22.
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Then there is the anomalous case of Motukorea (Brown’s Island) which although
never submitted to any Land Claim Commission for investigation was awarded to
William Brown in 1844. It is remarkable that no check whatsoever was ever made
into whether the island had been sold by its rightful owners or whether the terms of
the transaction had been completed.

Not to be forgotten is the fact that the Crown failed to create Maori reserves from out
of its purchases on Waiheke and Aotea in the 1850s. McLean’s intention to create a
reserve for Ngati Paoa/Hauraki ‘from out of:the Crown’s 10,800-acre Waiheke
- purchase in 1858 never eventuated. The so-called Te Huruhi reserve created at the
western.end of the island in 1869 involved land under Maori title, upon which a 21-
year alienability restriction was placed. Although a reserve was created for Ngati Wai
at Katherine Bay, Aotea, from out of the Webster pre-Treaty purchase, no reserve was
created for Hauraki from out of the Crown’s more southerly purchases on the island
of 1854 and 1856. As a result all Hauraki interests in-Aotea: were: extinguished by
-~ 1856 - a loss which is still felt intensely: by Hauraki: today-and s-which-has made it
difficult for them currently to reassert their mana whenua on the island.

- European land purchasing in Gulf islands, by both the Crown and private individuals,
- had been so extensive from 1838-1865 that only about 12% of the islands remained
thereafter to be investigated by the NLC. Most of that area comprised the 6,720 acres
yet unalienated on Waiheke and the 6,960 acres of  Hauturu (Little Barrier). Of this
rump-Maori estate in Gulf islands only the land on Waiheke had significant economic
value, barring of course the valuable timber on Hauturu. All the Crown grants
awarded by the Court on Waiheke were quickly sold, with the exception of that for the
‘Te Huruhi reserve’. Perhaps the Court should have protected similarly the titles of
- other~Waiheke -blocks: but the grantees had expressly requested that they be without
- restrictions.  Te Huruhi remained in Maori hands until about- World War 1. The
tortuous title investigation and sale of Hauturu to the Crown was brought to a
conclusion only with leglslatlon in 1894 which 1ntroduced an element of compulsion
to the transfer

During the early ‘decades of the twentieth ‘century the Crown- dlsplayed a certain
. presumption as regards the ownership of smaller: Gulf:islandsy;yet -uninvestigated. In
the case of Rangihua (Flat Island), off the west coast of Aotea, it went as far as to
-lease the island to a settler in 1899 despite the continued assertion by its customary
Maori owners of their rights on the island. The Crown appears to have presumed that
- -it owned all of the islands surrounding Aotea, on the grounds of its'purchases of the
1850s. However, the Court ruled that Rangihua was definitely Maori. owned. The
- Crown did not contest subsequent Maori claims to islands around the coasts of Aotea
- namely Motutaiko and Mahuki in 1934.

This Crown presumption was displayed elsewhere in the Gulf. In 1923 Ohinau was
taken under Public Works legislation for the purpose of a lighthouse, without any
consideration being given to the payment of compensation to its customary owners -
an omission that appears never to have been rectified. In the 1930s the Crown as good
as declared the Aldermen Islands a nature reserve, long before any investigation of
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their customary title had taken place. The same happened with the smaller Mercury
Islands which were not investigated until the 1960s.

As already indicated, pressure on what little remained of the Maori estate in Gulf
islands by the early twentieth century came from another quarter - nature conservation
bodies. While few would dispute the need, in the national interest, for outlying islands
such as the Aldermen and Mercury Islands to be declared nature reserves.for the
protection of endangered native flora and fauna, this has ultimately come at the
expense of already minimal Maori resources. In 1969 the Maori owners of those
islands - the descendants of Ngati Marutuahu, Hei and Hako - gifted them to the
Crown in the traditional spirit of tuku whenua, with the provision that they be
returned if no longer needed for that purpose. They received the gratitude of the
nation but nothing by way of material compensation. The two extremely important
rookeries off Waiheke and Ponui Islands, Horuhoru and Tarahiki (Gannet and Shag
Rocks), were vested in Ngati Paoa in 1981, but were not then sold to the Crown,
contrary to the original intention of the applicants for the investigation. There are
many other smaller islands and islets in the Gulf also of biological importance, many
of which remain with univestigated title. Logically, they need to drawn under some
sort of conservation management umbrella with the provision perhaps, in these times
of Maori re-resourcing, of material compensation to the Maori donors. A personal
suggestion is that the Crown acquire them with an exchange of economic land on the
mainland. Joint management is another op‘cion.12 I believe that it would be similarly
appropriate for a more concerted effort to be made to acquire into public ownership
the smaller Gulf islands still under private frechold title.

In conclusion, while to Maori all land is far more than just an economic resource - it
having cultural, spiritual and historical importance as well - to the Hauraki and other
iwi with mana whenua over Gulf islands this is especially so. For their oldest
migration and other ancestral stories involve these places set in largely protected
waters, places of arrival and departure, of conquest and defeat, of abundant food
resources ashore and at sea. They are the setting of the arrival stories of both the
Tainui and Arawa canoes. After many centuries of Maori occupation and usage, at
times. turbulent, they became the setting of new arrival stories, those of the Pakeha.
These are places redolent of human heritage, both Maori and Pakeha, and possessed
of great biological importance.

43 Suggestions for Further Research

Time constraints prevented the examination of “contemporary issues of concern to
claimants,” in respect of Gulf islands and presumably of the Hauraki Gulf (Tikapa
Moana) as a whole, per the Directions of the commission: This fundamental subject
warrants close and careful examination in its own right. At issue is the very
ownership of foreshores and Gulf waters, resources that the tangata whenua maintain
have never been alienated to the Crown. Likewise in dll matters of conservation
management the tangata whenua would expect that the record of their people as the

"> These suggestions have been made by Mike Lee, former chairman of the Auckland Regional
Council parks committee, New Zealand Herald, 23 October 1996.
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kaitiaki (guardians) of natural resources over many centuries be recognised and
accommodated in any new arrangements. The ‘Report to the Minister of Conservation
on Tikallga Moana’, Hauraki Maori Trust Board, 1992, is a key document on the
subject.

Still to be examined are the Maori land (ML) plans, at Dosli Hamilton, of mainland
blocks adjacent to small islands to establish which are, and which are not, included in
them, that is, which are, and which are not, formally investigated and alienated. The
small islands surrounding Waiheke are particularly at issue in this regard. A case
could be made for investigating iwi views on the subject.

-Also still to be examined are the ML plans for the other, larger islands investigated by
the Maori Land Court more recently. Any gaps in the .information presented in this
report, of which there are probably a few, would thereby. be filled.

' Telephone conversation of author with Lianne Ngamane of Hauraki Maori Trust Board, 18 October
1996.
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Ko TE TCHITUNINGA 0 tenei pukapuka i te m kotnbx “tekau o' Tibémn kotalu NN, Wary
rau rima tckau ma:tahi.-te x,wb'tkane{angn. 0 ‘maton’nga Rang gnhvg};ntuu te -

whnkanetangn ano hoki o te Kuini-o* lnghr@l ‘monn nk*ko matou 118“ igingatn"" ite
TR AL eA S danal whannn i n’ Kuini Victona' '
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- custom ; and i in this respect only the operation of the Iaw,.

,‘mterfered with.  The Court determines in favor of all the
equally. The judgment of the Court, therefore, is tmanimg

A ‘—_Erma. Takaznini;~Te~Wirihana~Takaanini,—and Thaka T

—ought to succeed .to the hered1taments above mennoned in
shares as tenants in common.

B

Tavm 1n

Satyre "
.v.e‘f"':"‘. o’

EE PR S A

ot
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NATIVE LAND COURT

: ]'une, 1867
F. D. Fzmou, Eso, G’ﬁzqf Judge.” :
TIRITIRIMATANGI. o

"’“""' 1 claim by Matini Mumpaenga and others, abongmal
&vés, to havea cerhﬁcate of title issued in ‘their favourfor the

%id of Tiritirimatangi, in the Gulf of Hauraki, and is opposed ‘

the Crown. .The case was commenced on the 8th of December

F¥and was adjourned to the 13th of March; “was then further
journed for 3ix Weeks ' to “enable the Crown "to procure certain

iments, and was again further adjourned for one month, these

Tuments, which were alleged to be necessary to the case of the

wn, not having been received by its representatives here. The
¢ has now been concludéd, and comes up for judgment.

‘The proofs for the plaintiff % case rest on the evidence of persons -
the Ngatipoataniwha arid Ngatitaihawa tribes and their relatives
d Co-claimants, and consist mainly of ancient occupancy, chiefly
fore the time of the Ngapuhi incursions into this part of the
uiitry—the main facts being, that the ancestors of the claimants
ed there and culnvated there, were buried there, and had built 2

there, the remains of which have been seen by the present

uatxon, and may, as was stated by one witness, be discovered at
g present day. From the time of the Ngapuhi invasion, the ancient
sors do mnot appear to have ever held permanent possession of
island, nor indeed to have exercised any dominion over it, be-
nd acts of a very transxtory nature, indicating only temporary
tion, and no intention of permanent domicile. Although the
se thus made out is in itself meagre, yet it is of sufficient validity
have justified -the Court in ordering a certificate of utle, 1f no
iinter claimant or- objector had appeared.

“But there .appears as an “opponent and counter claxmant, the =

roWn, whose case must be carefully ‘considered. The glieamed

unsel for the Crown _places before the Court a copy of a degd of
nyeyance gated 2in 15784 executed by chiefs of the Ngatipdos, S
1'POrf:lng to convey to. er Majesty and her successors alarge tract

country extending from Takapuna “Head t6” Te"Arai,~“and -all -

es,  Waters, water-courses, ditches, fences, and islands (not before
1d), 2nd _everything else ‘above and below these lands.” In a sub-
Uent part of the deed, ‘which inay be ‘called the izabmdum part,'

ePhrase of descnptxon runs thus : * From the entrance’ of Waite- °
tO Te Arax, and all the istinds of this shore, and all places - -

x

. \ :
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S5t Mr. Bell says that Mr, Taylor having formerly thé right to
155 in lieu of the North Head, which had been taken from
% %the Government, Selected, amongst other lands, Tiritirima-’
hich Mr. Clarke, Protector of -Aborigines, had_reported to
cen purchased from the natives, but for which no grant had
il' Mr T?I%% by the Crown ; and Mr. Bell adds, “Itis
Y Sxtraneous cigchlt : hy the grant for Tiritirimatangi was not made

TS OLDUrChASET 0, inde he Crown,”.and he Judes by ordering that * scrip be issued
the sum of. 4250, and to Ranulph

v "li%sllllg;ectih § ‘di?fnbed boiindary not before sold.”,"This deg
ber of o{ho ers, conveying the same estates and signed by

ity 61;:- tribes, amongst ‘others by persons who maj')'f,i
. “whose~actso .he representatives of the present -claimants,~;
very doubtfult ;}{etﬁﬁlﬁl be'.boun‘?. " Now-it appears to the? d
“Gitches, fences, andl Blander s Soast e o ater )
, stances, was ever intefide

' mass.of

"t

e e e+ s——
—————

“have little more -meaning than'is 2D T
e .meaning than'js usually atfached t6 similar wongk-$he-Tsland of ‘Tiritiimatangi, .and _in satisfaction of ‘all claims in

ss.0f ; Gt A S :
tafices from the main Jan i i ZGul lying at Considen ZJohn Logan Campbell. for, .
"Thése words appear to the Cougytre for the sum of £ 250, i commutation-of their claimto 2 grant ———§

. ggrillntilg' E}?ggfh conveyance, known to lawyers as “general wiy
lands ot ;:lhgls by :rezozczs wll:lch occur subsequently, “and iy )
b held o pnare,” etc. have pparently. more foice, And
be 0 ! specific intention .
ttgct I\;Véc),rcis zvfngh follow, and which' are 'Z:IZ::I)?Z; e
e ¢ concl ;1]31%:;_ %;gc}t??r §e_\é§mg}.la:g'e islands on thé far side o
Snip channel, iritirimatangi is one, were never iny
contemplation of the drawers or of glle ,'éi_gnrésé :gt? iieged:‘z%‘m

was never issued, because the Government had in the interim
ered that the native title had not been extinguished. .In the

case of Pukekohe, the grants had even been issued, and
rernment Was compelled by such a discovery, and the obsti-
=+ of the reciisant natives, to call them all in, and compensate the

atées at a great cost. -No doubt if the grant for Tintirimatangi
ad ever been issued, as contemplated, the Court would have been

Court could not fail to o ey -
made on the part of théb %fmﬂih thg fact that o, attem mpetent to entertain the question of previous_extinguishment of
“of these islafids—some 6f 'v?v'hich"ar"gy“'y exidence ve title, for_its jurisdiction would have been “destroyed ; but, in
~-—- -~ -——and smaller than Tiritirimatanei e much nearer to the & absence of a grant, althoiigh ‘the reason for the non-ssue of it

gi—were ever held, or supposed togiay.—as -Mr.~Bell says, ~be - difficultto .ascertain,” _the Court

.

held, under jtles derived DAt . ]
in the case ﬁilﬁﬁ%?a tfggné:g;;erﬁnéacuqns. . On,the Tt hold the simple opinion of an officer of the Govemment,
ed. soi ed entirely on Yhreesd ted by Mr. Bell, to be entitled to much weight. If Mr. Clarke’s

COTvEyantes signed  entirely ¢

produc'é"d,“'ﬁl’ﬁcl%n deédssoggutl)g g: mf b}{ the signers of the deeds Jmowledge is conclusive, why was he not produced as 2 witness for
if our deeds had the effect whi:I:}.:_h ave been entirely unnecészghe Crown in this case? Moreover, as a question of law, it is not
endeavours to attribute to them, es ia.?l counsel for the Crown Tidlear how this judgment could, in-any case, be made to affect the
sold” would apply with equal forcl;etc RZnaS.the words “not previg@nterests of the parties now claiming, for they were no parties to the
The Court cannot believe that if the-o & gitoto _aséo Tiritirimatangnit, and were, as the evidence proves, iﬁ;lorant of it, or of any other
of the completion of this transacti 2}1 cers of the Crown, at the filbroceedings in Mr. Bell's Court regarding the island of Tintirima-
for and purchased large islands su%i’ -SI,“_KPS that they had niegocizffangi. ... Coke says that *‘law is the perfection of reason,” and, no
they would have omitted all mentio asf t}in tirimatangi and Rangitifionbt, a man who has the capacity of thinking correctly, will, in
relied for their title upon - general nw°. 3 ¢m i the conveyance, Mhinety-nine cases out of a hundred, come to the same conclusion to
hedges, ditches, and islands.”, If thgrv'iag— ta;i::.;er;}_ “Efg?lgg b1 5 rule of law would lead him, and it is surely cominon’ sense

correct, the point for which the Jubsequent deed releasig the rerch ich says that if A brings an action against B for the recovery of a

Y

Liftel or a field, the rights, such as they are, of C or D shall in no
for the question does not arise as to : 01 1o 1mg andivay be determined or prejudiced by the result unless he is cognizant
?@rgntlhe P;Oper'owners. e - WheLher i onyeyj fanéi ﬂail party t?i the pro;eeding. . ?ufc we do not understand that
e other muniment : ogs e L edMr, Gillies relied upon these proceedings in Mr. Bell's Court to do,
Bell, Commissioner of I-EI‘:; 1312’;15\4 . Glglges is the judgment of an show that in 1844 the Government were in the belief that
tirimatangi is incidently mentioned, in which the ownership ¢ ative title to Tiritirimatangi had been extinguished, and for that
what direct bearing this jud ned. But the Court is unable ct, no doubt, the record is valuable. ’ RS
It commences thus :— T1J1‘115 gment can have on the case befor {The then, s, of opinion that the real s

the North Head of A claim. is_for compensation for land#title has PG it
s cctablishment of the Seat of Government on:the Wl
ey ity at was the matter. which Mr. .Commissioner. Bell ;
ngyand not ‘the"title ® Tirititimatangi. In the course

s t
weaker than most:

Sice It.occurred to the Court that it was possible that the

-But the facts disclosed on-
and in the direct testimony_ - -

s
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ptrt, be mamtamed Hls ‘own argument, 4§ to the use ‘dad
5ot a preamble, will go a long way to upset this interpretation.
, edens ®inal object of the Act is to convert Maotri holdings into -
grounds of the ,Crowns opposition had mused us'to entertain.”;% enura;recogmz"d “by the 14w, and, if "Mr-Gillies’ doctrineis -to
It‘appears*that*Messrs. Taylor, Macmlllan—and—Campbell , ‘the intention -of .the Legxslature_wﬂl fail.._The law_is that
on the island at a very early date, without "azy ‘forcible’ interriy ‘( must be interpreted “u# res magis valeat yuem per
or question ‘éven from natives ; that they wére“succeeded b 1y eavord “held,” although, grammatically speaking, 4 parnczple
Duder, whose™évidefice made great impression ‘upon ‘the na timé, must be construed rather as.a word of description,
though we atta¢h no importance to the conversation about the Ad ot limited to any particular moment.” * The law, of construction
being the ‘Queen’s, for he 'did not know whether that declaratiofi i ‘““" ses of this sort is clearly laid down by Abbott, Chief Justice,
miade by the presént claimants or: ‘by others';"-that Duder livéd they %"y, Hall, 1 'Bam. and Cress. 123: “The’ meanmg of
without arly attempt at eyiction being made by ‘the ‘natives, and ‘13 ar words in-Acts of Parliament, as well as other instruments,
/-he suffered nio inconvenience” from' them except gich as a man §i “be found not so much in a strict ‘etymological- propriety
]arly situated would always be liable to, viz., thé  destruction “6f language, nor even in popular use, as in the subject or occasion
.. . ... pigs by the dogs of cdsual yisitors ; that from 1861 Duder lived hich they are used, and the object that is intended to ‘be

with the express authority of. Government, and that he’ finally [lsbtained.” "Thus, the #n/abitants of any Conty, etc;; taking that word
""the place_bécatise he could not “obtain'a hcense. —And -then thelnjisstrict or in its popular sense,are those persons onlywho have their
followed the erection of a hghthouse, gradually rising, and visibleZgs wel]m therein. But the object of the statute being to raise a fund for
all beholders for nuiles round, as if challenging claims _of t1t1e 10 0l ere air of bridges by the taxation of persons, * * *'. the word

ce ng'all thi : arifinh abltant has been held to “include all the occupiers, although
‘of 5 4 centur ’«}the natlves\made 10 claim, “1or éntered any p’ro : ctnall living in some other: county " Thus, the object of The
Mumpaengas ‘explanation of this damnatory sﬂence is that they knckNative Land Act being to determine the native titles to land in New
that it ‘was of no use appealing to the Government for redress, but’ @ ealand, and to establish recognised tenures in lieu thereof, we must
soon as a Court was established, .where. they could be falrly'h o’c true the Act as to give as much effect as possible 'to the clear
they asserted their claim. . But this explanation of 3 moéf singubfintentions of the legislature ; and if ‘the coristruction” contended for

silence cannot be recelved Native Lands Act was pag vete gllowed to prevail, the Act would very largely fail of “effect.
in 1862, and was in force, an tual operation in” the dlstnc 2

ies’ objection to. hearsay evidence, as applied to pedrgrees,
country where these persons re51de ; and ‘although its ac i

untenable. -The trite rules of evidence, which during fany
work was, from its cumberso! haracter, of limited extent, 3 entunes have been elaborated-in England and made to “suit the
there existed no reason why’ thes

arties should not have made ircumistances of a most  advanced  civilisation, cannot be invariably
claim whilst the hghthouse Wwas, s before their eyes. But ‘thelt pixed to trials in a Coutt of this descnpnon, where the uncultivated
slept on their rights, if they then thought they had any, until an, “without a literature, and withott a written lnstory of his nation,
claim was made by Takapuna for. Orake, when thxs cla.lm ap ot 0f _ his property and  belongings, is brought into contact with the
almost srmulmneously, and ¢ ' ﬁnements of a system of law, gradually developed by the efforts
fha'euccessxon of civilised intellects. But the principles on which
hose rules are based are deduced from the most simple fairness, and
.be found in the consciences of all men. And it is to these
iples, more than to the rules themselves, that- resort -will be
tageously had ;- more than” this, we do not think that the
ons taken and urged with some force of language are even
4 correct as a matter of bare law. " Taylor writes thus#<
‘Questions of pedigree form the second exception .to the - -general
rule 1ejecting heatsay evidence. This™ exceptxon has"beenrecognised
¢ ground of necessity ; for as; in enquiries respecting relation- '
- descent, facts must often be proved which occurred many
ears ‘before ‘the trial, and were known but to few persons, it is
the Croin that the proof of “holding” or the customary usagé i bvxous thaf the strict enforcement of the ordinary rules of evidence
‘which a'Rativé “claim must bé established mist’ be, ‘a5 of the mses of this nature would frequently octasion a grievous failure of
1865, the date of the passing of our Act cannot “in the judgment “s_t‘_ce Courts of law have, therefore, so far relaxed these rules in

gmshed yet we are of opinion that the case made out by il
claimants is altogether deficient of those ‘elements of strength whij
would justify us in disturbing the Crown in its possession. :To & -’;
a person from his possession, it is niot sufficient to show thé weakic
_ of his title, but 2 better must be displayed, and we think that
.- _has not been done._]udgment myst therefore ’-go acamst {0
: claimants. - - . T

It may. 'be “well, before concludmg, bneﬂy to’ nonce one orY
‘ matters which have arisén in'the course of this protracted trial.’?
Tn the first place, the doctrime set up by’ ‘the ‘learned counsel
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‘matters of pedigree 2s to allow parties to have recourse to tjradizm
evidence, often the sole species of proof that can’be obtd

“Necessitas on habet Iegens 3s 2 legal maxim s well ‘as & 'pdp

g yxuv:xb. X - I
, feéls that 1t is 1n daty called

" The Court, before concludifig, faé {
to notice the non-prodiiction’of the deeds for which the trial has.bH
so frequently adjourned. The position of the learned counsel fo
Crown has been, if possible, one of greater embarrassment than
of the Court itsélf, although, of course, his responsibility is’
The copies produced are in no legal sense records, but simply copy

- of deeds. ' If they are set up as records, we would say, 45 the Pp)
Council said in a recent case touching the repeal of a Crown’ £
by scre fadas, “If they areé records, of what Court are’
records ?’—See Bacon’s Ab. Tit. Record. These copies )
admitted simply on the ground that they afforded the best evidér§

=" that ‘could. be -obtained, the . originals being (if in exstén§

conferred upon the “Court.” It 'is "ot for the Court to’ conjec
why these deeds have not been forthcoming, and Mr. Gillie§
silent on the subject. It is necessary to allude to this question,
the admission of copies in this trinl must not be construed info]
matter of course precedent. It will always be necessdty ‘to 5
that attempts have been made to obtain the best evidence, befo]
the Court will receive the second best. It must also be appaith
that the non-production of the originals may ofteni operate injurig
to the Crown’s interest; for 2 native might, and very likely woill
deny his signatore when viewing the copy, which he mightyfrank)
admit if placed before him in the original instrument. It maj3
well to add that if the muniments of the Crown ‘estates were ik
posited in some place where they would be sccessible to suitor:
claimants, or intending claimants and their legal advisers, we thid

’

that many cases of the chatacter of the one just decided would
kept back, and would not be brought into Court. For example, the]
can beno question that if the counsel for the natives’ who  claimd
}Qangltoto could have inspected the deed of purchase beforé épﬁ
ing in Court, the natives would never have appeared there at all. . If th
claim to Tiritirimatangi could have been determined at once, we haj
no doubt that the natives would have received thé decision with 1itih

trial, and the apparent: difficulties in the progress of the Crowil
defence, have raised and strengthened hopes’ which, now that ‘Th
are destroyed, will naturally be suceeeded by feelings of disappo
‘ment and bitterness, ... .- _ . j

!

Pby their. descent from the Ngatitahu tribe? ™ R SRR
i %52, Are all the descéiidants of the six old men and party equally ...
entitled to the Rapaki Reserve? Co O

regret, certainly without 2 fnurmur ; but the long protraction 'of Lf |
en

i e hryrs”.

_. Rapaki. :. - 2

[N N

" NATIVE LAND COURT. o e

. . CrrisrcaURCH, April ;.éth,. 1868.
‘Fexton, Esqy Chief Judge; and HENARE PUKUATUA, -
g - Arawa Ckigf, Nativs Assessor, ='- =270 ini
. Reeami .(Inéerlocutbrj;). ' .
The issues upon which it has been arranged that ‘the Court

% chonld give an interlocutory decision are as follows :— . .

Frt.-Are the Kaiapoi natives entitled to share the Rapaki Reserve

s e e e petemi e

5%, Who are the_descendants of the six old men of Rapaki{ .
. Have any natives besides the descendants of the six old
men s claim to the reserve by occupation ? B
. ‘Have ‘those claimants to the Rapaki Reserve, who now come
from Kaiapoi, not lost their right by baving their abode at Kaiapoi
from the time of the reserves being made? .
#5:6. ‘Would the alleged agreement made at Kaiapoi at Mr. Buller’s
Suggestion alter the title to the reserves at Rapaki? o

+x{Upon the first and last issue the Court can_give a clear and
inct opinion, but the answers to the other issues depend en-
ely “upon the tracing of persoms and their relationships, which

‘&x‘ugot be done at this stage of the proceedings, and must await’

: ﬁf'r,t_hei- evidence. The general opinion, however, which the Court

}fgt":!sfj.t‘self able to give will render this subsequent proceeding a
matter of no difficulty, and indeed will in all probability so far
Indicate the views of the Court as.to render further evidence un-
Becessary, by enabling ‘the parties ‘to arrange between themselves
to whom the Rapaki Reserves should be granted. © “-:. . -
ZiAs to the first issue, the Court is of opinion that the persons
rally styled in the course of this trial “ the Kaiapoi natives” are
Ot entitled to claim any share in the Rapaki reserve by reason of
I“b,gl.rf descent from 2 remote ancestor common to them and the
persons ‘similarly styled “the Rapali natives”; or, in 6ther words;"
on.the ground that they are all members of the Ngaitahu tribe. It

even if stronger reasons had been shown than the counsel for the

E Y ey

H21apol natives has been able to produce, the Court woild have;
£GM, very reluctant to depart from a rule which has now reeived the
Clion of innumerable precedents, v 0 U vUTE

Dol gy it

_{13.3.}‘1@&1- been the rule of the Court to recognisé such aclaim; and, — - -~
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The husband of a sister is at liberty to do the sime
if he can. - The other members of the family then
sink to the condition of fwfug (insignificant per~
sons), retainirig only their right to their Zaigna or
cultivation grounds. ‘

Ngatiwakaue, perhaps the most turbulent tribe
in the island, scem to cairy to a great extent this
system of raising one member of the family at the
expense of the rest. o
- A chief, when speaking of the title by which he
holds his lands, never fails to make a distinction
between those . which he has inherited from his
ancestors, and those which he or his ancestors have
obtained by conquest. Over the first his right is
universally. recognized.  The latter appear to be

tenable only so long as the party in possession are
the more powerful. The claim which he advances
is, however, - quite clla;qiéte;'iqtic of this people;
namely, that they are the % 6 compensation for the
loss of his relations, who perished during the fight. e
It is from purchasing lands, the right to which is
thus contested by two hostile parties, either of ;
whom is glad to avail himself of an opportunity to

.-’L‘n.
o e, B

L

sell -independently of the  other, that. Europeans
have unwarily fallen into so many dificulties.
Besides the lands thus held; there are large dis-
tricts on the borders of different tribes which remain
uncultivated.  These Judgn 2 tautohe, or debatable
lands, are a never failing ¢ e of war till one party
has lost all its principal men, - The remnant then
cease to have any political importance, and are re-

s

o

—

‘duced to the condition of mere cultivators of the

R i1k PR mnaty = A R
W.Hanrdlkidistrc %Whiph_werc investigated last year

fubure ‘paymen rhave ;1N 2manyacases ib
%ﬁ‘—«:z«- 5 B
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soil, being contemptuously styled a foengd-#ai, or
offal.

‘When a dispute arises between members of the
same tribe, who is the lawful owner of a piece of
land, the principal persons on both 'sides. meet to-
gether to discuss the affair. Their pec_hgrees are
traced, and the ancestor from whom. either party
claims is declared. Any proof that an act of owner-
ship (such as cultivating, building a house, setting
pitfalls for rats, or erecting eel-weirs), was once
exercised without opposition by one of these ances-
tors, is considered sufficient evidence of the right of
his descendants to the land.

I have the honour to be, &e.

Epwarp SmorTnANWD.

To the Chief Protector of the Aborigines,
ete., ete., ele.

ENCLOSURE C.

Conomannin Hansour 10th Juwe, 1844,

S &;—Iﬂ reference to the
Goaey I -
by Commissioner Richmond, T have the honour to
bring under your notice the fact, thaf3

i AR MJN&W‘ :.-.'N o
vos torostod. to preven'f%ﬂ?élr oppositi

natives A o, or to

induce them to give favoiirable evidence.
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This I have learnt from natives who were parties
to such transactions, and who have made application
to me respecting the non:fulfilment of such promises.

It has also come Withif i knowledge, that the
evidence produced beforé Coinmissioner Godfrey
has, in many cases, been given under similar in-
fluence.

I am aware that this practice has prevailed to a
certain extent generally, at all similar investigations,
Its effects, however, must be injurious both to the
natives and to the claimants. It tempts the for-
mer cither to threaten unjust opposition, or to give
untrue evidence, to the injury of native absentee
proprietors, who may never have parted with their
rights. And as the Commissioners may recommend
the issue of Crown grants to lands, the title to
which rests on such evidence, cases will probably
occur, where the lands may be resold to persons
who intend to settle thereon; when, if any portion
is included which has never been sold by the right-
ful owners, or if any promise remain unfulfilled,

application will at once be made to the new comers,

who will then for the first time learn that their title

is incomplete.

Since all disputes arising from this source, will
necessarily be referred to you for investigation, I
lose no time if writing to you on the subject ;
and at the same time I take the liberty to suggest a
mode of removing these imperfections from titles
granted by the Crown, and of avoiding endless
trouble hereafter.

R

. ..

W e e, $
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1st. That a Protector of Aborigines be. s?nt to
mark out the boundaries of lands sold, dxstmc_tly,
by posts, &e. e, I believe, wo.ulc1 find no (}ﬁﬁ-.
culty in effecting 1115 with th.c aid of the nz_xtwes:
The claimant or his agent might be on .the spot; |
and such a description might thus be furmshe(% that
a surveyor would have nm:hilng(,1 tg do but to estimate
ntents of the area included.
th;zgly. That cognizance be taken by the Gox.rgné-
ment of all promises, of the nature nbm.re described,
and that Protectors of Aborigines be mstrucfied to
draw up statements of them, signed.by the ‘clixm:}r:t
or his agent, who made the promise, and by the
natives to whom the promise was made; so as o
enforce their fulfilment, before the land fall into
ds.
ne?’\’i}:;;r;ut some such precautions be ta.kctn, 'bef.cre
the issue of a Crown grant, I fear that serious diffi-
. culty and responsibility will result to the Govern-
ment.

T have the honour to be, &e.
EDWARD SIIORTLAND.

Top the Chief Protector of the Aborigines,
ete., ete., cte.
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By 7/ TRANSFER FROM Jj%osﬂ abo) MEsses. Hopekixso¥ axp Mrasrx, ' PUK‘A.R':EA 5 (?‘ :
@ I neresY tranefer over to Francis iiodgkinson and Michael Exan Murpin the whole ”nz; il !
Ly of my ioterest in the Jand deseribed in this Deed in the propertion of two-thirds to 30 Dl wbor. o
% Francis Hodgkinson and one fo Michael Egan Murnin far the sum to the formerof """ .
g (£74) Seventy-Four Pounds and to the latter of (£} thirt~ Prunds Sterling. Tran:fer to Hodgkin- i
9 Dated at'Kororarika Bay of Islands Thirticth Decr. 183, son aod Murnin,
e - Witness—C. Ilector. Joux ¥oesrER.
% I hereby. transfer to Michael Egan Murnin the one-fourth of my two.thirds interest o }f:gw

‘in the 1and herein described for the sum of £17.10.0 sterling.  Dated st Kororariks,

Bay of Islands 6th January 1630, Fras. IlopokixNsox. Part transfer to
o Witnesse—: L ' : o ' M. 2. 3isroin.
.-~ 7 C.Hector, o :
.+, - JohnFoster. . ' - _— : o
- A True Copy.of Original Deed and Transfers. . Ko. 832s. “r
voe A v Lo s 7 HL Haxsos Torrox, . O.LC
gton, 12th July, 187 AR L

ipnei=Deeds—No. 357,° - 1840, .
AR S2MorurAyy, prC., IsLaxps, AvckLasp Distrcr. - T " 11 Janusry,
K1 mobio'nga tanpata katoa e kite nei.i tenci pukapuka, na, na matou na te.I:;gggl

! ¢ ! . X A g Avcxraxp Disrascr. . 1
 he rangatira no Ngatiwharetuoi, na te Hava, na te;Waru he rangatira no Ngatijérau,: -~ - — : o
“ua Mata he rangatira no: Ngatipaos, no. Pouroto he rangstira no Ngatihurs, na Ngatai: MOTUTAPU,ETC, Coeis &
\rangatira no Ngatipara,”Liinea kia tukus, ki hokoua rawatia ki a Tame Koho aua. Thomss Maxwell U
sotu ko Otata, ko Motu Tapu, ko Blotu Hurakina, ko Motu Iorepapa, e tu ana ki te: 1 Otats. o RN
‘moana’ e buaina ana ko'Te Rapu, mona, mo ana. tamariki hoki, kia ngakia ranei, kia 2 Motutapn. - T
hokona atu ranei, kia ahatid ranei akeiake ake, o ko nya utu enei kua riro mai kia 2 %{.":: ;I;“‘h"‘" : s
matou i'a Tame Matakolie:mo aua motu? kotahi fekau nga kaho paura, e ¥ tupara, e (o 560 m'j"p‘y"‘
waru tekay”paraikete, Kotahi pouaka’pu’inaori, ¢ oro koroka, o rua tckau' hamani, Recript. -
rima potde; e rima tarzutete mangu; e;rima pili kauue, e rima horo. "Na tirchiamaio ™ - -¢" .
~matou tohu i te {abi'teksy ma tahi'o nga ra o Hanuere.” Ko nga ingoa enei o nga motu Endorsement. ~ -
ka utua pei @ Tamo Kobg;; Xo Motn Tapi, Ko Motu Iurakina Ko Otata.” Konga ute,. .23

motu ka homai o. Tame Kohe ki 2 matou e wa nga tupara.. Motu Horopapa.. -
: 2 s R - (Signed) x Te Imeaxer. - GMatal .
> Ko nga Kai Titiro— it "xTe Hava. . -». " '+ Pouroto,
Ko te tohu a Tarerch x Te Warv.: .

Rk TRANBLATION, 7 R s e
‘- Kxow all men who shall gee this Deed, now, we, Irirangi a Chicf of Ngatiwharetuoi,:
Haus and! Warn' Chiefs of Ngatirau, Mata a Chief of :Ngatipaoa, Pouroto &:Chicfof :Avc
Ngatihurs, Ngatai‘ a- Chief . of Naatipaoa do agreo to'lét ‘go and:absolutely sellito oo
Thomas: Maxwell: those: Islands’ Otata, Motu Tapu, Motu Hurakins, Motu Horopapa:; MOTUTAPU,ETC., _
# lying in-the nea'called. To Rapu for:him,and for_his children, to be cultivated, or sold;-Thowss Mazwell. = *
or,in'any other way disposed .of - by. him, for ever and ever. "The payment that we have 'Fourislands, .- .| "= =
reccived from: Thomas AMaxwell for.thoso Jslands are these, Ten Cnsks of Powder, Four, [660scres} - = - -
double barrel guns, Eighty Blankets, Oné Case Muskets, Six Cloake, Twenlty,c‘a'ftridge, Receipt, = - |
¥ Witness - - B

-+ boxes, Fire Caps, Five prs. trousery (black), Five gown pieces, Five Shaw _ ,

“. < y.signs on'the 11th day. of January (uo year montioned, T. 8, F.),“.# s R P
..+ Thesd "are, the names of the:Islands which Thomas Maxwell has paid for, Motn. Evdorsement.,: -

Tapu, Mota: Hurakina, Otats; and, theso’ are- the payment that Thomas Maxwell has. 5./ " 0 >

y ds, Four doublo Bacrel Guus, and, Motu Horopapa.

L

SR %% Tsvixp, xpar Wargexs, Auckrisp DisTRICT. ). oL soesnusty. s oo
Tax Native Deed being wanting, an extract from the Commissioners' reports and eris. Avcxiass Divrmer, .

he ﬁrxtheanngofthu cla.m.x is hercby given. - H. ‘1‘..‘ - HURAKIATSLAND. .
;. Claim 202. R L
... F. Robinson, Claimant. ©o- er .y ¢ Land Claims Gourt,
ST Auckland, Gth September, 1844, ¢ Coromandel.
being duly sworn, states: I appear as agent for G. F. Robin. Frederick Whitaker,

"+ Frederiek Whitaker, 1
7. son, and claim on his bebalf an jaland in the Firth of the Thames called Hourakis, - .




HURAKIA ISLAND sitoated about 2} miles IT.“;gpf the Island Motu T

continued.
(600 acres.]

A. Warbrick,

Tara,

1844

10 September.

Commissioner

- subsequently called in and cancelied, & new grant being issued to Mr. Reader G. Wood . ..

1862.
21 May,
.iCommissioner Bell's
report.

Onder of Court.

Godfrcy's report.. - Warbrick ; aud the Native Chief Adirangi (or Tara) has admitted an agreement made -

“found to agree with the survey, the grant was ordered .to be cancelled on the 21st May,

- will of Francis Robinaon, who had died since the Jate of the grant. . By the exemplifi-'

- Sidebotham,

b z

) I am informed that this
island was purchased by Thomds Maxwe!l, of Waiheke, on the 11th of January, 1840, /
from the Native Chicfs Adirangi and others, who received goods to the amount” of £40 {
steriing for it. In the same year 1840, or at the beginning of 1811, I was present and
saw the zaid Thomas Maxwell sign a transfer of this land to the claimant, G. F. Robin.
son. As Lis asent I deiivered this deed of transfer to Mr. Warbrick for the purpose of
baving the claim examined at Coromandel Harbour.

i
Coa
i

Freox. Worrtaxen,

Abraham Warbrick, being duly sworn, states: In the month of June, 1844, T re-
ceived from Mr., Whitaker a deed of transfer of the Isiand of Iourakia, executed by
Thomas Maxwell (deceased) to the claimant, (3. F. Rob‘uson, for the purpose of n_x;pearing
before the Commissioner at Coromandel Harbour, investigating this claim. The boat
that conveyed me to Coromandel Harbour was totslly wrecked on the heads ot that
harbour the night after my arrival, and this deed was then lcat, and has not since been
recovered. I made an appearance before the Commiesioner and stated this loss to him.

. A. Warsnrick.

Adirangi or Tara, a Native chief, not-understanding the natare of an oath, but :
declaring to tell the truth, states: Before the arrival of the Government in New
Zealand an agreement was made by me and other chiefs far the sale to Thomas Mex. -
well of the Island of Hourakia. - I reccived no payment for this island ; but before Mr.
Maxwell died he agreed to give me 1 double-barrelled gun, 3 casks of gunpowder,
10 blankets, and 3 coats. This payment I was to have received for Hourakia and -~ 7
Otata. Npatai and Ruinga did receive payment for Motutapu, Hourakia, and Otata, .~
If the above payment be now given to me I will relinquich all my claim on the Yaland - -
of Hourakia. . ﬁ’gatai and Runinga took from Mr. Maxwell w1l the payment ha had - -
agreed to give for the islands, my share inclusive; and, in consideration of this, Mr. .- " :
Maxwell agreed to give me the goods I have named, but he died without doing so. . P

- » Hexzr T, Crirkg, Int.

- Exrracr FrROX CoxissroNer Goprrex's REporr.

Proor .of the execution of a deed for the tranefer of this claim by Thomas Maz-". L
well has been given by 3r. F. Whitaker, and of the loss of the said deedby Mr. A7 -0 ©

in January, 1840, for the sale of this island to the said Thomas Maxwell; but, as the .
eaid Adirangi does not acknowledge to bave received the payment stipulated to be given -~/
to him, no grant is recommended. Epwirp L. Gobrekry, R j
- Auckland, 10th September, .'!.‘844. . Commissioner, '
The compensation promised by 3r. Maxwell to the Chief Tara was afterwarda’
given by Mr. Robinson, when a Crown grant was issued to him a.-tke claimant for 500 . .-
acres, dated 15th February, 1845, and signed by Governor FitzRoy. This grant waz .0

on 25th June, 1862, for 360 acree. H.H T

Exrracr rrox Cosrssroxer Brern's Rerort. -
o . In the Court of Claims. -':Z‘:' vl
In the matter of the grant, issucd 15th February, 1845, to Francis Robinson for the . . .
. - Jaland of Hourakina—Claim 202. . e DI
Taie grant was duly called in by the Attorney-General, and.the description not being -~ -

1862,
The claim for the new grant was put in'by the atterney of the trustees under the

cation of the will produced before me, it appeared that the will was made on the 27
July, 1855, whereby, after making certain dispositions on behalf of his widow, ke
devised and beaneathed all his real and personal estato to Mardy Robinson, William .
and Samuel Wright Wilkinson, upon cortsin trusts, Samuel W. Wilkin.- : -
son renounced tha trust on the 27 December, 1855, leaving Hardy Robinson and -
William Bidebotham sole trustees, who, in & formal notice to me, dated the 20th -7 .
Norember, 1860, claimed the new grant in their names as such trustess, - -~ " oo
The island was surveyed in 1861, and the total area found to be 360 acres. -The -
attorney of tbe trustees, Walter Grahane, of Aunckland, being authorized (under the -
power of attorney from the truatees, dated 20 November, 1860, and produced before: .
me) to eell, agreed, under my adrice and that of his counsel, T. H. Bartley, Esq., that- < &
the grant should not be immediately issued, but that an order should be made for itz . *
issue cither to the trustees or to auy one, a purchaser from them, so as to facilitate the -
dealing with the land under the power of tttorneg . o :
It is sccordingly hereby ordered that a grant be issued for the Island of -
Hurakis, containing (360) three hundred and rsixty acres, to Hardy Robinson - (
- and William Sidebotham, trustees under the will of the late George Frederick N
(zs) Robinson, or to such person, being a purchaser from them, us they or their
duly-suthorized attorney may, by writing under their or his hand, designate in
that behalf, ¥.°D. Bzrre, :

Auckland, 21 May, 1862. LC.C,




AT ,-5.’11..-‘

LS

SR Lot by g k TR
s b HE) H .
1m4 '\| J ‘r—u'- 130

.”F'" v G 5:§-_ll_ )

T was. ordered that 2

Co » ot .
.t " e
N

-

‘ 1‘4., Ml%
Dlstnct aioreszud (,ontfunmw 57';/4'47‘0— ﬂ&w/» I‘ﬁe& M—n& " ': :
A e '

f}, 3,14. / e f ; : ja:,ngl_ kl;O\xfll by.- ‘.

the names of Wm Wa/
) Moot

d to the (xovernor

be made and

W
]

- 18 bll(,

o




IL—AUOKLAND DISTRIOT.

S — Deeds—No. 12, .~ /" <

o @Mgtp\;ggpﬁ Taraxp, River Tasaxr, Avekraxp: Disrrier. &0, - oy

; Krxow all men by theso presents That we whose names nro- horeunto aubieritod Native
- Chiofs of New Zealsnd and owuers of tho Island aftor mentioned In consideration of ) w oo

: 2 Doublo barrelled Guny, 10 -Blankots, 2 Conts, 4 Canka of Gunpowder of 26 lbs, each, &% jJSLAND

4 pieces.of print, 12 Shirts aud 4 paira. of Trowsors paid:to us by Willisin‘Brown lato of L.William Browr

Edinburghi North:Britain .now ' reaiding nt-Waiomu :on*tho>Frith:of :Thames:in: New &% iy 8

- ..Zeoland -aforowld, thio: rovcipt-ihorguf i horeby acknowlodgod,iWe; by thess presonts: Recelp

do gront bargain. sell and convey'unto the said William Brawn and lus holrs.and assigns i

that lsland’ called ‘Motu Koron situatod nt the :entranco -of tha:River Laniaki. at-its

. confluénen with Prince Regent's Inlut in Now Zealand aforesaid, togother with'all ways,

- water,. watorcourses, tabood grounds, trees, -and olhor: cgotable: productions;’miues,

metals and other minerals, togother also with: the right®of: fishing:and,tlio*flshes in‘tho;

XGO.I.&NI.]'

COreeks and :Bays_ of mid ‘Island To hava“and:to hold the:saidJsland;
tenances thereunto belonging to him'tho said-William Brown his hoirs and:assign
the only: propor. ise.and:behoof of them-for dvor.¢/:And we the said’ Chiefs® heroby, bind

ourgelves-and ‘our suceo to warrant' the'said:Island. horoby sold‘and its appurten:
! the eaid :William’ Brown!and{his heira and-assignaAnd|will for'over defen
+“same against'all.persons havin px‘g’gmton’ding:g ‘have any:i : or.title: theroto,
..~ 'Witness wwhoreof theso ‘presonts’(aftoi’ having:beon’ duly. nd
" by James Palmer residing at Waiomu aforesaid) are
.and'Ngatai at:Waiomu-aforesaid:this 22nd:day of :M
Witneases the said 3 Yy nd Dr, John:Log

.}».".l; 03 A
RE3Ee

no pait and Bdward Othoeiof-Auckland aforednid § of the.other part: Whorea E:hro'.rl;:lp

tho auid Native Chicfs ero rightfully seized of the lec a?mplo and inherifanco of and in
tho pioce or parcel of Land hereinalter doseribed nccording to the Native Customs of . . -
Now Zonland Aud Whereas the nforesnid Native Chicts havo contracted with the said '
Edward Other for the abgolutoe sale Lo bitm of the said picce or parcel of land hercinafter
deseribod for ‘the prico or sum of Forly-two Pounds ten Shillings storling who hath
roquested - n 'canveyaneo thereof in manner hereinafier contained Now: this Deod
witneesoth that for and in cunsideration of the said sum. of £42, 10,0 Sterling paid to
tho snid Native Chicfs by tho:said Edward: Other: (the .recoipt whoreof they do hereby’.
jointly ard wsoverally acknowledpr) Thoy:the paid: Native Chiels; Kouwen: Kouwen and
Do Hira do and -émch- of “them: doth: herebyiconsay:aud iasaurountoithorenid; Edward {5
his:Hoirs and Asuigns for,ever; A1l that:pieco sor;pareol - of:land; o
o;Hillimid Mount Xobdoni:in’ the'vicimty:of/Auckland*aforeia
4 xty-iwo’acren, two.Raoods; oir thereabusuls; Bomidédion:ithono

Bwamp part/of/aud adjoining land: the'property of Mr: Dilworth 2,280 links on'iho:Eaat”
by land.tho property ‘of Thomas Heonry :780 links then by a line ruuning“West 30 links .-
-thon on tho Enat by the iaid -laud belonging to:the said Thomns Heury, 2,000 links on
- the Weet by land purchaeod from the Natives by Joseph May William Iart and S8amuol .-

. Allon. Wood 8,500 linka and on the South by land the property of, Alr.:Robinson 1,080 -
. links be the anid sovoral. admensurcwents a little more or less and as tho same are more -
‘particularly delineated -in:.the Plan- of .the said pleco or parcel. of land’drawn in the :
margin: hereof -Togother .with “all .the - rights :mombora and :appurleunnces. therounto’ .
belonging or in any wiso appertaining - And the said Edward Otlier doth hereby ded- -re ™
that no Widow whom ho may leave rhall Lo entitled to Dower ‘vut of the said picco or
arcol of land hereby convoyed or auy part thereof  And they the: eaid Native Chiofs
N ouwou Kouweu and To Hira do and cach of them doth horeby covenant and declare

VYor, 111.—50. . :
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L ) 4 B " .
MATAHAREHARE Moni, ¢ rima nga Kabo paura mo te wenua o Mata.hare-h: o te rohe ki g‘uhi erun

contizy ea mairo nui atu pua nobiuohi atu ranei ko tetabi robe n. awa wai maor iki
_Bf}z‘god::’;] ngoa ko tetahi robi ¢ rua pea mairo me hawe ki uta. . oreko Tid m
;{e'“zpt _ A ¢ wakage ana a Tamaki ¢ mea ana kua riro mai ki a iz nga utu kua wakahuatia
. zei ho tino utunga mo te kaainga kun korerotia nei ka tukua katoatia tans wabi te waki
ano hoki o oua tamariki, o ona’ wanaungs ki taua wenua, ka riro katos tenei wenua ia
Tame Kohe, a ka tukua tava Tame Kobe kiz noho kia hanga ware kia ngaki kis hoko
ranei § te wenua katoa i tetshi wabi ranei o te werua ki te ritengs o vga tureonga
tikanga o Ingarang’, Tirobia hoki ka wakase ahau a Tamaki ka tubitubi i taku Ingoa -
tobu ranei i te ono o uga ra o Akata i te tau o to tatou Ariki kotahi mano e waru rau o
toru tekau ma jwa, ka wakarites tenei ki te tikanga 6 nga kupu a ekore u wakahengis
mo terabi ho nohinohi ka tubituhia te iau ki te ritenga o Ingarangi kahore ago hoki he
riten V'me idtgnei taima i Nu Tireni.  Signed Taxuxr =~ ..
itnessed by Ko te toh r
Willian Thomas Feirburn. © fohu x 0,38 Bamuwem.
John Ralph Wilson.
A True Translation.
Georax Crirxe, . T
No. 657, A True Transcript of Certified Copy of Original Deed and Translation. .
. H. Haxsox Trzrox. -
VLG Wellington, 17th October, 1874, R m -
180, T Deeds—INo. 354.
& November. Eif_m,}s_&? xziz Brver Warrnara, Avcxtaxp Distaicr.
Arcrraxp Durarer. Kra mohio nga tangata ka'fon e kito nei § tenei pukapuka, Na, kua tukua knua hokona
MOTUTHE, rawatia s matou e Wiremu Hoete, he rangatira no te Iwi Tutu, e Nukn, he rangatira 6io
.. Fairh Ngatitai, e te Manako, he rangatira no Ngatitawaki, ki a te Pepene taus wahi wenua, ko
- L @2 . Motu Ihe, me nga mea katon i runga i raro o taus Motu, e tu ana ki ta awa ' rere atu’s
ana ki Waitemata, ko Hubuaoui te ingoa o taus aws, me tana moana auo hoki: mons,
mo ans tamariki, kia ngakia ranei, kia hokona atu ranei, kia ahatia ranei ake ake ake; s
{300 acrer.] ki to taha o taua Motu ki te marangai, ko Waiheke, a ki to taha ki te tuaraki ko Motu
%‘;p&. ;bh te taha ki te Hauaurn ko Motu Kores, a kei waenganui 6 enei Mota ko
O e, . L . et g - *a Ty e
Beceipt. " Kua riro mai ki 2 Wiremu Hocte, ki 8 Nukn, ki & te Manako, hei ntum
Motn, mo Motu The, Kotahi kuao-kan, be uwa, e rua tekau l’arsikete',"kotahiot:;ul;
Titaba, kotahi tekau Karaone, kotahi tekau Ho, e ono. Kaone, e rua Paraiketo. Wero,
kotahi tekau ma rus Paipa papai, @ ono Kohus, kotabi Horo, ;.0 . 0857, - -4 o
Tirohia nei o maton tobu kua tubituhia net i te rimio T2 ra o No itetan
to tatou Ariki Kotahi mana o warn rau e toru tekaa roa.iwa.. Nu Tireni,
L " Ko Wrrtnay Jowerr.
Ko nga kai titiro enei— Ko te tobu o x Nuxr.
Heory Tagler. - Kot tohu o te' X
Ko Hemi Pepene, Tk : *
Hoane Pepene. ] -
Rawiri.
Tamati, .
21 March. , . ~ Teywsrxe yoox W. T. Fimstrx ro Hexiy Taries.
MOTUIHE,  REcErvED of Henry Tayler Esq. the sum of two Hundred pounds storling as & £all -
Transfer to . Tagler, and sufficient payment for all my right claim or titlo to the Island called Motu The in -
Witness whercof I.set my hand this twenty.first day of March One thousand Eigh
nz.sin& Hundred and forty. - . . L -«szmux Troswas Firenver. -
7- The signature of Ngatai given on the 11 Ma to this Deed on toceipt of Te
Becript for £10, Pounds., gn < el giren & R yl 858 {hig Peed on mlgti‘)t Tea
Witoesa—F. D, Boll. e
O Nommbe,__ Ko all men who shall ses, thi aTn‘mFeug' ie) Willsm Foriof 1
xow all men who shall ees this document that we (viz) William'Jow: ' T
Achn_;_Dx@cr. Tuta & Natire Chief, Ko Nuku of Te Npatitai s’ Ns.ﬁvo) Chief, ancquee"lgiiT;osz : K
MOTUIHE. Ngatiwaki, also & Native Chief bn.re parted with and aliensted for ever that Island
W.T.Furbors,  kuown by the namo of Motn Ibe with all things either ahore or below appertaining to
the before named Island (which Island is situated in the channel running into Waite.
mata known by tho name of Huhuanui which is also the name of that part of the Frith) -
To Mr. Fairburn and to his children either o cultirate, to sell, or to disposs of in an:
[300 acres.] way he pleases for evor. On tho Easlern side of the abore pamed %n!md ma{
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Whikeke, on the Northern Motutapy, on the Western Motu Korea aud in the tontro of

3lece cbasede Afdse ThLa * T

.. Na ki mohio nga tangata
- iawatia e maton e Takapuns, o Pahata, & te Aws, nga rangatira o

+ “puns kei te Eongutu awa o Wai
: Em‘riro

. .. mata timata ai, baere tika tonu i reira ki lepahnu ki te pito ki raro o te one ki waho amnﬁaﬁu.

* ‘s wa tekau o to tau o to tatou Ariki.

" +- - dollars, - -But the paymenta yet to come

“: sad Mp, Tayler is the whole nn:i

1

LY ] W‘

v :en Ten He eé, 'I‘;~u H « Six Gawns, Two Red blankes, twelve I?u:ch pipes, ) MOTUIHE
:er%nlnm ’po:s amllonu shawi. oes our marks written on the Fifth day of November, in contizuad.
the year of our Lord Oue thousand eight bundr=d and thirty.nine, New Zealand. -

Thesa are thu Witnesses— ~Eo Wirtrax JoweTr.
Henry Tayler. - N The mark of x NUxr.

.. Ko Homi Pepenc. The mark of x Maxaxo,
.. Hoani Pepene.
" Rawiri. ‘

. True Translation. B
< Hewey T Kewe

X jwinal Deed, Translation, and Trausf'ex;. o
‘-'QT‘.?G' Copy Of,Q?gnﬂ o, Ty S H. Haxsox Torrox. Ko 215,
. Wellington, 11th Jangary, 1879. - o.Lo.
; Deeds—No. 355. e
. Taxaro~a Brocr, Norrz SEoE, AUCKLLSD DIsTRICT. . -~ 18 November.

PR katox e kit fiei i tenei pukapuka, na, kua tukua, )m; hg‘k&m‘ Ave D )
taua wenua ko lake. = o\ onina

) 8 Honry Taylor. -

rua tekau nga moni Tara. ~ Otiis B:;No’r d:P"'*‘-

itemata, ki & te Tera bei kninga mony, ake, ske, ake. A
i & ratou hei utn taonaha mo taus wenua B Otiis
E ono tekau takitshi moni Tara, e rua tekau nga Pu msori,
8 otahi tekuu Tarautete, Kotahi
Kotahi tekau Eohus, Kotahi
uns Tupéks. Kotabi tekan ma waru o Nohema ito Kotahi
a1 @ iwa o nga tau o to tatou Ariki. Maraital, Nu Tirani.

o Signed Ko te tohu o TAxARUNA X.

+ PUEATA. - Rl

O 1 Awa x. -

ko era atu ntu mo mari iho, ka y
o rua Tupars, v Tas tekau Paraikete, o rus tekan Puks, K
tokau Hate, Kotahi tekaa Titaha, Kotahi tekau Karaone,
tokau Kaone Kotahi rau

s kca Korerotia pei i roto i teei pukapuka '
ko Takapuna kei to kongutu awa o Wl:ite- ____7._%__ I
pito o te on« ki roto ki to awa ki Waite. Beceipt Oepayment, - -

s

- Na, kua Firo mai inaianel ng3 ‘uta ka

5 koa riro rawa stu i a_te Tera te kainga
“mats, a ko nga rohe enei, Ko Wanauata kei o

te witn 2 Mache kotahi mano'e waru rau [1,000 acres.
. Sigoed " Ko to toba o Taxiruma x. .

7 o7 cPomama. 7 -

T IR AWA X

. mutu ai. Na, tirohia nei to mato ingoa. .

- S g - s 18 Norember.
Kigw all mén who shall ses thia:document that wa (viz.) Takapucs, Tuhats, and To - X :
Awa, Cliefs of that Tract of Jand called Takapuua (Iying at tho entrance of the Biver Avezzaxo Dnaicr.

. Waitemata) have alienated and sold to 2. Tuylor the abovs named land to bo Xas:qued, : —
by him for ever, for which e bavo received 2s an éarnest for the said land Twenty o o o -

; : are Sixty dollars, twenty muskets, Two doubls enry doyleh o,
ty’ Spadey, Terl;d‘(‘ . Trowsers, Ten shirts, Ten  Becelpt for deposit. -
nis, Une hundred 158, Tobacco." s
Sigued ; The mark of TuTAFTX

barrelled gans, Twenty. blan Cor
- - Azey, Ten Hoes, Ten iron Pote, Ten go

<" . oL The Witnesses— > T
¢ ~'W, Thos. Faitburn. ¢

" Sarah Fairburn. " * 7

i . el s Elizaboth Faicburn, - . Lo e T

"7 Now wé hara this day received all the payments before mentioned in this document

i gglg‘,p«?!m:o%;’of the‘abovq‘n{mod place cglled ';t';hn »

08 T
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TR VA WASEAMRL AJULR LG A sssiaiva, No. 123,
—— 1L. lhmox Tunmu T n-

Y 1A
0 te; ulutuhmg ' xtenei pukqua l to. tokzm .mn TA0 IIunuoro i'te tau 1846,
hakuomnga mo mutou;mo u{gu JRangatien-mo:nga: tangata o Ngatipaos o Neati Tai—s:
to whakndetaiiga'eno. hokjio: ¥ nkotcxha, :(Charlos; untor,Mclntonh) mona;;iNa;
Rnngatxm mo nga tangata'o Ngatipaon o . Ngati * Tai ngatangata i nga Motu e tulutuh ;
:nei ki rotoi tenoi pukapuka na ka whakanonel‘aun rangatira: mo ana tangata ki te- hoko
Ilnlmtonhn (Chailes; Hunter; McIntosh) hei:utu;mo;ngamoni B torysLY
gasPauna;kotahi toknu' NG, Pm-mkoto,\ otahi: pihl;Karoko B wa; Hipi#
kotahi'te lnpx Toraw‘hi ‘kn Tio att: no' ki nga aniatim mo nga tangats; no Konei ka hoatus
- nef ka tuku atu nob kia, to: Maketolhia“(Charlos:Hunter:McIntosh): ite' Xai tuhitubi.o to
“ whara ruri whonua, ki nia; ki .ona uri tho. nke tonu ato; § aua Motu & Tarataron rnua ko
‘Kahakaha me:nga men katoa o runga ranei o raro i aun Motu pa pu ki te Pakoatanga o
to Taii i tetnlu fabni tetahl tt\hn o .lnuu. Motu.-- anohin o mntou jngoa me o mntou tohu.

14 )

Dnv:n-Inﬁei:firoter.

Kua. riro mai i'a’ ‘matoi: nga men. katos kua tuhituhia nei ki roto’1.texict pukapuk
ara ko nga utu ia mo Tarataroa, mo Kahakaha,: nga motu kua.hokona o matou, £52
moni 10 P’ Ig.nrmkole '1.pihi Kariko 4 Hipi 1 Hipi Torawhi.: Koia matou ka tnlutuhx ‘ne
i maton mgon me & matou. tohu'{ tenei ra to 8 o ngara oOkotopu 1845. - :

Fire’copy of the Ongmal. ;
p’. 1N B Fonau

Tiais Deed writtori on the- 12th of ! Ja.nuuﬁ ril ) the connent:
u;tho, Chiefs..and eoplo ;of ;the- tribes . gah% i and"Ngnhtm, the-corinent: also ol
harlea: Hunte, Melntosh: ’Im own:behalf, 2i\Wherenn;the, chisfs ‘and!people: ofAN Bzl

s bipho, ‘and;Ngatitai:aro; thi,owncrs of jthe: Idanda mentioned-in; thiy.deed, they; the: md ..,4\ p

Jehiefa'nnd eople dojhbi'eby Aoiisent:to}soll: thére:Talands: to: Chinrlea: Huntor cInhnh%E sored,
pnymentifo_r, £82}Oub.wi0,mankgtu.\-1 piecolﬂahco :Bheop: (owos *1"Sheep (ra.mg i

_dehvemd th‘qfq@mfa‘fa dﬁtri g *‘gThoreforem' givezng to‘;Chule: unter:Molnitosh

,Olorkpf_x;gh ‘Sorvey; OMEe vothim: jd}tohis ‘succensors for ever thokeTalan

rataron’and: shitpaiabove oribelsw hdne-Iul \dR:Fifht

i
_;\a*Wxtnﬁn‘i’ouﬁ'zii‘m LK. ‘ﬁﬂi’ha'\-kﬁ

."".'}. m f 'if:".‘
vl %ﬁ tﬁ*wfﬁjgi

L IR o i wfémmm 3‘“ 1% W)si/'m‘lf

R tiﬁ*si*” Kito: RS Ko PASA Rasliorh no‘ o ﬁﬂ:.:.-.:.yﬁf G
aitemnatakan huom'haho kla hokon, km tukuu kia. lIoh opA ‘Ropihana to,wnhl@ MA‘I‘A :
.wamm i humna kg Wuiataru ki taxgohiakin pivutia o Hohapn Ropil anf-g uup uri i mu

“1845-48) ©  AUOKLAND DISTRICT. | e o408 (.

and described unto the said Thomas Power his heira’ and assigns for over In W‘tnm KOHIRMJNUI

‘ whoreof tho snid parties lmvo hereunto subscribed their names. . - . ,

s . Te Kawav x. Keewe, ©- . ,’f eontinned.
ko TE mrA x. Turos. Powen.. -
Bigned by the above namad Nahve Chicfs in the "

preasnce of Thos. B. Conry 8olr. Auckland
b the above deed having been first road over

end explained to thom by Wm. Webater

Moerchant Auckland—




SR

ragn e

Cooen—edl Sl e b B T

Bo SFET e .
cAPaxired 4 ur or Wamees, Avcxnasp Dismmicr. - 20 Augart,
setun et 2 § bone puksyaka i to 29 o nga rao Akuba i te tau 1944 te whaka, ATCTATRDITHOT. . L
D taagai | o Mt o ubiabi oo B ros o ey 325 B0a o Npsbipon, PAKKTIAISLAND - |
i 1 i ki rof nei pukapuka , E1
Rangatira me sua tangata ki te hoko i tenei Motn ki apMakl:tohinei‘u‘:ugxgie;:uu? C‘ e -
. MUt . ey e o : . B
me o matou tohu, o ST e P
Signed Nairar, NOAKETE.
Rurvoa. " Tarxo.

I tuhitubiz nga ingos me nga tohu o egei tohn i
te tirohangs g y
. Signed Hoko, o
Witnesscs— Coon
(Signed) Wm. Brown of Auckland Merchant.
s (Sigd)  Robert McLeod, Interpreter. . - .
ipt. Kus riro mai i a matou nga mea katoa kus tuhituhis nei ki roto ki temed
s g1 mea to .
g;ﬁ’:::; kc:E ngz{_ utu ia g:of “ Ijaknéua " to Jotu kus hokons atu e matokllx :e ::al. g:k]:x
a &c. [same as before]. “Koia mato ituhi nei i i
matou tobu i tenei ra te 291 te tea ISH.ma ? k2 tubitahi nel 1 o matou gonmo s
Kai titiro [as sbove], I o
I certify this to be a truo copy of the original.
- Taowas S. Forsarrs.
Teassmaroy,

Signatures [u.ubé‘_'ej.

1840

29 August, ‘ . X
Seormo———— Tns Deed written on the 20th of Auzust in the tainin -
SA;.A;‘:P;A"D of Mr. MeclIntosh on his own behalf, Now, the chg:ef::iﬁ*e'o(;?enof N gfgpn;]::,tt};: co‘mw:ent )

. clotos of the Island herein mentioned—theso chiefs and ple do-hereby conaent to sell t?:ri:

Irland to Mr. McIntosh as payment for £20 cax , 10 Blankets, 1 Cloak 1 package

[70 acres.] Tobacco which are herchy mven to the chiefs and i3 i :
i pecple.  Therefore,. th S
: .<Ir. MMeclntosh, Clerk in the pSnrvey Oﬁgem’—to ehrieu;saz;c:iwg v}:x: i
successors for ever—that Island called “Pakatus,” with all it containg above (the .~
surface) or below. The shape of this island is delineated of the other side. As witenry

[Signstures]

up and surrenderwd to

our names and marks.

[Witnesses.] R
Recoipt. ‘W bare receired all the articles mentioned in this d i A
tho Island ealled Pukatea which we hare :old—£2(;naal;uloc§?;nt£:;x;,élh:&‘im en:afga: g
%‘gﬁgm‘. Therefora we write our names and marks ot this the 29th day in the year
: Witnesses.] : i '
- . . Signature:
No. 50. A True Transeript of Certificd Copy of Origial Deed. . gn‘ ..] :
BC. Wellington, 10th July, 1850. _‘II'.- I’?Auox Tcnﬂ.," ‘
18 September, - Deeds—No; 3L~ - :
e — Ersoxt (Lixp 17), Masvrac Rcun, 4;:(:::43» Dtsmc;. e =
Tris Deed mado the 1Sth day of Scptember in the veir 1544 Betweon Weteri & Native

EPSONM, Chief of Waikato New Zealand of the o rt And Willi bom i
Willism Potter, vicinity of Auckland New Zealand afurcs.—gs au'E* ot of the ooy ey Spom fa the
23id Weteri is rightfully seized of the feo siml;ﬂa'aex:se e bartanon of Bor Wheresa the

price or sum of Fifty Pcunds Sterling who Bath requested a C th in’
. wanner hereinafter contained N, itnesss and i oo
Receipt for £50. of the said sum of £50 s::rn]ing‘pg;:l :Si:hcné:?d?é::::ieth e ey e nideration
receipt whereof s bereby scknowled He the =
t}:te sxid 'Willl‘iam Potter hin beirs and assicna’
) sitnato on the Manokau Road in the vicinity of Agekland J 3o
E?;;ndz:n?s} ] g«}u;mn;en;en; I};xefixy A_cmt’l'v{‘g_?oda';rnd Tw?nty-ﬁre ;e:c.i:u‘-rfamgd?:ﬁ: ‘:‘%r!t,z .
X oy land belonging to William Hart 1,650 feet, O ngiog
to the wi Weteri 1,354 feet, On the West b;: the hcfiznk‘:n&}!ode mlt,gslggge:e Lo:gxgg

the South by land alse the property of William Hart aforesaid 1,650 feet be the sxid - |

several admeasurements a little wore or less and as parti 1
deligested in the plaa of the aaid piece of land drawn ti:o t'ﬁaem mxrglc am'nmbexm.‘:m.e pﬁbcﬂ:{g
with all the rights members and appurtennces thereunto belonging or in mofenne
appertaining  And ike said William' Potter doth bereby declare that oo Widow whom he
may leave shall be entitled to dower out of the w\{ piece or parcel of land bereby
cooveyed or anypart thereof And he the said Wetori doth ereby covenant and
declare to and with the 2aid William Poiter his beirs and assigng that Hé the said
the Natire®custom of New. Zésland“wood richt full power

e

Weteri hath sccording!

inhoritan . s .
parcel of land hereinafter described accordiug to the ';\'a%::-e ce:zg;:n gfui\’teh: :ecd::; S
And whereas the said Weteri hath contracted with the seid Willizm Potter for the * -

absolute salo to him of the. maid piece or parcel of -Laad bereinafter deseribed for the

by the aaid William Potter (the' :
'WI?eri doth bereby conver ént: -
All that Peee or parcel of land ¢

Assigns tu. ever. Iz Witnesa whereof the said parties heréto have heree. o _eribed EPSOM
their names. Werert his x mark. cvntinued,
Sigued by the sbove named parties in the
presencs  of Thomas Edward Conry of
Auckiand Solicitor and Joseph Merrett of
same place the above deed having been first
read over and explained -to the said Weteri
by the said Jozeph Merrett—
Thos. E. Conty, Salr., Auckland.
. Joseph Merrett, Interpreter, Auckland,
A Truo Copy of Original Deed. No. 45.
, I Haxsox Toxzox. —
Wellington, Sth July, 1550. - rC
Deeds—No, 32. 1945
18 Seplember,

; Rexroeza (Taxp at), Ersox Roap, Avckraxp DisTrict.
Tais Deed made the 15th day of Soptember in the year 1344 Betwcen Weter and ACeRRAxD Disruic
Aperabama Native Chiefs of the Tribe of Ngati te Ata of Waikato in the Colony'of New  pemugra,
Zealand of the one part and James Dilworth of Auckland in the said (slony Accountant Jymmes Dilworth.
of the New Zealand Banking Company at Auckland aforesaid of the ofaer.part Whereas i
the aaid Weteri and Aperahama aro rightfully seized of the feo simpie and inheritanco
of and in the pieco or parcel of Jand hereinafter described sccording to the Nativo
Customs of New Zealand And wherec.; the said Weteri and Aperabama hath contracted
with the said James Dilworth for the absolute sale to him of the said picce or parcel of
land hercinafter described for the prie: ot sum of Seventecen Pounds Sterling who hath
requested a conveyance thercof in mannur bercinafter contained Now this Deed wit.
nesseth that for and in consideration of tho said sum of Seventeen Pounds sterling paid
to the said Weteri and Aperahama by the said James Dilworth (the receipt whereof is Recript for £17.
hereby acknowledged) They the #aid Weteri and Apcrahama doth hereby convey and
assure unto the said James Dilworth his heirs and assigoa for ever All that picce or

arcel of land situate on the Epsom Road . the vicinity of Auckland aforesaid contain-
.o perches Bounded on the North by land Boundaries.

ing by admeasarement Ten acres and thirti- A
belonging to Mr. Graham 1,690 links On the East and North East by land belonging to (11 seres.}
Mr, Sommerrille 434 links and 1,390 links then again on the East by land the propert
of the said James Dilworth On the West by tho Epsom Rosd 24 links, and on the Sout
in » line bearing East North East and East 3,156 links by the land of Mr. Mofftt bo
the 2aid several admeasurements a littlo more or less and as the same are more particu.
larly delineated in the plan of the said picco of land drawn in the margin hercof
Together with all the rights members and appurtenances thercunto belonging or in any
wise appertaining And the said James Dilworth doth Lereby declare that no Widow
whom be may leave shall ho entitled to dower out of the mid picco or parcel of land
hereby conveyed or any pact thereof And they the maid Weteri and Aperabama doth
T ecYnm to and with the said Jamea Dilworth his heirs and assigns

hereby covenant and d
that they the sid Weteri and Aperahama hath according to the Nativo Customs of New

Zealand good right full power and lawful and absolute authority to convey and sssure
the said pioco or parcel of land hereinbefore mentioned and described to the said James

Dilworth bis heirs and assigns for ever. In witness whereof tho said parties hereto bave
hereunto subseribed their names, - . (Signed) 1"&{; WErERT tona x tohu.
: S ERAIAMA. .

Bigned by the above named parties in the gore-
: sence of Thos, Edd. Conry of Auckland Soli-

. . citor and Joseph Merrett of zame place the

" .- above deed having been firat read over and . .

- folly explained to the eaid Weteri and | : )

. Aperabama by the eaid Joseph Merrott— - ’ Q\
. . {Signed) Jozepn Merrett Native Interpreter Auckland.
. i (Bigned)” ! Thon, B. Conry Bolicitor Auckland. . P
D&QVQ certify the within written Deed to be a true and Correct Copy of the Native

. D. Sxuazu J.P.
- Smtox Ricg, Settler, Epsom.

A True Transeript of Certified Co-py of Original Deed. - . " Ko.48.
- - H. Haxsox Turrox. Y.
Wellington, 14th June, 1530, -G
DeeﬂS—NO. 33. N 1844,
Mor~r Hopsox (Laxp XEs8), Avckoaxy Drsrrrer. M
Avexrixo Dormey

. Trrs Deed made the Eightecnth dsy of September in. the yoar 1544 Between Weteri a

. Natire Chief of Waikato in the: Colony of New Zealand of the one part And John Scott MOU*-T ROBSO!
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TIRICOHUA
continued.

Reeeipt for ... £230

21 June, 1853,
recoived cashh 200
£430

PeSebing

1853.
16 June.

PONUI ISLAND

nans ZEDUN BT A 2 AR,

PROVINGE OF AUCKLAND, (1853

t}m ]J}Jom(\]dnry of Rama Rama, the plan of this land being endorsed on the other rido of
this Deed. ‘

Witnoss our names undorwritton—

(8d.) { 1Inpimana, Piripi, Korcopa, Tarahutai, To Warihi, Parn.
teno, Poorn, Ropiha, Patara, hami. .
Diripi, Yotaua, te Urupa.
" Witnossos— ’
fb‘d.) A. Sinelair, Junr.,
3d.) John White, Interpreter.

‘Wo have received two hundred and thirty pounds the first instalment on ti:o 9th
day of Juno 1853 also tho second instalmont boing two hundred poumds on the 21st da
of June 1853 agreed in this Deed honeo our now writing our names on this day the Htn
of Juno for the first instalment and also for the second instalment on the 21st of June
in tho year of Our Lord 1853.

(8d.) Piripi. (8d.) To Mata.

» To Warihi. » Bpiha,
» XKereopn. »  Lpiha, Junr.
» Paratono. » Te Urupa.

.»  Terchuai. » Te Hemara,
» Paora, » Natuma, :
» Hapimana. »  Moiti to Rewarowa.
» Ropiha. » Noki.
» Teurupa. » Hona te Tali.
,» Patara, » Te Hamara.
» Hami. , » Ropiha,
»  Piripi. . » Patara.
» Potaua. »  Rawiri,

‘Witness to signatures—
(84.) Andrew Sinelair.
»  John White, Interpreter.
» John Grant Johnson.
A True Copy of Original Deed and Translation.
: H. Haxsox Tunron.
Wellington, March 19th, 1875.

o ¥

Deeds—No. 229.
Isuaxp or Poxuy; Avckraxp DisTricr.

S
Ko TE TUINTUIINGA o tene puknpukn."i' to ra (16) tekau ma ono o Iluni kotahi mano
waru rau o rima tekau ma toru te whakaaetanga o Te Karamu raua ko Te Kupenga to
whakaactanga ano hoko o to Kuini o Ingarani mona, na ko Te Karamu raua ko Te
Kupenga, nga rangatira i Lo kainga e tuhituhia-nei ki tenei pukapuks, na ka whakaae
nei raun ki te hoko i tenoi whonun ki'a Kuini Victoria hei utu ‘mo nga pauna, ko tahi
rau ka hoatu nei ki n maua, nokdnei ka hoatu nei, ka tuku atu nei ki a Viectoria te
Kuini o Ingarani, ki te Kingi, Kuini ranci o muri i a ia ake, ake, ake, i taun whenua me
nga aha non iho, aha non jho o tenei kainga koia in, ko nga katon o te Motu o Ponui,
‘kahore ano i riro i mua kia To Pakeha, & ¢ whakane. ana matou ko to whakaotingn tenci
ano Po Nui, ki to mea kn heke te tangata ki muri nei ki tenci motu, kin maua to whaka-

" aro-kua tubituhia to ahua o te cneone ki tua nei.  Tirohia.

Reeeipt for £100.

1853.
16 June.

AUCKLAND DISTRICT,

PONUI ISLAND

. Na oe Kanaww, -
I to aroaro o— Kurexaa,
John Grant Johnson, Interpreter. .

Andrew Sinclair, Junior.

Kua riro mai i o maua nga tangata o Ponui nga pauna kolahi rau kua tubituhia
nei kiroto ki tenei Pukapuku; Koia maua ka tubitihia nei i o maua ingoa i tenei ra to
16 o te marama o Huni i te tau o to Tatou Ariki, kotahi mano waru ran ma rima tekau

ma toru. :
Kana mv,
I to aroaro o— KvyrE xaa.
John @rant Johnson, Intorproter.
Andrew Sinclair, Junior.

: TRANSLATION.
Tne Wniting of this is on the sixtcenth day of June ono thousand cight hundred nnd
fifty threo the agreement of Karamu and the Kupenga also the agreement of tho Queen
of England for herself, Now we Karamu and the Kupenga the owners of the land
agreed to in this paper wo agreo to sell this land to Queen Victoria in payment for tho
sum of one hundred pounds moncy now given to us, for this we give and mnke over to
Victorin tho Queen of England and to the Kings and Queens after her for ever and
ever this land and all that it muy contain this being the whalo of the island of Ponui
nol beforo sold to Frropeans wo ageee that this shall be the lust and final scttlement for

KA




' S K Z

18563] AUCKLAND DIS_’OI.‘ILICT. » 2847

o~

Tonui, if any man or men disputo or clnim tho whole or part of Ponui wo undertako to PONUI ISLAND
sottlo with him or them. ) ! ot continued,
Tho sketeh of Ponui is on the othor side of this Deed. ’ -
Witness our names—
(8d.) Kanarv,

Kvurenaa.

B T P T vanurr s ey s
R T )

7

R

Witness to xignature—

2 (8d.) John Grant Johnson, Interprotor. -

& Wo the owners of Ponui have received the sum of Ono hundred pounds as agreed Recoipt for £100.
i to in this paper honco wo sign our names in this the sixteenth day of June in the Year

i of our Lord one thousand cight hundred and fifty three. .

e v s (8d.) Kananv.

i Kvureraa.

Roohess

gt mety

‘Witness to signaturo—
(5d.) John Grant Johnson, Interpreter.

A truo translation.
(54.) Jowx Wirrre, Interpreter.

A True Copy of Original Deed and Translation.
II. Haxsox Turrox.
Wellington, September 10th, 1874.

517

- Deeds—No. 230. S 1883,
Maxaantps Brook, Paraxuna, Avcknanp Distrrcr. . © 13 July,

Ko re Tomrrvmzaa o tenei pukapukn i te Tekau mn torn o nga ra o Hurai i te Tau Avexraxp Distnrer.
kotanhi mano waru rau o rima tekan ma torn to whakanetanga o matou nga Rangatira o — '
te Akitni, me te Uriika te whakaactanpa ano hoki o to Knini o Ingarani mona, na ko ~ MANGARIPA.
maton nga tangata i to kaingn o tuhituhia nei ki tenei pukapuks, na ka whakane nei ki
te hoko 1 tenei whenua ki o Kuini Vietorin hei utu mo nga Paunn moni ¢ Toru te kau
: kua homai nei kin matou, nokonei ka hoatu nei, kn tuku atu nei ki n Vietoria te Xuini
= o Ingarani, ki to Kingi, Kuini ranei o muri i & in ake, ake, ake, i taun whenun me ngn
aha noa iho, aha noa iho o tenei kainga, ko onn rohe koin enci kei te Hauaurn kei to Boundavies.
Raina o Kuini i te Ahn, ko to te Hauraro ka tika iho i to Rainn i to Ahu tapoko non ki
1o ngahere o puta noa ki te awa i to ngnkinga a Roka i Pokapu, ka marero ki te awa,
ka haere i te awa, kopiko non haere tonu a kotin noatia ra ano e te raina o te rohe mai
.o te Marangni, vo to Marangai he men orn mai i to raifivo Kuini a ‘)utn noa ki to awa,
te rohe o to Tonga koia kei ngn rainn o Kuini o te Pamu o te Apershamn, ki te mea ka
tohoe te tangata ki tenei whenua, ma matou to tikangn ki a i, kia ratou, kua tuhitubia
te ahua o te oncone ki tua nei. ~ Tirohia.

)
A

ipmady

L ;‘
2

HUNIA TE NAWE. ‘ Te Rovu x his mark.
IHAKA, TARATAU, - Witness—
HEME TE NOOMI. ‘ ‘A, Sinelnir, g

I te aroaro o— '
Jolm White, Interpreter,
Patrick J. Hogan, Draftsman, Survey Office.
- Witness to signature of to Rou—
John White, Interpreter.

Kun riro mai i a2 maton nga Pauna moni ¢ Toru tekau kua tubituhin nei ki roto ki Recoipt for £30.
tenei puknpuka; Koin matou ka tuhituhi nei i o matou ingoa i tenei rai to Tekau ma :
toru o ITurai i te tau o to tatou Ariki, kotahi mano waru rau e rima tekau ma toru.

* IMUNTA TE NAWE. Te Rov x his mark.
TIAKA ROIAU. Witness—

HEME TE NGOHTI. ‘ A. Sinclair.
T to aroaro o— : ;
Jolin White, Interpreter.
Tatrick J. Togan, Draftsman, Survey Office. S
Witness to signaturo of te Ron—
N John White, Interpreter.

TRANSLATION. 1853.

Tnra Dreep entered into on the thirteenth duy of July in the year One Thousand Fight 13 July. _
Tundred and fifty-three, the consenting of s the Chiefs of the Alkitai and Uriika Tribes, syt
alse the consenting of the Queen of Xnsiand for heraelf, Now wo the owners of the “TCRFAND DISTIICT.
Lan® deseribed in this Deed ngreo to seil to Queen Vietoria for tho rum of £30 now  mMANGARIPA,
givenso ux, wherefore wo now give and make over to Victorin Queen of England and

her eirs for ever all this Liand and all thereto belonging, Tho Boundaries aro these, Boundaries.

On the West by tho Surveyor's line on the Ahu, on the North coming down from to

Ahu in astraight line entering the Forest and continuing in a dircet lino until it cutn

the Mangaripa ereck at Pokapu near the cultivation of Roka going into the ercek and

continuing in tho xame until eut by the Eastern Boundary, the Bonndary on the Bast is

the line as cut by the Government Surveyors following the kame on i diveet lino
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. 8. Estabe of quentleuts to ane vested in Pnblic

i Preambla. ' Trustes, who may convey to Her Majesty.
,;.,, 1 ShortiFitle. - ¢ 2 T IOH J4. Certificate of title to issue to Her Majesty.

Uncle.uned slmres of. purchn.se-money to be | " 5. Moneys in Public 'rust Office to be puld to

puid into Publm '].‘:usl; Oﬂxce. . clmmmﬂ:s on demand. -

E . Tn;la.

3 Tobert :

lB‘)l: .NU. 27 —-~l:uuzl

A.N Aur Lo vcsL Lhe LLLLle Baruu- 1shm(1 m Her .Ma.;es(,y 5'7'.
s [24¢h Ocfober, 1894, ;

WILLRLAS bhe ]E[auburu or Llu,le BLuuer Island, oonhumnvr 8ix # iy
" thousand nine hundred and sixby acres, more or less, situated in the -
. Hauwraki Gulf, in the Land District of Auckland, was, by an order of
.. the Native Land Court dated the eighteenth day of October, ono
:bhousand eight hundred and eiglly-six, ‘declared to be the property of ;
Rahui- te Kiriy- ‘Penetahi, . Ilivin Taukokopu, Paratene te - Manu,
- Ngapera Taiawa, - Ngawhare Tainwa, Hone Paama, Kino Rewiti . ¢
Rapata Ngatiwai, To N upere Ngawnka, Heunare te Moananu( i
Ngapeka, VVL Tainwa, and _Pita .l\lll(), and a certificate of title under 5
“Phe Lend Transer Act, 1585,” has bebn Jdssued to the meesmd .,-:’
Nutbives for the said island : . ‘
And whereas the said Rahui fe. Ku‘t, .leue(;a.hx, and Pdrutene to
Manu, purporking to -represeut the whole of the- hereinbefore-named
owners, hy a document dated the fivst day of July, oue thousand eight .-
hundred and ninety-oune, agreed lo dispose of the said island to Her.:':?tg ]
suid Majesty for the sum of three thousand pounds: : MR
. And whereas. the said Tenetuhi, Hiria Taukokopu, - Paratene te }“.”"
M dnu, Ngupera Taiawa, Ngawlmr Taiawa, . Hone Paama, Kmo—-.a;
- Rewili, Rapa,td. Ngatiwai, Te .Nupere Ngawuka, Wi Taiawa, Pita: 3%
-~ Kino,-and the  successors duly appointed by the said Court to- the- §
..share or interest ot the said Lenare fe Moanauui, deceased, have duly %2
: ‘executed a deed of conveyance bo ter said Majesty of their respective -v
shares or interests in the said island, and, excepting the three Natives .3
hereinalter next mentioned, have heen pa,ld their respective propor- 5
. Lions of the aforesaid sum of three thousand pounds: .
s ey ~ And whereas the said Tenetahi, Kino Rewiti, and Wi T aiavd” TSR
T 0 have not received their proportionate bluues of such sum, amounting’; »,?E:"
: : to three hundred pounds, one hundred o.u(l htty pouudb, a.ud one - i%e
Jhundred PUlllldb 1esyeubwely
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And whereas the’'said Rahui te Kiri and Ngapeka have not yet’
executed the deed of conveyance, or accepted their proportionate - -
shares, being one hundred ponnds each, of the consideration aforesaid,

~ alﬂmuﬂh aocordmg to Native custom and usages they are bound by the
“terms of the docnment dated the first day of July, one thousand eln-ht
* hundred and ninety-one aforesaid : - i
And whereas it is desirable to complete tha aforesaid pmclnse in -
the manner hereinafter mentioned :
: " BE IT THERETORE ENACIED by the General Assembly of New
. Zealand in Palhament assemblefl and bv the a,uthouty of the same,
as Follows - ikt N -
o The -Shork 'I‘ltle oE thls Acl. 1s e 'I‘he letle Bm‘rler Ishnd Shortlele o
. Purebnse Act,; 1894.” SR T
* 2. Itshall be hwﬁﬂ for the Mlmsl.er nf Tnnds to canse to be p’ud chlalmed shares .
-info the Public Trust Office the proportionate shares of the purchase- § }’;"{,’(‘,‘,‘3"?“'&"0"““"
“money aforesaid of the said 'l‘(*nol..lln Kino Rewiti, and Wi Taiawa, ,Pubho Trust Office.
- amounting to three hundred pmmds, two hundred pmmds, and one’
- hundred pounds respectively, and the receipt of the Public Trustees
“for the same shall be a full and suflicient discharge and release to Her *
“said Majesty as to the respective interests of the said 'I‘eneh]n, Kino
Rewutl, and Wi Taiawa in the said island. | i : : .
. The shares or interests of the'said Rahui te Kiri and Noqpeka. Tistnda of dissen 2% |
in the said island ave hereby vested in the Public Trustee, and on pay-. f;enp'ifbtl?f?r}:u::::fd
men! to him by or on behalf of the Minister of Lands of such sum as who may convey to
may be assessed in manner provided. by section fourbteen of ¢ The MerMeiesty:
Public Works. Aects Amendment .Act, 1887,” as the value of the - . ..
interests of . the said Rahui te: Kiriand ’\Tg'\pelm, in- the said island,- 7= S
the Public I'rnstee may . exemll, a onnveycmce in fee-srmple ol“ the
same (0 [Ter said Majesty. - - ~ S
. The District Land Registrar may thereuprm cancel all prevmus Certifionte of title
vnh'-ea on the Land Transfer . i egister respecting the said island, and f\‘},:fj;};“’ Her .
issue u certificate of Litle to Hvr said Majesty for the same free from
all em-umln-an(,bs
5. All moneys paid into the Publiec Trusk ()Fﬁoe nndu- this Act %foneys in Publ
shall be invested by -the Public Trustee, and shall be paid out of the p.?,:i.”i,?ﬂ‘,t.‘;ﬁ?n't’;’m
~said oflice to the persons resjicctively entitled thereto on their r(,spm'llvv demand.
applieation ln bhe l’nhlw ’I‘msfcu in lhaf hehalf. . o TR

W I- LELINGTON: Printed nnder nuthority of the New Zenland Govmnment, ) ;e ] BT
. by Sasoen Coyran, (}uvemnu.nt Printer.—1894. _ . , e
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. Foder Four hundred Pounds - - ~Z§ ; g /, ! . Horeta his 2 mark. i Te Pukeroa his x mark. t
sl e Two hundred and forty ponnds . - - 40 @ - R Mef§e - - Trumihia her x mark, ** Te Taumsta his x mack. ey «
i .E’ashli' S:;gls;nﬁ: S:‘t:w? .iy-fire Pounds Sterling ... 25 0 % 3 %xtﬁn hnhx n;nrk. ' . gﬂﬁh%!l;l?“ﬁilma::n}h ! : s
o . - - 200 T: \:::Tbx?x ::anrrh ) Pakao his xumnrk: o
£160 0 0 Te Mariri his x mark. ~ Rapa Rapa hia x mark.
—— E Rita kis x mark. ~ Te Moana his x mark.
being the full consideration within menhoned to be paid and giren to ua for tha Sale g:v;:‘ix: iﬁr:‘uk T %:}moh?;sxxm?:;k.

Te Ngahue his x mark. B
Sig-ned sealed and delivered the samo having been
just read over and faithfeily explsined and
seemingly perfectly understood 1n our pre-

and converacce of the said Land and hereditament within mentioned. .

‘.?

+ 13 October, (Enclosure in No. 348.) . pence— v
“TAPUKAPURA. . :’au’:n rxo: Wittnae Wesstse 7o TooMas H:r.nn. : " th&sa- D ': B .
Thowmas Hellyer. eneRT acknowledge to have received from 3r Thomas Hellyes, tbe aum of O La L enry Downing. A . )
f:gf;ed a:emi :l:xttyl'af’:::t lStr.rlmz.;ta:s p;yment for ti! the land m!enﬁoned in tb?l de:; James Beckett. . .
to return the above mounf;gwﬂ?;clmtze by the British Gorernmen£-I hereby promisa Bext remembered that on the Twentieth dayof Mm-ch One thouaand EnghtHundred Paeahh szeum )
Peoeiptfor £160.  motice As witness my hand thxx % n ral: at 10 pr. cent. after written” Six months® sod thirty Bight quiet and escz:ubla possersion and full seitin of the Taland and here- takea
e oriod o il by BeSd Bl T Hoot il Thei g et b e U
James George. oy B within nathed Chiefa and by.them delirered to ‘the within nxmu{ Willism Abercrombis
Jamés Simpson. Jeremiah Nagle an; William ’igﬁster t&lc;r heirs andIaxéngns :ceordtng to the pnr?orh
‘We hereby certify that PR " and hnamtentm meaxing of the within- written. Indenture in the preaenea of us
asy of nm’ibir?s&{\e'i‘uci’iin?"rm' = trus copy ofthe origon desd this 161 + whoi gimes iro hefemio subseribed
‘Jaiaw G ALD. 14 V{Te berg'by aekn:;leﬂge tzd hl‘v; _Bece!redon tbe %nvo}' the d:‘:e qu ﬁ;a mﬂ;n vv;rrleten Beempe.
. ot . i enfure of the within nam illiam " Abercrombie Jeremi o and William -
XNo. 109, A True Tr:n:cnpt of Certified Copy of Origisal Deod ;n:.iﬂ‘. Transfe 'g-eb,gseé. t}bra nﬁnomz ’ﬁf,“ti“edm”&,af og g"ﬁb"‘f“"’f axé:e'}y ﬁags'i%“é” doag: .
0LG. : e, o uns sty 120 Blankets s of Powder 4 casks of Tobacco arion -
Wellington, 13th Norember, 1578, Boces 140 Belts 6 doten Shirts 20 Hoes 20 Hatchets 40 Axes 20 Coats 14 paira Dfawers -
' ' 12 Chesta'40 Iron Pota 10 Superior Cloakn 30 fice Blue Caps 6 Superior Coats S0 Shawls *.
30 pairs Trowsers 15 bars Lead 80 Spades Cash £20 Sterling teing of the value of -
E . Eleven Hundred and forty Pounds Sterling and being the full consideration within
T ) menhonedto‘bepndsndgwento.  th Sa! dOunveymceoi themdhhnd
m!sss. :mEeEds-NO' 249, sad hmdnhmentl mt!nn direct T Sriie A
_ foMaeh 4,-0X GREAT Bankiex %R ORTRNY Avexvazp Dis R
AcexusoDurascr. Know all men b{ ﬂzeze sresents :m Py and ecals are] he:eu‘”“{"'“mnw sabscribed &

CREAT BARRIER }7°
1SLAND

(Part o).
Aberews
and Wc;:‘r. Tagn

Boundsries.
(20,000 seres] -

purtenances whatscerer nnto tha said. Willtam Abererombi Jm&' urchased from’the
o !‘Ag:m ?fb:ter their beirs and assigns Being lawfully and ri %tfnlly : .fh i ] mb&” nenmmufé 0] nghto huas
#aid Island and premises and baving good nghund full powu;am{‘ ’ £o bave receired for I!II{Q anly ‘thiee pm*oi bhukek
Tomato deer lni Turihrmgx being eren sdmitted

Chicfs of New Zealand for and in iderati ¥ Seve!
rchandize mentioned as endorsed on the back be:;:f 'i:n';%? ib?;n.ﬁ"dﬂn::;’s:g
bundred and forty.nina Pounds Sterling to us paid by William A :
in the Colony of hew South Wales Eaquire Jecamiah Nagle Coxnm&n&et‘of lbe
|Inp Neptune of Li ! and William Webster now residing at indel btrbonr

New Zealand afo before the sealing and delivery of nﬁ‘bm Pl
whereof is hereby ukncwledged Harve :mdg each and erery of us
gﬁh sasigned mlmednnnnd eonre;l'cd and by these presents Do and éschind

in sell 2svign relesss and eon t p said
crombi J’era:::? Nagle and Wilhm Webder' "hm“eraxécunh &;nﬁmm m«i
sasigns All that Inland called Autes or Big Barrierlying in 36,4 Soth lititdde 175 ; ‘:0
East longitude containing by estimation twenty thonsand acres mors orkua e
the said leland or any =re thereof is bounded situnted known. ol
jntended s0 :h be'oodl e cr tdnth all ways waters watorcourses paths Wapgapous, therice
e ) m‘u m [

tapae mK:&l : m: prk mgl:: r:lt‘d:e;dtmber trees and all other vegetal . Excepting from’ the abote Limita tha land which belongl to Pukema., wluc!l it
belongiog or in anywizo appertaining To o "W:E&‘f"”? 0,410 823 o b“"ld’d In front by part of the inner barbour, ‘on ona wide by the
belangiag ot in saywi tbo eriyining Togother also. :*m ‘tuninterrapted ; K - Kaisraara, on the otherside by a place called. Kotnku and on'thé back by a placecalled
us and each and every of us and of our Tribes of in or to the ram tbaugg : s v ﬁ" i 'e‘."‘““" f
To Hare znd t> Hold the mid Island. with all the righta’ pnmega!:gnahgu acd- ope

and set Native

.. Tux portion u!mxtted 1 hive been 5ol is the Ixnd lymg northnrd o! t!ae foﬂomg @_M. .
" -. baupdazies, including the Tnlznd of Kaikoura:’ Commencing at Akatarers, on'the West, Teport. o
= Cosst;a little norts. of the small & u3, to Papskuri to ‘the & thence o
o' Msungipiko, thercs to the southernmost bay'of tha_ inter barbour, thence along the; 3
‘shere fo & stresm éalled Wairahi; following the windings of this atream it. t'hmmﬁn
sn esxterly direction to the suzmmit of the. rmga ‘of. hills, then along the suminit of #aid -
rangs nortborly to Mount Hirakimatsy ‘thence 8roeeedmg ia & ndrtherly ‘onria”
alo! thenmmicfﬁcn‘:feuflxﬂhtol’;mmd bmemonﬂ.emnthbank f
: the same bank of Wangapous to the pes, * 5%

a‘&

onr own right to grant :nd convey all and in hr T

@ appurtenances thereunto belon gng for onrﬁu- mde:mtou -hn-ns i mt!a
nnd or erer defend unto and to the stid of the mid William Abcrerombis: Ju'umb
Naglo and William Webster tbexr heirs and All the mid lemdtaapranna" o
Bereby granted sud enfecffed by us againet nl{ aad erery ot
whomacerer claiming or to claim the said Island and g:emaec
prmledgu theretoa ining and that it shall be jawful for tbe
mbte ‘z;:nh to'bo‘?dd g'llnm ’g'ebtter thieir heire nrhm;u d'a '

ﬂ:m and en m mﬂm

denial from heneefor aed for ever. oy wiibont my =t h

by Tara
ﬁ!nﬁ‘}t
S
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1814] - AUCKELAND DISTRICT. _ 469
TRANSLATION. 1o Dlsu,b

e the undersigned hereby aureo to sell to James Harris aud John Hatficld, theic heirs -7 7eceroner:

and aesigns a portion of laud situate at the source of Waitemata for the following Acczrarp Distarer. .

ayluents; i
P 2 good Coats, 2 good prs. Trousers, 2 Cloaks, 3 pr. Boots, 6 Shirts, 4 Caj
Chests, 2 canisters Powder, 2 boxes Gun Caps, 1 shot belt, 1 Double Gun an
1 Native Mat, 2 Pistols, 1 Ifat, 2 Waistcoats and Eight Pounds Cash £8.0.0.

The boundaries of the =aid land are as follow. Commencing at s Creek by the
Landing place, thenee along the Kaipara road to the ridge Kaiakeake; thence along the
above ridge until it reaches a tree in the ereck * Whatati,” running through the creck to
the mouth and thence along the windings of the creek Te Rapgitopuni until 1t adjoins
the creck at the Landing place. .

Theso boundaries are correct. We have received the payment herein specified. Boundaries.
And as we are agreed hercupon we affix our names and marks on the 10th of December [2470 ncres.]
ic ‘the year 184+

18, 3 Cedar RANGITOPUNL
d Case, Harris and Hatficld.

:/\ ~.

[ Witnesses. ] (Signed) [Signatures.]
True Translation. ‘
C. O. Davia. v
ATrue Transcript of Certified Copy of Original Deed and Translation. Noe. 90, 190, and 191.
, H. Haxsox Ttr-ox.
Wellington, §th October, 1550. PC

Deeds—No. 52. 1844

\WHaNgaranaranra axp Oxrcre Brocks, Grear Bameiee Ispaxp, Avckrtaxp 12 December.
Districr. Avcxiuxp DisteicT.

Kxow ull men by these Presents that we tho undersigned Native Chiefs of New Zealand WHANCAPARAPARA
do by theee presents in conrideration of tho paymwent hereunder mentioned to us made  An3 cxurr.
sell convey und assure unte Frederick Whitaker of Auckland Gentleman aod Jobn Frederick Whitaker
Peter du Moulin of the same place Gentleman All that piece or parcel of land situate and:J. ¥ du Moulin.
on toe Great Barrier Inland commencing at a point about a quarter of a mile to the v

North West of Three Ielandr called arcending thence the ridge and runoing over w,undaries.
Hirakimata from thence over Maungapiko from thence to Wakatautuna on the North [3500 ecres.)
Eaxstern coast from Wakatautuna to Owana thence to Matakoroa and Tokakuku from

thence to Mota Manu from thenee back to Otena from thence te Potekorus from theoce

to Raihea on the South West side of the Island aud from thenco to the atarting place:

And all the land iucluded in the eaid boundaries and all and everything thereon standing

and being: And alsn all thase Three Small Islands above mentioned near the com-

mencing point and all the right and appurtenances of all kinds whatsoever therein “or

thercon being.  In Witncess whereof we bave hercunto subscribad our names this 12th

day of Decernber 1844, :

Signed  Toxarr Waga. The mark of x Raxarriaga.
The mark of x Tozxaa. The mark of x Prraxor.

T AvIRIRANGE

gnéd by the abore named Tomati Waka in the
_presenco of (having been first duly inter.
Tpreted)— '
: Signed Henry T. Clark, Interproter, Auckland.
Signed  William Webater, Mercury Bay, Setiler.
Signed by the rbove named Toenga and by the
above named Tomati 'Waka for his Wifo
Arikirangi in the presenco of—
Signed  Wm. Webster, Settler, Mercury Bay.
Signed Henry UL Clack, Interproter, Auckland.
‘Signed by tho within named Rangitink! and
Piraagi (having been first duly explained)
in the presence of —
Sigued C. Daviy, luterproter, Auckland.
Signed  (iilbert Mair, J.P., Wangarei.

Consideration above referred to.
Ono Cutter completo with Dingy.
Two (2) Casks of Lowder,
Ten (10) Blankets.
Ono (1) Cont.
One (1) Cap.
Ono (1) double Larrelfed Gun,
Ono (1) picco of Print.
One (13 piceo of Tobaceo, 16 inches long.
One (1) pair Oars,
Received Trom Mewsrs. Whitaker and du Moulin on account of myseclf, my wife Recoipt.
Arikirangi, Toenga and others for the Land mentioned in tho within Dcec{ 10 Blankets,

Sat e L B LI SR (r:"“w:'a1ﬂmrssz&.;mm

AT
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470 PRI-EMPTIVE CLAIMS. [1844

:

i WHANGAPARAPARA Ono Caat, Ono Cap, Ono pioco of Print, 77 1bs. of Tobacco, Ono pair of Oars and Cuttor
: AND OKUPE and Dingy complete. Signed  ToMarr Waxa.
continued. Signed Te Anixivaxar.
! Signed in tho presence of— ,
Sigd.  John Kellins, Auckland.
Sigd. John Merett, Auckland. .
John Prinee his x mark, Native Chief.
1844, Received from Frederick Whitaker and John Peter du Moulin in consideration for
18 December. our claim to Land named in this within deed, (20) Twenty Blaukets (2) 'I'wo double
— barrelled Guns 2. Two kegs Powder 20. Twenty Shirts 3, Three Coats 3. Threo pairs
Second payment. Trowscrs, 2. Two Cows this 18th December 1844.
his x mark Tars,
‘Witnesg— his x mark PerorEnu:
(Signed). Henry T. Clark, Interpretor, Auckland.
(Signed) Wm. Webster, Settler.

1846, ‘Received from Frederick Whitaker and J. P. du Moulin on account of myself and
10 June. wife Arikirangi, Toenga and others for tho land mentioned in the within deed being

~ payment (in lieu of & double barrelled Gun and Two Casks Powder) the sum of Ten
(10) Pounds sterling. : ) Sigd. Tonarr Waxa.
Iu my presenco having been duly explained by me— -
Signed Thomas Spencer Forsaith.
Auckland, Juno 10th, 1846,

A Truc Copy. 12th Sepr. 1846, oo
' TFrepg. W.-Merrnax, Solr., Aucklan...

Receipt for £10.

1846, ‘ . (Enclosure.)
(12 Avguete Deep oF ParTiTioN OF LAXD 81TUATE ON THE GneaT Bamrrien Isnawp.
GREAT ' BARRIER Iyi13 deed made the 12th day of August in the year 1846, Between Frederick Whitaker

, I’nrtitliit-:)\fnl:[\);n g5  Oof Auckland in the Territory of New Zealaud Gentleman of the one part and John
botweets Messrs, Feter du Moulin of the same place Gentleman on the other part Whereas by a‘pres
Whituker and emptiontcortifcate bearing date th.o@nﬁdﬂyﬁofﬁﬂ%vcmbeﬁ}‘,ﬁl&bﬂ igstied in favour of the . -
Du Moulia. said Irederick Whitaker Ilis Excellency the Governor consented on behalf of Her

_Majesty the Queen to waive the right of pre-emption over not more thart Onaithonsand
Yifive hundred¥Actes of Land situate on the Great Barrier Island commencing about half

a mile to the Northward of Wangaparapara and running across the Island and extending
“to the Southward within a quarter of a mile of Okuki, And Whereas by finotherpre:
¥ omption certificate aleo bearing datd the 3rd day of November 1844 issued in favour of
" the maid Jobn Peter du Moulin Ilis Excellency the Governor consented on behalf of
Her Majesty the Quecn to waivo the right of pre-emption over not more than: Two?
Ythousand neresof land situate at tho Great Barrier Island commencing about one half
‘mile to the Southward of Wangaparapara, and extended around the South Head by tho

“ Bast Const until it mcets a lino from the West Coast, And whereas by deed poll bearing
dato the 12th day of. December 1844 Tamati Wnka and other Native Chiefs therein

~ montioned did Belf convey and assure unto the said Frederick Whitaker and John Peter
du Moulin All that pieco or-prrcel of land situate on the Great Barrier Island com-
moncing at o point'about:a-quarter of a milo.to the North West of throe Islands called
ascending thoncethe-ridgo and running over Mirikimatadrom thenco over Maunga-
piko, from thenco to Wakatautuna,on:the North:Eastern const from Wakatautuna tu

Owano, thenco -to Matakoroa and ‘Pokakuku,: from:thence to Motu Manu, from

thenece back to Otens, from- thence to Potekerun, from thance to Raikon on the

North West side of the Island, and from thenco to tho starting point, and all

the Iand included in tho said boundaries and all and’ everything thercon standing

and being. And also all thoso thrce smnll Islands above mentioned all which said

Jand is included. in the -description given in tho two ssid pre.emption certificates

1. Whangoparapara. abovo recited And whereas all that piece or parcel of land mentioned or described
(1,600 neres.] in tho pre.emption certifientd firstly hereinbeforo described was purchased for and on
behall of tho wnid Frederick Whitaker, and all the other land to the Southward thereof

included in‘and conveyed by the said recited deed poll being part of the Innd mentioned

2. Okupe. or described in ihe pre.omption certifiente secondly horeinbeforo recited for and on
2,000 acres.} behalf of the eaid John Peter du Moulin, Now this Deed witnesseth that the said
Frederick Whitaker and John Peter du Moulin have therefore mutunlly agroed to mako

a partition accordingly of the said land so conveyed to them as aforesnid by the said

2] recited deed pall of the 12th day of December 1844, And that the said Frederick
: Whitaker shali havo and enjoy to him and his heirs for ever in soveralty All that picce
or parcel of lnnd mentioned or deseribed in thoe pre-cmption certificato firstly herein-
before recited, and that the said John Peter du Moulin doth hereby release anid convey
the said picce or parcel of Jand to tho suid Frederick Whitaker his heirs and assigns
And that the said Joho Peter du Moulin shall have and enjoy to him and hin heirs for
over in severalty All that pieco or parcel of land being the remsinder of tho szid land so
convayed ag aforesnid to them tho aaid Frederick Whitaker and John Yoter du Moulin
by the said recited deed poll of the 12th day of December 1844, and being part of the
land mentioned or deseribed in the snid pre.emption cortificnio secendly hereinbeforo
recited, And tho snid Trederick Whitakor doth hereby relense and convey the said

RIS o)
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pioco or parcel of land to tho said John Petor du Mnu\in}, his hoirs aud nssigne. GREﬁng{:gng
jtnens where i i 3 ibod their names.
In Witness whereof tho paid partics havo horouunto é;it;l:itgslb%lm;)g LA Istanp
Signed Jxo. Per. v MoULIN.
Signed by the anid parties in Lho presenco of— -
Sig.” Tredk. W. Merriman, Soir. Auckland. ' ‘ (

Sig.  William Tool Gilbord, Painter, Auckland.
A truc copy. 12 Sopr. 1846.
e con l Treng. W. MERRINAN, Auckland, Geont.

tified Copies of tho Original Doeds. Nos. 69 and 70.

\ True Transeript of Cor o
A True Tranzent 1. Hansox TurToX. P.C.

Wellington, 22nd July, 1880.

Deeds—No. 53. s Dw.u.'
RaxoiTorust Brock, Rivern WAITEMATA, AUCKLAND DisTRICT. : 2 Decenoer.
Avckraxp DIsTRICT,

‘and entered this 12th day of December 1844 Botween

“Musconaxvun of Agreement made’ it
.John Moore of Auckland Printer and tho Native Chief Twu Tari. Yhereas tho snid RANGITOPUNI.
Tau Tari agrees to sell and {he said John Mooro ngrees to purchase all that piece or John Moore.
sareel of land situated ghout one mile from the head of TJoln Fair's creck about three oy ang acres.]
miles from Stewart and Breton's Saw Mills and about sixteen miles up tho Waitemata ~ )
from Auckland for the sum of Eighty pounds worth of Slops, Bedding and other
clothing and the reeeipt of which by the Native Chief Tau Tari'is hereby acknowledged, Receipt.
“and in consideration thereof the said Tuu Tari hereby conveys assigns and nssures to the

gnid John Moore and his Exceutors Administrators and Assigns for ever the aaid piece~

of land hercinbefore deseribed and particularly sct out in the plan ou the margin.

TACTTARI.

Signed by the aaid Chief, tho samo having been .
firat read over and expluined to him in tho

presenco of—
Wiremu Watene.

Witness—
. Meurant, Intorpreter. '
A Truo Copy of Original Deed. No.71. ...
1. Haxsox TunToN. P.0.
Wollington, 23rd July, 1880. ' \/
Peeds—Io. 54. 1844.
: 14 Decembor.
Oxarurens Brock, RIver VAITEMATA, AUCKLAND DISTRICT.
AUCKLAND DISTRICT.

Kia rongo ¢ nga tangata katoa ki enei hoatutangs, ko matou Rangatira v te bapu o —
ino whakaaoe ana kia hokoa atu ki & Ierometa Patariti, ki o Hoera OKAHUKURA. .

Npatwhatua o L
Yamiera Poraki, ki o rus uri 1murt iho i 3 raua, moe o raua o pat ai, totahi wahi whenua Partridge and Polack.
¢ iakoto ana ki te taha maut o te awa o Okahukura. KXo pga eka o taua wahi e wara a

Pt nga T, S00.

1 whalkane ana ano hoki matou kin hoatu. kin tukua atu, kia hokoa atu, ki a
Keremeta Patariti, ki & 1oera [lamiora Poraki, ko o raua uri me o raus o pai ai, nga
-pakau katon, nga asun. nga wai, nga kohatu, me ngu wmea katoa o tu ana, o takoto ki
runga ki taua whenua. kit oti atu taun whenua me uga mea O TURER ki n Keremeta
Patarizi, ki a Hoera Ilamiora Poraki, ki o raus urii tenei takiwn, amua ske nei, s, ako,

Boundarics.

ake, ake. .
Ka timata i to awa o Okahukura, i to taukaka o Kikitangino: ka huri
{800 scres.]

N kabs, B
ki tun ki 1o ritenga ake o to awa o To Marama : ka rohe mai kei toawa o To Karaka, ka

eko ki te kaka o runga, ka huri, o ka makere ki to awa o Npaliokowhitu ; ka haere iroto
i to awa o Paremoremo, d hono noa ki tera robe ki te ritenga ake o te awa o Teo

Marams.
Nga uta, 5 tupara, I koroku pai, 11 parnikete, 2 kaho paurs, 2 waiputa paura, Receipt.
9 wehikoti, 2 ponaka tingara, J tara moui. :

Kua oti te whakabaere nga kaha o tenei whenua ¢ Pzaora Kawharu, e Keremeta
Patariti, me etahi atu tangata, tua keria nga kaha ki to poks, o kua whakaritea etahi
kaha ki te kara, he mea whakatu. . '

E whakano ana watou ki te pono o tenei tubitubinga, a ka tubis o matou ingoa ki
rara nei i tenei ra o Tihema 14, i to tau o to tatou Ariki 1944,

: Tlanoxa tona x ‘ohu. Paora tonn x tobu.
Kasraka tonn x tohu. Havragr x.
{Tarchi Reweti, Kni whr kamnori, Akaraua. .

Hunga titiro—

: 1. O'Neill. -

A. Grey Chapman. .
Juo, Commen. ‘

9 Qupara e envi T e takote ahe nei ka riro wai

¢ e ——TC T G LN SV
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, “ | Hone Maia. " Herewini Nganiho. ~= N 4
‘ / . | Paoa Taui. . .. Ratima’ Pene. ,
: Ko te Nga. o

Witnesscg— < .
Sd. Thaka Takanini. 0(2514)
Sd. John White, Interpreter.
Sd. H.T. Kemp,J.P.” - . | o
= True Translation. - '

DoxaLp nICLEAN' Chicf Commxssxoner. ’
Barch 19th, 1856. )

A True Copy of Ormnal Deed and 'lr'mslatxon

II Hussor; Tunrox. R
Wellmgtqn, September 213!5 1874. '

e as—

I

———

185t . Deeds—j-No. 239.

August. RANGITAWHIRE Bt.ocr:, ?Gnu . LAY Aucxnum strmcr.

b Distmor, 1~0 MATOU e mau ake nei nga ingoa e tino whakase ana.im hokoa atu.kia tukua atu kia
" oti rawn atu ki a'teKuini o Ingarangi- tuku ilo ki nga Kingi me nga Kuinj i muri i a
ITAWH! ia to matou whenua e takoto ana i te pito whakarunga o te- motu o Aotea ko te ingoa
[EARR‘ nui o taua wahi ko Rangitawiri-E ‘whakase ana- matou’kia riro:atu nga rakau nga wai
" nga kohatu me nga men katoa o taua whenua-a ka'whakaotia rawatia’ atu taun whenua
me nga wahi tapu katoa me nga mea katoa atu; o runga o raro mo nga:moni e rua rau
erua tekau na me riro mai ki o matou ringaringa i tenei: tn.kxwa kotalu ren- erun tekan
pauna a kia pahure nga marama kotahi tekau ma rua ka riro mai ki'a‘matounga toenga
kotahi rau.. ‘Ko nga- kahn. o tenei.whenua’koia’ énei:—kn:timata i Tokakuku i te tai
_marangai ka rere i roto i tatia awa’ “eke moa-ki:te Wharau: tae noa ki.ta to Waka Kaha
~ ko te Karamu te ingoa, haere tonu mai i reira. ka wahia te tihi o te Ahumata marere noa

| ]

i, 9

ki tatahi ki Raihoa haere fonu i te paenga’ tai tubono noa ki te timatanga ki Tokakulku
kei roto kei enei kaha'nga wahi i fukua’ km. Apaknrame i-mua, a, ko .nga mes i ‘mahue i
te utunga o‘mua kun riro mai i:a‘matou’i teneira’s !'E,whaknae tika‘ann matou‘ki-enei
Sy korero no konei ka-tuhia; 0 matou’ ingoa me:nga; tohu, ira Akubatate rua tekau
o ma ono i te tau o to'tatou’ Amkl kotahx mane.waru rau :
Hunga Titiro— = =
. C O. Davis, Intcrpretc Am kland.
for £120,

tlment Kua riro mai i a matou i runga i nga. rmu:mmza ‘ot Mukanm ‘aua‘ko te r-Kepa hei
" utu mo te whenua'ka’oti'té'whakahaere® nga’ kaha i roto i tenu pukapuka kotah: rau o
rua’ tekau pauna ko te utu matamua tenei. '
Akarana, Akuhata 29, 1854.

Himiona Purau. . Taimona te Kakarl.
te Ngahohe. . Hemi Mano.
~ Te Matewaru tribeliving } Hakopz \Vakarewn x. Meri \Vahnpuku X.
at Coromandel. Patumoana. Ko te ingoa o Paora te Putu na

' Natanahira. ' Himiona i tuhitubi.
‘Hohepa purehu x tarakihi.
‘Bunga Titiro— '
C. O. Davis, Interpreter.
Archd. A, MacInnes, Clerk N. Land Purcbase Dept
John P. Ruswell Settler, Wairarapa. -
Joln Grant Jo'hnson Dist. L. Comumr. -
H. T. Kemp, J.P.

LO,. PROVINCE OF AUCKLAND. 11R424



1854-56] - AUCKLAND DISTRICT.
TRANSLATION. | - ~18
We.the undersigned hereby agree to sell, make over and give up for ever to the B4y

Queen of England and her successors the Kings and Queens of England our land Avckraxn Dr
being the Southern portion of the Barrier Isl: I(;l by name Rangitawhiri We agree to - —
give up all timber streams miverals and other appurtenances and we hereby altogether RANGITAW
relinquish onr claims to this land its tapued places-and ‘to“eéverything thereupon or GREAT BAF
beneath the surface in consideration of the sumn of two hundred:and twerty pounds, '
one hundred and twenty of which we receive now and the remaining’ hundred .to be

~paid in twelve months from this date. The ‘boundaries of this land are as follows com-

Boundaries.
‘;mencing at Tokakuku on the eastern side of the Island and running through the stream
""of the same name to Te Wharau and thence té Waka’s boundary line named Te Karamu
thence to the summit of the mountain called te Ahumata and thence to.a place named .
Raihoa in the waters of tho Sea and continuing the line of coast till it adjoins Tokakuku.
- The claims of Mr. Abercrombie are included. in these boundariesiand the balance due'on
account of these claims we now receive from.the Government. - We fully agree to the
matter embodied’in this'document In token of which we affix our names and our marks
: on this twenty-sixth day of August in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred -
- and ﬁfty four. - AR : EPR S 3 P : o BT
3 True translation. =~ -~ < .. R T
' C. O. Davis. R S T
Received from the hands of Mr. McLean as a payment for our lands deséribed in Receipt for £1
this document one hundred and tweniy pounds being the first instalment. . -~ % . :.. - first instalment
- Auckland, August 29, 1854, . - - . , | - S S o
. - T T T Hivroxna PUBA.'U, A
. and 9 others; belong to the Matiwaru tribe living ,
Witnesses— . . - o . at Coromandel. S PR (
C. O. Davis, Interpreter, and 4 others. "~~~ ... .7 o o ool oSS T ‘
£100. S a4 e . Akarana, Akuhata 21,1855, 1855.
Kua riro mai ki a matou i tenei ra i ngi ringaringa o te Makarini nga paunn moni 21 August
kotahi raun takitahi ko te utunga whakaotinga tenei mo to matou kainga ¢ takotoneinga ———————
= rohe ki tua o tenei pukapuka ka tahinei ka tino.oti pu atu ake tonu atu. - y ﬁﬁﬁ;ﬁf&ﬁ;
' - Paora TE PrrUu X. "
Kai Titiro— RA TU MoaNa.
Ebenezgi Baker, Clerk N.L. Purchaso Office.
John Holibs. :
TRANSLATION. o
©£100., ' o . Auckland, August 21, 1855. 1855.
“~ .Received by us on this day at the hands of Mr. McLean the sum of One Hundred 21 August
. Pounds sterling, once told. This is the final payment for our land whose boundaries

care deseribed on the other side of this document, and which is now fully and for ever ge"fi}“ {"1" £1€
. surrendered. S nal instalmen

Paora TE: PuTU X,

Witness— Rarumoana.

Tbenezer Baker, Clerk N.L. Purchase Office.
John Hoaobbs. .
A True Copy of Original Decd, Recoipts, and Translations.
"JI. Hanson TurToN.

e

Wellington, September 10th, 1874.

|
|
|

Deods—No. 240. 1836.
Grear Barrier Isuaxp (Lanp oX), Avuckranp DisTricrt. 2% Decomb:

Texer Puraruka tuka whenua e tuhituhia kei _i' tonei ra i to rua tek_au ma whitu 27 0 A yorraxn Disg
nga ra o Tihema i te tau o to taton ariki katahi mona a wam mase o wfoes Lolooe
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LAND ON CREAT
BARRIER 1SLAND

continued.

1856.

. 87 December,

Artcxraxp District.

LAND ON GREAT
BARRIER ISLAND,

w————-

Receipt for £200,

Boundaries.

1858.
31 December.

PROVINCE OF AUCKLAND,

to whonun i hokos e Whitika raus ko to Morona. Ko to kaha ki te tuaraki kei te
whenun i hokon ki te runanga Pakeha ko to Whitika to Kai whakarite o taua whenua.
Heoi kun oti i & matou te hurihuri to mihi to poroporoake te tino tuku rawa i*tenej
Kainga o a matou tipuna tuku iho i s matou me ona awa mo ona manga me ona roto me-
ona wai me ona rakau me ona otnota me oin kohatu me ona wahi parao me ona wahi
ataghun mo onn wahi kino me nga mes katon ki runga ranei o te whenua ki raro ranei o
te whenua me nga aba noa iho o taun whenua ka ofi rawa i a matou te tino tuku rawa
atu i tenei ra o whiti nei kia Wikitoria to Kuini o Ingarangi !u nge Kingi Xuini ranei
o muri iho i a in a ako tonu atu, . o h :
- A mo to matou whakaaetanga ki nga tikanga katon o roto i tenei Pukapuka ka tuhia

ilo e matou o matou ingoa me o matou tohu. . . . v
- A mo te whakanctangn o te Xuini o Ingarangi mona ki nga tikanga katoa o roto i

* tenei Pukapuka ka tuhia iho e to Makarini to Kai whakarite whenun o to Kawana o Nui
« Tireni tona ingon. . o :

o Tayarr 'Waga TArEwa.
‘WIREMU HOPIHOXNA. :
' , : _ TE RETIMANA ngatipou katon.
Nga Kai titiro ki cnei homaitanga utu me
enel tuhinga ingoa— ‘ '
C. O. Davis, Interpreter, Anckland.
Elwin B. Dickson, B.A.

. RANBLATION. .. ..
Tms DEep of Sale conveying Land written on: this the twenty seventh 27 day of
December in the Year of our Lord One thousand eight hundred and fifty six is a Deed
of the full and unreserved assent of us the Chicfs and People of Ngatimaru and Ngati-
wai whose names are hereunto attached on behalf of ourselves our relations and deacen-
dants born after us to give up and make over a portion of our Land to Victoria the
Queen of England and to the Kings or Queens her successors for ever and over.

‘And in consideration of our full consent to gell this picco of our Land Victoria the
‘Queen of England ngrees on her part to pay us the Sum of Three Hundred Pounds
£300 once told: Of this amount we have reccived Two' hundred Pounds £200 on this
day from Donald MacLean Eequire.- The third 3rd hundred Pounds £109 is to be paid
tous in the month of June in the year Ono thousand eight hundred and fifty seven

- 18567, :

The boundaries ‘of tho Land are these. - Commencing at Matahoros on the Sea
Coast at the Land formerly sold to Mesara. Whitaker and Du Moulin thence running
along the Sea Coast to Whakatautuna thenco on to Harataunga and as far as the
Whangapous stream. * This is the termination on the Eastern Coast. . On the Western
Coast it commonces at Whangati at the Land bought formerly by Messrs. Whitaker and
Du Moulin running along the Seca Coast to Kohatupaopao .and -to Parahake until it
reaches Akatarere. There it ends. The boundary on the South is at the Land bought
by Messrs. Whitaker and Tou Moulin. The boundary on the North is at the Land which
wns bought by the Company of Europeans Mr. Whitaker being the Attorney for the
raid Land. -

Now we have for ever given up and wept over and bidden farowell to and trans-
ferred this Land which:has.descended to us from our sncestors with its streams and its
rivera and its lakes and its-waters and-its trees and-its pastures and its minerais and its
level spots with its fertile spots and‘its:barren:places:with-all above the said Land and
all below the snid Land and with all eppertaining to the said Land we have now entirely
given up under the shining sun of this day to Victoria the Queen of England or to the
Kings or Queens her successors for over and cvor. .

And in testimony of our consent to all the conditions contained in this Deed we
have hercunto affixed our names and marks.

And in testimony of the consent of the 'Queen of England {o all the conditions
contained in this Deed Donald MacLean Esquire Land Commissioner of the Governor of
New Zealand has hereto affixed his name. ™

. (Signed} Tauarr Wana Tanewa.
Winesu ‘Horinoxa.
. Te Rerivoxa (Ngatipou katoa).
Witnesres to these payments and signatures—
(Signed) C. O. Davis, Interpreter, Auckland.
Elwin B. Dickson, B.A.

A True Copy of Original Deed and Translation,
H. Haxsox Turrox,

Wellington, J anuary Gth, 1875,

o o

Deods—No. 241.

. Oxewnerowneno Brock, Wartemars, Averoaxp Districr.

Avcriaxh Disrmrer, JIE PURAPUKA whaknactanga pono tenei nnku na Phorn Tubaere kia hokona kia tino

[r——

tukun rawatia atu kin Wikitorin to Kuini o Ingarani ki nga Kiogi Kuinivuei o muri iho

ONEWHEROWHERCD, | 4 jn alie tonu atu fuua wahi whenua aku ko Onewherowhero to ingon ki to taha tua-

WAITEMATA.



WAIPARAHEKA

Right of vond to
Moylo's residenco.

Receipt for L5

PROVINCE OF.AUCKLAND,

1ler and Her assigns namoly that pieco of land the boundaries whereof commence on
tho river Weiti at tho corner of Moyle's fenco thenco in the courso of the river Weiti to
tho surveyor's polo near tho native huts and on tho west thirty sevon 37 cheins and
soventy 70 links on the south twenty four 24 chains on tho enst twonty six 26 chains
und fulla into tho rivor Weiti nt tho-Buropean's fonce whero thoe boundaries join With
tho froo right of rond to that Buropean to his residenco With its Trees Minoerals Wators
Linkes Streams (ood places and bad Plains Forests and all anpertaining to tho eaid
Land abovo tho surfuco of the Land or beneath the surfaco of the Land and all the
Right Title Intorest Claim and Demand whatyoever of us and cach of us hereunto
‘subscribed to the said Land. Now wo have for ever given up and wept ovor bidden
farewell to and transferred undor the shining sun of this day that land which descended
to us from our forefathers the boundaries whereof havo been above recited and the plan
wheroof is attached to this Deed as a lnsting possession to The Queen and Her assigns
absolutely for ever. And in testimony of our consent to all tho conditions of this Deed
wo have herounto signed our nnmes and marks. And in testimony «f the consent of
John Rogan Xsquire on behalf of Her Majesty to all tho conditions of this Doed ho also
hoereunto signs his name.
(Signed) Joun Roocax,
Dist. Comunr.

ot Tararr REWETI
TonarA. :
Witness to the signatures and marks— The mark x of TAWAEWAE.
{Bigned) M. M. Taylor.
V. 1. Blake, Senr.

Recceived by us this day the twenty fourth 24 day of Octobor in the year of Our
Lord Ono thousand cight hundred and fifty seven 1857 The sum of Twenty five Pounds
the full Consideration Moncy promised in tho Annoxed Doed of Salo to be paid to us by
John Rogau, Esquire.

(Signed) Tanarr REwWETI
Tonaia.
Tho mark x of Tawarwaz,

Witnesses to the payment of the said money—-

(Signed) M. M. Taylor.
W. F. Blako, Sonr.
True translation of original deed and receipt
Joux Roaax,
District Commissioner.

A True Copy of Original Deed and Translition.
H. Haxsox urrox.
Wellingtou, September 23rd, 1874,

Deeds—No. 244.
‘Warueke Ispaxp (Lanp ox), Aucknaxp Disrricr.

eNEr Puxarura i tuhituhia i tenci tekau ma rua (12) o nga ra o Ilune i to tau o:to
aton Ariki 1858 lie Pukapuka tino hoko tino hoatu.tino tuku whakaoti atu na matou
11 nga Rangatirn mo nge Tangata o Ngatipaon no ratou nga ingoa 6 mau i raro nei a-hei
awhakaatu tenei Pukapuka mo matou mo o matou whunaungn moe o matou uri mo-te
tahituhinga o o matou ingon ki tenei pukapuka i raro i to ra e whiti nei kua whakererea
rawatia kun tino tukuna rawatia atu kia "Wikitoria Kuini o Ingarani ki onw uri ki nga
Kingi ki nga Kuini o muri iho i o in mo ana mo a ratou o whakarito ai hei whakaritenga
mo nga Pauna moni B wara rau £800. 0. 0 kua utun mai ki & matou e T'o Makarini mo
te Xuini (r e whakaactin nei ¢ matou to rironga mai o nuas moni) ko taun wabi whenua
“katoa Jkei Whaihcke ko to ingon o taua wahi whenua—ko nga rohoe kei raro i to Pukapuka
. nei o mau ana to korero whakahacre ko to mapi hoki o taua whenua kua apititin ki
tenei.  Ale ona raltun me ona kowhatu mo ona wat me ona nwa uui mo onn reto mo ona
awa riviki me nga mea katon o taug whenus o runga ranei o raro ranei i to mata o taun
whenun mo o matou tikangn mo o matou take mo o matou pannga katoutangn ki {nua
wahi ; Xia mau tonu ki Kuini Wikitorin ki ona uri ki ana ranei o whakarite ai hei tino
mau tonu ake tonu atu. A hei tohu mo to matou whakanctunga ki nga tikanga katoa o
tenci Pukapuka kua tuhituhia nei o maton ingos mo o matou tohu. A hei tohu hokimo -
to whalaactangn o to Kuini o Ingarani mo tana wahi ki nga tikanga katoa o tonei Puka-
puka kua tuhia nei to ingon o To Makarini Kaiwhakarite Whenun, Ko nga rohe enei o
taun whenua ka timata i Maruakarars ka haere i to takutai o to moana n Rarohara,
Wailiihi, a hacro tonu Tikitikiatongin a te ana kowhatu i Ruruwhango, ku haoro na uta
makero raws, atu ko Te Toanga hacro tonu i to tabn o to moana a Lo Waihirere, kn hoki
whakauta ka rore i runga i to raina o to ruritanga tawhito o Opopo a Puketotarn ka
koki ka haere tonu i taua raina o makero non ki to monun i o Opopo ka tahi kn haore i
te taha o (¢ moana n Tokata hacro tonu a Taniwhanui ka rero whakauta na runga i to
rainn ruritange o {o pihi o nga Paleeli a tuluki nos ki to ara toangn knata ki Pikau ka
haere tonu § to taha o to moan 0 Waikurariki ka rero whakauta i runga i (o raing o to
te Palicha mnkerce raws ki to Raliwhau ka heke § ovoto i taus awa a tatuki vawa ki (o
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1o k) wahi i whakawhiti ai te raina {awhito i to awa, hacre tonu & Whakataupoho ka whati ka WAIHEKE
nd i uhu ki te pa tawhito i Maunganui ka whati ka ahu tika tonu ki Whakatauihu ka anga continued.
* 9 i ki Te Iwi-tuarea a Puketutu kn whati ka makere ki te awa o Rangihoun ka hacre tonu

; L a te ngutu awa o Ravowhena ka cke i roto i taua awa rero tonu atu a te Maruakarara, t-

er ka tutaki nga rohe.

At Ko nga tangata i kito i to hoatutanga o nga moni me te tuhinga o nga ingoa—

e L Doxarn Mclgay.

ito Tikaokao x. ‘ Wiremu Hoete.
“en Paengahuka x. Poihipi Ngamare x.

led Kapnakajpu vy Mohi x. - Wirenin Kepa x.

an Te Ruinga x. IMiwinui.

ms Pahau x. Mohi Whakaharuru x.

ed Hovi Pokai x. Iori Rakena x.

of Paora, Tawera x. Ngatai x,

1so Patara Pouroto x. Ngakete by IHori Pokai,
-~ Witness to signatures—
Charles Heaphy, Surveyor, Auckland.
George Friend, Acct., L.P.D., Auckland. .
AVm. B. Baker, Chf. Clk., L.2.D,, Auckland,
- Kua riro mai ki a matou i tenei ra i to tekau ma rua o nga ra o Hune i to fau o to Receipt for £800.
Tatou Ariki Kotahi mano ¢ waru rau e rima tekau ma waru (1858) nga Pauna moni
waru rau takitahi (L3500 . 0. 0) Ko te utu tenei kun whakahuatia ki te Pukapuka tuku
¢ mau i rungs ako nei kia utun mai ki o matou o Te: Makarini-mo-to Kuini.
" ‘ Horr Poxar x.
- Parary Pornroro x.
by Non Kaiditiro—

Georss Friend, Acel., 11D, Auckland,
William B, Baker. Chf. Clk., [P0, Auckland,

TrANSLATION 1854,

Tms Deen written on this twelfth (12) day of June in tho  Year of our Lord 1838 is o 2 June.,
full and final sale conveyanece and surrender by us the Chiels and People of the Tribe.of ;77 =7 °
Ngatipaoa whose names are hercunto subseribed And Witnesseth that on behalf of our- o
selves our relatives and our descendunty wo have by signing this Deed under the Shining WAIHEKE,
Sun of this day parted with and for ever transferred unto Vietorin Queen of Eugland
Her Ileirs the Kings and Queens who may suceeed 1fer and Her and Their Assigns for

-ever in consideration of the Sum of Bight hundred Pounds (:£800. 0. 0) to us paid by
Donnld IeLean Baquire on behalf of the Queen Vietorin (tnd wo hereby ucknowledgo the
receipt of the said-monies) all that picee of our Land situated at Waiheke and named
tho boundaries wherco!l are sct forth at tho foot of this Deod and a plan of which Land
ix annexed thereto with its trees minerals waters rivers lakes sireams and a1l appertain-
ing Lo the snid Land. or Leneath the surfico of the said Land and all our right tille
clum and interest whatsoever thernan, To 1lold to Queen Vietoria Her Icirs and
Assigns as a lasting possession absolutely for ever and ever. And in testimony of our
consent to all the conditions of this Decd wo have hereunto subreribed our names and
marks. - And:in testimony of tho consent of tho Queen of England on her part to all
the vonditions of thiv Decd tho namo:of Donnld :MeLean: Commissionerzis hereunto,

- subseribed. Theso are the boundaries:of Ahe:Lund:commencing:at-Marunkarara; .thence - Bouudaries,
along the sea:const to Karoharn, Wiihibi and.on'te Tikitikiatongin thenco tothe eavo al
Ruruwhango whiere it tuens inland doming:out: ngain' it To-Tonngasthencomlong tho sew

“oeoast tor Waihirero where:it-turns inlund -and - runs:-along ‘tho line “of 4he:old survey at.
Opopo to Puketolary where it turns again continuing along the said line dll it falls into
tho sea at Opopo, thenee along the sea const to Tokata thenee to Taniwhanui runming
thenee inland along the survey line of land belonging to the Europeans till it falls into

. the cart road at Pikau theneo along the: shore to Waikurariki thenee infand along the

g o csurvey:line of Eoropean land to-Rakiwhau and down: that stream titl it reaches the spot

where the old line crosses the river thence to Whakataupolio where it turns tinld renscto

- the old paat Maunganui tuening there it runs in @ straight Line to Whakatauha whoneo

At runs 1o Iwituaron to Pukotutu where it turns and falls into the Rangibonuvstrenm

‘thenes on to the mouth of Rurowhena and up the courso of that stream to Maruakurara

where the boundaries meet.

‘AUCKLAND DISTRICT,

S el

u(: & ] . (8d.)  Doxswn MceLeax,
‘. Tikaokno x, (3d.)  Wiremu Hoete
o i Tacngalntka x. Poihipi Ngamare x.
- Kapakapa x. Wiremn Kepa s,
b To Ruingn x by Maohi. Mob™ Whakaharurn .
1 f{ Palan x. Hori Rakena.
W 2 Hori Pokai x. . Ngatai. ) .
v F Puorn Tuwern x. Neakete x by Hori Pokai,
Lo S Putars Pouroto a.
i !’ Witneseen to the payment and signatures—
M % Charles Heaphy, Surveyor, Aucklnmd.
1. Ve George Friend, Acet, LD, Auckland.
§ W B Baker, ChE Clle, 120D, Auckland,

Frct
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WALHEKE
continued.

Recelpt for £800.

1838,
28 June.

Avcrraxn Districr,

Boundarics.

Reccipt for £10,

1858,
23 June,

—

WAIHEKE,

Boundaries.

AvcerLasp Distae

03

Reccived thia twelfth du,y" "6f Junoe in the Year of Our Lord One thousand oight
hundred and fifty cight (1858) the Sum of Eight hundred Pounds sterling (£800. 0.0)
boing tho consideration money expreased in tho above-written Deod to bo paid by

Dongld McLean Esqre, on behalf of Her Majeaty the Quoen to ua, -
Hoxrr Ioxkar x. .

Parara PovroTO X,

PROVINCE OF AUCKLAND, (1858

Witnesscg—
George Friend, Acet., L.P.D., Auckland.
William B. Baker, Chf. Clk., I.B:D., Auckland.
A True Copy of Original Decd and Translation.
’ . . M. Haxsox Tunrox.
Wellingrton, September 21st, 1874,

Deeds—No. 245.
Wameke Isuaxp (Laxp ox), Avckraxp DisTRICT. .
Texer Pukarvra i tubitubin i tenel rua tekau ma waru o nga ra 0 Hune i te tnu o to
taton Ariki 1868 he Pukapuka tino hoko tino hontu tino tuku whaknoti atu na matou
na nga Ratigatira mo nga Tangata o Ngatipnoa no ratou nga ingon e mau i raro nei o
hei whakaatu tenci Pukapuka mo niaton mo o mutou whanaunga me o matou uri mo te
tubitubinga o o matou.ingon ki tenei pukapuka i raro i te ra.o whiti nei kun whakarerea
rawatia kua tivo tukuna rawatin atu kia Wikitoria Kuini o. Ingarani ki onn uri ki ngn
Kingi ki nga Kuini o muri ilio i n in mo ann me o raton e whakarite ai hei whakaritengn
mo nga Pauna moni kotahi tekau takitahi kun utua mai ki a matou o To Makarini mo te
Kuini (a o whakanetianei o matou to rironga mni o aua moni) ko taua wahi whenua katoa
kei Waihcke ko to ingoa o taus wahi whenua ko nga robe kei raro i'te Pukapuka
nei e mau ana te korero whakahacre ko te mapi hoki o taun whenua kua upititia ki tenei.
Mo ona rakau mo enn kowhatu me ona wai me ona awa nui me ona rote me onn awn
ririki me nga men katoa'o taus whenua o runga ranel o raro ranei i te matn o taun
whenua me o matou tikanga mo o matou take mo o *~atou pranga katoatanga ki teus
wahi; Kin mau tonu kin Kuini Wikitoria ki oni uri ki ana ranei ¢ whakarite ai hei
tino innu tonu ake tonu ata. A hei tohu mo to matou whakaaetanga ki nga tikanga

-kntoa o tenei Pukapukn kua tuhituhia nei o matou ingoa me ¢ matou tohu. A hei tohu

hoki mo to whakanetungn o te Kuini o Ingarani mo tawa wahi ki-nga tikanga katoa o
tenei Pukapuka kua tubia nei te ingon o To Makarini Kaiwhakurite Whenun, Ko nga
rolie enci o taua whenua ka timata i Opui ka reve atu ki te Rakiwhau whakamau atu ki

-te tuku whaknrare o Ngn Tuturu ki te mavnugn i runge o e Iuruhi, ko te putanga kei

I
to whare o Taiko—ka hnero i rungp o T'e Ahu ka puta ki Whakataugoho. (

S Iont Poxar x.
Konga tangata i kite i te hoatutanga o nga moni
e te tuhinga o ngn ingon—
‘Willinmn B, Baker, Chf. Clk., L.P.D., Auckland.
James Fulloon, Clk., Auckland.

Kua riro mai ki a matou i {enei ra i te 25 o ngn ra o Hune i te tau o to Tatou
Ariki Kotahi mano ¢ waru rau i rima tekan ma waru (185%) nga Pauna moni kotahi
tekau (£10.0.0) Ko to utu tenei kua whaknhuatin ki t¢ Pukapuka tuku ¢ mau i
runga ake nei kin utua mai ki a matou o To Makarini mo te Kuini.

t . 1lorr Poxar x.

Nga Kui-titiro— s

William 1. Baker, Clif. Clk., L.P.D., Auckland.
Jumes Fulloon, Clk., Aucklund.

TRANSEATION.
Tis Dekn written on this twenty cighth day of Juncin the Year of our Lord 1858 is a

= full and final sale conveyance and surrender by ue.the Chiefs and Peaple of the Lribo
* Ngatipaon whose names are hereunto subieribed  And Witnesseth that on behalf of

oursclves our relatives and descendants wo have by sighing this Deed under the shining
sun of this day F_m‘ted with and for ever transferred unto Victorin Queen of England
Ier ][cxfs the Iings and Queens who may succeed Her and Iler and Their Assigns
for over in consideration of the sum of Ten Pounds (£10. 0. 0) to us paid by Donald
MeLean Esquire on bebalf of the Queen Vietorin (and wo hereby acknowledge the
receipt of the said monies) all that piece of our Land situated at Waikeke and named
= tho boundarics whereof aro set forth at tho foot of this Deed and a plan of which
Land is nnnexed thereto with its trecs minerals waters rivers lakes streans and all
appertaining to the said Land or beneath the surface of the said Land und nll our right
title claim and interest whatsoover thereon To Hold to Queen Victorin Her Heirs and
Assigns as o Jasting porsession absolutely for aver and ever. And in testimony of our

consent to all tho conditivns of this Deed we have hereunto subseribed our names and - '

marke. And in testimony of tho consent of the Queen of England on her part to all
the conditions of this Decd the name of Douald McLean Esquire Chief Commissioner *,
is hereunto subscribed. ‘Theso aro tho boundaries of thy, Land commencing at Opui
ruuning theneo to te Rakiwhau and on to the lower sido of the Ngo Tuturu to the hiil

3
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306 | PROVINCE-OF AUCKLAND, © [1867

[

1867.
18 Qclobor. DOOdB—"NO- 2470
Warngke Istanp (Cramms or Naarnany), Aveknann Digrnrer,

(' - ENEI Pukaruka i tubitubia i tonei te teknu mn wart o nga ra o Okotopa j te (au o Lo
WAIHEKE IsLAND,  taton Ariki 1867 he Pukapuka tino hoko tino hontu tino tulu whakaoti atu na matou
nn nga Rangaticn me nga Tongatn o Ngatimaru no ratou nga ingon 0 mau i raro nei o
Ngatimaru claims.  hei wlinkantu tenoi Pukapuka mo matou mo o matou whannunga me o mulou uri mo to
tubituhingn o 0 matou ingon ki tenoi pukapuka i raro i te ra o whiti ner kun whakareren
rawntin kua tino tuicuny rawatin atu kin Wikitorin Kuini o Ingarani ki ona uri ki nga
Kingi ki nga Kuini o muri iho i a in me ana me a ratou e whakarito ai hei whakaritenga
) mo ngn Paune moni 1 torn rau (£300 . 0. 0) kun utus mai ki n matou o Tiemi Make,
Rocoipt for £300. . .. Komihann mo to Kuini (n o whakaactia nei o matou te rironga mai o aus moni) ko taua
wahi whenua katoa kei Waiheke ko to motu o Whaiheke te ingron o taua wahi whenuako
nga roho kei raro i to Pukapulka nei ¢ mau ana 1o korero whakahaers ko to mapi hoki o
--taua whenua kun apititin ki tenei. Mo ona rakau me onn kowhatu mo ona wai mo ona
awn i me ona roto moe ong awa ririki mo nga mea katoa o taua whenua o rungn ranei
7 oraro ranci’i te mata o taun whenun me: 0 matou tikanga mo o matoun tuke me o matou
o rpannga hatoatanga ki taua wahi; Kin mnau tonu kia Kuini Wikitoria ki ona uri ki ana
* ranet o whalarite ai hei tino mau tonu ake tonu atu. - A: hei tohu mo to matou whakaae-
7 tanga ki ngn tikanga- katon o tenei- Pukapuka kua tuhituhia nei o matou ingoa mo o
~matou tohu, A hei tohw hoki-mo:to whakaactanga o-te Kuini.o Ingarani mo tana wahi
ki nga tikangn katoa o tenei Pukapuka kua tuhia neiito ingoa o Tiemi Mako Kaiwhalka-
Boundavies. - rite Whenun., - Ko nga robe enci o:taun whenua ka timatai te tnhataha monna i te Rore
o mae aea haere tonu ka rohen i-te moune.i to tahn ki te hauaury, i te taha whakararo, i
- te taba ki te marangai, i te tnha ki e tongn taec noa fo wabi i timata ai.  Otira ekoro ¢
¢ meingatia kia ho tetahi wahi o te take o te paanga o to tikunga o te iwi o Neatipaoa o
“ {etahi tangata ranei o {aun iwi ki etahi o ngn piiki e nohoia ¢ rateu inainnei, ki etahi o
ugn piithi whenun kua oti te rahui mo ratou ki rote ki nga rohe o taua whenua ara ki
taun motu o Waiheke,

Avckraxp Disrnror. N

Wirape Iotereni Taipari. Renata Taniwha.
Rapana Muunganon x his mark. Hoterene Taipari x Lis mack.
Matin Kaimate. -~ Riwai Kiore x his mark.
Raika Whakarongotai. Piniha.
Watana Tuma. Aperchama Te Reiron x his
e Miriamn te Ngahue xher mark.  mark.
[ ' Mata Paraone x her mark, Iirini Ngaone x his mark.
‘ To Marau x his mark. Karauna,
Pahau. ey Mango.
A.H. . James Mackay, Jr

Witncss to signnturcs (18)—
Alex. Hogy, Laud Agent, Shortland.

————

1867. TRANSLATION.
18 October. Tis Deep written on this eightcenth day of October:in the Year of our Lord 1867 isa
AvcxukﬁvD.xg'x‘;z—c;. full and final sale conveyance.andgpurrenderiiby *us:the Chicfs=andzPeopl

— “pTriberNEatiaryiwhose niumos are hereunto subscribed And Witnesseth that on behalf
* WAIHEKE ISLAND. ' “of “oursclves our relatives and descendants -wo have- by ‘signing ihis Deed -under the
“Ngatimaru claima, *~ -shining sun of this dny parted ‘with and for-ever transferred:-unto-Victoria Queen of
England Her Heirs the Kings and Queens who may suecceed Iter and Jier and their
- Assigns for ever in consideration of the sum of Three hundred Poundf(£300%070) to us
- paid by Jumes Mackay the Younger Bsquire Civil Comminsioner on-bebalf of the Queon
Receipt for £300. Vietoria (nnd we hereby acknowledgo tho receipt of the said moneys) all that picee of
‘ » ourLand situated at ' Waiheke and named the Island of Waiheko the boundaries whercof
“are net forth at the foot of this Deed and a plan of which Land is annoxed thereto with

~ohcits-traes sminerals waters- rivers lakes streams and all appertaining to the said Land or

beseath the surfuce of the snid Land and all our right title elaim and interest whatso- -
ever therecon o hold to Queen Victoria Ier 1leirs and Assigns as'n lasting posscssion
absolutely for ever and ever.  And in testimony of our consent to all the conditions of
this Deed wo have hererato subseribed our names and marks.  And in {estimony of the
congent of the Queen of Bngland on her part to all the conditions of this Deed the
Boundariee. name of James Mackay Jr. Commissioner is hereunto subseribed.  Theso are the boun-
daries of tho Land commencing at the sea coast at To Rore o maoe nea, thenee bounded
by the sea const on the west, north, enst and south sides to the point of commencement.
Provided that nothing hercin contnined shall be deemed to prejudice tho right, title, or

{/ ) interest of the tribe Ngatipaow or any members thereof to lands now held by them, or
e reserved for their uso anywhere within the limits of the said island of Wailicke.
. *: - s PV otk m .
E\V’_qxrop,o HoterongiTaipari. Jtenata Tanjwha.
9t S T e T .

Rapana Maunganon x his mark g HoterenaTaipari x his mark.

Matin Knimate. Riwai Niore x his mark.

Raikn Whakarongotai, Pinilia.

Wadang Tame, Aperchame te Reivon x hiy

Mirvinmu te Ngahue xhermark.  mark.
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Matn Parnono x her mark. IMirini Ngaone x his mark. WAIHEKE 1SLAND
To Marau x hiy mark, Karauna. . continued.
Pahau, Mango. .

Jaxes Macray, Jr.
‘ ' A. L
Witness to signatures (18)— .
(5d.)  Alex. Hogg, Land Agont, Shortland, ;

A Truo Copy of Original Deed and Translation. .
H. Haxsox Tunror.

. /”—\<

Wellington, January 7th, 1875,

Doeeds—No. 248. 1869.

Wateke lsnasd (Cramms or Naaroranru), Aveknann Districr. 7 Decoruber.

Kt riro mai i o matou i nga tangata o mau ake nei nga ingoa, i tonei whitu o nga rn v Avexraxp Distiicr.
Tihemai to tau o to tatou Ariki, kotahi mano o warn ran o ono tekau ma iwa ngn Pauna ——
moni Kotahi rau o rima tekau £150 . 0. 0 hei utu whakamutunga mo nga take mo nga WAIHEKE ISLANG.
pasnga o Nagatimaru, me ona hapu katon ki to motu o Waiheke. Npatimaru claims,
- Kua oti atu o matou paangn ki taua whenun katon, mo nga paanga mo nga tale Recoipt for £150,
taton o Weatimaru, nfb ona hapu katoa ki o Kuini Wikitorin te Kuini o Ingarangi, ki
ga Kingi ki nga Kuini o muri iho i 2 in mo ona me o ratou tukunga iho Ake tonu atu:
o ona awn, mo ona wri mo oua rakau, mo ona kowhatu, me ona mea katon i raro i
runga ranei i taun whenua,
A mo te riconga mai o enei moni i to ringaringa o To Paki (E. W. Puckey) ki a

matet i tenet ra ka tuhia ilio o matou ingoa me o matou tohu.

Riwai te Kiore x tana tohu.  Rapana Maunganca x tana

Paraia te Mapu. tohu.

Papakoura x tana tohu. Waeaki To mata piihi x tana
Hawira, tohu,

Muta Parate x tana toh, Witomu to Peu.

I Haka Tarawhati x fana toha, Karauns Hau.
Wiremu Kawarihi x tana tohu, Rawiri.

Ripeka x. teretiu,

Lhaka te Kaaho x tana tohu.  Wiremu Pukeroa. ( ,
“Kipa to Whatanui. Matn Paraone x tana tohu.

Pautari Pukeron x tana tohw™>- Wiriata x tana tohu.

ITona Taiawa x tana tohu. Hoori Timo x tana tohu.

Raiha te Ataiti x tana tohu.  Na ‘Canahira te hurupa x tana

matingn ono. tohu.

Pirika. Kirikaa x tana tohu.

ITenare Pita x tana tohu. Tereweti to rang x tnna tohu.

Hingi Kero a purn. Aherata to nui x tana tohu,

Sigoed in the presence of—
A. C. 1L. O’Neill, Sottler, Otago.

TrANsSLATION. 1869,
AV the persons whose names are hercunder written have received on this seventh day 7 December.

of December in the Year of Our Lord one Lhou:ﬁm(;l.__,q‘i‘ghh hundred and sixty nine the “waHEKe 1sSLAND,
~sum of One hundred and fifty Tounds alurling%(ﬁm_p)ﬁin final payment for the claims Ngatimaru claims,
and interests of Ngatimaru and all the hapus thercof to the island of Waiheke. Receipt for £150,
We have parted with all our claims to all that land and with all the claims and '
intorests of Npgatimaru and all the hapus thereof to Queen Victoria and to the Kings
and Queens who may succeed Iler and lHer or Their descendants for ever: Together
with its streamsy, its walers, its trees, its stones and everything cither nbove or under the
said land.
And in token of the reccipt of this monoy by us from E. 'W. Puckey on this day we
hercunto subseribe our names and mako our marks.

) [Signatures.]
§ [Witnesses.] ‘
Correct Translation. )
T, B Youna, ‘Uranslator, Native Department.
B\ A True Copy of Original Deed aad Tranglation,
é‘ ' il. 1faxsox Tunrox. '
5 ‘Wellingfon, January 7th, 1875.
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[Extract from N.Z. Gazelle No. 1, 10th Jonuary, 1924.7

Native Land in DBlock XIII, Olama Survey District, taken
Jor the Purposes of a Lighthouse,

JELLICOE, Governor-General,
ORDER IN COUNCIL.

At the Government Buildings at Wellington, this 22nd day
of December, 1923,

. _Present :
Tux Hoxouranre Sir I'rancis BELL *RESIDING IN Councin,

N pursuance and exercise of the powers and authorities
vested in him by the Public Works Act, 1908, and of all
other powers and authorities in anywise exiabiling him in this
behalf, His Excellency the Governor-General of the Dominion
of New Zealand, acting by and with the advice and consent of
the Exccutive Council of the said Dominion, doth hereby pro-
claim and declare that the Native land described in the
Schedule hereto is hereby taken for the purposes of a light-
house, and that the said land shall vest in His Majesty the
King as from the eleventh day of February, one thousand
nine hundred and twenty-foui.

.

- SCHEDULE.

ArrroxiMATE area of the picce-of Jand taken : 70 acres, Leing
Ohinau Island, situated in Block XI1J; Otama Survey District
{Auckland R.D.). (8.0. 22727).

In the Auckland Land District; as the same . is .more
particularly delineated on the plan marked P.W.1). 58611,
deposited in the oflice of tho Minister of Public Works at
Wellington, in the Wellington Land District, and thereon

coloured rod,
C. A. JEFFERY,
Acting Clerk of the Executive Council.
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31 January 1974
Mr Paraone Reweti,
NO. 5 R.D.'

Welcome Bay,
TAURANGA .

Dear Mr Rewetil,

OHINAU ISLAND

Yourizenquiry be telephone on 30 January 1974 concerning the
efers., The above Island has an area of 70 acres and
he Coromandel County situated in Block XIII of the

.. Otama Survey District.

The Island was taken under the Public Works Act 1908 for the
purposes of a Lighthouse., An Order in Council issued and was published
in the New Zenland Gazette Number 1 Page 9 dated 10 January 1924, . An

j, application for investigation of title was lodged on 14 May 1923. On

13 March 1924 the application was dismissed, the reason quoted bveing that
the land was taken under the Public Works Act. No application for assess-
ment of compensation was ever filed and therefore there was never any
compensation assessed by the Court,

Further application for investigation of title was filed on
1 August 1949 by Ngawhira Reweti but the applicatign was finally dismissed
on 14 October 1953 for lack of prosecition.

It appears the prospective owners at that time were az follows :~

Maraea Tiki ‘iniata of : 4hitianga
Nzawhira Reweti of Yhitianga
Miriama Takerei (minor) of hitianga
Toko Nicholson of Foxton

Neville:Nicholson of . bannevirke

‘e trist the above information is of some assistance to you.

Yours faithfully,

(TvAH, Tait)
for REGISTRAR

%
W
S’

O
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1967, No. 131

An Act to establish the Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park, and
to provide for the administration thereof

. , [24 November 1967

I BE IT ENACLIED by the General Assembly of New Zealand

in Parliament assembled, and by the authority of the same,
as follows: ~ :

1. Short Title—This Act may He cited as the Hauraki Gulf
Maritime Park Act 1967, and”shall be read together with
and deemed part of the Regerves and Domaing Act 1953
(hereinalter referved to as the principal Act).

. 2. Application of Rescrves and Domains Act 1953-—1n its
application to the I-Iau,i'lec';, Gulf . Maritime Park aud the
Hauraki' Gulf Maritime Park Board, the priucipal’ Act shall

, be read subject o thé provisions .of-this Act. -
, 3. Interpretation—In this Act, unless the context otherwise
* requires,-— '

“Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park” or “Park” means the
Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park constituted under this

Act:
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Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park 969

“Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park Board” or “Board” means .
the Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park Board established
under this Act.

"4, Hauraki Gulf Maritime Park—(1) There is hereby
pktablished a maritime park under the name of the Hauraki
Gulf Maritime Park, which shall comprise—

a) The public reserves described in the Schedule to this
Act: :

;i (b) All other public reserves and other areas from time
to time included in the Park under the succeeding
provisions of this section.

. (2) The Minister may from time to time, by notice in the
razette,—

(a) Declare that any public reserve within the limits
- specified in subsection (3) of this section vested
in Her Majesty shall be added to and form part

of the Park from a date specified i the notice:
Provided that no public reserve that is vested in’
~an administering body or is subject to any Act
administered by any Minister other than the Minister
of Lands shall be added to the Park under this para-
graph except with the consent of the administering

body or that other Minister, as the case may be:

(b) With the consent of the Minister charged with the

- administration of the Act to which the land is

- subject or of the trustees, as the case may be, declare
that any other land within the limits specified in
subsection (3) of this section which is subject to
the provisions of any Act or is vested in any trustees
and set apart for a particular public purpose shall be
~added to and form part of the Park from a date
specified in the notice:

(c) Declare that any land forming part of the Park
(including any public reserve described in the
Schedule to this Act) shall cease to form part of
the Park from a date specified in the notice.

.(3) No public reserve or other land shall be added to the
Park under subsection (2) of this section, unless it is situated

W within the following limits:

(a) All islands in the Hauraki Gulf:

(b) All other islands adjacent to the east coast of the
North Island between the eastern headland at the
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- entrance to Whangamata Harbour and Home Point
at the northern end of Bland Bay:

(c) That part of the mainland of the North Island bounded
ou the scaward side by the part of the east coast
described in paragraph (b) of this subsection;—

and, for the purposcs of this subsection, the foreshore (as
defined in the Harbours Act 1950) of any such island or
adjacent to the part of the mainland so described shall be
deemed o form part of the island or of the mainland, as the
casc may bhe. '

(4) No public reserve or other land on the mainland of
the North [Island shall he added to the Park under subsection
(2) of this scction, unless it has a frontage to the seacoast.
T'or the purposes of this subscction, any reserve or other land
that is separated from the.seacoast by a road . or street or
public reserve shall he deemed <to have:a: frontage to the
seacoast. I

(5) Tivery public reserve -which for ithe time “heing forms
part of the Park shall continue to be a public reserve for the
samc purposc as that for which it was held immediately before -
it became part of the Park by or pursuant to the provisions
of this- Act, or, where that purpose is changed pursuant to
section 18 of the principal Act, for that changed purpose.

(6) All land which is added to and forms part of the Park
pursuant to paragraph (b) of subscction (2) of this section
shall he administered for the purpose or purposes for which
it was held under the Act to which it was subject or under
the trust, as the case may be, immediately before it became
part of the Park, and, subject®to the provisions of the principal
Act-and this Act, shall continue to be - subject to the first-
mentioned Act or to the trust, as the case may be. So long
as any such land forms part of the Park, the principal Act
shall apply to it as if it were a public rescrve.

5. Hauraki Gulf Maritime 'k Board-—(1) For-the pur-
poses of this Act:there s hereby: established a:Board, to be
called the Hauraki Gulf:Maritime Park-Board, consisting of—

(a) ‘The Commissioner of Crown Lands for ‘the North

Auckland Tand District:

(b) Ong member, to be appointed by the Minister on the

recommendlation of the Auckland City Council:

(c) One member, to he appointed by the ‘Minister on the
rccomnicnidation of the Devonport Borough Council:
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i (d) One member, to be appointed by the Minister on the

rity:

(e) Not more than six other members, to be appointed

s by the Minister.
A (2)"The appointed members of the Board shall be appointed
Atfor a term not exceeding three years, and may from time to
g{time be'reappointed. Notwithstanding that his term of office
has expired, any appointed member of the Board, unless he
“@sooner vacates oflice pursuant to paragraph (b) or paragraph -
“e¥(c) of section 8 of the principal Act or his appointment is
revoked under subsection (3) of this section, shall remain in
office until his successor comes into office.
v (3) The Minister may from time to time, by notice in the
a - YGazette, reduce the number of appointed members of the
- {Board, and for that purpose may revoke the appointments of
- = |such members as may thereby be rendered necessary.

.1 (4) Subject to the provisions of this Act, the principal Act
-] shall apply to the Board and the members thereof as if it were
“la special Board appointed under the principal Act.

i 0. Chairman of the Board—(1) The Commissioner of
" Crown Lands shall be the Chairman of the Board.

(2) The Chairman shall preside at all meetings of the
Board at which he is present.

(3) In the absence from any meeting of the Board of the
Commissioner of Crown Lands, the members present shall
.of their number to be the Chairman of that

7. Meetings of the Board—(1) The first ordinary meeting
gz - of the Board shall be held at such time and place as the
B Chairman appoints, and subsequent meetings shall be held at
'such times and places as the Board appoints.

. (2) Meetings of the Board may be called at any time by
the Chairman, and he shall call a special meeting whenever
any three members so request in writing.

(3) At all meetings of the Board, five members shall
constitute a quorum. ) )
(4) Every question before the Board shall be determined
by a majority of the votes of the members present and voting

“thereon. ' v

(5) The Chairman of any meeting shall have a deliberative
vote, and in the case of an equality of votes shall have a
casting vote also. - '

if ~ recommendation of the Auckland Regional Autho- - -
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(6) In Lhc absence from any meeting of the Board of the
Commissioner of Crown Lands, he may appoint an officer of
the Dcpartment of Lands and Survey to attend the meeting
in his steacd. While any person attends a mecting of the Board
under this subsection, he shall he deemed for all purposes to
be a member of the Board.

(7) 'Ihe fact that any person attends and acts as a member
of the Board at any mecting of the Boald shall be conclusive
proof of his authority to do so.

i (8) The powers of the Board shall not he aflected lJy any
‘ vacaincy in the membership thercof.
|
1

(9) ‘The Board shall cause minutes of all its ptocccchngs
‘0 he kept. -

(10) Subject to the pmwsxons of this Act and the principal
Act, the Board may w[,ulate ils own procedure. o

8. Functions of the Board-—(1) The funchons 3
shall be to administer, - ‘manage, and control the Park in
accordance with the provisions of the principal Act and this
Act and the means atits disposal in such a manner as to
ensure to the public the maximum proper use and cnjoyment
of the Park consistent wnlh the preservation of “its natural
features and the protection and well-being of its flora and
fauna.

(2) "Uhe Board shall he decmed to he the administering
hody of all public reserves for the time lwmq forming part
of the Park and of all other arcas for the time being forming |
‘part of the Park as if they were public reserves. Where imme-
diately before it became part 8f the Park any public reserve
was under the control and management of or vested in any
administering body, then, so long as the reserve forms part
of the Park that body shall have no jurisdiction in respect of
i the reserve.

b : 9. Utilisation - plans—(1) The Bomd shall from time to-
Gime prepare and @ submit to-the “NMinister “for* s ‘approval
' utilisation plans for:all Jand for the-time bemg forming part.
z - of the Park. :
‘ (2) The utilisation plans shall provxde for and ensure—
(a) Tull use of any reserve for the purposcs for which it is
sct apart under the principal Act or any other Act:
(b) Compliance with.the provisions of any Act or any trust
~in relation to .any land forming part of thc Park,
not being a public.reserve.

3
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i(3) The Board shall in the exercise of its functions comply

ith the utilisation plans as approved by the Minister and

d} any amended plans which may from time to time be
“Ergved by the Minister on the recommendation of the
I

: (4) No approval by the Minister for the purposes of.this
section shall operate as an approval or a consent for any

ufposc of the principal Act.

0. Special powers of the Board—(1) Subject to the pro-
v;s:ons of section 9 of this Act, the Board may carry out such
farming operations on any land forming part of the Park as

.cogsulers desirable and consistent with the provisions of
] ct

5% (2) The Board may cnter into an agreement with the
eMinister providing for the carrying out by the Land Settlement
Board of farming operations, including development and
nprovement of the land on behalf of the Hauraki Gulf
5N aritime Park Board, on any land formingpart of the Park
on' such terms and condmons as may be agreed upon between

¢ Minister and the last-mentioned Board.
{3) Subject to the deduction of any administration charge
which may be fixed from time to time by the Minister of
EsFinance, the net profit, as determined by the Minister of
@liands, for each year ending with the thirticth day of June
4from the farming operations carried out by the Crown
Pt suant to an agrecment under subsection (2) of this
on shall, without further appropriation than this sub-
n, be palcl to the Board. Where the farming operations
ny' year are run at a loss, then, until the loss has been

ecouped from profits in ensning ycars, no such profits shall

fbe paid to the Board.
5 2 (4) There shall be paid to the Board out of the Works and
Trading - Account, without further appropriation than this
ssubsection, the net profit, as determined by the Minister, from
%the carrying out by the Grown of farming operations on
SEMotutapu Island during the period commencing on the first
ay of July, nineteen hundred and sixty-six, and ending on the
ate on which any agreement.in relation to Motutapu Island
rentered into under subsection (2) of this section comes into
)pération.
5) The Board— '
$ ;May from time to time, with the approval of the
Minister, contribute money from its funds for or
towards the purchase of any spcc1ﬁcd land by the

e o gy TR - T :
QT ~ = Medrive nprs o o 45 2 r




o me—— s ¢

@ e st opd dnid

. | R7

974 Hanraki Gulf Maritime Park 1967, No. 131

‘Crown to he held as a public reserve for addition
to the Park; and ‘ '

(b) Shall from time to tine, if the Minister so directs,
“set aside money from its funds as a reserve fund
to be applicd for the purposes specified in para-
graph (a) of ‘this subsection.

(6) 'I'he Board shall be decmed to be a local authonty for... .

the purposes of section 192 of the Harbours Act 1950, and -
shall be cntitled: to- exercise-in respect of any” whazf -the
management of which is vested in the Board under that-sec- |
 tion the powers conferred on a local authority by or pursuantv

- to that scctlon and section 193 of that Act.

Section 4 (1) «(a)* "SCHEDULE
PusLic Reserves Constrrutine e Hauraki Gurr Mammime Park

Ary those areas in the North Auckland Land District described as
follows:

Firstly, Section 10, Block 'V, Rangitoto vaey District, contaihing
3,728 acres, more or less. (S.O Plan 45588) (Rcczeatxon Reserve—
Motu(apu Island).

Secondly, Lots'2, 3, 4, G, 7, and 9, D.P. 39418, being part Kawau
Island, situated in Blocks V and V1, Kawau Suwey District, containing
a total arca of 86 acres and | perch, more or less, and being alf the Jand
comprised and described in certificate of title, Volume 1687, folio. 31,
North Auckland Registry, subject to a right of way over Lot 7 created
by Transfer 512095, (Recreation reserve—Kawau lsland '])omam)

Hmdly -Motuora lsland, umled in: Block
outaining: 197 .ag
,"md descubcd i

,.(Rccreatmu 1cserve)
Fourthly, Poor Knu;hlq Islauds (‘Tawhiti Rabi), approximate latitude

359 317 307 south, longitude 174° 44 cast, containing 482 acres 2 roods,

approximately, (8.0, Plan 29179) (Rumvc for scenic purposes).

l'xflhly, Hauturu (Litde Barrier) Island, sitvated in_ Little Barrier:

Survey District, conLunuu, 6,960 acres, more or less.. (S.0. Plan 38373)
{Reserve for preservation of native fanux).

Va8l ML, oAb an Lo, ey
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SCHEDULE~—continued

. Sixthly, Part Repanga (Cuvier) Island, situated approximately 15
4 miles south-east of Gape Barrier, a point in Block VIIT, Tryphena Survey
. District, at the southern extremity of Great Barrier Island, containing
.723 acres 1 rood and 35 perches, more or less, and being part provisional
register, Volume 27, folio 117, North Auckland Registry. As shown on
-the plan marked L. and S. 4/94, deposited in the Head Office, Depart-
ment of Lands and Survey, at Wellington, and thereon edged red.
(Reserve for preservation of flora and fauna). 4

Seventhly, those islands in the Mercury (Iles d’Haussez) Group shown
on New Zealand Map Series 1, Sheet N40 and described as Stanley
Island, the approximate centre for which the map reference is 378865,
containing 212 acres, more or less, and Double Island, the approximate
centre for which the map reference is 397882, containing 85 acres, more

i Or less. As shown on the plan marked L. and S. 4/944, deposited in the
i Head Office, Department of Lands and Survey, at Wellington, and
i “thereon edged red. (Reserve for flora and fauna.)

This Act is administered in the Department of Yands g:d Survey.
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